

Title	Study of Genetic Diversity, Leaf Pigmentation and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Vegetable Amaranth(本文(Fulltext))
Author(s)	Umakanta Sarker
Report No.(Doctoral Degree)	博士(農学) 乙第152号
Issue Date	2019-03-13
Туре	博士論文
Version	ETD
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12099/77974

この資料の著作権は、各資料の著者・学協会・出版社等に帰属します。

Study of Genetic Diversity, Leaf Pigmentation and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Vegetable Amaranth

野菜用アマランスにおける遺伝的多様性、 葉の 色素沈着および環境ストレス耐性に関する研究

2018

# The United Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Gifu University

Umakanta Sarker

# Study of Genetic Diversity, Leaf Pigmentation and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Vegetable Amaranth

野菜用アマランスにおける遺伝的多様性、 葉の 色素沈着および環境ストレス耐性に関する研究

Umakanta Sarker

CONTENTS	Page No.
CHAPIER I General Introduction	I
1.1 Genetic Diversity of Vegetable Amaranth	
1.1.1 Genetic variations and diversity for morphological and nutritional traits	1
1.1.2 Variability in antioxidant leaf pigmentation	2
1.1.3 Phenotypic divergence for antioxidant profile, nutritional and agronomic	3
traits	
1.2 Abiotic Stress Response of Vegetable Amaranth	
1.2.1 Response of nutrients, antioxidant phytochemicals, phenolic acid, flavonoid	4
and antioxidant activity to drought stress	_
1.2.2 Drought stress effects on growth, ROS markers, compatible solutes, non-	5
enzymatic antioxidants	r.
1.2.3 Drought effects on antioxidant enzymes	6
1.2.4 Effect of salinity stress on nutrients, color parameters, leaf pigmentation,	/
antioxidant phytochemicals, phenolic acid, flavonoid and antioxidant activity	0
1.3 Aim of the study	9
CHAPTER 2 Constic Diversity	11
CHAITER 2 Ochcuc Diversity	11
2.1 Morphological and Nutritional Traits	
2.1.1 Genetic variability for nutrient, antioxidant, vield and vield contributing	
morphological traits in vegetable amaranth.	
Purpose of the study	11
Materials and Methods	12
Results and Discussion	15
Abstract	22
2.2 Agronomic Traits, Leaf Pigmentation, Antioxidant Phytochemicals and	
Antioxidant Activity	
2.2.1 Variability, heritability and genetic association in vegetable amaranth	
(Amarantnus tricolor L.)	22
Purpose of the study Materials and Mathada	23
Results and Discussion	24 25
Abstract	23
2.2.2 Variability in total antioxidant capacity antioxidant leaf nigments and	51
foliage vield of vegetable amaranth	
Purpose of the study	32
Materials and Methods	33
Results and Discussion	34
Abstract	41
2.2.3 Phenotypic divergence in vegetable amaranth for total antioxidant capacity,	
antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits	
Purpose of the study	42
Materials and Methods	43
Results and Discussion	44

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

## **CHAPTER 3** Abiotic Stress Tolerance of Vegetable Amaranth

# 3.1 Biochemistry and Food Aspect on Drought Stress of Vegetable Amaranth

3.1.1 Response of nutrients, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins,	
polyphenol, flavonoid and antioxidant activity in selected vegetable amaranth	
under four soil water content	
Purpose of the study	52
Materials and Methods	53
Results and Discussion	55
Abstract	68
3.1.2 Drought stress enhances nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic	
acids and antioxidant capacity of Amaranthus leafy vegetable	
Purpose of the study	69
Materials and Methods	70
Results and Discussion	72
Abstract	81

# **3.2** Biochemistry and Physiological Aspect on Drought Stress of Vegetable Amaranth

3.2.1 Drought Stress Effects on Growth, ROS Markers, Compatible Solutes,	
Phenolics, Flavonoids, and Antioxidant Activity in Amaranthus tricolor	
Purpose of the study	82
Materials and Methods	83
Results and Discussion	87
Abstract	98
3.2.2 Catalase, superoxide dismutase and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes	
confer drought tolerance of Amaranthus tricolor	
Purpose of the study	99
Materials and Methods	100
Results and Discussion	104
Abstract	113

# 3.3 Biochemistry and Food Aspect on Salinity Stress of Vegetable Amaranth

3.3.1 Salinity stress accelerates nutrients, dietary fiber, minerals, phytochemicals	
and antioxidant activity in Amaranthus tricolor leaves	
Purpose of the study	115
Materials and Methods	116
Results and Discussion	118
Abstract	129
3.3.2 Salinity stress enhances color parameters, bioactive leaf pigments,	
vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid and antioxidant activity in selected Amaranthus	
leafy vegetables	
Purpose of the study	130
Materials and Methods	131
Results and Discussion	131
Abstract	139
3.3.3 Augmentation of leaf color parameters, pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids,	

flavonoids and antioxidant activity in selected A. tricolor under salinity stress

Purpose of the study	141
Materials and Methods	142
Results and Discussion	143
Abstract	150
Chapter 4 General Discussion	152
Summary	181
Acknowledgments	187
References	188

#### **CHAPTER 1**

### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Genetic Diversity of Vegetable amaranth**

#### 1.1.1 Genetic variation and diversity for morphological and nutritional traits

Vegetable amaranth serves as an alternative source of nutrition for vegetarian people in developing countries where the bulk of the population has little access to protein rich food. It contains high amount of protein with nutritionally critical amino acids, lysine and methionine, dietary fiber, dietary minerals and antioxidant compounds like ascorbic acid and beta-carotene [6, 7]. Recently, the genus has been reported to have medicinal value including anticancer properties [8]. It has been rated equal or superior in taste to spinach and is considerably higher in protein (14 - 30% on dry weight basis), minerals (Fe, Mn and Zn) and antioxidants like beta-carotene (90 - 200 mg/kg) and ascorbic acid (about 28 mg/100 g) compared to any other leafy vegetables [3, 6, 9-10]. Antioxidants like carotenoids, ascorbic acid, Fe, Mn, and Zn contents in vegetable amaranth are considerably higher than in many leafy vegetables [11-14]. Some metalloenzymes like catalase (Fe) and superoxide dismutase (Mn and Zn) required Fe, Mn and Zn minerals for their antioxidant activity [16].

The main vegetable type of amaranth, *Amaranthus tricolor* L., seems to have originated in South or Southeast Asia [1] and then spread through the tropics and the temperate zone [2]. Leafy vegetables are a valuable part of the diet owing to their nutritive values which plays an important role in the human diet [3, 4]. Among 60 species, vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor*) is now very popular as vegetable in many Asian and African countries. In Bangladesh *Amaranthus tricolor* is grown year-round and it is the only crop available in the hot summer months when no other foliage crop grown in the field [5].

Generation of oxygen radicals, such as superoxide radical ( $O_2^{-}$ ), hydroxyl radical (OH•), and non-free radical species such as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and singlet oxygen ( $^1O_2$ ), is associated with cellular and metabolic injury, accelerated aging, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases, and inflammation [16]. Antioxidant neutralizes or removes free oxygen radicals in the body and helps to protect many diseases including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases and inflammation and prevent aging [8]. It has high adaptability under varied soil and agro-climatic conditions and great amount of genetic variability and phenotypic plasticity [17, 18]. It is also extremely adaptable to harsh environmental conditions, including high temperature and drought, and resistant against major diseases [19]. Although vegetable amaranth is used as a cheap source of a variety of antioxidants, nutrient, little efforts have been made for its genetic improvement of this underutilized crop plant [4,19]. A large number of studies are available on genetic variability and interrelationships among various traits such as growth, nutrient contents, and antioxidants in many other crops [20-22]. However, reports on vegetable amaranth are rare [23].

A plant breeding program can be divided into three stages, *viz.* building up a gene pool of variable germplasm, selection of individuals from the gene pool and utilization of selected individuals to evolve a superior variety [24]. The available variability in a population can be partitioned into heritable and non-heritable parts with the aid of genetic parameters such as genetic coefficient of variation, heritability and genetic advance [25]. Correlation coefficient helps to identify the relative contribution of component characters towards yield [26]. The correlation between yield and a component character may sometimes be misleading. Thus, splitting of total correlation into direct and indirect effects would provide a more meaningful interpretation of such association. Path coefficient, which is a standard partial regression coefficient, specifies the cause and effect relationship and measures the relative importance of each variable [27]. Therefore, correlation in combination with path coefficient analysis will be an important tool to find out the association and quantify the direct and indirect influence of one character upon another [28]. Genetic diversity assessment is very useful tools that help a breeder to identify diverse parental combinations for creation of segregating progenies with genetic variability. It also facilitates introgression of desirable genes from a diverse germplasm into the existing genetic base population [29].

#### 1.1.2 Variability in antioxidant leaf pigmentation and total antioxidant capacity

Vegetable amaranth serves as an alternative source of nutrition for people in developing countries since it is a rich and inexpensive source of mineral, vitamins, protein, dietary fiber, flavonoids, polyphenols, antioxidant leaf pigments like betalain, carotene, and chlorophyll [6, 12].

Coloring food products have been put forward in recent years as they considerably affect the acceptability of foods and are fundamentally linked to multisensory interactions including perception of flavor and significant enjoyment of food. The growing interest of consumers in the aesthetic, nutritional and safety aspects of food has increased the demand for natural pigments such as chlorophyll, betalain and carotene. Betalain are water-soluble compounds found in a limited number of families of the plant order Caryophyllales like *Amaranthus* have a unique source and important free radical-scavenging activity [30, 31].

Betacyanin are red to purple colored betalain (absorbance ranging from 530 to 545 nm and condensation of betalamic acid and cyclo-Dopa, considering hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives or sugars as residue) and yellow colored betalain known as betaxanthin (absorbance ranging from 475 to 485 nm and imine condensation products between betalamic acid and amines or amino acid residues) [32-37]. Similarly, carotene grouped into alpha-carotene, beta-carotene and xanthophyll. They are hydrophilic nitrogenous secondary metabolites which replace anthocyanins in the flowers and fruits of most plants in families of Caryophyllales. Betacyanin, betaxanthin and carotene are also free radical scavengers (antioxidants) [35, 38], which play an important role in human health. Their pharmacological activities include anticancer, [39-40] antilipidemic [41] and antimicrobial [42] activities, indicating that betalain and carotene may be a potential source for the production of functional foods. Presently, the only commercial source of betalain and carotene is the red beet root. The colorant preparations from red beet root labelled as E-162 are exempted from batch certification. E-162 is used in processed foods such as dairy products and frozen desserts [34].

Among the naturally occurring vegetable pigments, betalain are rare and limited to a few edible vegetables such as red beet and amaranth, while chlorophylls are widely distributed in plant species [43]. The active ingredients of betalain and carotene provide anti-inflammatory property to our food and act as potential antioxidants and reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease and lung and skin cancers and is widely used as additive for food, drugs, and cosmetic products because of natural properties and absence of toxicity [12, 44-46]. In Asia, and Africa vegetable amaranth is intake by boiling, making curries while in Americas, Japan, few Asian and European countries it is freshly intake by making salad or juice. Recently, we extracted red color juice for natural drinks containing leaf color pigments chlorophyll, betalain, and carotene from *Amaranthus*. It demands more genotypes enriched with leaf pigments.

#### 1.1.3 Phenotypic divergence for antioxidant profile, nutritional and agronomic traits

Antioxidant vitamins, minerals and leaf pigments, phenolic compounds and flavonoids protect the body from harmful free radicals such as superoxide, hydroxyl, hypochlorite, hydrogen peroxide, lipid peroxides and nitric oxide. Free radicals can cause damage to cells and impair the immune system and lead to infections and various degenerative diseases like cancer, cardiovascular diseases, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro degenerative diseases and inflammation and prevent aging [8, 35, 38, 47-51]. Antioxidant vitamins and minerals include vitamins A, C, and E; beta-carotene; and the minerals selenium, zinc, manganese, copper, and iron [52, 53]. Antioxidant leaf pigments includes, betacyanin, betaxanthin, chlorophyll, carotenoids [38]. Sufficient delivery of the first line defense antioxidants (Cu, Zn, Fe and Mn) from diet is required in order for the body to synthesize antioxidant metalloenzymes such as catalase (Fe) and superoxide dismutase (Cu, Zn, and Mn) [52]. Free radical scavengers include vitamin C, beta-carotene, and flavonoids and are considered to be second-line defense antioxidants [52]. Some metalloenzymes such as catalase and super oxide dismutase required Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn for their antioxidant activity [15, 52, 54].

Amaranths are C<sub>4</sub>, dicotyledonous herbaceous plants that include approximately 70 species, of which 17 species produce edible leaves and three produce food grains [55]. The edible amaranth is a popular leafy vegetable in the South East Asia and is becoming increasingly popular in the rest of the continent and elsewhere due to its attractive leaf color, taste and nutritional value. *Amaranthus tricolor* leaves are a rich and inexpensive source of dietary fiber, proteins, vitamins and a wide range of minerals, leaf pigments, phenolic compounds and flavonoids [3, 4, 6, 16].

Genetic diversity assessment is a useful tool to help breeders for identifying appropriate parental combinations for the creation of suitable segregating progenies with excellent genetic variability that also facilitates integration of desirable genes from a diverse germplasm into the existing genetic base population [29]. Multivariate statistical methods have been successfully used to classify both quantitative and qualitative variation in many crop species, including mustard, [56] Russian wild rye [57], *Arachis* [58] and Ethiopian mustard [59]. There are few reports on genetic diversity in grain amaranth [60-62] performed a diversity analysis on *Amaranthus tricolor* for nutrient content and agronomic traits.

#### **1.2 Abiotic Stress Response of Vegetable Amaranth**

# 1.2.1 Response of nutrients, antioxidant phytochemicals, phenolic acid, flavonoid and antioxidant activity to drought stress

Natural antioxidants, in vegetables, have gained the attention of both researchers and consumers. Vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor*) is a good source of minerals, vitamins, phenolics, and carotenoids; it also contains betalain, a nitrogen containing group of natural pigments, as well as proteins and fibers [6, 35]. Those secondary metabolites or natural antioxidants are involved in defenses against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [6, 35, 50].

The degree of damage by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is highly related to the balance between ROS production and its removal by the antioxidant scavenging system [64]. On the other hand, it has been reported that the plant cell membrane was more sensitive to rapid damage and leakage under water stress [64]. Plants can synthesize some secondary metabolites i. e.,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (vitamin E), and polyphenol to protect them against oxidative damage caused by environmental stresses [65, 66]. These compounds evolve to detoxify reactive oxygen species in plants, but they also show beneficial activity against some human diseases related to oxidative damage and aging [67].

Amaranths are often described as drought tolerant plants [68, 69]. *Amaranthus tricolor* is a versatile food crop exhibiting high adaptability to new environments, even in the presence of different biotic and abiotic stresses [70]. The amount of metabolites in plants might be affected by different factors such as biological, environmental, biochemical, physiological, ecological, and evolutionary processes [71]. Among these factors, drought stress can highly enhance the concentration of secondary metabolites [72].

There are few reports related to the effect of water stress on secondary metabolites of different crops including leafy vegetables. To date, scarce information is available for betalainic food crops under water stress, although betaxanthin and betacyanin have recently attracted attention for their antioxidant activities [73]. Water stress elevated secondary metabolites such as beta-carotene content in Choysum in dry season trial [74], in perennial herbaceous [75], ascorbic acid in tomato [73], TPC, TFC in buckwheat [76], TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in *Achillea* species [77]. In contrast, water stress reduced the protein content in buckwheat [79], beta-carotene content in Kailaan in dry season trial [74], ascorbic acid, Ca, Fe and Zn content [74].

# **1.2.2** Drought stress effects on growth, ROS markers, compatible solutes, non-enzymatic antioxidants

*Amaranthus tricolor* L. is one of the most important and popular leafy vegetables in Bangladesh including Southeast Asia, Africa and South America often cultivated in arid and semiarid regions with drought stress. Vegetable amaranth is the inexpensive sources of natural antioxidants like, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and a unique source of betalain (betacyanin and betaxanthin). These secondary metabolites or natural antioxidants are involved in defense against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [35, 48]. *Amaranthus tricolor* is often described as drought tolerant plants [68].

Drought stress leads to the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which might initiate destructive oxidative processes such as lipid peroxidation, chlorophyll and betalain bleaching and protein oxidation. Plants have evolved both enzymatic and nonenzymatic defense systems for scavenging and detoxifying ROS, resulting in antioxidant defense capacity [78]. Drought ameliorates active accumulation of solutes (e.g., proline,  $\alpha$ tocopherol and polyphenol) to protect them against oxidative damage and allows plants to maintain positive turgor pressure, a requirement for maintaining stomata aperture and gas exchange [79]. Besides, non-enzymatic antioxidants like, leaf pigments, ascorbic acid, carotenoids, phenolics and flavonoids have a protective role to avoid ROS generation [80].

Thus, there are three general types of response to drought stress including [81]: a) mechanisms to avoid water loss (*e.g.* osmotic adjustment), b) mechanisms for protection of cellular components (*e.g.* qualitative and quantitative changes of pigments), and c) mechanisms of repairing against oxidative damage (*e.g.* antioxidant systems).

Excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (hydrogen peroxide,  $H_2O_2$ ; superoxide,  $O_2^{\bullet}$ ; hydroxyl radical, OH• and singlet oxygen,  ${}^1O_2$ ), and malondialdehyde are enhanced under abiotic and/or biotic stresses, which can cause oxidative damage to plant macromolecules and cell structures, leading to inhibition of plant growth and development, or to death. Among the various ROS, freely diffusible and relatively long-lived  $H_2O_2$  acts as a central player in stress signal transduction pathways. These pathways can then activate multiple acclamatory responses that reinforce resistance to various abiotic and biotic stressors. To utilize  $H_2O_2$  as a signaling molecule, non-toxic levels must be maintained in a delicate balancing act between  $H_2O_2$  production and scavenging.

#### 1.2.3 Drought effects on antioxidant enzymes

Drought stress causes oxidative stress by decreasing stomatal conductivity that confines CO<sub>2</sub> influx in to the leaves, reduces the leaf internal CO<sub>2</sub>, leads to the formation of ROS such as hydroxyl radicals (OH•) singlet oxygen (<sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), alkoxyl radical (RO) and superoxide radical (O<sub>2</sub>•-) by enhancing electrons leakage to oxygen molecule [82-85]. In plant cell, mitochondria, chloroplasts and peroxisomes are the main location of ROS generation [86]. In addition, Environmental stress stimulates xanthine oxidase in peroxisomes, amine oxidase in the apoplast and NADPH oxidases (NOX) in the plasma membrane and produce ROS [87, 88]. Environmental stress induces excess ROS that can injure plant cells by oxidation of cellular components such as proteins, inactivate metabolic enzymes, DNA and lipids [89, 90].

The response to plant defense system to stress varies with the times, duration of contact and stress severity, type of organ or tissue and developmental stage [91, 92]. At a certain level, ROS works as an indicator molecule for activating acclimatory/protection responses through transduction pathways, where H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> acts as a secondary messenger [93, 94]. However, additional ROS induces harmful effects on plant cells. As a result, defenses against ROS are activated [95] by an array of nonenzymatic antioxidants [metabolites such as ascorbate (AsA), carotenoids, glutathione (GSH) and proline] and antioxidant enzymes [such as guaiacol peroxidases (GPOX), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes like glutathione reductase (GR) ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR)], work together for detoxification of ROS [88-89, 96-101]. In glutathione-ascorbate cycle, reduced glutathione is produced from oxidized glutathione through the donated electrons of all nonenzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants [89]. In addition to their damaging effects on cells, ROS can also take part as signaling molecules in many biological processes such as growth, enclosure of stomata, stress signaling and development [90, [102-104]. Recently more attention has been given to understand the antioxidant defense mechanism in plants exposed to drought stress [105-107]. Abiotic stress enhances the production of AsA–GSH and AsA–GSH cycle enzymes activities for cellular protection. Plant water relations play a significant role in the stimulation and/or modulation of antioxidative defense mechanism at drought stress [97-110].

# 1.2.4 Effect of salinity stress on nutrients, color parameters, leaf pigmentation, antioxidant phytochemicals, phenolic acid, flavonoid and antioxidant activity

Salinity is one of the major abiotic stressors which limits crop production and poses a serious threat to global food security. It prohibits the cultivation of vegetables in many areas in the globe. Approximately, 20% percent of the arable land and 50% of total irrigated land have varying levels of salinity [111]. Salinity stress induces a multitude of adverse effects on plants including morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular changes. It affects plant growth and development by creating osmotic stress by reducing the soil water potential and water uptake, causing specific ions (Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup>) toxicity, stomatal closure, and reducing rate of photosynthesis [112].

All these physiological changes in plant aggravate overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that interferes normal cellular metabolism and results in oxidative damage by oxidizing proteins, lipids and DNA and other cellular macromolecules [88]. To counterbalance the osmotic stress, plants show variable adaptation processes such as enclosure of stomata,

metabolic adjustment, toxic ion homeostasis, and osmotic adjustment [112]. Plants have an excellent network of ROS detoxification system including, either non-enzymatic through protein, proline, carbohydrate, ascorbic acid (AsA), beta-carotene and carotenoids, phenolic compounds and flavonoids or through enzymatic antioxidants, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (GPOX), catalase (CAT), and AsA peroxidase (APX) [88]. Salinity tolerance mechanisms in plants are remarkably varied among the species or even in different accessions of a species.

The leafy vegetables, *A. tricolor* comprises an excellent source of proximate and minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids. Natural antioxidants like leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids have proven for health benefits as they detoxify ROS in the human body [6, 35]. These natural antioxidants play an important role in the human diet and involved in defense against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [8, 48, 50, 51]. *A. tricolor* is a popular leafy vegetable in many tropical and subtropical countries which is rich in nutrients, beta-carotene, vitamin C, polyphenols, flavonoids and antioxidants.

Compared to lettuce, *Amaranthus* contains 18 times more vitamin A, 13 times more vitamin C, 20 times more calcium and 7 times more iron. Amaranthus leaves contain 3 times more vitamin C, 3 times more calcium and 3 times more niacin than spinach leaves. [113]. It has been rated equal or superior in taste to spinach and is considerably higher in carotenoids (90-200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), protein (14-30% on dry weight basis) and ascorbic acid (about 28 mg 100g<sup>-1</sup>) [7]. Minerals are of critical importance in the diet, even though they comprise only 4–6% of the human body. Major minerals are those required in amounts greater than 100 mg per day and they represent 1% or less of body weight. These include calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, sulfur, potassium, chloride, and sodium. Trace minerals are essential in much smaller amounts, less than 100 mg per day, and make up less than 0.01% of body weight. Essential trace elements are zinc, iron, silicon, manganese, copper, fluoride, iodine, and chromium. The major minerals serve as structural components of tissues and function in cellular and basal metabolism and water and acid–base balance [114, 115].

Amaranth is a salt tolerant plant [116]. Salinity stress enhances the contents of these natural antioxidants in plants [117-119]. Therefore, salt-stressed plants could economically be the potential sources of antioxidants in human lifestyle. The natural antioxidants in diet play an important role in human health as they are involved in defense against several diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and

cardiovascular diseases [8, 48, 50, 51]. *A. tricolor* is a well acclimatized leafy popular vegetable to different biotic and abiotic stresses [70]. Various factors such as biological, environmental, biochemical, physiological, ecological and evolutionary processes, and salinity are involved in the quantitative and qualitative improvement of natural antioxidants in this vegetable crop [72]. Scant information is available on the effects of soil salinity stress on proximate and minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids in leafy vegetables like *A. tricolor*. However, salt stress elevated protein, ascorbic acid, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity and reduced the fat, carbohydrate, sugar, and chlorophyll pigments in *Cichorium spinosum* [117]. Alam *et al.* [118] observed that in purslane, different doses of salt concentrations increased total polyphenol content (TPC); total flavonoid content (TFC); and FRAP activity by 8–35%, 35%, and 18–35%, respectively. Similarly, in buckwheat sprouts, salinity stress remarkably increased phenolic compounds and carotenoids compared to non-saline condition [119].

### 1.3 Aim of The Study

The leafy vegetables, *A. tricolor* comprises an excellent source of proximate and minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids. Natural antioxidants like leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids have proven for health benefits as they detoxify ROS in the human body. The natural antioxidants are involved in defense against several diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases. It is a popular leafy vegetable in the South East Asia and is becoming increasingly popular in the rest of the continent and elsewhere due to its attractive leaf color, taste and nutritional value. A lot of variations in this vegetable germplasm have been observed in Bangladesh. But no efforts had not been taken to know the status of these functional phytochemicals in this vegetable in terms of genetic diversity as well as abiotic stress response in the globe. Therefore, the present investigations of this doctoral dissertation were undertaken to study the genetic diversity and effects of abiotic stress response of this vegetable in relation to proximate and minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids with following purposes.

To estimate quality, vitamins, minerals, polyphenol, flavonoids, antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments, foliage and biological yield and their variability in vegetable amaranth

- ✤ To determine contribution of the component traits towards yield potential
- To find out possible ways for improving quality, vitamins, minerals, polyphenol, flavonoids, antioxidant leaf pigments and antioxidant capacity without compromising foliage yield
- To find out appropriate selection parameters for the improvement of vegetable amaranth.
- To categorize vegetable amaranth genotypes based on the contribution of antioxidant, nutrient content, and contributing agronomic traits towards divergence and to identify genotype for utilization in future breeding program.
- To study the selected A. tricolor genotypes in response to drought and salinity stress in terms of proximate, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity.
- To elucidate key growth, anatomical, physiological, non-antioxidative and antioxidative defense mechanisms involved in drought tolerant by comparing selected *A. tricolor* genotypes
- To elucidate key physiological, enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathways involved in ROS detoxification and tolerance of *A. tricolor* under drought stress.

### **CHAPTER 2**

#### **GENETIC DIVERSITY**

#### 2.1 Morphological and Nutritional Traits

Vegetable amaranth contains high amount of protein, dietary fiber, dietary minerals and antioxidant compounds like ascorbic acid, beta-carotene and minerals (Fe, Mn and Zn) [6, 19, 120-124]. It has high adaptability under varied soil and agro-climatic conditions and great amount of genetic variability and phenotypic plasticity [17, 18]. However, very little attention has been paid for genetic improvement of this underutilized crop plant. Improvement of foliage yield of vegetable amaranth with yield related morphological traits, protein, dietary fiber, dietary minerals and antioxidant compounds like ascorbic acid, beta-carotene and minerals (Fe, Mn and Zn) through the knowledge of variability, association, along with direct and indirect influence of these component traits on yield has so far been lacking.

# 2.1.1 Genetic variability for nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in vegetable amaranth.

#### Purpose of the study

Underutilized crops like chenopods, buckwheat, and amaranth have recently gained worldwide attention in this respect as these contain abundant amounts of all the common antioxidant vitamin and nutrients required for normal human growth. Amaranth contains minerals, beta carotenoid, ascorbic acid, protein with nutritionally critical amino acids *viz*. lysine and methionine in addition to dietary fiber [6, 13, 14, 121, 124]. Besides its immense nutritional importance, it can grow successfully under varied soil and agro-climatic conditions [17, 18]. Simultaneously, these crops do not require large inputs and can be grown in agriculturally marginal lands [125]. With the increase in the world's population demands increased production of food crops that should also be nutritionally superior to the existing ones. FAO statistics reveal that there is a high frequency of low birth weight children in the developing countries, which is primarily due to deficiency of micronutrients in the mother's diet.

In Bangladesh, there are lots of variations in vegetable amaranth germplasm. As a potential underutilized crop, vegetable amaranth has drowned attention to carry out extensive research efforts to ascertain its antioxidant vitamin and nutritional composition. The literature on for nutrient, protein, dietary fiber antioxidant vitamins and mineral, yield and yield contributing morphological traits of leaves is rare. Also, there is absolutely no information on

the qualitative improvement of foliage with special reference to nutrient, protein, dietary fiber antioxidant vitamins and mineral, yield and yield contributing morphological traits. To fill this knowledge gap, the objectives of the present investigation were to (i) estimate nutrient, protein, dietary fiber antioxidant vitamins and mineral, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in genotypes of vegetable amaranth available in Bangladesh, and (ii) to find out possible ways for improvement of nutrient, protein, dietary fiber antioxidant vitamins and mineral, yield contributing morphological traits without compromising foliage yield.

#### Materials and methods

#### Plant materials, site and cultural practices

The germplasm accessions of the vegetable amaranth (Amaranthus tricolor) collected from different eco-geographical regions of Bangladesh were used in this investigation. Forty- seven distinct and promising genotypes of vegetable amaranth were grown under two sub experiments in 2011, 2012 and 2013 with repetition for two years for each sub experiments in a randomized block design with three replications at the experimental field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh. Weeding and hoeing was done at 7 days interval. Irrigation was provided at 5-7 days interval. For foliage yield plants were cut at the base of the stem (base of ground level). The plot size for each treatment was 2 m<sup>2</sup> for foliage yield and 1 m<sup>2</sup> for antioxidant, quality and morphological traits for sub experiment1, 4  $m^2$  for foliage yield and 1  $m^2$  for vitamin and mineral composition measurement for sub experiment2 and 4 m<sup>2</sup> for foliage yield and 1 m<sup>2</sup> for nutrient and antioxidant and yield contributing morphological traits for sub experiment3. Spacing was maintained with row-torow and plant-to-plant distance 20 cm and 5 cm, respectively for sub experiment1 and 25 cm and 5 cm from row-to-row and plant-to-plant, respectively were maintained for sub experiment2 and 3. Recommended fertilizer and compost doses, appropriate cultural practices were maintained.

#### Data collection on plant traits

Data were collected at 30 days after sowing of the seeds for both the years for two sub experiments. The data were recorded from 10 randomly selected plants from each replication for plant height (cm), leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and stem base diameter (cm). Foliage yield were harvested on whole plot basis. Beside this, five antioxidant traits viz., beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), ascorbic acid (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and iron (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), zinc (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and Mn (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and protein (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), fiber (%) and Ca (g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), K (g 100g<sup>-1</sup>), Mg (g 100g<sup>-1</sup>) were estimated.

#### Extraction and estimation of antioxidant vitamin

#### Beta Carotene

The extraction and estimation of carotenoid was done following the protocol previously described by Jensen [126]. To carry out the extraction process, 500 mg of fresh leaf sample was grinded in 10 ml of 80% acetone and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 3–4 min. The supernatant was taken and volume was made up to 20 ml in a volumetric flask. The absorbance values were taken at 510 nm and 480 nm.

The beta carotene was calculated by the following formula:

Amount of beta carotene = 7.6(Abs.at 480) - 1.49(Abs.at 510) ×Final volume/ (1000 × fresh weight of leaf taken).

#### Ascorbic acid

Ascorbic acid was analyzed by the method given by Glick [127]. To extract the sample, 5 gm fresh leaves were grinded with 5% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>3</sub> – 10% acetic acid (5% Meta phosphoric acid (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>3</sub>) -10% acetic acid was prepared by dissolving 50 gm of H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>3</sub> in 800 ml of distilled water + 100 ml of glacial acetic acid and volume was made up to 1 liter with distilled water) for 1-3 min. The amount of extracting fluid was taken such that it should yield  $1-10 \ \mu g$  of ascorbic acid/ml. In the solution, 1-2 drops of bromine was added and stirred until the solution became yellow. The excess bromine was decanted into bubbler and air was passed till bromine color disappeared. The bromine oxidized solution was placed in 2 matched tubes. In first tube 1 ml of 2, 4-DNP thio urea reagent (2,4-dinitrophenyl hydrazine-thio urea reagent was prepared by dissolving 2 gm 2,4-DNP in 100 ml of 9 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Four gm thio urea was added and dissolved in this solution. The filtered solution was added and the tube was placed in water at 37° C for 3 h. 5 ml of 85% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (100 ml distilled water +900 ml conc. H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>; sp.gr. 1.84) was added drop wise by the burette in the tube, placed in a beaker of ice water. In second tube, 1 ml of 2, 4-DNP thio urea reagent was only added to prepare blank solution. After 30 min, the absorbance reading of the sample was taken at the wavelength of 540 nm by spectrophotometer. The blank solution was used for setting the zero transmittance of the spectrophotometer. The standard solution was prepared by dissolving 100 mg ascorbic acid of highest purity in 100 ml of 5% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>3</sub>-10% acetic acid. The solution was oxidized with bromine water as above. 10 ml of this dehydrated ascorbic acid was pipette in 500 ml volumetric flask and the solution was made up to 500 ml with the 85% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution. The solutions of different dilution were prepared by pipetting 5, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 and 60 ml of the above solution into 100 ml volumetric flasks and volumes were made up to 100 ml of each by addition of 85% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> ml solution of each flask was taken separately and further the procedure was followed as discussed above for the sample. The calibration curve was prepared by plotting absorbance values against concentration of ascorbic acid (in  $\mu$ g).

The amount of ascorbic acid (mg/100 gm) was calculated as follows: Ascorbic acid content (mg/100 gm) = ( $\mu$ g from curve)/1000 × (ml of extract taken)/4 × 100/(sample wt. in gm)

#### Extraction and estimation of fiber

Fiber content was estimated using the method proposed by Watson [128]. The 500 mg dried leaves sample was extracted by boiling for 30 min in 50 ml of 5% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 75 ml of distilled water. The sample was filtered through linen cloth after 1 h with the addition of some cold distilled water and residue was washed twice with distilled water. In the residue, 50 ml of 5% KOH was added and volume was made up to the original volume. Further, the solution was boiled for 30 min and allowed to stand for some time after adding little cold distilled water and filtered through linen cloth. The residue was again washed with hot distilled water followed by a mixture of dilute HCl (HCl:H<sub>2</sub>O in ratio of 1:2) and 5 ml ethyl alcohol. The residue was finally dried in a crucible at 80–100 °C and dried weight was measured and represented as percentage of initial material taken.

#### Extraction and estimation of protein

Protein was estimated following the method of Lowry et al. [129]. Briefly, 500 mg fresh vegetable amaranth leaves were washed and grinded in 1 ml of 20% trichloro acetic acid and placed over night. Next day supernatant was discarded and the residue washed thoroughly 2 -3 times with distilled water. The chlorophyll was removed from the residue by adding sufficient amount of 80% acetone solution and centrifugation. After the removal of chlorophyll, the sample was dried in vacuum to evaporate the acetone. The pellet was digested with 1 ml of 0.5 N NaOH at 80 °C for 10 min in water bath. Further, 4 ml of distilled water was added and the sample was centrifuged at 7500 rpm. An aliquot of 0.5 ml was taken and 5 ml B.C. reagent (The B.C. reagent was prepared by adding 50 mg CuSO<sub>4</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O in 10 ml of 2% sodium tartrate and 1 ml of this solution was added to 50 ml of 2% sodium carbonate prepared in 0.1 N NaOH) was added. After 10 min the color was developed by the addition of 0.5 ml 1 N Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent in the sample. The absorbance values were taken at wavelength of 640 nm on spectrophotometer. The standard graph was plotted against concentration of protein and absorbance values, using bovine albumen serum protein of 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1 µg/ml concentrations. The amount of protein in the sample can be calculated by comparing (interpolation) with the standard graph and expressed as mg/100 mg of fresh sample weight taken initially.

For determination of mineral nutrient and antioxidant mineral composition, the leaves were first oven dried and then digested in a 1:4 mixture of HClO<sub>3</sub> and HNO<sub>3</sub>. Calcium was determined by flame photometry and iron, zinc and manganese were determined using atomic absorption spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer 5100) [130, 131]

#### Statistical analysis

The raw data of consecutive two years for each sub experiments were compiled by taking the means of all the plants taken for each treatment and replication for different traits. The mean data of consecutive two years were averaged and the averages of two years means were statistically and biometrically analyzed. Analysis of variance was done according to Panse and Sukhatme [132] for each character. Genotypic and phenotypic variances, genotypic (GCV) and phenotypic (PCV) coefficient of variations, heritability ( $h^2_b$ ) in broad sense, and genetic advance (GA%) were estimated according to Singh and Chaudhary [133]. Correlation coefficient was analyzed following Johnson *et al.* [134]. Path coefficient analysis was calculated according to the formula given by Dewey and Lu [28].

#### **Results and discussion**

Anemia, night blindness, scurvy, is the problem for poor child community in the third world countries including Indian subcontinent. Iron, beta carotene and ascorbic acid are also important for recovery of anemia, night blindness and scurvy, respectively. Antioxidant vitamins and minerals are important constituents of the human diet by serving as cofactors for many physiological and metabolic processes.

The analysis of variance revealed significant differences among the genotypes for all the all traits, which was the indication of the validity of further statistical analysis due to the presence of a wide range of variability among the 47 genotypes of vegetable amaranth (Table 1). Mean performance, %CV and CD for antioxidant and nutrient content, number of leaves per plant and foliage yield in 47 vegetable amaranth genotypes are presented in Table 1.

#### Variability Studies

Variability plays a vital role in the selection of superior genotypes in crop improvement program. Pronounced variation in the breeding materials is a prerequisite for development of varieties to fulfill the existing demand. Economically important traits are generally quantitative in nature that interacts with the environment where it is grown. This is why; breeder should calculate the variability by partitioning into genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental effects. Creation of variability is prerequisite for crop breeders. morphological traits are quantitative in nature, and interact with the environment under study, so partitioning the traits into genotypic,

phenotypic, and environmental effects is essential to find out the additive or heritable portion of variability. The mean, range, genotypic and phenotypic variance (Vg, Vp and coefficient of variation (GCV, PCV), h<sup>2</sup>b, GA and GA in percent of mean are presented in Table 1. In the present investigation, the range of variation was much pronounced for all the traits except Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content indicating a wide range of variability among the genotypes studied. High genotypic and phenotypic variances were observed for Fe, Zn, Mn, ascorbic acid, plant height, fiber content, and leaves per plant indicating the presence of the wide range of variability among the traits in vegetable amaranth.

Table 1. Genetic parameters for nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in vegetable amaranth

Character	Mean	Range	Vp	Vg	PCV	GCV	h <sup>2</sup> <sub>b</sub>	GA	%GAPM
			1	e			(%)	(5%)	
Ca (g/100 g)	1.70	0.76-2.15	0.18	0.16	24.96	23.53	88.89	0.87	51.41
Mg $(g/100 g^{1})$	2.85	2.32-3.10	0.03	0.02	5.86	5.08	75.29	0.26	9.09
K (g/100 g)	3.98	1.60-6.65	2.50	2.35	39.73	38.52	94.00	3.26	81.84
Fe (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1188.69	632.27-2324.94	161439.68	161325.15	33.80	33.79	99.93	827.11	69.58
Zn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	818.68	449.68-1235.01	38087.71	37882.21	23.84	23.77	99.46	399.86	48.84
Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	113.18	62.70-155.68	713.07	687.98	23.59	23.17	96.48	53.07	46.89
Protein (mg/100 g)	1.25	1.06-1.51	0.17	0.13	32.98	28.84	76.47	0.85	67.95
Fiber (%)	8.17	6.64-9.76	0.73	0.65	10.46	9.87	89.04	1.76	21.54
Beta carotenoid (mg/g)	0.85	0.60-1.15	0.22	0.19	55.18	51.28	86.36	0.97	113.67
Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)	115.00	65.50-178.55	999.50	995.75	27.49	27.44	99.62	65.13	56.63
Plant height (cm)	21.77	9.50-40.72	53.90	53.55	33.72	33.61	99.35	15.12	69.47
Leaves/plant	9.75	4.92-22.25	16.15	16.12	41.22	41.18	99.81	8.28	84.91
Stem base diameter (cm)	6.41	2.6-12.54	5.61	5.56	36.95	36.79	99.11	4.88	76.12
Foliage yield/plot (kg)	4.57	3.75-5.95	5.79	5.65	52.65	52.01	97.58	4.96	108.47

Vp = Phenotypic variance, Vg = Genotypic variance, PCV = Phenotypic co-efficient of variation, GCV = Genotypic co-efficient of variation, h<sup>2</sup><sub>b</sub> = heritability in broad sense, GA = Genetic advance, GAPM = Genetic advance in per-cent of mean, Fe = Iron, Zn = Zinc, Mn = manganese, Mg = magnesium, K = potassium.

In contrast, Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content showed low genotypic and phenotypic variances that indicated no scope of selection on the basis of these traits for improvement of vegetable amaranth crop. Fe, Zn, Mn, ascorbic acid, plant height, fiber content, leaves per plant and foliage yield had close differences in genotypic and phenotypic variances along with genotypic coefficient of variability (GCV) and phenotypic coefficient of variability (PCV) values, which indicated preponderance of additive gene effects for these traits i. e., less environmental influence in the expression of these traits or the major portion of the phenotypic variance was genetic in nature and greater scope of improvement of vegetable amaranth through selection. Variability alone is not of much help in determining the heritable portion of variation. The amount of gain expected from a selection depends on heritability and genetic advance in a trait. Heritability has been widely used to assess the degree to which a character is important as it indicates the possibility and extent to which improvement is possible through selection [135]. However, high heritability alone is not enough to make sufficient improvement through selection generally in advance generations unless accompanied by a substantial amount

of genetic advance [136]. The expected genetic advance is a function of selection intensity, phenotypic variance, and heritability and measures the differences between the mean genotypic values of the original population from which the progeny is selected. It has been emphasized that genetic gain should be considered along with heritability in coherent selection breeding program [19]. It is considered that if a trait is governed by non-additive gene action it may give high heritability but low genetic advance, which limits the scope for improvement through selection, whereas if it is governed by additive gene action, heritability and genetic advance would be high, consequently substantial gain can be achieved through selection. I these studies, the heritability was high for all the traits except beta carotene indicated the preponderance of additive gene action for these traits. High heritability coupled with high GA in percent of mean was observed for all the traits except Mg indicated that were govern to a great extent by additive gene. So, selection based on these traits would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth.

#### **Correlation Studies**

The phenotypic and genotypic correlations between the various characters are presented in Table 2. The genotypic correlation analysis presented in Table 2 showed some interesting results. In the present investigation, the genotypic correlation coefficients were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits indicating additive type of gene action i.e., less environmental influence on the expression of the traits. The higher magnitude of genotypic correlation than respective phenotypic correlations between various characters in amaranth have also been reported by Shukla *et al.* [23] and Shukla and Singh [18]. From Table 2 it was revealed that foliage yield had a significant positive correlation with iron, manganese, protein, fiber content, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter indicating selection for high iron, manganese, protein, fiber, ascorbic acid content and tall and thick plant with more leaves were closely associated with high foliage yield i.e., increase in with iron, manganese, protein, fiber content, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter could lead to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Shukla *et al.* [23] observed positive association of foliage yield with beta-carotene and ascorbic acid, plant height, diameter of stem base and fiber content [23].

Traits		Mg (g/ 100 g)	K (g/ 100 g)	Fe (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Zn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Protein (mg/100 g)	Fiber (%)	Beta carotene (mg/g)	Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)	Plant height (cm)	Leaves /plant	Stem base diameter (cm)	Foliage yield/plot (kg)
$C_{2}(q/100 q)$	r	-0.08	-0.015	0.152	0 305*	0.155	-0.432*	-0.012	0.121	-0.139	-0 327*	-0.400**	-0 555**	-0.141
Cu (g/100 g)	r <sub>n</sub>	-0.08	-0.012	0.150	0.307*	0.155	-0.431*	-0.012	0.121	-0.137	-0.326*	-0 398**	-0 554**	-0.140
Μσ (σ/100 σ)	r,	0100	-0.032	-0.088	0.060	0.206	-0.06	-0.067	0.045	0.020	-0.234	-0.075	-0.23	0.130
	r <sub>n</sub>		-0.033	-0.089	0.060	0.204	-0.06	-0.066	0.045	0.021	-0.133	-0.075	-0.23	0.133
K (g/100 g)	rg			009	0.074	-0.070	0.241	0.008	0.120	0.114	0.172	0.309	0.162	0.232
	rp			-0.09	0.073	-0.069	0.240	0.007	0.119	0.112	0.170	0.308	0.160	0.230
$F_{e}(maka^{-1})$	rg				0.177	0.112	0.112	0.018	0.135	0.292	-0.175	-0.052	-0.035	0.318*
re (ing kg )	rp				0.176	0.110	0.110	0.017	0.132	0.291	-0.172	-0.051	-0.035	0.317*
$Zn (mg kg^{-1})$	rg					0.278	0.133	0.175	0.126	0.122	-0.335*	-0.257	-0.199	0.096
	rp					0.277	0.130	0.174	0.125	0.120	-0.334*	-0.256	-0.198	0.095
Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$						-0.165	0.195	0.187	0.131	-0.395*	-0.128	-0.195	0.319*
(	rp						-0.164	0.194	0.185	0.129	-0.393*	-0.127	-0.194	0.318*
Protein (mg/100 g)	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$							0.027	-0.218	0.173	-0.275	0.181	0.122	0.456**
	rp							0.025	-0.217	0.172	-0.273	0.180	0.120	0.453**
Fiber (%)	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$								-0.057	0.013	-0.119	0.158	-0.292	0.672**
	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{p}}$								-0.055	0.012	-0.118	0.157	-0.291	0.670**
Beta carotene	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$									0.069	0.375*	0.342*	0115	0.132
(mg/g)	rp									0.067	0.372*	0.340*	0.114	0.130
Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$										-0.378*	-0.118	0.140	0.338*
	rp										-0.376*	-0.116	0.141	0.336*
Plant height (cm)	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$											0.564**	0.432*	0.504**
	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{p}}$											0.563**	0.431*	0.502**
Leaves/plant	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$												0.235	0.514**
	rp												0.234	0.512**
Stem base diameter (cm)	$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{g}}$													0.520**
	rp													0.519**

Table 2. Genotypic and phenotypic correlation co-efficient (rg and rp) for nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in vegetable amaranth

\* significant at 5% \*\* significant at 1%,  $r_p$  = phenotypic correlation coefficient,  $r_g$  = genotypic correlation coefficient

Similarly, Sarker and Mian [137] observed significant positive association between yield and its contributing traits in rice. Plant height had significant exhibited significant positive association with leaves per plant and stem base diameter. A Similar trend was observed by earlier work in *A. tricolor* [23]. Rest of the nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in vegetable amaranth antioxidant vitamins and minerals traits showed insignificant association with foliage yield. It indicated that selection for high vitamins and mineral content might be possible without compromising yield loss i. e., concomitant selection for high antioxidant and yield contributing traits lead to develop high foliage yielding vegetable amaranth varieties.

Considering high genotypic and phenotypic variances along with genotypic coefficient of variability and phenotypic coefficient of variability values, high heritability coupled with high genetic advance and genetic advance in percent of mean, six traits viz., Fe, Mn, Zn, protein, fiber, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, stem base diameter and foliage yield would be selected for the improvement of vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, correlation study revealed that strong positive association of Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter with foliage yield. Selection based on Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter could lead to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth strains.

#### Path coefficient studies

Path coefficient analysis was carried out using genotypic correlation coefficient among fourteen nutrients, antioxidants, yield and its contributing traits to estimate the direct and indirect effect on foliage yield (Table 3). The fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height had high positive direct effect on foliage yield. High positive direct effect for fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height, moderate positive direct effect for stem base diameter Fe, Mn K and beta-carotene content in amaranth had been reported. On the other hand, high negative direct effect was observed in Ca content and negligible positive direct effect was found in Zn and protein content. Shukla *et al.* [23] also found similar results for protein content in same crop. The ascorbic acid showed negligible negative direct effect positive direct effect on foliage yield. It was interesting that path coefficient analysis results confirmed the similarity of the correlation coefficient analysis results. Calcium had high negative direct effect and insignificant negative correlation. Potassium had considerable positive direct effect and

Traits	Ca (g/ 100 g)	K (g/ 100 g)	Fe (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Zn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Protein (mg/100 g)	Fiber (%)	Beta carotene (mg/g)	Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)	Plant height (cm)	Leaves /plant	Stem base diameter (cm)	Genotypic correlation with foliage yield plot <sup>-1</sup> (kg)
Ca (g/100 g)	-0.300	-0.004	0.012	0.003	0.046	0.050	-0.003	0.004	0.005	0.103	-0.131	0.070	-0.141
K (g/100 g)	0.006	0.230	0.0001	0.0002	0.0001	0.002	0.002	0.043	0.020	-0.051	0.031	0.003	0.232
Fe (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.019	-0.002	0.290	0.001	0.003	-0.007	0.009	0.021	-0.010	0.039	-0.020	0.011	0.318*
Zn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.094	-0.001	0.031	0.083	0.064	0.001	0.008	-0.035	-0.004	0.091	-0.074	0.025	0.096
Mn (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.054	-0.016	0.003	0.002	0.260	0.004	-0.015	0.012	-0.005	0.127	-0.041	0.026	0.319*
Protein (mg/100 g)	0.168	0.002	0.168	0.055	-0.037	0.058	0.002	-0.075	0.028	0.079	0.008	0.002	0.456**
Fiber (%)	0.004	0.003	0.004	0.001	0.037	0.000	0.621	-0.034	0.000	0.029	0.016	-0.006	0.672**
Beta-carotene (mg/g)	-0.028	-0.001	0.028	-0.003	0.021	0.001	0.026	0.141	-0.022	-0.126	0.102	-0.008	0.132
Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)	0.040	-0.002	0.152	0.001	0.032	0.000	0.024	0.008	-0.038	0.130	-0.006	-0.005	0.338*
Plant height (cm)	-0.179	0.001	0.123	0.103	0.102	-0.006	-0.137	-0.156	-0.107	0.518	0.181	0.062	0.504**
Leaves plant-1	0.120	0.003	-0.012	-0.002	-0.032	-0.002	0.063	0.044	0.001	-0.175	0.537	-0.028	0.514**
Stem base diameter (cm)	-0.159	0.004	0.016	0.002	0.050	-0.004	0.033	-0.070	0.102	0.149	0.068	0.333	0.520**

Table 3. Partitioning of genotypic correlation into direct (bold phase) and indirect effect for nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits in vegetable amaranth

insignificant positive correlation. Zn had negligible positive direct effect and insignificant positive correlation. Protein exhibited negligible positive direct effect and significant positive correlation. Direct selection based on these three nutrient traits (Ca, K, Zn and protein) would not be effective for the improvement of foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Concomitant selection based on high nutrient content and high foliage yield would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth. Manganese and Fe showed considerable positive direct effect with considerable positive genotypic correlation, so direct selection based on Fe and Mn would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth. Beta-carotene exhibited moderate positive direct effect but its negative indirect effect via plant height made negligible genotypic correlation on foliage yield. Ascorbic acid had negligible negative direct effect with significant genotypic correlation on foliage yield. Direct selection based on antioxidant traits (beta-carotene and ascorbic acid) would not be effective for improving foliage yield. Rather, concomitant selection with high antioxidant and high foliage yield would be effective selection method for improvement of vegetable amaranth. Fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height had high positive direct effect and stem base diameter had moderate positive direct effect along with highly significant positive genotypic correlation with foliage yield. Shukla et al. [25] observed similar findings for plant height, fiber and beta-carotene content in vegetable amaranth. Direct selection on the basis of fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, plant height and stem base diameter would significantly improve the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Selection based on plant height and leaves/plant concomitantly required considering Ca and betacarotene content of the genotypes.

Considering all genetic parameters, Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content all the traits studied would be selected for the improvement of 47 vegetable amaranth genotypes. However, correlation study revealed that selection based on Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, plant height, leaves/plant and stem base diameter could lead to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Based on mean, range, genetic parameters, correlation coefficient values and path coefficient values finally we could conclude that direct selection through Fe, Mn, fiber, plant height, leaves/plant and stem base diameter would significantly improve the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Concomitant selection based on high nutrient and antioxidant content and high foliage yield would be effective for improvement of vegetable amaranth.

Lot of variability in respect of nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits were observed among the germplasm while analyzing genetic parameters, correlation and path coefficient values and interpretation of these results. Breeder may utilize the present findings for developing high yielding varieties with high nutrient and antioxidant content in future. Further investigation may be carried out to confirm the study in different locations of Bangladesh for their stability analysis. Association of nutrient and antioxidant and yield contributing traits revealed that breeder can improve the foliage yield without compromising high nutrient, antioxidant and yield related morphological traits.

#### Abstract

Four-seven vegetable amaranth genotypes were evaluated to investigate nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological traits and its genetic variability in a RCBD with three replications at Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University in Bangladesh. Significant mean sum of square revealed a wide range of genotypic variability among traits. Vegetable amaranth was rich in iron, zinc, manganese, magnesium and potassium. High mean, high range of variability and high genotypic variance were observed for all the traits except Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content. Considering genetic parameter all the traits except Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content would be selected for the improvement of vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, correlation study revealed that selection based on Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, ascorbic acid and plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter could lead to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Based on mean, range, genetic parameters, correlation coefficient values and path coefficient values finally we could conclude that direct selection through Fe, Mn, fiber, plant height, leaves/plant and stem base diameter would significantly improve the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Insignificant genotypic correlations between foliage yield with most of nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological indicating that selection for high nutrient, antioxidant and yield contributing morphological traits might be possible without compromising yield loss.

# **2.2** Agronomic Traits, Leaf Pigmentation, Antioxidant Phytochemicals and Antioxidant Activity

Vegetable amaranth is one of the popular leafy vegetables in the South-East Asia and is becoming increasingly popular in the Asia and elsewhere due to its attractive leaf color, taste and nutritional value. Amaranth leaves are a rich and inexpensive source of dietary fiber, protein, vitamins and a wide range of minerals and natural leaf pigments, TAC, TFC and antioxidants [3, 4, 6]. The interest of consumers in the aesthetic, nutritional and safety aspects of food has increased the demand for natural pigments such as chlorophyll, betalain, and carotene. Betalain are water-soluble compounds found in a limited number of families of the plant order Caryophyllales like Amaranthus have a unique source of betalain and important free radical-scavenging activity [30, 31]. betacyanin are red to purple colored betalain and yellow colored betalain known as betaxanthin [32]. Similarly, carotene grouped into alphacarotene, beta-carotene and xanthophyll. Antioxidant vitamins and minerals, phenolic compounds and flavonoids protect the body from harmful free radicals such as superoxide, hydroxyl, hypochlorite, hydrogen peroxide, lipid peroxides and nitric oxide that cause damage to cells and impair the immune system and lead to infections and various degenerative diseases like heart disease, neuro-degenerative disease, atherosclerosis, cancer, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy [49, 52].

# **2.2.1** Variability, heritability and genetic association in vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor* L.)

#### **Purpose of the study**

Amaranth leaves are a rich and inexpensive source of dietary fiber, protein, vitamins and a wide range of minerals [3, 4, 6]. The species of *Amaranthus tricolor* L. grown as leafy vegetables are loosely termed as vegetable amaranth; it is a self-pollinated C4 crop with wide genetic diversity and phenotypic plasticity [142]. The species used as vegetable types have short plants with large smooth leaves, small auxiliary inflorescences, and succulent stems. In Bangladesh, we found lots of variations in vegetable amaranth germplasm in respect of antioxidant, yield and yield related traits [143]. Generally, the success of any crop improvement program largely depends on the magnitude of genetic variability, heritability, genetic advance, character association. Genetic variability is important for selection of parents with transgressive segregants [144]. Heritability estimates, provide information on the proportion of phenotypic variance that is due to genetic factors for different traits but heritability estimate alone is not a sufficient measure of the level of possible genetic progress. Effective selection can be made when the value broad sense heritability estimates is considered together with

selection differential or genetic advance [145]. Information on the amount and direction of association between yield and yield related characteristics is important for rapid progress in selection and genetic improvement of a crop [146]. Correlations between two or more plant characters and yield provide suitable means for indirect selection for yield. Extensive research efforts have been carried out to ascertain the mineral composition of vegetable amaranth. Although some reports on its nutritional aspects are available [4, 7, 147], there are few works on mineral composition of leaves along with qualitative improvement of foliage with special reference to leaf attributes [9, 148]. So, the present investigation was carried out (i) to estimate quality, biological yield and composition of minerals in 43 different cultivated genotypes of vegetable amaranth available in Bangladesh, and (ii) to find out possible ways for improvement of protein, dietary fiber, K, Ca and Mg compositions without compromising biological yield.

#### Material and methods

The experiment was conducted at the experimental field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh. The experimental site was located in the center of the Madhupur Tract (AEZ28), about 24°23'N 90°08'E, with a mean elevation of 8.4 m. s. l. The experimental field was a high land having silty clay soil. The soil was slightly acidic (pH 6.4) and low in organic matter (0.87%), total N (0.09%) and exchangeable K (0.13 cmol/kg). The site falls under the subtropical Zone and has mean temperatures of 29 °C (summer) and 18 °C (winter). Based on our previous studies, 43 genotypes were selected from102 genotypes based on our previous studies for further confirmation of that selected genotypes on agronutritional traits. The genotypes were locally well adapted and cultivated as varieties by local farmers. The genotypes were sown in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with five replications, during three successive years (2013, 2014 and 2015). Each accession was sown in two-unit plots, one of  $1 \text{ m}^2$  for the biological yield and other of 0.6 m<sup>2</sup> for the mineral, quality and agronomic traits study. The spacing was 20 cm from row-to-row and 5 cm from plant-toplant, respectively. Recommended fertilizer dose, appropriate cultural practices were maintained. To record the data on biological yield, plants were cut at the base of the stem (base of ground-level). Data were collected at 30 days after seed sowing, on 10 randomly selected plants in each replication for four agronomic traits such as leaf area (cm), shoot weight (g), shoot/root weight and stem base diameter (cm). Biological yield was recorded on whole plot basis. Beside this, content percentages of three minerals, K, Ca and Mg and of protein and dietary fiber, were estimated.

#### Estimation of protein, dietary fiber, minerals

Protein, dietary fiber, minerals were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

#### Statistical analysis

The raw data of consecutive three years (2012-2014) were compiled by taking the means of all the plants taken for each treatment and replication for different traits. The mean data of consecutive three years were averaged and the averages of three years means were statistically and biometrically analyzed. Analysis of variance was done according to (Panse and Sukhatme [132] for each character. Genotypic and Phenotypic variances, Genotypic (GCV) and Phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), heritability ( $h^2_b$ ) in broad sense and genetic advance in percent of mean (GAMP) were estimated according to Singh and Chaudhary [133]. Correlation coefficient was analyzed following Johnson *et al.* [134].

#### **Results and discussion**

Mean performance, coefficient of variation (CV%) and critical difference (CD) for mineral content, quality and agronomic traits and biological yield for 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes are presented in Table 1. The analysis of variance revealed significant differences among the genotypes for the ten traits studied, indicating the validity of further statistical analysis. *Mineral composition* 

#### Potassium

Accession VA6 had the highest K content (1.60%), followed by VA16 (1.24%) and VA1 (1.12%). The lowest amount of K was found in VA36 (0.84%). The mean K content was 1.014%. The estimated CV for K was the highest among all minerals (0.71%).

#### Calcium

The average Ca content was 2.476%. The highest amount of Ca was found in VA31 (3.47%) followed by VA1 (3.25%) and VA28 (3.18%), while the lowest amount was found in the leaves of VA9 (1.49%). The CV for Ca (0.51%) was less than for K. Twenty genotypes showed above-average mean values for Ca content.

#### Magnesium

The average Mg content was 2.984%. The highest Mg content was observed in VA6 (3.53%), followed by VA16 (3.24%), and VA1, VA5 and VA19 (3.10% the three of them), whereas the lowest Mg content was observed in VA24 (2.84%). The CV (0.22%) was the least among all the minerals analyzed. Out of 43 genotypes, 18 showed above-average values for Mg content.

Genotype	K%	Ca%	Mg%	Protein	Dietary	Leaf	Shoot	Shoot	Stem base	Biological
21			e	%	fiber%	area	weight	/root	diameter	yield m <sup>-2</sup>
						$(cm^2)$	(g)	weight	(cm)	(g)
VA1	1.12	3.25	3.10	1.24	7.31	56.08	12.92	13.11	2.77	1163.57
VA2	1.08	2.78	2.97	1.19	8.81	48.05	14.51	15.09	4.17	1322.60
VA3	1.03	2.05	3.04	1.27	9.51	60.29	15.53	26.39	4.83	1386.81
VA4	1.09	2.69	2.89	1.07	8.85	134.74	18.63	12.08	5.06	1666.19
VA5	1.07	2.05	3.10	1.08	7.31	86.62	11.53	15.43	6.47	1067.05
VA6	1.60	2.22	3.53	1.03	7.35	155.08	16.78	10.19	5.04	1516.08
VA7	1.05	2.39	3.04	1.06	8.08	114.93	18.42	10.17	5.73	1658.88
VA8	1.00	2.62	2.97	1.12	7.82	140.79	21.12	13.58	7.99	1900.01
VA9	0.97	1.49	2.85	1.29	7.74	58.45	15.42	14.90	4.88	1387.92
VA10	0.94	1.59	3.04	1.22	8.51	217.78	21.27	26.24	9.74	1914.98
VA11	0.97	2.45	3.04	1.42	8.31	206.43	11.09	10.75	6.51	997.09
VA12	0.97	2.39	3.00	1.11	7.75	130.38	18.81	8.36	6.27	1697.58
VA13	0.99	1.65	2.85	1.18	9.09	272.54	23.59	13.19	10.79	2131.40
VA14	0.97	1.90	2.91	1.28	6.74	294.59	25.49	10.41	11.45	2295.29
VA15	0.98	1.90	2.97	1.15	7.43	222.82	21.56	12.26	6.98	1946.94
VA16	1.24	1.76	3.24	1.13	7.82	187.84	28.98	18.28	8.61	2628.43
VA17	0.97	2.29	3.00	1.03	9.33	102.83	12.22	10.63	5.83	1098.52
VA18	0.97	3.09	3.00	1.04	8.21	299.67	24.82	14.80	5.08	2238.83
VA19	0.98	2.70	3.10	1.47	9.75	33.89	18.72	13.45	6.09	1687.90
VA20	1.00	2.39	3.04	1.41	7.71	120.80	12.45	14.85	6.40	1121.35
VA21	1.00	3.02	3.07	1.30	7.91	71.34	13.46	15.36	2.99	1242.66
VA22	0.95	3.01	3.04	1.23	6.65	123.63	18.12	13.68	6.30	1631.26
VA23	1.00	2.14	2.91	1.06	8.21	139.31	13.58	30.69	3.25	1232.58
VA24	1.03	1.89	2.84	1.03	9.55	136.30	10.20	12.34	5.84	918.04
VA25	1.03	2.53	2.97	1.14	8.37	197.76	17.07	10.62	8.23	1577.22
VA26	1.02	2.29	2.85	1.49	5.97	131.17	26.33	70.29	4.14	2372.89
VA27	1.01	2.79	2.85	1.17	6.02	90.72	27.58	44.09	4.60	2485.66
VA28	0.97	3.18	3.04	1.59	6.98	150.86	14.09	4.26	6.36	1278.67
VA29	0.98	2.85	2.97	1.29	7.25	69.85	14.47	14.14	4.56	1373.83
VA30	0.96	2.53	2.91	1.08	8.25	110.41	16.02	10.58	5.81	1435.89
VA31	1.00	3.47	3.04	1.01	8.74	99.87	17.32	10.38	5.55	1561.74
VA32	1.00	3.09	2.94	1.88	6.95	220.42	11.57	9.69	2.68	1051.46
VA33	1.00	2.39	2.94	1.56	7.77	127.01	10.16	12.29	5.47	954.37
VA34	0.95	2.29	2.84	1.69	7.20	156.98	12.25	8.68	7.10	1154.05
VA35	0.96	2.62	2.91	1.41	6.51	119.26	11.33	9.47	6.61	1042.90
VA36	0.84	2.38	2.94	1.23	6.68	159.98	10.17	9.78	6.43	936.51
VA37	1.03	2.79	3.01	1.38	6.20	210.38	15.76	8.81	7.32	1436.01
VA38	0.97	2.47	2.97	1.33	8.51	178.92	13.22	8.53	6.95	1182.90
VA39	0.98	2.39	2.91	1.62	7.85	114.59	18.26	8.13	5.97	1664.55
VA40	1.00	2.62	2.91	1.36	9.15	234.54	13.14	9.88	6.98	1187.71
VA41	0.97	2.69	2.97	1.18	6.84	117.52	17.06	15.73	6.10	1552.88
VA42	0.98	2.45	2.91	1.13	7.64	60.67	13.82	12.96	4.84	1256.58
VA43	0.98	2.94	2.90	1.15	7.35	109.92	17.52	9.57	5.49	1566.22
Mean	1.014	2.476	2.984	1.258	7.81	141.30	16.66	14.98	6.05	1509.86
F-value	**	**	**	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
SE	0.417	0.734	0.382	0.606	0.727	0.214	0.605	0.409	0.537	2.205
CV%	0.71	0.51	0.22	0.84	0.16	3.24	1.16	1.57	0.98	5.28
CD	0.203	0.357	0.186	0.295	0.3542	0.1043	0.294	0.199	0.2614	10.74
								*****		

Table 1. Mean performance, %CV and CD for mineral, quality and agronomic traits in 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

K = Potassium, Ca = Calcium, Mg = magnesium, \*\* Significant in1% level

### Quality traits

#### Protein content

The average protein content was 1.258%. VA32 showed the highest protein content (1.88%) followed by VA34 (1.69%), VA39 (1.62%), VA28 (1.59%) and VA33 (1.56%). On the other hand, the lowest protein content was observed in VA31(1.01%). The CV for protein (0.84%)

was the highest between the two quality traits analyzed. Out of 43 genotypes, 18 showed aboveaverage values for protein content.

### Dietary fiber content

The highest dietary fiber content was found in VA19 (9.75%), followed by VA24(9.55%), VA3 (9.51%), VA17 (9.33%) and VA40 (9.15%). In contrast, the lowest dietary fiber content was observed in VA26 (5.97%). The average dietary fiber content was 7.81%. The CV for dietary fiber (0.16%) was the lowest among all the quality traits analyzed. Out of 43 accessions, 21 showed above-average values.

# Agronomic traits

# Leaf area

The highest leaf area was found in VA18 (299.67 cm<sup>2</sup>), followed by VA14 (294.59 cm), VA13 (272.54 cm<sup>2</sup>) and VA40 (234.54 cm<sup>2</sup>), whereas, the lowest leaf area was found in VA2 (48.05 cm<sup>2</sup>). The average leaf area was 141.30 cm<sup>2</sup>. The CV for leaf area was 3.24%. Out of 43 accessions, 16 showed above average values.

# Shoot weight

The highest shoot weight was found in VA16 (28.98 g), followed by VA27 (27.58 g), VA26 (26.33 g), VA14 (25.49 g), VA18 (24.82 g) and VA13 (23.59 g). Conversely, the lowest shoot weight was observed in VA33 (10.16 g) followed by VA36 (10.17 g). The mean shoot weight was 16.66 g. The CV for shoot weight was 1.16%. Twenty accessions showed above-average values.

# Shoot/root weight

The highest shoot/root weight was found in VA26 (70.29), and the lowest in VA39 (8.13), followed by VA12 (8.36) VA38 (8.53) VA34 (8.68) VA37 (8.81). The average was 14.98. The CV for shoot/root weight was 1.57%. Ten accessions showed above-average values.

# Stem base diameter

The highest value was found in VA14 (11.45 cm), followed by VA13 (10.79 cm). The lowest value was observed in VA1 (2.77 cm), followed by VA32 (2.68 cm) and VA21 (2.99 cm). The average was 6.05 cm. The CV (0.98%) was the lowest among the agronomic traits analyzed. Twenty-one accessions showed above-average values.

# Biological yield

The highest value was found in VA16 (2628.43 g/m<sup>2</sup>) followed by VA27 (2458.66 g/m<sup>2</sup>), VA26 (2372.89 g/m<sup>2</sup>), VA14 (2295.29 g/m<sup>2</sup>), VA18 (2238.83 g/m<sup>2</sup>) and VA13 (2131.40 g/m<sup>2</sup>). The lowest value was observed in VA24 (918.04 g/m<sup>2</sup>) followed by VA36 (936.51 g/m<sup>2</sup>), VA33 (954.37 g/m<sup>2</sup>) and VA11 (997.09 g/m<sup>2</sup>). The average was 1509.86 g/m<sup>2</sup>. The CV

(5.26%) was the highest among all the agronomic traits analyzed. Twenty accessions showed above-average values.

#### Variability studies

The genotypic and phenotypic variances ( $\sigma_{g}^2, \sigma_{p}^2$ ) and coefficients of variation (GCV, PCV),  $h_{b}^{2}$  and GAMP are presented in Table 2. The highest genotypic variance was for biological yield (194457.42), followed by leaf area (4326.36). Shoot/root weight, shoot weight and dietary fiber content exhibited moderate genotypic variances. On the other hand, the lowest genotypic variance was observed for K (0.012) followed by Mg (0.015), Ca (0.212) and protein (0.040) contents. The phenotypic variances for all the traits were slightly higher but close to the genotypic variances. GCV values ranged from 4.10% (Mg) to 73.56% (shoot/root weight). The PCV values showed similar trends as GCV values and ranged from 4.37% (Mg) to 74.75% (shoot/root weight). The heritability estimates were high for all the traits and ranged from 85.71% (K) to 99.99% (biological yield). The highest expected genetic advance was exhibited for shoot/root weight (149.10%) followed by leaf area (95.83%), stem base diameter (63.40%), shoot weight (61.01%), and biological yield (60.16%). Moderate GAMP was found in Ca (38.13%), protein content (32.78%), dietary fiber content (25.43%) and K (20.60%). Variability plays a vital role for the selection of superior genotypes in crop improvement programs. Agronomic traits are quantitative in nature, and interact with environment under study, so partitioning the traits into genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental effects is essential to find out the additive or heritable portion of variability. In the present investigation, biological yield, leaf area, shoot/root weight, shoot weight and dietary fiber content had high to moderate genotypic and phenotypic variances along with GCV and PCV values, which indicate scope for improvement in these traits through selection due to predominance of additive gene action for these traits. Variability alone is not of much help in determining the heritable portion of variation. The amount of gain expected from a selection depends on heritability and genetic advance in a trait. Heritability has been widely used to assess the degree to which a character may be transmitted from parent to offspring. Knowledge of heritability of a character is important as it indicates the possibility and extent to which improvement is possible through selection [135]. However, high heritability alone is not enough to make sufficient improvement through selection generally in advance generations unless accompanied by substantial amount of genetic advance [136]. The expected genetic advance is a function of selection intensity, phenotypic variance and heritability and measures the differences between the mean genotypic values of the original population from which the progeny is selected. It has been emphasized that genetic gain should be considered along with

heritability in coherent selection breeding program [7]. It is considered that if a trait is governed by nonadditive gene action it may give high heritability but low genetic advance, which limits the scope for improvement through selection, whereas if it is governed by additive gene action, heritability and genetic advance would be high, consequently substantial gain can be achieved through selection. In the present study the heritability and genetic advance values were high for all the traits, indicating preponderance of additive gene effects.

Genetic	K%	Ca%	Mg%	Protein	Dietary	Leaf	Shoot	Shoot	Stem	Biological
parameter			•	%	fiber%	area	weight	/root	base	vield m <sup>-2</sup>
Parameter				, 0	110 01 / 0	$(cm^2)$	(g)	weight	diameter	(g)
						(em)	(5)	weight	(am)	(6)
									(cm)	
$\sigma^2 g$	0.012	0.212	0.015	0.040	0.936	4326.3	24.41	121.40	3.48	194457.42
						6				
$\sigma^2 p$	0.014	0.214	0.017	0.044	0.940	4332.2	24.48	125.38	3.49	194468.25
1						7				
GCV	10.80	18.60	4.10	16.29	12.38	46.55	29.66	73.56	30.82	29.21
DCV	11 (7	10 (0	4 27	16.67	10.40	16 50	20.70	7475	20.97	20.21
PUV	11.0/	18.08	4.37	10.0/	12.42	40.38	29.70	/4./5	30.87	29.21
h <sup>2</sup> <sub>b</sub>	85.71	99.07	88.24	95.45	99.36	99.86	99.71	96.83	99.71	99.99
GAMP	20.60	38.13	7.94	32.78	25.43	95.83	61.01	149.10	63.40	60.16

Table 2. Genetic parameter for mineral, quality and agronomic traits in 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

K = Potassium, Ca = Calcium, Mg = magnesium,  $\sigma^2 g$  = Genotypic variance,  $\sigma^2 p$  = Phenotypic variance, GCV = Genotypic coefficient of variation, PCV = phenotypic coefficient of variation,  $h^2_b$  = Heritability in broad sense, GAMP = Genetic advance in percent of mean.

#### **Correlation studies**

Table 3 shows the phenotypic and genotypic correlations among the characters studied. The rg (genotypic correlation coefficients) were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits. The biological yield had significant positive correlation with leaf area (0.326), shoot weight (0.999), shoot/root weight (0.454) and stem base diameter (0.368). Stem base diameter had a significant positive association with leaf area (0.597) and shoot weight (0.365), whereas this trait showed significant negative association with Ca (-0.491). Shoot/root weight exhibited significant positive interrelationship with shoot weight (0.454). Significant positive association was observed between shoot weight and leaf area (0.326). Among mineral content quality and agronomic traits and biological yield, only K exhibited a significant positive association with Mg (0.753) protein showed a significant negative association with dietary fiber (-0.295); and Ca had a significant negative association with stem base diameter (-0.491). The rest of the interrelationships among mineral, quality and agronomic traits were insignificant. The genotypic correlation coefficients were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits indicating additive type of gene action for the expression of these traits. Insignificant genotypic correlation was observed among mineral, quality and agronomic traits and biological yield, except K vs. Mg (0.753), protein vs. dietary fiber (-0.295), and stem base diameter vs. Ca (-0.491). This indicates that selection for high mineral, protein

and dietary fiber content might be possible without compromising yield loss. On the other hand, most of the interrelationships among different agronomic traits were significant. Similar trend was observed by earlier works in *A. tricolor* [7, 143]. Biological yield had significant positive correlation with leaf area (0.326), shoot weight (0.999), shoot/root weight (0.454) and stem base diameter (0.368), indicating that biological yield of vegetable amaranth could be increased with the increase of leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter. Sarker *et al.* [143] observed that foliage yield was highly associated with plant height, leaf area, leaves/plant stem base diameter and dietary fiber content. Similarly, Shukla *et al.* [23] observed a positive association of foliage yield with beta carotene and ascorbic acid. Stem base diameter had a significant positive association with leaf area (0.597), and shoot weight (0.365), whereas these traits showed significant negative association with Ca (-0.491).

Traits		Ca%	Mg%	Protein	Dietary	Leaf	Shoot	Shoot/	Stem	Biologic
				%	fiber%	area	weight	root	base	al yield
						$(cm^2)$	(g)	weight	diameter	$m^{-2}(g)$
									(cm)	
K%	rg	-0.091	0.753**	-0.256	0.012	-0.038	0.154	0.019	-0.124	0.153
	rp	-0.093	0.755**	-0.258	0.013	-0.039	0.156	0.020	-0.126	0.155
Ca%	rg		0.063	0.256	-0.194	-0.217	-0.183	-0.168	-0.491**	-0.182
	rp		0.065	0.158	-0.196	-0.219	-0.184	-0.169	-0.493**	-0.184
Mg%	rg			-0.214	0.042	-0.055	0.036	-0.179	-0.038	0.036
	rp			-0.215	0.046	-0.057	0.038	-0.180	-0.039	0.037
Protein%	rg				-0.295*	0.067	-0.255	-0.010	-0.084	-0.246
	rp				-0.297*	0.069	-0.257	-0.013	-0.086	-0.248
Dietary fiber%	rg					-0.065	-0.152	-0.246	0.074	-0.163
	rp					-0.067	-0.155	-0.248	0.075	-0.166
Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	rg						0.326*	-0.127	0.597**	0.326*
	rp						0.328*	-0.129	0.599**	0.328*
Shoot weight (g)	rg							0.454**	0.365**	0.999**
	rp							0.456**	0.367**	0.999**
Shoot /root weight	$r_{g}$								-0.226	0.454**
	rp								-0.228	0.456**
Stem base diameter	rg									0.368**
(cm)	rp									0.369**

Table 3. Genotypic and phenotypic correlation co-efficient ( $r_g$  and  $r_p$ ) for mineral, quality and agronomic traits in 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

K = Potassium, Ca = Calcium, Mg = magnesium, \* Significant in 5% level, \*\* Significant in 1% level

Shoot/root weight exhibited significant positive interrelationship with shoot weight (0.454) indicating that plant with thick stem contained less Ca, more leaves and shoot weight. Significant positive association was observed between shoot weight and leaf area (0.326). Considering high genotypic and phenotypic variances along with GCV and PCV values, high heritability coupled with GAMP, five traits (leaf area, shoot/root weight, shoot weight, dietary fiber content and biological yield) could be selected for the improvement of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, the correlation study revealed strong positive association of leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter with biological yield. Selection based on leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter
could lead to increase the biological yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Insignificant genotypic correlation was observed among mineral, quality and agronomic traits except K vs. Mg (0.753), protein vs. dietary fiber (-0.295) and stem base diameter vs. Ca (-0.491) indicated that selection for high mineral, protein and dietary fiber content might be possible without compromising yield loss. Based on mean performance of the genotypes, six vegetable amaranth genotypes VA16, VA27, VA26, VA14, VA18 and, VA13 were identified as high yielding having substantial mineral, protein and dietary fiber content.

#### Abstract

Forty-three vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor* L.) genotypes selected from different eco-geographic regions of Bangladesh were evaluated during 3 years (2012-2014) for genetic variability, heritability and genetic association among mineral elements and quality and agronomic traits in randomized complete block design (RCBD) with five replications. The analysis showed that vegetable amaranth is a rich source of K, Ca, Mg, proteins and dietary fiber with average values among the 43 genotypes (1.014%, 2.476%, 2.984, 1.258% and 7.81%, respectively). Six genotypes (VA13, VA14, VA16, VA18, VA26, VA27) showed a biological yield >2000 g/m<sup>2</sup> and high mineral, protein and dietary fiber contents; eleven genotypes had high amount of minerals, protein and dietary fiber with above average biological yield; nine genotypes had below average biological yield but were rich in minerals, protein and dietary fiber. Biological yield exhibited a strong positive correlation with leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter. Insignificant genotypic correlation was observed among mineral, quality and agronomic traits, except K *vs.* Mg, protein *vs.* dietary fiber and stem base diameter *vs.* Ca. Some of these genotypes can be used for improvement of vegetable amaranth regarding mineral, protein and dietary fiber content without compromising yield loss.

# 2.2.2 Variability in total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments and foliage yield of vegetable amaranth

### Purpose of the study

The interest of consumers in the aesthetic, nutritional and safety aspects of food has increased the demand for natural pigments such as chlorophyll, betalain, and carotene. Betalain are watersoluble compounds found in a limited number of families of the plant order Caryophyllales like *Amaranthus* have a unique source of betalain and important free radical-scavenging activity [30, 31]. betacyanin are red to purple colored betalain (condensation of betalamic acid and cyclo-Dopa, considering hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives or sugars as residue) and yellow colored betalain known as betaxanthin (imine condensation products between betalamic acid and amines or amino acid residues) [32]. Similarly, carotene grouped into alpha-carotene, beta-carotene and xanthophyll.

Pigments and their pharmacological activities include anticancer [40], antilipidemic [41] and antimicrobial [42] activities, indicating that betalain and carotene may be a potential source for the production of functional foods. Presently, the only commercial source of betalain and carotene is the red beet root. The colorant preparations from red beet root labelled as E-162 are exempted from batch certification. E-162 is used in processed foods such as dairy products and frozen desserts [34].

Among the naturally occurring vegetable pigments, betalain are rare and limited to a few edible vegetables such as red beet and amaranth, while chlorophylls are widely distributed in plant species [43]. The active ingredients of betalain and carotene provide anti-inflammatory property to our food and act as potential antioxidants and reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease and lung and skin cancers and is widely used as additive for food, drugs, and cosmetic products because of natural properties and absence of toxicity [44, 45].

In Americas, Japan, few Asian and European countries it is freshly intake by making salad or juice. It demands more genotypes enriched with leaf pigments. We found lots of variations in vegetable amaranth germplasm in respect to minerals, vitamins, leaf color, quality, and agronomic traits in our earlier studies [143, 149-151]. Therefore, to fill the lacuna, an investigation was carried out i) to estimate total antioxidant capacity, amount of antioxidant leaf pigments and foliage yield in 43 cultivated genotypes of vegetable amaranth, ii) to select appropriate high yielding genotypes containing high antioxidant leaf pigments for making colorful juice, commercially and (iii) to find out possible ways for improving the antioxidant leaf pigments without compromising foliage yield.

### Material and methods

Seeds of 43 promising vegetable amaranth genotypes were selected in our previous studies of 102 genotypes, above selected genotypes were identified as promising due its high yield potential as well as variation in stem and leaf color. The genotypes were sown in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with 3 replications, during three successive years ((2014 and 2015) under two sub experiments. Each accession was sown in 1 m<sup>2</sup> plot for both sub experiments. The spacing was 20 cm from row-to-row and 5 cm from plant-to-plant, respectively. Total compost (10 ton/ha) was applied during final land preparation. Urea, Triple super phosphate, muriate of potash and gypsum were applied at 200, 100, 150 and 30 kg/ha, respectively. Appropriate cultural practices were also maintained. Thinning was done to maintain appropriate plant density within rows. Weeding and hoeing was done at 7 days interval. Day temperature during experimental period ranged from 25 to 38°C. Irrigation was provided in 5-7 days interval. Data were collected at 30 days after seed sowing for foliage yield and antioxidant leaf pigments.

# Data collection of foliage yield

Data were collected 30 days after sowing of seeds. The data were recorded on 10 randomly selected plants in each replication for foliage yield per plant in gram.

# Determination of chlorophyll and total carotenoid content

Chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll were determined from 96% ethanolic extracts of the fresh-frozen amaranth leaves following Lichtenthaler and Wellburn [152] method and total carotenoid content was determined from acetone:haxen extract of the fresh-frozen amaranth leaves using spectrophotometer (Hitachi, U-1800, Tokyo, Japan) at 665, 649, and 470 nm for chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total carotenoid contents, respectively.

# Determination of betacyanin and betaxanthin content

betacyanin and betaxanthin were extracted from fresh-frozen amaranth leaves using 80% methanol containing 50 mM ascorbic acid according to Wyler *et al.* [153]. betacyanin and betaxanthin were measured spectrophotometrically at 540 and 475 nm, respectively. The quantifications were done using mean molar extinction coefficients, which were  $62 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>2</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup> for betacyanin and  $48 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>2</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup> for betaxanthin. The results were expressed as nanograms betanin equivalent per gram fresh-frozen weight (FFW) for betacyanin and nanograms indicaxanthin equivalent per gram FFW for betaxanthin.

# Determination of ascorbic acid

Ascorbic acid was measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

### Extraction of samples for chemical analysis

The leaves were harvested at the edible stage, 30 days after sowing, and dried overnight in an oven for chemical analysis. One gram of dried leaf from each cultivar was ground and dissolved in 40 mL of 90% methanol. The tightly capped bottle was then placed in shaking water bath (Thomastant T-N22S, Thomas Kagaku Co. Ltd., Japan) for 1 h. Then, the extract was filtered for further analytical assays of total antioxidant capacity.

# Total antioxidant capacity (TAC)

Antioxidant activity was measured using the diphenyl-picryl-hydrazyl (DPPH) radical degradation method [47]. Briefly, 10  $\mu$ L of leaf extract solution (in triplicate) was placed in test tubes along with 4 mL of distilled water and 1 mL of 250 micromole DPPH solution. The tubes were mixed and allowed to stand for 30 min in the dark before the absorbance was read at 517 nm using a spectrophotometer (U-1800, HITACHI, Tokyo, Japan). Antioxidant activity was calculated as the percent of inhibition relative to the control using the following equation: Antioxidant activity (%) = (A blank - A sample/A blank) × 100

Where, A blank is the absorbance of the control reaction (10  $\mu$ L of methanol instead of sample extract) and A sample is the absorbance of the test compound. Trolox was used as the reference standard, and the results were expressed as  $\mu$ g trolox equivalent g<sup>-1</sup> dw.

#### Statistical analysis

The raw data of consecutive two years were compiled by taking the means of all the plants taken for each treatment and replication for different traits. The mean data of consecutive two years were averaged and the averages of two years means were statistically and biometrically analyzed. Analysis of variance was done according to Panse and Sukhatme [132] for each character. Genotypic and phenotypic variances, genotypic (GCV) and phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), heritability ( $h^2_b$ ) in broad sense, and genetic advance in percent of mean (GAMP, %) and correlation were estimated according to Singh and Chaudhary [133].

#### **Results and discussion**

### Mean performance

Mean performance, coefficient of variation (CV%) and critical difference (CD) of leaf pigments and foliage yield for 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes are presented in Table 1. The analysis of variance revealed significant differences among the genotypes for all the 10 traits, indicating the validity of further statistical analysis (Table 1).

Leaf pigments serves as an antioxidant help to protect many diseases including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases and inflammation and prevent aging [6].

# Chlorophyll a

In statistical analysis, the chlorophyll *a* content had significant pronounced variations among the genotypes. Accession VA13 had the highest chlorophyll *a* content (636.87  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA19 (523.21  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), VA14 (517.16  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), and VA16 (504.56  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). The lowest amount of chlorophyll *a* was found in VA34 (126.47  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). Eighteen genotypes showed above average mean values for chlorophyll *a* content. The mean chlorophyll *a* content was 290.18  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>. The estimated CV for chlorophyll *a* was 2.41%.

# Chlorophyll b

Accession VA17 had the highest chlorophyll *b* content (292.19  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA7 (278.21  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), VA15 (271.08  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA13 (268.34  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). The lowest amount of chlorophyll *b* was found in VA29 (49.63  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). The mean chlorophyll *b* content was 142.54  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>. Seventeen genotypes showed above average mean values for chlorophyll *b* content. The estimated CV for chlorophyll *b* was 2.61%.

# Total Chlorophyll

The total chlorophyll content showed a highly pronounced variation among all the chlorophyll traits. VA13 had the highest total chlorophyll content (906.23  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA14 (770.22  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), VA7 (753.73  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), VA16 (737.43  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), VA15 (704.83  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA19 (703.04  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). The lowest amount of total chlorophyll was found in VA34 (193.31  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>). Seventeen genotypes showed above average mean values for total chlorophyll content. The estimated CV for total chlorophyll was 1.83%.

# Betacyanin

There were significant variations among the genotypes in betacyanin contents and the average betacyanin content was 302.68 ng g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest betacyanin content was observed in VA18 (538.51 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA3 (537.21 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), and VA14 (500.40 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), while the lowest betacyanin content was observed in VA29 (106.37 ng g<sup>-1</sup>). The CV of this trait was 1.85%. Out of 43 genotypes, 15 genotypes showed above-average values for betacyanin content.

# Betaxanthin

There were significant variations among the genotypes in betaxanthin contents. The average betaxanthin content was 306.93 ng g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest betaxanthin content was observed in VA3 (584.71 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA18 (554.31 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), VA14 (502.79 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), and VA16 (492.99 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), while the lowest betaxanthin content was observed in VA29 (99.94 ng g<sup>-1</sup>). The CV was 2.29%. 19 genotypes showed above-average values for betaxanthin content.

Genotypes	Chloroph	Chloro	Total	Beta	Beta	Betalain	Total	Ascorbic	TAC	Foliage
Sensiypes	yll a	phyll b	chloroph	cyanin	xanthin	$(ng g^{-1})$	carotene	acid	(TEAC	yield
	$(\mu g g^{-1})$	$(\mu g g^{-1})$	yll	$(ng g^{-1})$	$(ng g^{-1})$		(mg	(mg	$\mu g g^{-1}$	plant <sup>-1</sup>
			$(\mu g g^{-1})$				$100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ )	100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	dw)	(g)
VA1	174.54	83.06	258.61	286.85	256.38	543.16	76.02	175.59	18.62	8.94
VA2	346.84	158.54	506.39	391.53	398.09	789.55	83.89	11.97	30.95	14.62
VA3	304.82	226.20	532.03	537.21	584.71	1121.85	55.38	16.34	32.83	15.36
VA4	160.74	66.74	228.49	249.15	268.76	517.84	69.04	96.49	18.92	9.20
VA5	358.73	156.37	516.12	356.29	358.17	714.38	72.07	63.69	27.65	12.12
VA6	131.56	62.42	194.99	185.52	181.90	367.35	68.84	87.17	15.64	7.32
VA7	474.51	278.21	753.73	279.76	281.07	560.75	55.47	102.81	17.68	9.14
VA8	127.26	51.67	179.94	340.28	344.11	684.32	56.18	101.65	14.99	12.58
VA9	381.33	190.65	5/3.00	427.66	417.25	844.84	73.52	/1.85	29.85	15.60
VA10	240.90	106.45	348.36	264.03	274.70	538.66	44.81	134.61	18.62	12.30
VAII	205.99	222.16	429.16	385.52	372.19	757.64	88.29	135.58	29.98	12.12
VA12	131.07	71.27	203.35	233.87	230.57	464.36	65.91	97.70	32.02	9.80
VA13	636.87	268.34	906.23	407.94	427.55	835.42	32.77	94.49	32.82	16.14
VAI4	517.16	252.05	770.22	500.40	502.79	1003.12	65.55	184.77	27.68	32.06
VAI5	432.74	271.08	704.83	343.99	346.18	690.10	59.81	66.63	24.98	23.28
VAI6	504.56	231.86	(02.20	484.77	492.99	977.69	82.89	72.01	28.61	26.46
VAI7	400.18	292.19	693.38	225.64	218.70	444.27	96.08	113.97	18.63	13.20
VAI8	429.62	239.09	669.72	538.51	554.31	1092.74	49.39	67.69	29.93	26.40
VAI9	523.21	178.82	703.04	302.17	308.31	610.41	96.37	96.49	31.68	19.20
VA20	441.60	217.78	660.39	453.59	467.36	920.87	105.08	65.69	32.65	23.14
VA21	131.46	64.19	196.66	152.26	171.77	323.95	123.91	91.79	16.28	13.48
VA22	204.40	57.62	263.03	284.63	294.60	579.16	132.32	87.59	12.80	18.54
VA24	254.38	93.33	348.72	228.75	252.75	481.42	125.17	36.89	10.18	15.48
VA25	360.71	120.97	482.69	352.26	364.29	716.47	113.38	58.53	11.54	10.88
VA26	176.83	77.09	254.94	301.49	311.15	612.57	118.80	84.17	9.21	18.64
VA27	238.91	124.47	364.40	203.95	226.51	430.39	91.27	82.27	15.17	26.50
VA28	172.75	97.55	271.31	134.51	129.40	263.84	116.76	18.87	16.14	22.04
VA29	170.52	49.63	221.16	106.37	99.94	206.23	117.41	185.89	20.14	15.14
VA30	295.19	170.28	466.49	330.52	337.47	667.92	97.15	58.53	16.80	9.61
VA31	257.87	83.50	342.38	252.70	249.25	501.88	112.35	84.33	12.78	6.45
VA32	230.69	78.52	310.23	177.54	182.72	360.18	113.68	46.67	13.35	7.88
VA33	200.52	91.90	293.44	256.25	250.48	506.65	125.32	42.36	14.55	12.54
VA34	126.47	65.83	193.31	238.51	246.30	484.73	93.61	65.69	11.25	10.87
VA35	221.61	100.62	323.24	246.05	243.32	489.29	114.95	45.25	10.58	13.64
VA36	242.90	105.79	349.70	211.69	236.92	448.54	102.89	132.45	12.78	12.46
VA37	221.27	211.93	434.22	241.17	245.42	486.51	129.30	67.85	14.55	11.12
VA38	348.06	189.41	538.49	338.95	326.77	665.65	112.79	49.06	8.90	16.96
VA39	154.75	68.71	224.47	315.88	319.20	635.01	68.19	64.69	8.92	14.76
VA40	208.30	58.07	267.38	177.09	176.16	353.18	104.52	36.05	12.47	9.20
VA41	231.02	125.33	357.36	161.57	167.96	329.46	96.37	106.81	13 35	12.88
VA42	303.89	172.64	477.54	298.38	254.10	552.41	62.21	54.37	16.28	18.73
VA43	380.80	130.01	511.83	289.51	282.39	571.83	117.67	86.17	14.85	13.94
VA44	251.86	50.72	303.37	349.15	370.76	719.84	123.04	102.65	20.11	11.86
Mean	290,175	142.54	433.72	302.675	306.925	609.53	89,565	83,145	21.71	15.01
F values	**	**	**	2.2.070	**	**	**	**	**	**
SE	0.135	0.1478	0.1709	0.50585	0.5229	0.4939	0.14895	0.22985	0.00305	0.03276
CV%	2.411	2.6125	1.832	1.848	2.2875	1.9275	1.5955	2.1025	0.11275	2.154
CD	0.2832	0.3084	0.40665	1.2765	1.3038	1.2395	0.3157	0.48315	0.00395	0.0778

Table 1. Mean performance, %CV and CD for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins, foliage yield in vegetable amaranth genotypes

TAC, total antioxidant capacity; dw, dry weight; TEAC, trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity. \*, \*\*, significant at 5% level and 1% level, respectively.

# Betalain

There were significant variations among the genotypes in betalain contents. The average betalain content was  $609.53 \text{ ng g}^{-1}$ . The highest betalain content was observed in VA3(1121.85

ng g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA18 (1092.74 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), VA14 (1003.12 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), VA16 (977.69 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), and VA20 (920.87 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), while the lowest betalain content was observed in VA29 (206.23 ng g<sup>-1</sup>). The CV was 1.92%. Out of 43 genotypes, 16 showed above-average values for betalain content.

# Total carotene

There were significant variations among the genotypes in total carotene contents. The average total carotene content was 89.57 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest total carotene content was observed in VA22 (132.32 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA24, VA33, VA37, VA21, and VA44, while the lowest total carotene content was observed in VA42 (62.21 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). The CV of this trait was 1.60%. Out of 43 genotypes, 23 showed above-average values for total carotene content. *Ascorbic acid* 

There were significant variations among the genotypes in ascorbic acid contents. The average ascorbic acid content was 83.15 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest ascorbic acid content was observed in VA29 (185.87 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), followed by VA14, VA1, VA11, VA36, VA41, and VA44, while the lowest ascorbic acid content was observed in VA2 (11.97 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). The CV was 2.01%. Out of 43 genotypes, 17 genotypes showed above-average values for ascorbic acid content. *Total antioxidant capacity (TAC)* 

The variations of TAC were highly pronounced among the genotypes which ranged from 8.90 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw (VA38) to 32.83 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw (VA3). The highest TAC was found in the genotype VA3 (32.83 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) VA13 (32.82 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) and VA20 (32.65 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) followed by VA12 (32.02 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), VA19 (31.68 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), VA2 (30.95 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), VA11 (29.98 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), VA18 (29.93 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) and VA9 (29.85 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw). In contrast, the lowest TAC was observed in VA38 (8.90 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw). The average mean of TAC was 21.27 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw. Thirteen genotypes showed above-average performance for TAC. The coefficient of variation for this trait was 0.112%.

# Foliage yield

It had significant and the highest variations among the genotypes. The highest value was found in VA14 (32.06 g) followed by VA18 (26.40 g), VA16 (26.46 g), VA15 (23.28 g), and VA20 (23.14 g). The lowest value was observed in VA6 (7.32 g) followed by VA1 (8.94 g), VA4 (9.14 g) and VA7 (9.20 g). The average was 15.95 g. The CV (2.15) was low in this trait analyzed. Seven genotypes showed above-average values.

The present investigation revealed that vegetable amaranth is rich in chlorophyll *a* (290.16  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), chlorophyll *b* (142.54  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), Total chlorophyll (433.72  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), betacyanin

(302.68 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) and betaxanthin (306.93 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betalain (609.53 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), total carotene (89.57 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) ascorbic acid (83.15 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and total antioxidant (21.71 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw).

Five genotypes, VA14, VA16, VA18, VA15, and VA20 showed high foliage yield and also found to be a rich source of antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins. Selection of these genotypes would be economically useful for antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins, and high yield aspects. The genotypes VA13 and VA19 had above average foliage yield along with rich source of the antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins while the genotypes VA2, VA3, VA9, VA11, VA12 and VA17 had a high amount of the colorant antioxidant leaf pigments and below-average foliage yield. These eight genotypes can be used as a donor parent for integration of potential genes of the high antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins into other genotypes.

#### Variability studies

The genotypic and phenotypic variance ( $\sigma^2 g$ ,  $\sigma^2 p$ ), coefficients of variation (GCV, PCV),  $h^2_b$ , GA and GAMP are presented in Table 2. The highest genotypic variance was observed for betalain (20318.65), followed by total chlorophyll (10522.15), betaxanthin (5157.75), betacyanin (5116.08), chlorophyll *a* (4684.08), chlorophyll *b* (2106.41) indicating greater scope of selection for these traits. Ascorbic acid (1311.99), total carotene (321.32), TAC (42.09) and foliage yield (2,52) exhibited moderate genotypic variances.

**Table 2.** Genetic parameter for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins, foliage yield in vegetable amaranth genotypes

Genetic parameter	Chlorop hyll <i>a</i> (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Chlorop hyll <i>b</i> (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Total chlorophy ll (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Beta cyanin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Beta xanthin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Betalain (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Total carotene (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	Ascorbic acid (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	TAC (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	Foliage yield plant <sup>-1</sup> (g)
$\sigma^2 g$	4684.08	2106.41	10522.15	5116.08	5157.75	20318.65	321.32	1311.99	42.09	21.52
$\sigma^2 p$	4750.25	2215.25	10835.62	5242.63	5345.65	20762.35	355.26	1402.72	44.17	24.48
GCV	19.77	25.32	19.41	19.88	19.71	19.69	25.66	39.01	25.20	29.08
PCV	19.91	25.97	19.70	20.13	20.07	19.90	26.98	40.33	25.82	31.02
h <sup>2</sup> <sub>b</sub>	99.30	97.51	98.54	98.79	98.23	98.93	95.10	96.71	97.62	93.76
GA	140.99	94.55	211.31	147.35	147.94	293.64	36.93	74.62	13.36	9.56
GAMP	40.72	52.16	39.99	40.96	40.61	40.56	52.85	80.35	51.92	59.91

TAC, Total antioxidant capacity; dw, Dry weight; TEAC, Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity;  $\sigma^2 g$ , Genotypic variance;  $\sigma^2 p$ , Phenotypic variance; GCV, Genotypic coefficient of variation; PCV, phenotypic coefficient of variation;  $h^2_{b}$ , Heritability in broad sense; GAMP, Genetic advance in percent of mean

The phenotypic variances for all the traits were slightly higher but close to the genotypic variances which indicated the predominance of additive gene actions. GCV values ranged from 19.41 (total chlorophyll) to 29.08% (foliage yield). The PCV values ranged from 19.70% (total chlorophyll) to 40.33% (ascorbic acid). In the present investigation, all the traits had high to moderate genotypic and phenotypic variances along with moderate GCV and PCV values,

which indicate scope for improvement in these traits through selection due to predominance of additive gene action for these traits. The heritability estimates were high for all the traits and ranged from 93.76% (foliage yield) to 99.30% (chlorophyll *a*). The highest expected genetic advance was exhibited for betalain (293.64), followed by total chlorophyll (211.31%) betaxanthin (147.94), betacyanin (147.35%), chlorophyll *a* (140.99%), and chlorophyll *b* (94.44%). Genetic advance in percent of the mean (GAMP) ranged from 40.72 (chlorophyll *a*) to 80.35 (ascorbic acid). The highest GAMP was found in ascorbic acid (80.35%), followed by foliage yield (59.91%), total carotene (52.85) Chlorophyll *b* (52.16%), TAC (51.92), chlorophyll *a*, total chlorophyll, betacyanin, betaxanthin, and betalain showed moderate GAMP (around 40%). In the present study, the high heritability and high to moderate genetic advance values were observed for all the traits indicated preponderance of additive gene effects and improvement could be achieved through selection of these traits.

#### **Correlation studies**

The phenotypic and genotypic correlations between the various characters are presented in Table 3. In the present investigation, the genotypic correlation coefficients were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits that indicating predominance of additive gene action i. e., less environmental influence of these traits. The chlorophyll *a* had a significant positive correlation with all the traits except total carotene and ascorbic acid.

Chlorophyll *b* exhibited significant positive correlation with total chlorophyll and TAC. Similarly, total chlorophyll had a significant positive interrelationship with all the traits except total carotene and ascorbic acid. A similar trend of positive associations was observed by earlier work in *A. tricolor* [7, 143]. betacyanin had a significant positive association with betaxanthin, betalain and TAC. betaxanthin showed significant positive associations with betalain and TAC. Similarly, betalain exerted positive interrelationships with TAC. Total antioxidant capacity showed significant positive associations with all the leaf pigments, ascorbic acid and foliage yield. These indicates that high antioxidant content was closely associated with foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. On the other hand, foliage yield had insignificant correlation with all the leaf pigments, ascorbic acid. These indicate that improvement of foliage yield, ascorbic acid, antioxidant leaf pigments might be possible by improving any of the antioxidant leaf pigments. Shukla *et al.* [23] observed a positive association of foliage yield with beta carotene and ascorbic acid. Interesting results is that, ascorbic acid and total carotene had an insignificant negative and negligible interrelationship among all antioxidant vitamin and leaf pigments while it exhibited significant positive associations with total antioxidant capacity.

Traits		Chlorop hyll <i>b</i> (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Total chloroph yll (µg g <sup>-</sup> ')	Beta cyanin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Beta xanthin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Betalain (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Total carotene (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	Ascorbic acid (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	TAC (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	Foliage yield (g)
Chlorophyll	r	0.594**	0.933**	0.545**	0.491*	0.521**	-0.032	-0.132	0.482*	-0.077
<i>a</i> (μg g <sup>-1</sup> )	r	0.592**	0.932**	0.542**	0.490*	0.520**	-0.030	-0.131	0.480*	-0.076
Chlorophyll	r		0.844**	0.315	0.240	0.279	-0.186	-0.253	0.402*	0.099
<i>b</i> (μg g <sup>-1</sup> )	r		0.842**	0.314	0.238	0.278	-0.185	-0.252	0.400*	0.098
Total	r			0.504*	0.435*	0.472*	-0.105	-0.202	0.472*	-0.008
chlorophyll	r			0.503*	0.433*	0.471*	-0.104	-0.201	0.471*	-0.007
(ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	r				0.978**	0.994**	-0.132	-0.240	0.651**	-0.083
	r				0.976**	0.992**	-0.131	-0.238	0.651**	-0.082
betaxanthin	r					0.995**	-0.052	-0.194	0.652**	-0.095
$(ng g^{-1})$	r					0.994**	-0.051	-0.193	0.651**	-0.094
Betalain	r						-0.093	-0.218	0.654**	-0.089
$(ng g^{-1})$	r						-0.092	-0.217	0.653**	-0.088
Total	r							0.063	0.557**	-0.142
carotene $(mg \ 100 \ g^{-1})$	r							0.062	0.556**	-0.140
Ascorbic	r								0.792**	-0.011
acid	r								0.786**	-0.010
TAC	r									0.485*
(TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	r									0.484*

 $\label{eq:table 3. Genotypic and phenotypic correlation co-efficient (r_g \mbox{ and } r_p) \mbox{ for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins, foliage yield in vegetable amaranth genotypes$ 

\* Significant at 5% level, \*\* Significant at 1% level

Considering high genotypic and phenotypic variances along with GCV and PCV values, high heritability coupled with GAMP, all the traits except foliage yield could be selected for the improvement of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, the correlation study revealed a strong positive association among all the antioxidant leaf pigments and total antioxidant capacity. Selection based on antioxidant leaf pigments and total antioxidant capacity could economically viable to improve the antioxidant potential of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Insignificant negative genotypic correlation was observed between total carotene versus all antioxidant leaf pigments, ascorbic acid versus all antioxidant leaf pigments and foliage yield versus rest of all traits. This indicates that selection for antioxidant leaf pigments and ascorbic acid content might be possible without compromising yield loss. The genotype VA14, VA16, VA18, VA15, and VA20 could be selected as an antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins enriched high-yielding vegetable amaranth varieties to produce juice. The genotypes VA13 and VA19 had above average foliage yield and enrich of antioxidant profiles while the genotypes VA2, VA3, VA9, VA11, VA12 and VA17 had a high antioxidant profiles and below-average foliage yield. These eight genotypes can be used as a donor parent for integration of potential genes of the high antioxidant leaf pigments into other genotypes.

# Abstract

Forty-three vegetable amaranth genotypes were evaluated for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins and selection of suitable genotypes for extraction of juice in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. Vegetable amaranth was rich in chlorophyll, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, carotene, ascorbic acid and total antioxidant. The genotype VA14, VA16, VA18, VA15, and VA20 could be selected as an antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins enriched high-yielding vegetable amaranth varieties to produce juice. The genotypes VA13 and VA19 had above average foliage yield and high antioxidant profiles while the genotypes VA2, VA3, VA9, VA11, VA12, and VA17 had a high antioxidant profiles and below-average foliage yield. These genotypes could be used as a donor parent for integration of potential high antioxidant profiles genes into other genotypes. The correlation study revealed a strong positive association among all the antioxidant leaf pigments vs total antioxidant capacity and foliage yield vs total antioxidant capacity. Selection based on total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments could economically viable to improve the yield potential of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Total carotene and ascorbic acid exhibited insignificant genotypic correlation with all the traits except total antioxidant capacity. This indicates that selection for antioxidant vitamins might be possible without compromising yield loss.

# **2.2.3** Phenotypic divergence in vegetable amaranth for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits

# Purpose of the study

Antioxidant vitamins and minerals include vitamins A, C, and E; beta-carotene; and the minerals selenium, zinc, manganese, copper, and iron [52, 53. Sufficient delivery of the first line defense antioxidants (Cu, Zn, Fe and Mn) from diet is required in order for the body to synthesize antioxidant metalloenzymes such as catalase (Fe) and superoxide dismutase (Cu, Zn, and Mn) [52]. Antioxidant vitamins and minerals, phenolic compounds and flavonoids protect the body from harmful free radicals that can cause damage to cells and impair the immune system and lead to infections and various degenerative diseases like heart disease, neuro-degenerative disease, atherosclerosis, cancer, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy. [49, 52].

Amaranth is exceedingly adaptable to adverse growing conditions and has no major disease problems. It is essential to know the status of antioxidant content, polyphenol, flavonoid, antioxidant vitamins and minerals, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits and address genetic augmentation for improving the foliage and biological yield of vegetable amaranth along with its antioxidant profile, nutrient, protein, and dietary fiber contents.

Genetic diversity assessment is a useful tool to help breeders for identifying appropriate parental combinations for the creation of suitable segregating progenies with excellent genetic variability that also facilitates integration of desirable genes from a diverse germplasm into the existing genetic base population [29]. Multivariate statistical methods have been successfully used to classify both quantitative and qualitative variation in many crop species, including mustard [56], Russian wild rye [57], Arachis [58] and Ethiopian mustard [59]. There are few reports on genetic diversity in grain amaranth [60-62]; however, Shukla et al. [63] performed a diversity analysis on Amaranthus tricolor for nutrient content and agronomic traits. Therefore, we assessed the status and magnitude of diversity of vegetable amaranth for its antioxidant profile in combination with nutrient, dietary fiber and agronomic traits and augmented these traits towards foliage and biological yield. This study was conducted with the following purposes i) to know the status of antioxidant profile, dietary fiber and nutrient contents, and yield and the contribution of agronomic traits and attain a meaningful grouping of vegetable amaranth genotypes based on the contribution of those traits to divergence. And ii) to determine appropriate genotypic groups for efficient and proper utilization of germplasm in future breeding programs.

# Materials and methods

# Experimental site

The experiment was conducted at the experimental field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh.

# Materials, design, layout, and cultural practices

Forty-three distinct and promising genotypes of vegetable amaranth (Accession number 1-43) were investigated for two successive years (2014 and 2015). Experiment was carried out in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. The unit plot size of each genotype was 2 m<sup>2</sup>. The spacing was 20 cm between rows and 5 cm between plants. Recommended fertilizer and compost doses and appropriate cultural practices were maintained.

# Data collection of agronomic traits

Data were collected 30 days after sowing the seeds for both years. The data were recorded on 10 randomly selected plants in each replication for agronomic traits, including plant height (cm), leaves per plant, leaf area (cm<sup>2</sup>), shoot weight (g), shoot: root ratio, and stem base diameter (cm). Foliage and biological yield were harvested on a whole-plot basis.

# Estimation of beta-carotene, vitamin C, protein, dietary fiber

Estimation of beta-carotene, vitamin C, protein and dietary fiber were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# *Extraction of samples for total polyphenol content, total flavonoids content, total antioxidant activity.*

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of total polyphenols content (TPC)

The total phenolic content of red amaranth was determined using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent method described by Slinkard and Singleton [154] with gallic acid as a standard phenolic compound. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l of the leaf extract solution was placed in a test tube along with1 ml of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (previously diluted 1:4, reagent: distilled water) and then mixed thoroughly. After 3 min, 1 ml of NaCO<sub>3</sub> (10%) was added, and the mixture allowed to stand for 1 h in the dark. The absorbance was measured at 760 nm using a spectrophotometer (U-1800, HITACHI, Tokyo, Japan). The concentration of total phenolic compounds in the leaf extracts was determined using an equation obtained from a standard gallic acid graph. The results are expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE) kg<sup>-1</sup> dw.

# Determination of total flavonoid content (TFC)

The total flavonoid content in vegetable extract was determined using the aluminum chloride colorimetric method described by Chang *et al.* [155]. For this assay, 500  $\mu$ l of leaf extract was transferred to a test tube along with 1.5 ml of methanol, 0.1 ml of 10% aluminum chloride, 0.1 ml of 1 M potassium acetate and 2.8 ml of distilled water. After 30 min at room temperature, the absorbance of the reaction mixture was measured at 415 nm using a spectrophotometer (U-1800, HITACHI, Tokyo, Japan). Rutin was used as the standard compound, and TFC is expressed as mg rutin equivalent (RE) kg<sup>-1</sup> dw.

# Total antioxidant capacity (TAC)

Total antioxidant capacity was measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Statistical analyses

The raw data were compiled by taking the means of all plants from each treatment in both experimental years. The pooled means of both years were then subjected to further statistical and biometrical analyses, including analysis of variance (ANOVA), as described by Singh and Chaudhary [133]. The mean data were standardized and subjected to a multivariate analysis of numerical taxonomic techniques using the procedure of principal component analysis (PCA) [156]. To group the 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes and to elucidate patterns of similarity and dissimilarity, the data were subjected to cluster analysis using Ward's method (Ward, [157].

# **Results and discussion**

Antioxidant vitamins and minerals, TPC and TFC of vegetable amaranth remove free radicals from the body and help to fight against infections and other conditions including cancer, coronary artery diseases, muscular degeneration and serious eye diseases [8]. The contents of beta-carotene, vitamin C, Fe, Zn, Cu and Mn are the most important antioxidant traits of vegetable amaranth [11, 13, 15, 52, 54]. On the other hand, amaranth can relieve vitamin and nutrient deficiency in the human diet. Anemia, night blindness, scurvy, rickets and protein deficiency are serious problems for children in poor communities in third-world countries, including the Indian subcontinent. Therefore, vegetable amaranth might be an excellent source of antioxidants, nutrients and dietary fiber.

Vegetable amaranth genotypes exhibited highly significant differences with a high degree of variation in total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, and nutritional and agronomic traits in both years.

# Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed by simultaneously considering total antioxidant capacity and all antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, and nutritional and agronomic traits to evaluate deviation patterns among 22 variables consecutively. The characters were initially scaled to make their variances equal. In the multivariate space in which they are defined, a new set of axes was chosen such that the variance on each axis was as large as possible but at right angles to the preceding ones. The coefficient of each data point on each new axis was a weighted sum of its coefficients on the original axes. The variance on each axis is called the latent root and the percentage of the total variance that each represents and the coefficients used in the weighted sum (loadings or eigen vectors) for 22 antioxidants, nutrients or agronomic traits in the 43 genotypes are presented in Table 1.

		$PC_1$	PC <sub>2</sub>	PC <sub>3</sub>	PC <sub>4</sub>
	Root	225530.90	134546.10	54.387.13	3828.26
	% variance explained	53.17	31.72	12.82	0.90
	Cumulative variance	53.17	84.89	97.71	98.61
			Coefficier	ts of variates	
	Fe (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	120.67	354.05	2.66	3.32
le	Mn (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	1.17	9.21	44.26	-10.69
ofi	Cu (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	1.28	-1.54	0.94	-1.63
t pi	Zn (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	56.87	-17.72	227.01	2.31
lan	Beta carotene (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	-11.81	3.68	0.75	-5.71
xić	Vitamin C (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	0.12	-3.46	-3.52	14.65
atic	TAC (TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	1.99	1.50	-1.38	0.80
A	TPC (GAE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	-0.20	-0.64	-1.54	1.37
	TFC (RE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	7.03	1.89	-2.56	10.51
It	K (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	0.02	0.02	0.04	-0.00
its	Ca (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.08	0.01	0.08	-0.09
luti tra	Mg (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.01
Z	Protein (g 100 $g^{-1}$ )	0.04	0.01	-0.03	0.03
	Dietary fiber (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	-0.15	0.02	-0.03	0.04
	Plant height (cm)	4.19	-2.63	-0.62	5.52
~	Leaves plant <sup>-1</sup>	1.25	-0.04	-0.91	1.50
aits	Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	17.91	-22.74	-1.62	57.14
c tt	Shoot weight (g)	4.82	-0.96	-0.34	-0.04
B.	Shoot: root ratio	5.16	0.98	1.76	-3.44
ouo	Stem base diameter (cm)	0.56	-0.61	-0.38	0.90
5 L G	Foliage yield (kg)	144.44	-31.04	-6.44	2.56
A	Biological yield m <sup>-2</sup> (kg)	431.60	-85.26	-28.45	-4.76

**Table 1.** Eigen values, proportion of variability, antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, nutrient and agronomic traits contributing to the first four PCs of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

The first two principal components (PCs) contributed 84.89%, and the first three PCs contributed 97.71% of the variability seen among the 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes for the traits under investigation. PC<sub>1</sub> accounted for 53.17% of the variation. In the present study, we found that four PCs account for 98.61% of the total variation present among the 43 genotypes of amaranth, indicating that the selected antioxidant, nutrient, and agronomic traits significantly contributed to the diversity of vegetable amaranth. Shukla *et al.* [63] observed

that 68% of the total variation for 16 morphological and nutritional traits was found in the first four PCs among 39 vegetable amaranth strains. PC1 exhibited the highest positive coefficient of variation for biological yield. PC1 also had the largest positive coefficients for foliage yield, iron, zinc, leaf area, total flavonoid content (TFC), shoot: root ratio, shoot weight, plant height, total antioxidant capacity (TAC), copper, leaves plant-1 and manganese content whereas, this PC showed negative coefficients for beta carotene, total polyphenol content (TPC) and dietary fiber. PC1 had a positive coefficient for all of the traits except beta-carotene, TPC, calcium and dietary fiber. PC2, accounted for 31.72% of the variation, had the highest positive coefficient for iron and high positive coefficients for manganese, beta-carotene, TFC, and TAC. PC2 also had the largest negative coefficient for biological yield, followed by foliage yield, leaf area, and zinc. In contrast, PC<sub>2</sub> had high negative coefficients for vitamin C, plant height, copper, and shoot weight. PC3 contributed 12.82% of the genetic variation and had the highest positive coefficient of variation for zinc. PC3 had the largest positive coefficient for manganese, iron, shoot: root ratio, copper and beta-carotene. In contrast, PC3 had the highest negative coefficients for biological yield, foliage yield, vitamin C, TFC, leaf area, TPC, TAC, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height. Finally, PC<sub>4</sub> contributed only 0.90% of the total genetic variation. PC<sub>4</sub> had the largest positive coefficient for leaf area and high positive coefficients for vitamin C, TFC, plant height, iron, foliage yield, zinc, TPC and leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>. PC<sub>4</sub> also had high negative coefficients for manganese, beta-carotene, biological yield, shoot: root ratio, and copper content. All of the nutrient traits and dietary fiber for PC4 had non-significant coefficients of variation, indicating less contribution of these traits towards genetic divergence of the 43 vegetable amaranths. The results from four PCs revealed that the foliage and biological yield had a close association with all agronomic traits, indicating that a tall, thick plant having much broader leaves, heavy shoots and a high shoot: root ratio significantly increases the foliage and biological yield of the vegetable amaranth. A previous report on Amaranthus by Shukla et al. [63] found similar results in PC<sub>2</sub> and PC<sub>3</sub> but differed from the results we observed in PC<sub>1</sub> and PC4. They found that PC1 grouped the genotypes with high foliage yield but with smaller leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and PC4 grouped the genotypes with low foliage yield but broad and higher leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> which may be due to the high environmental influence of related traits on foliage yield or sampling error during data collection. Although Shukla et al. [63] extensively investigated nutritional and morphological traits in vegetable amaranth but this is the first report of diversity study on antioxidant profile such as TPC, TFC, and TAC in combination with antioxidant vitamins, minerals, dietary fiber and agronomic traits in vegetable amaranth. Thus, the results of the antioxidant profile show that TFC has the highest contribution to TAC

compared to mineral and vitamin antioxidants. Moreover,  $PC_1$  and  $PC_4$  distinguished those genotypes with high foliage yield, and the related agronomic traits were closely associated with high antioxidant profiles.  $PC_2$  and  $PC_3$ , however, distinguished genotypes that had low foliage and biological yield and related traits and were also associated with a high antioxidant profile; hence, all genotypes had a high antioxidant profile. Therefore, high-yielding genotypes (especially from cluster VI) could be directly used as high antioxidant profile varieties, and low-yielding genotypes could be used as a source of donor parents in hybridization programs. All of the nutrient traits and dietary fiber results were of interest because none of the traits had a significant coefficient of variation in either the positive or negative direction, indicating less contribution of these traits to genetic divergence, but the highest contribution came from antioxidant profiles and agronomic traits.

# **Cluster analysis**

The dendrogram of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes for 22 antioxidant, nutrient and agronomic traits showed that the germplasm could be broadly divided into six clusters each carrying the amaranth genotype and sharing a common gene pool. following Ward's method [157] (Fig. 1). Shukla et al. [63] observed six clusters in 39 vegetable amaranth genotypes, while Pandey and Singh [62] found 18 clusters in 98 grain amaranth genotypes. However, Pandey [61] divided 26 grain amaranth genotypes into 11 clusters. The mean values of the genotypes in each cluster are presented in Table 2. Cluster I included 13 genotypes enriched with manganese, copper, calcium, and magnesium and had a higher biological yield. Genotypes from cluster I had a moderate antioxidant profile and agronomic traits. This group had low potassium and dietary fiber contents and thin stems. Cluster II consisted of a single genotype (Accession number 40) with high zinc, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, calcium, protein, and dietary fiber, broad leaves and high biological yield. In contrast, the cluster II genotype had low iron, manganese, copper, TAC, potassium, and magnesium contents and a low shoot: root ratio. Cluster III contained six genotypes, enriched with magnesium and several antioxidants including iron, manganese, zinc, beta-carotene, TAC, TPC, and TFC. Genotypes in cluster III exhibited low copper, vitamin C, protein, and dietary fiber contents and had small and limited leaves with thin stems. Cluster IV was composed of 12 genotypes that had high manganese, copper, beta-carotene and protein contents but low iron, TFC, potassium, and dietary fiber contents with short stature and thin plants. Cluster IV genotypes also produced the lowest shoot weight, foliage, and biological yield among all of the clusters. Cluster V, which was composed of two genotypes (accession number 20 and 21), exhibited the highest iron and beta-carotene contents and high TAC, calcium, magnesium and protein contents. Cluster V genotypes also

WARD'S MINIMUM VARIANCE DENDROGRAM



Fig. 1. Dendrogram of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes using Ward's method.

had the lowest zinc, TPC, plant height, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, and stem base diameter. Cluster VI consisted of nine genotypes, which were observed to be the best among all of the clusters for all of the antioxidant, nutrient and agronomic traits except beta-carotene, calcium, protein, and dietary fiber.

Table 2. Cluster means for antioxidant, nutrient, dietary fiber and agronomic traits in 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

	Traits Cluster means								
		Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI		
	Fe (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	982.76	882.28	1422.12	934.90	2301.63	1165.85		
le	$Mn (\mu g g^{-1})$	232.08	176.49	288.88	264.54	221.32	244.81		
ofi	$Cu (\mu g g^{-1})$	28.32	20.09	20.86	24.58	21.39	27.87		
t pı	$Zn (\mu g g^{-1})$	975.73	1020.62	1022.75	925.60	806.33	1049.57		
lan	Beta carotene (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	923.12	1242.24	757.52	1053.21	1015.48	618.37		
oxic	Vitamin C (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	759.49	1047.53	667.22	846.83	751.62	885.59		
ntic	TAC (TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	16.94	13.35	21.24	13.77	22.78	20.60		
Aı	TPC (GAE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	15.64	16.32	16.50	15.43	14.88	16.40		
	TFC (RE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	100.75	105.64	118.88	97.80	105.57	120.35		
	K (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	1.00	1.00	1.10	0.98	1.00	1.01		
ts	Ca (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	2.74	2.62	2.20	2.48	2.71	2.18		
utri	Mg (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	2.99	2.91	3.05	2.95	3.05	2.96		
ź -	Protein (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	1.24	1.36	1.16	1.35	1.35	1.20		
	Dietary fiber (g 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	7.88	9.15	7.82	7.85	7.81	7.51		
	Plant height (cm)	27.00	30.31	28.26	26.31	24.43	41.35		
s	Leaves plant <sup>-1</sup>	10.14	11.01	9.27	10.50	9.29	14.63		
ait	Leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	118.35	234.54	88.50	145.77	96.07	206.43		
c ti	Shoot weight (g)	16.95	13.14	15.10	11.70	12.96	24.53		
imi	Shoot: root ratio	11.11	9.88	14.91	12.36	15.10	24.79		
onc	Stem base diameter (cm)	5.97	6.98	5.26	5.41	4.70	7.71		
<b>u</b> gr	Foliage yield (g)	505.27	560.56	462.80	358.03	395.65	744.88		
Ā	Biological yield m <sup>-2</sup> (g)	1512.86	1552.88	1363.44	1066.54	1182.25	2212.71		

The first two PCs were plotted to observe relationships between the clusters (Fig. 2). Clusters

II, III, V, and VI have a clear separation on the biplot. But cluster I and cluster IV, having the

highest number of genotypes, were not clearly separated on the biplot. The single genotype of cluster II had a high positive coefficient of PC<sub>1</sub> and a negative coefficient of PC<sub>2</sub> and is plotted in the extreme lower left corner of the biplot. The genotypes of cluster VI (Accession 8 and 15) had positive coefficients of PC<sub>1</sub> and low and negative coefficients of PC<sub>2</sub> and thus occupied the extreme upper left corner of the biplot. The rest of the genotypes from the other clusters had positive coefficients of both the components. Accessions 16, 26 and 27 of cluster VI had high positive coefficients of both PCs and thus occupied the extreme upper right corner of the biplot. Accessions 20 and 21 had low positive coefficients of PC<sub>1</sub> but high positive coefficients of PC<sub>2</sub> and thus occupied the extreme lower right corner of the biplot.

With few exceptions, collections from the northeastern regions of Bangladesh were clearly grouped into cluster IV. Such strong relationship among diversity and geographical origin has been previously reported in amaranth [63]. Conversely, studies of oat [139] maize [140], bambara groundnut [158], and Ethiopian mustard [59] observed that genetic diversity did not follow the geographical diversity that supported the distribution of the genotypes of the rest of the clusters (clusters I, II, III, V and VI) in our study. The outcome of this analysis was consistent with the results obtained through PCA, with the major differences between the clusters attributed to the same traits that contributed the most to PC1 and PC2. Cluster VI consisted of nine genotypes of different eco-geographical regions, and among them, only three members (Accession number 16, 26 and 27) could be considered sources of genes for foliage and yield and related agronomic traits, as well as Mg and antioxidant profiles. Similarly, cluster I included 13 genotypes from different regions of Bangladesh, which were enriched with manganese, copper, calcium, and magnesium; had a moderate antioxidant profile and agronomic traits; and had a high biological yield. Moreover, cluster II consisted of a single genotype (Accession number 41) having high zinc, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, calcium, protein, and dietary fiber contents; broader leaves; and high biological yield. Genotypes of these clusters might be considered sources of genes for the above-mentioned traits. In contrast, cluster III contained six genotypes from six different regions of Bangladesh and was enriched with magnesium and several antioxidants such as iron, manganese, zinc, beta-carotene, TAC, TPC, and TFC (except copper and vitamin C). Cluster IV was composed of 12 genotypes from different eco-geographical regions of Bangladesh and had high manganese, copper, betacarotene and protein contents. Cluster V, comprising two genotypes from two different regions of Bangladesh (Accession number 20 and 21), exhibited the highest manganese, TAC, and



Fig. 2. Plot of the first and second component score for 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes.

magnesium contents and high beta-carotene, calcium and protein contents. Clusters III, IV and V might be considered donor parents for these traits. The absence of a relationship between genetic diversity and geographical diversity for clusters I, II, III, V and VI indicates that forces other than geographical origin, such as an exchange of genetic stocks, genetic drift, spontaneous variation, and natural and artificial selection, are perhaps responsible for the observed genetic diversity. Pandey [61] and Pandey and Singh [62] found similar trends in genetic and geographical diversity in grain amaranth. Our findings are in accordance with earlier reports that both PCA and cluster analysis can disclose complex relationships between taxa in a more understandable way and with equal effectiveness [157, 159].

Conclusively, high-yielding genotypes from cluster VI could be directly used as high antioxidant profile varieties. In contrast, low-yielding genotypes having desirable genes (any clusters) for a specific trait could be used as a source of donor parents in hybridization programs. Genotypes with desirable genes of one cluster hybridized with promising genotypes of other diverge clusters could facilitate the accumulation of favorable genes in hybrids.

#### Abstract

A lot of variations in vegetable amaranth germplasm have been observed in Bangladesh. It has been used as a cheap source of antioxidants, nutrients, protein, and dietary fiber. But no efforts had not been taken to know the status of antioxidant content, polyphenol, flavonoid, antioxidant vitamins and minerals, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits. In this study, forty-three vegetable amaranth genotypes were evaluated to determine the status of total antioxidant content, polyphenol, flavonoid, antioxidant vitamins and minerals, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits and the magnitude of genetic diversity based on the contribution of those traits for meaningful grouping and proper utilization in future breeding program. The experiment was carried out in an open experimental field at Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Multivariate (Principal component and cluster) analysis was done using numerical taxonomic techniques of Sneath, & Sokal. Four principal components contributed 98.61% of the variation. Biological yield and total antioxidant content were strongly associated with their related all agronomic traits. Total flavonoid content had a higher contribution to total antioxidant capacity compared to vitamin and mineral antioxidants. Contribution of antioxidant profile and agronomic traits was the highest in diversity of vegetable amaranth. Both high and low yielding genotypes had a high antioxidant profile. Therefore, high yielding genotypes (From cluster VI) could be used directly as high antioxidant profile varieties and low yielding genotypes as a source of donor parents in hybridization program. Cluster analysis grouped the genotypes into six clusters. The diverse genotypes in different clusters were identified. Genotypes with desirable genes of one cluster hybridized with promising genotypes of other diverge clusters could facilitate the accumulation of favorable genes in hybrids.

# CHAPTER 3

# ABIOTIC STRESS TOLERANCE OF VEGETABLE AMARANTH

# **3.1 Biochemistry and Food Aspect on Drought Stress of Vegetable Amaranth**

Natural antioxidants, in vegetables, have gained the attention of both food researchers and consumers. Vegetable amaranth is a good source of minerals, vitamins, phenolics, and carotenoids; it also contains betalain, a nitrogen containing group of natural pigments, as well as proteins and fibers [6, 35]. Those secondary metabolites or natural antioxidants are involved in defenses against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [35, 50].

# **3.1.1** Response of nutrients, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid and antioxidant activity in selected vegetable amaranth under four soil water content

### Purpose of the study

Amaranths are often described as drought tolerant plants [68, 69]. *Amaranthus tricolor* is a versatile food crop exhibiting high adaptability to new environments, even in the presence of different biotic and abiotic stresses [70]. The amount of metabolites in plants might be affected by different factors such as biological, environmental, biochemical, physiological, ecological, and evolutionary processes [71]. Among these factors, drought stress can highly enhance the concentration of secondary metabolites [72].

The degree of damage by reactive oxygen species (ROS) is highly related to the balance between ROS production and its removal by the antioxidant scavenging system [64]. On the other hand, it has been reported that the plant cell membrane was more sensitive to rapid damage and leakage under water stress [64]. Plants can synthesize some secondary metabolites i. e.,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (vitamin E), and polyphenol to protect them against oxidative damage caused by environmental stresses [65, 66]. These compounds evolve to detoxify reactive oxygen species in plants, but they also show beneficial activity against some human diseases related to oxidative damage and aging [67].

There are few reports related to the effect of water stress on secondary metabolites of different crops including leafy vegetables. To date, scarce information is available for betalainic food crops under water stress, although betaxanthin and betacyanin have recently attracted attention for their antioxidant activities [73]. Water stress elevated secondary metabolites such as beta-carotene content in Choysum in dry season trial [74], in perennial

herbaceous [75], ascorbic acid in tomato [73], TPC, TFC in buckwheat [76], TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in *Achillea* species [77]. In contrast, water stress reduced the protein content in buckwheat [76], beta-carotene content in Kailaan in dry season trial [77], ascorbic acid, Ca, Fe and Zn content [74]. In our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162] we selected some genotypes with a high content in antioxidants and high yield potential. Therefore, to fill the lacuna, present investigation aimed to study the selected vegetable amaranth genotypes in response to soil water stress in terms of proximate, minerals, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betacarotene, ascorbic acid, TPC and TFC, and total antioxidant activity in.

### Materials and methods

# Experimental site, Plant materials, experiment design, layout

The experiment was conducted at the experimental field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh. Four genotypes with a high content in antioxidants and high yield potential from 102 genotypes collected in different echogeographical regions of Bangladesh were selected on the basis of our earlier studies [143, 149-151, 160-162]. Accession numbers of the four genotypes were VA6, VA11, VA14 and VA16. These genotypes were sown in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications.

# Imposing of water stress

The seedlings were raised in plastic pots of 22 cm height and 24 cm diameter (upper side). A homogenous mixture of soil and cow dung (2:1 ratio) was placed in the pots leaving few cm empty space at the top to hold the irrigation water. Pots were well irrigated up to 10 days after germination of seeds for proper establishment and vigorous growth of seedlings. After 10 days of seedlings establishment, they were subjected to four treatments of irrigation including 30% field capacity (FC) or severe water stress (SWS), 60% FC or moderate water stress (MWS), 90% FC or low water stress (LWS), and 100% FC (control). Leaf samples were collected from 30 days old plants of each experimental unit.

#### **Chemicals**

Solvent: methanol and acetone. Reagents: ascorbic acid, gallic acid, rutin, methanol, DPPH (2, 2-diphenyl1-picryl-hydrazyl), ABTS<sup>+</sup>, trolox (6-hydroxy-2, 5, 7, 8-tetra-methyl-chroman-2-carboxylicacid), aluminum chloride hexa-hydrate, sodium carbonate, potassium acetate, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, NaOH, HNO<sub>3</sub>, HClo<sub>4</sub>, lanthamum, Caesium chloride, dithiothreitol (DTT) and potassium persulfate. All solvents and reagents used in this study were

high purity laboratory products obtained from Kanto Chemical Co. Inc. (Tokyo, Japan) and Merck (Germany).

#### **Proximate composition**

Moisture content was measured following ASAE standards [163]. Briefly, triplicates of vegetable amaranth leaf samples were oven-dried at 103 °C for 72 h, transferred to a desiccator, and allowed to cool at room temperature. The sample weights were recorded on a digital balance (Denver Instruments, Denver, Colorado, USA).

Ash, crude fat, and crude protein contents were determined by AOAC methods (AOAC (Association of Analytical Chemists) [164]. Ash content was determined by weighing leaf samples before and after heat treatment (550 °C for 12 h). Crude fat content was determined according to AOAC method 960.39.

Crude protein was assessed by the micro-Kjeldahl method, with nitrogen to protein conversion factor of 6.25 (AOAC method 976.05). Fiber was determined by ISO method 5498 [165]. First, a sample of leaf powder was boiled in 0.255 M sulfuric acid for 30 min. The resulting insoluble residue was filtered, washed, and boiled in 0.313 M sodium hydroxide. After filtering and washing the sample, it was dried at  $130 \pm 2$  °C for 2 h. Weight loss was determined at  $350 \pm 25$  °C. Fiber content was expressed relative to the fresh weight (FW).

Carbohydrate content (g 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW) was calculated by subtracting the sum of percent moisture, ash, crude fat, and crude protein from 100. Gross energy was determined using a bomb calorimeter according to ISO method 9831 ([166].

# **Determination of mineral content**

Leaves of vegetable amaranth were dried at 70 °C in a well-ventilated drying oven for 24 hours. Dried leaf of vegetable amaranth was ground finely in a mill. Milled powder was passed through an 841 microns screen. A portion of the dried power was analyzed for macronutrients (Ca, Mg, K, P and S) and microelements (Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na, Mo and B). All macronutrients and microelements were extracted after dissolution of the vegetable amaranth samples by nitric-perchloric acid digestion [167]. According to Zasoski and Burau [168] nitric-perchloric acid digestion was performed by adding 0.5 g of the dried samples to 400 ml of nitric acid (65%) with 40 ml of perchloric acid (70%) and 10 ml of sulphuric acid (96%) in the presence of carborundum beads. After nitric-perchloric acid digestion, the solution was appropriately diluted and P analysis was performed in triplicate according to the ascorbic acid method [169]. In acidic medium, orthophosphates formed a yellow-colored complex with molybdate ions and, after addition of ascorbic acid and Sb, a blue-colored

phosphomolybdenum complex was formed. Absorbance was measured according to the method described by Temminghoff and Houba [170] in triplicate at wavelength 880 nm (P), 766.5 nm (K), 422.7 nm (Ca), 285.2 nm (Mg), 258.056 nm (S), 248.3 nm (Fe), 279.5 nm (Mn), 324.8 nm (Cu), 213.9 nm (Zn), 589.0 nm (Na), 313.3 nm (Mo) and 430 nm (B), by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (AAS) (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). For calibration, AAS standard solutions (1000 mg l<sup>-1</sup> in 5% HNO<sub>3</sub>) were purchased from Merck, Germany. Finally, interferences were controlled by the addition of lanthanum and caesium chloride (0.1%) to samples and standards.

# Determination of betacyanin, betaxanthin, chlorophyll and beta-carotene content

betacyanin, betaxanthin, chlorophyll and beta-carotene were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Ascorbic acid

The total ascorbic acid defined as ascorbic acid (AsA) and dehydroascorbate (DHA) acid was assessed by spectrophotometric detection on fresh plant tissues. The assay is based on the reduction of  $Fe_3^+$  to  $Fe_2^+$  by AsA and the spectrophotometric (Hitachi, U-1800, Tokyo, Japan) detection of  $Fe_2^+$  complexes with 2, 2-dipyridyl [171]. DHA is reduced to AsA by pre-incubation of the sample with dithiothreitol (DTT). The absorbance of the solution was measured spectrophotometrically using a Hitachi U1800 instrument (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Data were expressed as mg ascorbic acid per 100 g fresh weight.

# Extraction samples for TPC, TFC and TAC analysis

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of TPC, TFC and TAC

TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Statistical Analysis

The results were reported as the mean  $\pm$  SD of six separate measurements (n = 6). The data were also statistically analyzed by ANOVA using Statistix 8 software, and the means were compared by the Duncan's multiple range (DMRT) test at 1% level of probability.

### **Results and discussion**

# **Proximate composition**

The proximate compositions were significantly affected by vegetable amaranth variety, soil water content and variety  $\times$  soil water content interactions and presented in Table 1. Like other

leafy vegetables, our study showed that vegetable amaranth leaves are a good source of moisture, protein, dietary fiber and carbohydrates.

Treatment	Moisture (g)	Protein (g)	Fat (g)	Dietary fiber (g)	Carbohydrates (g)	Energy (Kcal)	Ash (g)
Variety × SWC				·•·			
$VA6 \times Control$	$86.18\pm0.82b$	$3.15\pm0.02p$	$0.23\pm0.03i$	$7.45\pm0.09m$	$7.42\pm0.13c$	$42.43\pm0.17h$	$3.03\pm0.02n$
$VA6 \times LWS$	$85.96\pm0.75 bc$	$3.27\pm0.01 \text{o}$	$0.22\pm0.01j$	$7.65\pm0.06l$	$7.14\pm0.07c$	$42.28 \pm 0.18 h$	$3.12\pm0.04m$
$VA6 \times MWS$	$85.30\pm1.07e$	$4.27\pm0.09k$	$0.19\pm0.02k \\$	$8.22\pm0.10h$	$6.96\pm0.12c$	$44.84\pm0.19g$	$3.36\pm0.07j$
$VA6 \times SWS$	$85.36 \pm 1.15$ de	$4.66\pm0.04i$	$0.18 \pm 0.011$	$9.11 \pm 0.08c$	$6.12 \pm 0.15e$	$43.16 \pm 0.11h$	$3.68 \pm 0.11i$
VA11 × Control	$87.24\pm0.69a$	$3.54\pm0.06n$	$0.37 \pm 0.03c$	$8.22\pm0.04h$	$5.88\pm0.05e$	$39.48\pm0.21i$	$2.98\pm0.09p$
VA11 × LWS	$86.25\pm2.02b$	$3.65\pm0.05m$	$0.36\pm0.01d$	$8.78\pm0.08f$	$6.76\pm0.06d$	$43.09\pm0.26h$	$2.99\pm0.040$
VA11 × MWS	$86.12\pm1.26b$	$3.73\pm0.021$	$0.33\pm0.02g$	$9.37\pm0.07b$	$6.66\pm0.09d$	$42.83\pm0.23h$	$3.13\pm0.061$
$VA11 \times SWS$	$85.58 \pm 0.88 d$	$4.37\pm0.10j$	$0.33\pm0.01g$	$10.24\pm0.11a$	$6.56\pm0.07d$	$45.04\pm0.19g$	$3.16\pm0.03k$
$VA14 \times Control$	$82.20\pm0.19f$	$6.24\pm0.07f$	$0.34\pm0.03f$	$6.88\pm0.06o$	$5.97\pm0.14e$	$50.36\pm0.16e$	$5.26\pm0.07d$
$VA14 \times LWS$	$82.27\pm0.84f$	$6.35\pm0.06e$	$0.35\pm0.02e$	$7.21\pm0.05n$	$5.69\pm0.08f$	$49.80\pm0.14f$	$5.35\pm0.08c$
$VA14 \times MWS$	$81.33\pm0.23g$	$7.59\pm0.03c$	$0.32\pm0.01h$	$7.89\pm0.12j$	$5.20\pm0.04g$	$52.70\pm0.25c$	$5.56\pm0.09b$
$VA14 \times SWS$	$81.29\pm0.65g$	$8.26\pm0.04a$	$0.32\pm0.03h$	$8.88\pm0.09e$	$4.25\pm0.05g$	$51.83\pm0.18d$	$5.88\pm0.03a$
VA16 × Control	$81.35\pm1.28g$	$5.39\pm0.06h$	$0.41\pm0.01a$	$7.85\pm0.11k$	$8.39\pm0.04a$	$56.68\pm0.11b$	$4.46\pm0.02h$
$VA16 \times LWS$	$81.30\pm0.88g$	$5.47\pm0.05g$	$0.37\pm0.02\text{c}$	$8.03 \pm 0.13 i \\$	$8.32\pm0.07a$	$56.40\pm0.21b$	$4.54\pm0.06g$
$VA16 \times MWS$	$80.25\pm0.68h$	$6.98 \pm 0.02 d$	$0.37\pm0.01\text{c}$	$8.68\pm0.12g$	$7.80 \pm 0.06b$	$60.48 \pm 0.22a$	$4.60\pm0.07f$
$VA16 \times SWS$	$80.17\pm1.14h$	$7.46\pm0.07b$	$0.38\pm0.01b$	$9.06\pm0.07d$	$7.32\pm0.07c$	$60.60\pm0.27a$	$4.61\pm0.08e$
Variety							
VA6	$85.70\pm0.58b$	$3.84\pm0.05\text{c}$	$0.21\pm0.01\text{c}$	$8.11\pm0.06c$	$6.91\pm0.07b$	$43.18\pm0.16c$	$3.30\pm0.05c$
VA11	$86.30\pm0.89a$	$3.83\pm0.03\text{c}$	$0.35\pm0.02b$	$9.15\pm0.07a$	$6.46\pm0.04c$	$42.61\pm0.25c$	$3.06\pm0.03d$
VA14	$81.77\pm0.72c$	$7.11\pm0.07a$	$0.34\pm0.02b$	$7.72 \pm 0.06 d$	$5.28 \pm 0.06 d$	$51.17\pm0.23b$	$5.51\pm0.08a$
VA16	$80.77\pm0.77d$	$6.33\pm0.04b$	$0.38\pm0.03a$	$8.41\pm0.08b$	$7.96 \pm 0.04 a$	$58.54 \pm 0.16a$	$4.55\pm0.07b$
SWC							
Control	$84.24 \pm 1.10 a$	$4.58\pm0.07d$	$0.34\pm0.03a$	$7.60 \pm 0.07 d$	$6.91\pm0.07a$	$47.24\pm0.08b$	$3.93 \pm 0.02 d$
LWS	$83.94 \pm 1.27a$	$4.69\pm0.05\text{c}$	$0.33\pm0.01a$	$7.92\pm0.06c$	$6.98\pm0.02a$	$47.89\pm0.12b$	$4.00\pm0.05\text{c}$
MWS	$83.25\pm0.92b$	$5.64 \pm 0.06 b$	$0.31\pm0.02b$	$8.54 \pm 0.12 b \\$	$6.66\pm0.05a$	$50.21\pm0.17a$	$4.16\pm0.04b$
SWS	$83.10\pm0.81b$	$6.19\pm0.03a$	$0.30\pm0.01b$	$9.32\pm0.11a$	$6.06\pm0.06b$	$50.16\pm0.14a$	$4.33\pm0.06a$
Significance							
Variety	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
Variety × SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**

**Table 1.** Effect of soil water content on proximate composition (per 100 g fresh weight) in four selected vegetable amaranth genotypes

SWC = Soil water content, LWS = Low water stress, MWS = Medium water stress, SWS = Severe water stress, \*\* Significant at 1% level, (n = 6) In a column, mean values with different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test

Across varieties, VA16 exhibited the lowest moisture content (80.77 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), the highest fat (0.38 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), carbohydrates (7.96 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), and energy (58.54 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) while, VA14 had low moisture, the highest protein (7.11 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and ash content (5.51 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). The highest dietary fiber content was reported for genotype (or accession) VA11. VA16 showed 85% higher fat, 15% more carbohydrates and 36% higher energy compared to VA6. 85% higher protein and 67% more ash was recorded in VA14 over VA6 (Fig. 1 Supplementary

file).

Considering soil water content, the highest moisture and fat content were observed in control and low water stress conditions, while the medium water stress (MWS) and severe water stress (SWS) exhibited the lowest moisture and fat content. The highest protein, dietary fiber and ash content were observed in SWS followed by MWS condition, while the control had the lowest protein, dietary fiber and ash content followed by LWS. Protein, dietary fiber and ash content were significantly increased with the increment of soil water stress in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. In SWS, increase in protein and dietary fiber were 35% and 23% over control condition (Fig. 2, supplementary file). The highest carbohydrates content was observed in LWS (6.98 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) which was statistically similar to control (6. 91 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), and MWS (6. 66 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). The lowest carbohydrates content was noticed in SWS (6.06 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). Severity of soil water deficit resulted in reduction in carbohydrate content. Like other leafy vegetables, low carbohydrate content of *A. tricolor* does not have a significant impact on carbohydrate contribution in human body. The highest energy was observed in MWS (50.21 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and SWS (50.16 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) condition, while the control and LWS exhibited the lowest energy (47.24 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup> and 47.89 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>).



**Fig. 1.** Influence of proximate composition (g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) (% to the value of VA6) in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* genotypes

**Fig. 2.** Changes of proximate composition (g  $100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ ) (% to the value of control) under four soil water content: Control (100% FC), LWS (90% FC), MWS (60% FC), and SWS (30% FC)

Regarding energy balance, both MWS and SWS had significantly higher values than control and LWS, although these differences do not have a significant impact on energy contribution in human body, since the low amounts consumed on a daily basis diet. With respect to variety × soil water content interaction, the highest moisture content was observed in VA11 under control (87.24 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). In contrast, VA16 under MWS (80.25 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA16 under SWS (80.17 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) had the lowest moisture content followed by VA16 under control, VA16 under LWS, VA14 under MWS and VA14 under SWS. The highest protein content was noticed in VA14 under SWS (8.26 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA14 under MWS (7.59 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA16 under SWS (7.46 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA16 under MWS (6.98 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). In contrast, the lowest protein content was found in VA6 under control (3.15 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA6

under LWS (3.27 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). In our study, protein content was significantly increased in the leaves of all the varieties in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. However, Siracusa et al. [76] observed reduction of protein content in full irrigated to water stress in buckwheat. This might be likely due to genotypic differences between to crops. The fat content ranged from 0.40 to 0.17 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest fat content was observed in VA16 under control (0.41 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA16 under LWS, VA16 under MWS and VA11 under LWS. Conversely, VA6 under SWS (0.18 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) had the lowest fat content. The highest fiber content was observed in VA11 under SWS (10.24 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA11 under MWS (9.37 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA6 under SWS (9.11 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA16 under SWS (9.09 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). On the other hand, the lowest fiber content was observed in VA14 under control (6.88 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA14 under LWS (7.21 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). Fiber content was significantly increased with the increment of soil water stress in all the varieties in following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. The highest carbohydrates content was observed in VA16 under control (8.39 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA16 under LWS (8.32 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA16 under MWS, VA16 under SWS, VA11 under LWS, VA11 under MWS and VA11 under SWS. Alternatively, VA14 under MWS (5.20 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA14 under SWS (4.25 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) had the lowest carbohydrates content. Energy ranged from 42.27 to 60.59 Kcal. The highest energy was observed in VA16 under SWS (60.59 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA16 under MWS (60.47 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) <sup>1</sup>) followed by VA16 under control, VA16 under SWS and VA14 under MWS. Instead, the lowest energy was observed in VA6 under control, VA6 under LWS, VA6 under SWS, VA11 under LWS and VA11 under MWS. The ash content ranged from 2.98 to 5.88 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest ash content was observed in VA14 under SWS (5.88 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) followed by VA14 under MWS, VA14 under LWS and VA14 under control. VA11 under control (2.98 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) showed the lowest ash content. Soil water stress increased the protein, dietary fiber, energy, ash content and decreased moisture, fat and carbohydrate content of vegetable amaranth. For this, amaranth produced in dry area and season could contribute as a good source of protein and fiber in human diet.

### Mineral (macro and micro elements)

The mineral compositions of vegetable amaranth were significantly affected across variety, soil water content and variety × soil water content interactions and presented in Table 2 and Table 3. Within varieties, the highest Ca, K, P, S, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na and B content were observed in VA14 and the highest Mg, Fe, Zn and Mo were recorded in VA16. Whereas, VA6 exhibited the lowest Fe, Mn, Cu and Mo and VA11 showed the lowest K, P, S, Na and B content. VA14 had 50%, 34%, 114%, 68%, 51%, 121%, 15%, 12% and 47% increase in Ca, K, P, S, Mn, Cu,

Zn, Na and B, respectively over VA6 and VA16 exhibited 16%, 50%, 13% and 171% increase in Mg, Fe, Zn and Mo content respectively, over VA6 (Fig. 3 Supplementary file). These results were fully agreed with the results of Hanson *et al.* [74] where they found varietal differences in mineral content of Kailaan and Choysum.

Treatment	Ca	Mg	К	Р	S
Variety × SWC					
VA6 × Control	$2.26 \pm 0.06i$	$359 \pm 0.02i$	$5.92 \pm 0.011$	$0.78 \pm 0.02\sigma$	$0.77 \pm 0.02k$
$VA6 \times LWS$	$2.20 \pm 0.00$ j 2.58 + 0.10j	$3.60 \pm 0.01h$	$6.07 \pm 0.02i$	$0.68 \pm 0.01$ h	$0.64 \pm 0.01$ m
$VA6 \times MWS$	$2.50 \pm 0.101$ 3 50 ± 0.05f	$445 \pm 0.03e$	$6.66 \pm 0.02i$	$0.65 \pm 0.02i$	$1.25 \pm 0.02h$
$VA6 \times SWS$	$4.47 \pm 0.02d$	$4.72 \pm 0.06c$	$7.25 \pm 0.04h$	$0.03 \pm 0.021$ $0.51 \pm 0.031$	$1.23 \pm 0.021$ $1.53 \pm 0.01f$
VA11 × Control	$2.58 \pm 0.01i$	$3.15 \pm 0.02$ m	$4.66 \pm 0.020$	$0.65 \pm 0.02i$	$0.51 \pm 0.020$
$VA11 \times LWS$	$2.75 \pm 0.06h$	$3.06 \pm 0.05n$	$4.98 \pm 0.01$ n	$0.62 \pm 0.01i$	$0.55 \pm 0.03n$
VA11 × MWS	$3.70 \pm 0.04e$	$342 \pm 0.01i$	$7.32 \pm 0.05h$	$0.55 \pm 0.05k$	$0.71 \pm 0.021$
$VA11 \times SWS$	$5.05 \pm 0.01c$	$3.91 \pm 0.02g$	$8.11 \pm 0.02d$	$0.33 \pm 0.03$ m	$1.08 \pm 0.01i$
VA14 × Control	$3.05 \pm 0.010$ $3.25 \pm 0.020$	$2.49 \pm 0.01$ p	$7.54 \pm 0.07f$	$1.75 \pm 0.04a$	$1.00 \pm 0.011$ $1.27 \pm 0.029$
$VA14 \times LWS$	$3.23 \pm 0.02g$ $3.72 \pm 0.07e$	$2.19 \pm 0.01p$ $2.86 \pm 0.04o$	$7.96 \pm 0.06e$	$1.73 \pm 0.01$ h	$1.27 \pm 0.02g$ $1.68 \pm 0.04d$
$VA14 \times MWS$	$5.72 \pm 0.076$ $5.54 \pm 0.02b$	$3.35 \pm 0.07k$	$8.86 \pm 0.08c$	$1.05 \pm 0.01d$	$1.85 \pm 0.02c$
$VA14 \times SWS$	$6.66 \pm 0.01a$	$4.54 \pm 0.06d$	$10.39 \pm 0.02b$	$1.11 \pm 0.02c$	$2.22 \pm 0.01a$
VA16 × Control	$1.68 \pm 0.02$ m	$3.21 \pm 0.011$	$5.64 \pm 0.03$ m	$1.11 \pm 0.02c$	$1.07 \pm 0.02i$
$VA16 \times LWS$	$1.85 \pm 0.031$	$3.96 \pm 0.02f$	$5.98 \pm 0.02$ k	$1.06 \pm 0.01d$	$1.03 \pm 0.04i$
$VA16 \times MWS$	$2.14 \pm 0.04$ k	$5.46 \pm 0.02h$	$7.36 \pm 0.03g$	$0.98 \pm 0.04e$	$1.57 \pm 0.03e$
$VA16 \times SWS$	$2.56 \pm 0.02i$	$6.28 \pm 0.02a$	$11.46 \pm 0.03a$	$0.95 \pm 0.02f$	$1.97 \pm 0.01b$
Variety					
VA6	$3.20\pm0.03c$	$4.09\pm0.03b$	$6.47\pm0.05c$	$0.66\pm0.01\mathrm{c}$	$1.05\pm0.02c$
VA11	$3.52\pm0.05b$	$3.39\pm0.06c$	$6.27\pm0.04d$	$0.57\pm0.02d$	$0.71\pm0.03d$
VA14	$4.79\pm0.02a$	$3.31\pm0.02d$	$8.69\pm0.04a$	$1.41\pm0.03a$	$1.76\pm0.01a$
VA16	$2.06\pm0.01d$	$4.73\pm0.05a$	$7.61\pm0.02b$	$1.03\pm0.02b$	$1.41\pm0.02b$
SWC					
Control	$2.44\pm0.02d$	$3.11\pm0.04d$	$5.94 \pm 0.06 d$	$1.07\pm0.03a$	$0.91\pm0.02d$
LWS	$2.73\pm0.05c$	$3.37\pm0.02c$	$6.25\pm0.04c$	$1.02\pm0.03b$	$0.97\pm0.01\text{c}$
MWS	$3.72\pm0.02b$	$4.17\pm0.05b$	$7.55\pm0.03b$	$0.81\pm0.02\text{c}$	$1.34\pm0.03b$
SWS	$4.68\pm0.01a$	$4.86\pm0.03a$	$9.30\pm0.04a$	$0.76\pm0.01d$	$1.70\pm0.04a$
Significance					
Variety	**	**	**	**	**
SWC	**	**	**	**	**
Variety × SWC	**	**	**	**	**

Table 2. Effect of soil water content on mineral (macro-elements mg/g FW) composition in four selected vegetable amaranth genotypes

SWC = Soil water content, LWS = Low water stress, MWS = Medium water stress, SWS = Severe water stress, \*\* Significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

In a column, mean values with different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test

Across soil water content, Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were significantly increased with the increment of soil water stress in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. In SWS, the rate of increment of Ca, S, Mn, Cu, Mg, K, Mo, B and Na was 92%, 87%, 85%, 75, 56%, 57%, 45%, 36%, and 26% respectively, over control (Fig. 4 supplementary file). In contrast, Hanson *et al.* [74] reported decreasing trend in Ca content both in Choysum and Kailaan varieties from wet season to dry season trial. Further, it was noted that, increasing soil water stress lead to a significant decrease in Fe, P and Zn content in the following order: control

> LWS > MWS > SWS. In SWS, reduction of Fe, P and Zn were 58%, 29% and 19% respectively, over control. (Fig. 4 supplementary file). The highest Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were observed in SWS while, the lowest Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were found in control. Conversely, the highest P, Fe and Zn content were recorded in control and the lowest P, Fe and Zn content were found in SWS.

Treatment	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn	Na	Мо	В
Variety × SWC							
VA6 × Control	$12.99\pm0.12h$	$12.25\pm0.09p$	$1.27\pm0.02n$	$11.33\pm0.14h$	$72.24\pm0.76m$	$0.26\pm0.01n$	$5.52\pm0.07n$
$VA6 \times LWS$	$11.56\pm0.09j$	$13.88\pm0.07m$	$1.27\pm0.03n$	$11.07\pm0.21 i$	$74.37\pm0.87l$	$0.27\pm0.02m$	$5.66\pm0.08m$
$VA6 \times MWS$	$8.35\pm0.11m$	$16.88\pm0.08i$	$1.55\pm0.051$	$10.54\pm0.09m$	$82.45 \pm 1.12 g$	$0.28\pm0.011$	$5.78\pm0.111$
$VA6 \times SWS$	$5.43\pm0.02o$	$20.35\pm0.11\text{e}$	$1.82\pm0.02j$	$9.83 \pm 0.24 n$	$91.33 \pm 1.22 d \\$	$0.32\pm0.03j$	$6.65\pm0.08h$
VA11 × Control	$15.45\pm0.06d$	$12.86\pm0.21\text{o}$	$1.27\pm0.01n$	$12.19\pm0.22e$	$72.34 \pm 1.26 m$	$0.28\pm0.011$	$5.27\pm0.06p$
VA11 × LWS	$14.25\pm0.07f$	$12.94\pm0.09n$	$1.31\pm0.04m$	$12.12\pm0.26f$	$72.37\pm0.68m$	$0.28\pm0.021$	$5.33\pm0.05o$
$VA11 \times MWS$	$10.77\pm0.04k$	$14.85\pm0.111$	$1.77\pm0.03k$	$11.33\pm0.25h$	$78.97 \pm 1.24 j \\$	$0.31\pm0.01k$	$5.87 \pm 0.08 k $
$VA11 \times SWS$	$7.78\pm0.06n$	$18.95\pm0.14f$	$1.97\pm0.02i$	$10.89\pm0.18j$	$88.92\pm 0.85e$	$0.36\pm0.01i$	$6.28\pm0.12j$
$VA14 \times Control$	$16.72\pm0.05b$	$16.77\pm0.26j$	$2.26\pm0.01\text{g}$	$14.61\pm0.27a$	$80.28\pm0.89i$	$0.56\pm0.02h$	$7.36\pm0.11f$
$VA14 \times LWS$	$15.26\pm0.04e$	$17.90\pm0.16g$	$2.89\pm0.04e$	$14.25\pm0.17b$	$85.69 \pm 1.17 f$	$0.59\pm0.01f$	$7.78\pm0.14e$
$VA14 \times MWS$	$12.77\pm0.05i$	$26.73\pm0.16\text{c}$	$3.77\pm0.06\text{c}$	$10.58\pm0.231$	$92.34 \pm 1.15 \text{c}$	$0.64 \pm 0.04 d \\$	$9.27\pm0.09\text{c}$
$VA14 \times SWS$	$9.64\pm0.031$	$34.25\pm0.13a$	$4.17\pm0.04a$	$9.83 \pm 0.27 n$	$100.39\pm1.05b$	$0.72\pm0.02\text{c}$	$10.23\pm0.06a$
$VA16 \times Control$	$17.35\pm0.02a$	$15.35\pm0.21k$	$2.05\pm0.03h$	$12.95\pm0.25\text{c}$	$78.64 \pm 1.18 k \\$	$0.57\pm0.01g$	$6.29\pm0.08i$
$VA16 \times LWS$	$16.69\pm0.06c$	$17.57\pm0.15h$	$2.46\pm0.05f$	$12.89\pm0.26d$	$80.87 \pm 1.28 h$	$0.62\pm0.02e$	$6.75\pm0.14g$
$VA16 \times MWS$	$13.57\pm0.05g$	$24.84\pm0.18d$	$3.66\pm0.05d$	$11.76\pm0.11g$	$88.78 \pm 1.09 e$	$0.79\pm0.03b$	$8.28\pm0.11\text{d}$
$VA16 \times SWS$	$9.65\pm0.031$	$32.11\pm0.24b$	$4.01\pm0.06b$	$10.66\pm0.26k$	$102.31\pm1.15a$	$1.05\pm0.01a$	$10.15\pm0.07b$
Variety							
VA6	$9.58\pm0.03d$	$15.84\pm0.08d$	$1.48\pm0.02d$	$10.69\pm0.13c$	$80.10\pm1.04c$	$0.28\pm0.02d$	$5.90\pm0.06\text{c}$
VA11	$12.06\pm0.04c$	$14.90\pm0.11\text{c}$	$1.58\pm0.03\text{c}$	$11.63\pm0.16b$	$78.15 \pm 1.15 d$	$0.31\pm0.02\text{c}$	$5.69\pm0.08d$
VA14	$13.60\pm0.06b$	$23.91\pm0.12b$	$3.27\pm0.02a$	$12.32\pm0.21a$	$89.68\pm0.99a$	$0.63\pm0.01b$	$8.66\pm0.04a$
VA16	$14.32\pm0.04a$	$22.47\pm0.15a$	$3.05\pm0.04b$	$12.07\pm0.25a$	$87.65\pm0.87b$	$0.76\pm0.03a$	$7.87\pm0.11b$
SWC							
Control	$15.63\pm0.02a$	$14.31\pm0.16d$	$1.71\pm0.03d$	$12.77\pm0.16a$	$75.88 \pm 1.27 d$	$0.42\pm0.02d$	$6.11\pm0.12d$
LWS	$14.44\pm0.05b$	$15.57\pm0.18c$	$1.99\pm0.03\text{c}$	$12.58\pm0.19b$	$78.33 \pm 1.18 \text{c}$	$0.44\pm0.01\text{c}$	$6.38\pm0.08\text{c}$
MWS	$11.37\pm0.03\text{c}$	$20.83 \pm 0.16 b \\$	$2.69\pm0.04b$	$11.05\pm0.24c$	$85.64 \pm 1.32 b$	$0.51\pm0.02b$	$7.30\pm0.05b$
SWS	$8.13\pm 0.05d$	$26.42\pm0.18a$	$2.99\pm0.05a$	$10.30\pm0.22d$	$95.74 \pm 1.28a$	$0.61\pm0.02a$	$8.33\pm0.09a$
Significance							
Variety	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
Variety × SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**

Table 3. Response of soil water content on mineral composition (micro-elements µg/g FW) in four selected vegetable amaranth genotypes

SWC = Soil water content, LWS = Low water stress, MWS = Medium water stress, SWS = Severe water stress, \*\* Significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

In a column, mean values with different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test

Similarly, Hanson *et al.* [74] found decreasing trend in Fe content in Choysum variety whereas, they found an increasing trend in Kailaan variety from wet season to dry season trial. However, Hanson *et al.* [74] found decreasing trend in Zn content both in Choysum and Kailaan variety from wet season to dry season trial. Among the interaction of variety × soil water content, Ca content ranged from 1.68 to 6.66 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Ca content was observed in VA14 under SWS (6.66 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under MWS, VA11 under SWS and VA6 under SWS. Instead, VA16 under control (1.68 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest Ca content. Ca,

Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were significantly increased with the increment of soil water stress in all the varieties in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. Mg content ranged from 2.49 to 6.28 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Mg content was observed in VA16 under SWS (6.28 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under MWS, VA6 under SWS and VA14 under SWS. In contrast, VA14 under control (2.49 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest Mg content. K content ranged from 4.66 to 11.46 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest K content was observed in VA16 under SWS (11.46 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under SWS, VA14 under MWS and VA11 under SWS. In contrast, VA11 under control (4.66 mg  $g^{-1}$  FW) showed the lowest K content. S content ranged from 0.51 to 2.22 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest S content was observed in VA14 under SWS (2.22 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under MWS, VA14 under LWS and VA16 under MWS. In contrast, VA11 under control (0.51 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest S content. Mn content ranged from 12.86 to 34.25 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Mn content was observed in VA14 under SWS (34.25 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under MWS, VA16 under MWS, VA6 under SWS and VA11 under control (12.86 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW). The highest Cu content was observed in VA14 under SWS (4.17 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under MWS and VA16 under MWS. In contrast, VA11 under control, VA6 under control and VA6 under LWS (1.27  $\mu g \ g^{\text{-1}} \ FW$ ) showed the lowest Cu content. Na content ranged from 72.24 to 102.31 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Na content was observed in VA16 under SWS (102.31 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under SWS, VA14 under MWS, VA6 under SWS and VA16 under MWS. VA6 under control (72.24 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW), VA11 under control (72.34 µg  $g^{-1}$  FW) and VA11 under SWS (72.37  $\mu g g^{-1}$  FW) exhibited the lowest Na content. Mo content ranged from 0.26 to 1.05 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Mo content was observed in VA16 under SWS (1.05 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under MWS, VA14 under SWS, VA14 under MWS and VA16 under LWS. In contrast, VA6 under control (0.26 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) exhibited the lowest Mo content. B content ranged from 5.27 to 10.23 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest B content was observed in VA14 under SWS (10.23 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under MWS, VA16 under MWS and VA14 under LWS. In contrast, VA11 under control (5.27 µg g<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> FW) exhibited the lowest B content. P content ranged from 0.47 to 1.07 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest P content was observed in VA14 under control (1.07 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under LWS, VA14 under SWS, VA16 under control and VA14 under MWS. In contrast, VA11 under SWS (0.47 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest P content. A significant decrement in P, Fe and Zn content were observed with the increase in soil water stress in all the varieties in the following order: control > LWS > MWS > SWS. The Fe content ranged from 5.43 to 17.35  $\mu$ g  $g^{-1}$  FW. The highest Fe content was observed in VA16 under control (17.35 µg  $g^{-1}$  FW)

followed by VA14 under control, VA16 under LWS and VA11 under control. In contrast, VA6 under SWS (5.43  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest Fe content. The highest Zn content was observed in VA14 under control (14.61  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under LWS, VA16 under control and VA16 under LWS. In contrast, VA6 under SWS (9.83  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest Zn content. All the macro and micro elements except P, Fe and Zn were increased with the severity of soil water stress, whereas, P, Fe and Zn were decreased with the severity of soil water stress, whereas in stressful area especially in dry area and season could contribute as good source minerals in human diet compared to normal cultivation practices.



**Fig. 3.** Mineral (Macro mg g<sup>-1</sup> and micro  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> elements) contents (% to the value of VA6) in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* genotypes

**Fig. 4.** Comparison of minerals (Macro mg g<sup>-1</sup> and micro  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> elements) (% to the value of control) under four soil water content: Control (100% FC), LWS (90% FC), MWS (60% FC), and SWS (30% FC)

# Antioxidant leaf pigments, ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC and TAC

Antioxidant leaf pigments, ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC and TAC of vegetable amaranth were significantly affected by variety, soil water content and variety  $\times$  soil water content interactions and presented in Table 4 and Table 5.

Considering varieties, the highest betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC and TFC was recorded in VA14 and the highest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was obtained from VA16. While, VA6 exhibited the lowest betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) and VA16 had the lowest beta-carotene content. VA14 had 170%, 48%, 90%, 38%, 118%, 101% and 63% increase in betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, respectively, compared to VA6. VA16 showed 2.6-fold chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total

chlorophyll and more than one-fold TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) increase compared to VA6 (Fig. 5 supplementary file). Hanson *et al.* [74] reported that beta-carotene and ascorbic acid content were differed significantly in Choysum and Kailaan varieties. Similar varietal differences were observed for beta-carotene in perennial herbaceous [75], ascorbic acid in tomato [73], TPC, TFC in buckwheat [76], TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in *Achillea* species [77].

Genotype	betacyanin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	betaxanthin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Betalain (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Chl a (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Chl b (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Total chl (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	beta-carotene (mg g <sup>-1</sup> )
Variety × SWC							
$VA6 \times Control$	$185.02 \pm 1.23 m$	$355.98 \pm 1.21 k$	$542.35\pm1.28m$	$156.09\pm0.32m$	$64.90\pm0.07m$	$221.62 \pm 1.14m$	$0.82\pm0.03i$
$VA6 \times LWS$	$183.88\pm0.89n$	$350.31 \pm 1.081$	$540.57\pm0.88n$	150.56 ±0.27n	$64.86 \pm 0.17 m$	$218.57\pm0.89n$	$0.83 \pm 0.02 \mathrm{i}$
$VA6 \times MWS$	$164.18\pm0.47o$	$315.57\pm0.82n$	$486.72 \pm 1.180$	$130.16\pm0.32o$	$62.74 \pm 0.21n$	$198.57\pm0.74o$	$0.86\pm0.04h$
$VA6 \times SWS$	$160.02\pm0.68p$	$295.97 \pm 0.69 p$	$462.45 \pm 1.26p$	$80.31 \pm 0.41 p$	$54.49\pm0.24o$	$139.59 \pm 0.66 p$	$0.98\pm0.02f$
VA11 × Control	378.97 ± 1.04g	372.48 ± 0.53i	$752.44 \pm 2.23h$	$443.63 \pm 0.52$ g	$221.52\pm0.22f$	$666.75 \pm 0.45g$	$0.70\pm0.05m$
$VA11 \times LWS$	$374.47 \pm 2.01h$	$368.60 \pm 0.82j$	$750.64 \pm 1.47 \mathrm{i}$	$441.05 \pm 0.28h$	213.36 ±0.32g	$658.69 \pm 0.37h$	$0.72\pm0.061$
$VA11 \times MWS$	348.21 ± 1.26j	$348.48 \pm 0.67 m$	$699.75\pm0.97k$	$260.01\pm0.36k$	157.28 ± 0.33i	$425.38\pm0.95k$	$0.82\pm0.04i$
$VA11 \times SWS$	$340.02\pm0.59k$	$308.89\pm0.57o$	$654.70 \pm \mathbf{0.56l}$	$230.95\pm0.54l$	$115.27 \pm 0.421$	$346.50\pm0.881$	$1.29\pm0.05b$
$VA14 \times Control$	$499.01 \pm 0.72a$	501.10 ±0.44a	$1000.46 \pm 0.77 a$	$515.04\pm0.46a$	$251.46\pm0.46d$	$768.47\pm0.78a$	$1.01\pm0.01e$
$VA14 \times LWS$	$488.62\pm2.12b$	$492.44\pm0.88b$	$992.87 \pm 0.26 b$	$507.61 \pm 0.72 b$	$249.75 \pm 0.71e$	$758.37\pm0.53c$	$1.13\pm0.02d$
$VA14 \times MWS$	$462.13 \pm 1.23e$	$488.23 \pm 1.26d$	$958.27 \pm 1.21 d$	$490.72 \pm 0.63e$	$187.18\pm0.64h$	$737.63\pm0.44f$	$1.26\pm0.03c$
$VA14 \times SWS$	$425.76 \pm 0.94 f$	$468.03\pm1.32f$	$899.67 \pm 1.44 f$	298.83 ± 0.65j	$129.77\pm0.55k$	$428.34\pm0.58j$	$1.41\pm0.02a$
VA16 × Control	$481.80\pm0.58c$	$489.97 \pm 1.14 c$	$972.38 \pm 1.15c$	$505.06 \pm 0.43c$	$261.38\pm0.67a$	$766.45 \pm 0.53b$	$0.75\pm0.04k$
$VA16 \times LWS$	$475.54 \pm 1.25 d$	$481.65 \pm 2.04e$	956.67 ± 1.23e	$452.82\pm0.44f$	$258.46\pm0.78b$	$755.68 \pm 0.33d$	$0.77 \pm 0.06 \mathrm{j}$
$VA16 \times MWS$	358.41 ± 1.22i	$430.24\pm1.55g$	$795.65 \pm 1.46g$	$490.98 \pm 0.51 d$	$254.48\pm0.69c$	$745.62 \pm 0.89e$	$0.86 \pm 0.02 h$
$VA16 \times SWS$	$328.47\pm0.761$	$412.60 \pm 1.19h$	744.55 ± 1.05j	$392.72\pm0.64i$	$135.67 \pm 0.48j$	$528.67 \pm 0.99 \mathrm{i}$	$0.92\pm0.01g$
Variety							
VA6	$173.28\pm0.35d$	$329.46 \pm 0.65d$	$508.02\pm0.48d$	$129.28\pm0.18d$	$61.75 \pm 0.25 d$	$194.59 \pm 0.36d$	0.87 ±0.05c
VA11	$360.42\pm0.67\text{c}$	$349.61\pm0.47c$	$714.38 \pm 0.89 \text{c}$	$343.91\pm0.32c$	$176.86\pm0.85c$	$524.33\pm0.75c$	$0.88\pm0.06b$
VA14	$468.88\pm0.48a$	$487.45\pm0.38a$	$962.82 \pm 0.84a$	$453.05\pm0.09b$	$204.54\pm0.54b$	$673.20\pm0.82b$	$1.20\pm0.03a$
VA16	$411.05\pm0.72b$	$453.61\pm0.36b$	$867.31 \pm 1.15b$	460.40 ±0.23a	$227.50\pm0.57a$	$699.10 \pm 0.87a$	$0.82\pm0.03d$
SWC							
Control	$386.20\pm 0.46a$	$429.88\pm0.52a$	$816.91 \pm 1.24a$	$404.96\pm0.34a$	$199.81\pm0.08a$	$605.82\pm0.48a$	$0.82\pm0.01d$
LWS	$380.63\pm0.53b$	$423.25\pm0.46b$	$810.19\pm1.07b$	$388.01\pm 0.46b$	$196.61\pm0.24b$	$597.83\pm0.41b$	$0.86\pm0.02c$
MWS	$333.23\pm0.61\text{c}$	$395.63\pm0.25c$	$735.10\pm0.86c$	$342.97\pm0.55c$	$165.42\pm0.17c$	$526.80\pm0.52c$	$0.95\pm0.04b$
SWS	$313.57\pm0.65d$	$371.37\pm 0.22d$	$690.34\pm0.58d$	$250.70\pm0.48d$	$108.80\pm0.12d$	$360.77\pm0.62d$	$1.15\pm0.02a$
Significance							
Variety	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**
Variety × SWC	**	**	**	**	**	**	**

SWC = Soil water content, LWS = Low water stress, MWS = Medium water stress, SWS = Severe water stress, \*\* Significant at 1% level, Chl a = chlorophyll a, Chl b = chlorophyll b, Total chl = Total chlorophyll, (n = 6)

In a column, mean values with different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test

Among soil water content, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content were significantly decreased with increasing soil water stress (control > LWS > MWS > SWS). In SWS, the reduction in betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content were 19%, 14%, 15%, 38%, 45% and 40%, respectively, compared to control (Fig 6 supplementary file). Similarly, Hsu and Kao [172] observed chlorophyll reduction with severity of water deficit in soil. They reported that

soil water deficit affected plant growth and development through osmotic stress on plants, reducing the water potential, decreasing stomatal conductivity which restricts  $CO_2$  influx to leaves and unfavorable  $CO_2/O_2$  ratio in chloroplasts, reducing photosynthesis.

However, in our study, we found that beta-carotene, ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with increasing soil water stress in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. In SWS, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were increased in 40%, 35%, 83%, 29%, 37% and 52% compared to control, respectively highest betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content were observed in control while, the lowest betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content were found in SWS. The highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were observed in SWS while, the lowest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were observed in control.

Genotype	Ascorbic acid (mg $100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ )	GAE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	content (RE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	otal antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	(ABTS+) (TEAC $\mu g g^{-1} dw$ )
Variety × SWC					
VA6 × Control	$72.45\pm0.15p$	$9.34\pm0.04o$	$176.45\pm1.02f$	$12.27\pm0.080$	$26.69\pm0.32p$
$VA6 \times LWS$	$73.21\pm0.22o$	$9.92\pm0.07n$	$177.25\pm0.87f$	$12.05\pm0.14p$	$27.79\pm0.43o$
$VA6 \times MWS$	$88.43\pm0.26n$	$11.78\pm0.05m$	$180.66 \pm 0.75e$	$15.16\pm0.12n$	$34.99 \pm 0.41 n$
$VA6 \times SWS$	$94.82\pm0.16m$	$24.47\pm0.02h$	$228.39\pm0.67c$	$17.85\pm0.07m$	$37.49\pm 0.54m$
VA11 × Control	$108.77 \pm 0.181$	$22.72\pm0.07j$	$154.89\pm0.55i$	$26.55\pm0{,}14\mathrm{i}$	$52.83 \pm 0.28 \mathrm{j}$
$VA11 \times LWS$	$110.27\pm0.14k$	$23.63 \pm 0.11i$	$160.63\pm0.57h$	$27.25\pm0.12h$	$56.79\pm0.25h$
VA11 × MWS	$128.67 \pm 0.18i$	$28.47\pm0.09d$	$192.44 \pm 0.58d$	$29.88 \pm 0.21e$	$72.95 \pm 0.22e$
$VA11 \times SWS$	$142.47 \pm 0.21$ g	$38.41\pm0.08a$	$220.42\pm0.81c$	$33.88 \pm 0.22 \mathbf{b}$	$83.34\pm0.32a$
VA14 × Control	$156.34 \pm 0.26e$	$25.55\pm0.06g$	$280.44\pm0.72b$	$24.38\pm0.241$	$48.79\pm0.351$
$VA14 \times LWS$	$160.55 \pm 0.19d$	$26.05\pm0.06f$	$283.53\pm0.58b$	$25.28\pm0.18k$	$50.33\pm0.36k$
$VA14 \times MWS$	$188.57 \pm 0.23b$	$28.55\pm0.03d$	$335.86\pm0.56a$	$27.56\pm0.16f$	$56.99\pm0.32g$
$VA14 \times SWS$	$210.67 \pm 0.26a$	$34.72 \pm 0.05c$	$346.32 \pm 0.52a$	$32.86\pm0.28d$	$74.31 \pm 0.28c$
VA16 × Control	$128.57 \pm 0.16j$	$15.75 \pm 0.021$	$161.34\pm0.27h$	$25.86 \pm 0.21j$	$54.35\pm0.25i$
$VA16 \times LWS$	$130.21\pm0.18h$	$17.62\pm0.04k$	$164.53\pm0.08h$	$27.33\pm0.20g$	$61.24\pm0.27f$
$VA16 \times MWS$	$152.69\pm0.14f$	$26.57\pm0.04e$	$175.28\pm0.24 \text{fh}$	$33.56\pm0.15c$	$73.39\pm0.27d$
$VA16 \times SWS$	$180.58 \pm 0.12c$	$36.33\pm0.06b$	$200.20\pm0.34d$	$37.48\pm0.18a$	$81.78\pm0.24b$
Variety					
VA6	$82.23\pm0.09d$	$13.88\pm0.08d$	$190.69 \pm 0.43d$	$14.33\pm0.23d$	$31.74\pm0.19d$
VA11	$122.54 \pm 0.13c$	$28.31\pm0.05b$	$182.10\pm0.22b$	$29.39\pm0.22b$	$66.48\pm0.25b$
VA14	$179.03 \pm 0.18a$	$28.72\pm0.06a$	$311.54 \pm 0.36a$	$27.52\pm0.25c$	$57.61 \pm 0.23c$
VA16	$148.01\pm0.17b$	$24.07\pm0.04c$	$175.34\pm0.38c$	$31.06\pm0.24a$	$67.69 \pm 0.31a$
SWC					
Control	$116.53 \pm 0.23d$	$18.34\pm0.02d$	$193.28\pm0.28d$	$22.27\pm0.23d$	$45.66\pm0.21d$
LWS	$118.56 \pm 0.25c$	$19.31\pm0.01c$	$196.49\pm0.32c$	$22.98\pm0.20c$	$49.04\pm0.28c$
MWS	$139.59 \pm 0.22b$	$23.84\pm0.03b$	$221.06\pm0.33b$	$26.54\pm0.26b$	$59.58 \pm 0.23b$
SWS	$157.13 \pm 0.19a$	$33.48 \pm 0.05a$	$248.83\pm0.29a$	$30.52\pm0.25a$	$69.23 \pm 0.34a$
Significance					
Variety	**	**	**	**	**
SWC	**	**	**	**	**
Variety × SWC	**	**	**	**	**

Table 5. Effect of soil water stress on ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC and TAC in four selected vegetable amaranth genotypes

SWC = Soil water content, LWS = Low water stress, MWS = Medium water stress, SWS = Severe water stress, \*\* Significant at 1% level, TPC = Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TFC = Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (DPPH) = Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) = Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), (n = 6) In a column, mean values with different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test These findings were partly in agreement with findings of Hanson *et al.* [74], who observed an increasing trend in beta-carotene content in Choysum variety but found a decreasing trend in beta-carotene content in Kailaan variety and decreasing trend in ascorbic acid content in both varieties from wet to dry season trial. The reason might be due to the differences in varieties. Similarly, Siracusa *et al.* [76] in buckwheat, Gharibi *et al.* [77] in *Achillea* species observed increasing trend in polyphenol, flavonoid content and antioxidant activity with the reduction of soil water content. For the interaction of variety × soil water content, betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain content ranged from 160.02 to 499.01, 295.97 to 501.10 and 462.45 to 1000.46 ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW, respectively.



**Fig. 5.** Synthesis of leaf pigments, vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC (% to the value of VA6) in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* genotypes, betacyanin(ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betaxanthin (ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betalain (ng g<sup>-1</sup>), Chl a = chlorophyll a (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), Chl b = chlorophyll b (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), T chl = Total chlorophyll (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), ascorbic acid (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), TPC = Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TFC = Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (DPPH) = Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) = Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw)

**Fig. 6.** Response of leaf pigments, vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC (% to the value of control) under four soil water content: Control (100% FC), LWS (90% FC), MWS (60% FC), and SWS (30% FC), betacyanin(ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betaxanthin (ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betalain (ng g<sup>-1</sup>), Chl a = chlorophyll a (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), Chl b = chlorophyll b (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), T chl = Total chlorophyll (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), ascorbic acid (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), TPC = Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw), TFC = Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (DPPH) = Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) = Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw)

The highest betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain content were observed in VA14 under control (499.01, 501.10 and 1000.46 ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under LWS, VA16 under control, VA16 under LWS and VA14 under MWS. VA6 under SWS (160.02, 295.97 and 462.45 ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain content. The highest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content were observed in VA14 under control (499.01, 261.38 and 768.47  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under LWS, VA16 under control, VA16 under LWS and VA14 under MWS. In contrast, VA6 under SWS (160.02, 54.49 and 139.59  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and total chlorophyll content.

chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll content with the increment of soil water stress in all the varieties in this order: control > LWS > MWS > SWS.

Within the interaction of variety × soil water content, beta-carotene content ranged from 0.70 to 1.41 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest beta-carotene content was observed in VA14 under SWS (1.41 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA11 under SWS, VA4 under MWS and VA14 under LWS. The lowest beta-carotene content was observed in VA11 under control (0.70 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW). The highest ascorbic acid content was observed in VA14 under SWS (210.67 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under MWS, VA16 under SWS and VA14 under LWS. In contrast, VA6 under control (72.45 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW) showed the lowest ascorbic acid content. Total polyphenol content ranged from 9.34 to 38.41 GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw. The highest total polyphenol content was observed in VA11 under SWS (38.41 GAE µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under SWS and VA14 under MWS. In contrast, VA6 under control (9.34 GAE  $\mu g g^{-1} dw$ ) showed the lowest total polyphenol content. Total flavonoid content ranged from 154.89 to 346.32 RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw. The highest total flavonoid content was observed in VA14 under SWS (346.32 RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) and VA14 under MWS (335.86 RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) followed by VA14 under control, VA14 under LWS, VA11 under SWS and VA11 under MWS. In contrast, VA11 under control (154.89 RE µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw) showed the lowest total flavonoid content. Total antioxidant capacity was ranged from 12.05 to 37.48 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw (DPPH) and 26.69 to 83. 34 TEAC µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). The highest TAC (DPPH) was observed in VA16 under SWS (37.48 TEAC µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw) followed by VA11 under SWS, VA16 under MWS and VA14 under SWS while, the highest TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was observed in VA11 under SWS (83.34 TEAC µg g<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> dw) followed by VA16 under SWS, VA14 under SWS and VA16 under MWS. In contrast, VA6 under LWS (12.05 TEAC µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw) showed the lowest TAC (DPPH) and VA6 under control (26.69 TEAC µg g<sup>-1</sup> dw) showed the lowest TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increment of soil water stress in all the varieties in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. Water stress interacted with varieties and elevated beta-carotene content in Choysum in dry season trial [74], in perennial herbaceous [75], TPC, TFC in buckwheat [76], TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in Achillea species [77].

# **Correlation studies**

Betacyanin had highly significant correlation with betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and ascorbic acid. This trait exhibited significant correlation with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Highly significant association of betaxanthin was observed with betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and ascorbic acid.
betaxanthin was significantly interrelated with TFC. Betalain showed highly significant interrelationships with chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and ascorbic acid. Similarly, this trait had significant correlation with TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Chlorophyll a showed highly significant interrelationship with chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and significant correlation with ascorbic acid TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Highly significant interrelationship was noticed between chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll while, significant association was found between chlorophyll b and ascorbic acid and chlorophyll b and TAC (DPPH). Total chlorophyll was significantly associated with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). beta-carotene displayed highly significant interrelationship with ascorbic acid, TPC and TFC while, this trait had significant associations with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Ascorbic acid demonstrated highly significant interrelationship with TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Highly significant associations were detected in TPC versus TAC (DPPH), TPC versus TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) and significant association between TPC and TFC. Significant association was observed between TFC and TAC (DPPH and ABTS<sup>+</sup>). TAC (DPPH) was strongly and significantly associated with TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Correlation study revealed that betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll were strongly associated with each other along with TAC (DPPH and ABTS<sup>+</sup>) indicating antioxidant activity of these traits. However, these traits had no association with  $\beta$ carotene, TPC and TFC. beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) predominately interrelated with each other along with TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) revealed the antioxidant activity of these traits. Gharibi et al. [77] observed positive association among TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in Achillea species.

	betaxanthin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Betalain (ng g-1)	Chl a (µg g-1)	Chl b (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	T chl (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	$\beta$ - carotene (mg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Ascorbic acid (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	TPC (GAE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw	TFC (RE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	TAC (DPPH) (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	TAC (ABTS <sup>+</sup> ) (TEAC µg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)
betacyanin	0.86**	0.98**	0.91**	0.89**	0.92**	0.21	0.68**	0.38	0.39	0.56*	0.49*
betaxanthin		0.94**	0.89**	0.89**	0.90**	0.23	0.64**	0.11	0.45*	0.31	0.23
Betalain			0.90**	0.88**	0.91**	0.19	0.69**	0.29	0.43*	0.48*	0.51*
Chl a				0.96**	o.98**	-0.06	0.55*	0.25	0.16	0.52*	0.45*
Chl b					0.98**	-0.13	0.44*	0.14	0.10	0.43*	0.42
T Chl						-0.09	0.52*	0.21	0.14	0.49*	0.44*
beta-carotene							0.69**	0.61**	0.90**	0.43*	0.48*
Ascorbic acid								0.78**	0.75**	0.78**	0.74**
TPC									0.51*	0.86**	0.87**
TFC										0.56*	0.53*
TAC (DPPH)											0.98**

Table 6. Correlation co-efficient for antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamin, TPC, TFC and TAC in four selected vegetable amaranth genotypes

Chl a = Chlorophyll a, Chl b = Chlorophyll b, T chl = Total chlorophyll, TPC = Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TFC = Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (DPPH) = Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) = Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), \*significant at 5% level, \*\* significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

In this work, 4 cultivars of vegetable amaranth were selected from our germplasm collection and subjected to 4 irrigation regimes; significant changes in proximate composition, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity were observed. Based on the results reported (increase in most of the proximate compositions, mineral compositions, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity with the deficit of soil water content), this crop could be a promising alternative for farmers, especially in semi-arid and arid areas where water supply is scarce, as well as in dry seasons throughout the world.

#### Abstract

Four selected vegetable amaranths were grown under four soil water content to evaluate their response in nutrients, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid and total antioxidant activity (TAC). Vegetable amaranth was significantly affected by variety, soil water content and variety × soil water content interactions for all the traits studied. Increase in water stress, resulted in significant changes in proximate compositions, minerals (macro and micro), leaf pigments, vitamin, total polyphenol content (TPC), and total flavonoid content (TFC) of vegetable amaranth. Accessions VA14 and VA16 performed better for all the traits studied. Correlation study revealed a strong antioxidant scavenging activity of leaf pigments, ascorbic acid, TPC and TFC. Vegetable amaranth can tolerate soil water stress without compromising the high quality of the final product in terms of nutrients and antioxidant profiles. For this, it could be a promising alternative crop in semi-arid and dry areas and also during dry seasons.

# **3.1.2** Drought stress enhances nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids and antioxidant capacity of *Amaranthus* leafy vegetable

# Purpose of the study

Both researchers and consumers have much interests to natural antioxidants of vegetables. These natural compounds protect many diseases, such as cancer, arthritis, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases, atherosclerosis, and cataracts [3, 8, 35, 48]. *Amaranthus tricolor* is an inexpensive and excellent source of lots of natural antioxidants like nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and detoxify reactive oxygen species (ROS) in human body [6, 35].

The intensity of damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS) mainly depends on its balance between production and elimination by the antioxidant scavenging system [64]. Moreover, drought stress favors rapid damage and leakage of plant cell membrane [64]. Environmental stresses cause oxidative damage in the plant. Stressed-plants have also protection systems to overcome the oxidative damage by synthesis of secondary metabolites like phenolics, flavonoids [65, 66]. These compounds can detoxify ROS in plants, and also have the capacity to cure many human diseases caused by oxidative damage and aging [67]. Amaranths can tolerate drought efficiently [68, 69]. *A. tricolor* is a well-acclimated leafy vegetable against biotic and abiotic stresses [70] and had multipurpose usages. Many processes, such as environmental, biological, ecological, physiological, biochemical and evolutionary process are involved in the quantitative and qualitative improvement of natural antioxidants of this species of which, drought stress can rapidly boost up the contents [72].

There is limited information on leafy vegetables regarding the effect of secondary metabolites to drought stress, such as nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidants. Drought stress enhanced secondary metabolites, such as beta-carotene composition in Choysum varieties [74] and in perennial herbaceous [75], vitamin C in tomato [73], total polyphenol and total flavonoid content in buckwheat [79], total antioxidant activity, total polyphenol and total flavonoid content in *Achillea* species [77]. On the other hand, drought stress declined buckwheat's protein composition [79], beta-carotene composition of Kailaan variety [74] and vitamin C, Zn, Ca and Fe content of both varieties [74]. There is no literature regarding drought stress effects on nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in *A. tricolor*. Our earlier studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173], we selected some antioxidants enriched and high yielding genotypes. Consequently, the study was aimed to evaluate the drought stress effects on selected

genotype for nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity.

### Materials and methods

# Experimental site, Plant materials and experimental conditions

Earlier, we collected 102 genotypes in different eco-geographical zones of the country. From this collection, an antioxidant enriched high yield potential genotype (Accession VA3) was selected based on our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173]. This genotype was grown in pots under rain shelter open field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh. Pots were irrigated at 100% field capacity up to 5 days after planting (DAP) for dynamic growth and proper establishment of seedlings. After establishment period, *A. tricolor* plants were subjected to the different irrigation treatments as FC (100% field capacity, control), mild stress (90% FC), moderate stress (60% FC), and severe stress (30% FC). Throughout cultivation period, moisture levels in the soil were controlled by daily weighting following the standard procedure. Pots were weighed twice a day at 12 h intervals. To achieve the target field capacity of each water condition, the amount of water equaling that lost through transpiration and soil evaporation, percolation and leaching were added. Imposition of water stress was continued up to 30 DAP. At 30 DAP the leaves of *A. tricolor* were harvested from each experimental unit. All the parameters were measured in three replicates.

# Chemicals

Solvent: methanol and acetone. Reagents: Standard compounds of pure phenolic acids, HPLC grade acetonitrile and acetic acid, vitamin C, gallic acid, rutin, methanol, DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl), ABTS<sup>+</sup>(2,2-azinobis-3-ethyl-enzothiazoline-6-sulphonicacid), trolox (6hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetra-methyl-chroman-2-carboxylicacid), aluminum chloride hexa-hydrate, sodium carbonate, potassium acetate, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, NaOH, HNO<sub>3</sub>, HClO<sub>4</sub>, lanthamum, Caesium chloride, dithiothreitol (DTT) and potassium persulfate. The pure and analytical grade solvents and reagents from Kanto Chemical Co. Inc. (Tokyo, Japan) and Merck (Germany) were used in this experiment.

# Estimation of proximate composition, mineral content

Proximate composition and mineral content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

#### Estimation of chlorophyll, total carotenoids, betacyanin and betaxanthin content

Chlorophyll, total carotenoids, betacyanin and betaxanthin content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Extraction of samples for TPC, TFC and TAC

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Estimation of beta-carotene, TPC, TFC and TAC

Beta-carotene, TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Extraction of samples for HPLC and LC-MS analysis

One gram of fresh-frozen leaves was homogenized with 10 ml of 80% methanol containing 1% acetic acid. The homogenized mixture was filtered through a 0.45 µm filter using a MILLEX<sup>®</sup>-HV syringe filter (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, MA, USA) and centrifuged at 10,000g for 15 min. The final filtrate was used to analyze phenolic acids and flavonoids.

# HPLC analysis of phenolic acids and flavonoids

The amounts of phenolic acids and flavonoids in A. tricolor leaf sample were measured using HPLC with the method described by Khanam et al. [174] The HPLC system (Shimadzu SCL10Avp, Kyoto, Japan) was equipped with LC-10Avp binary pumps, a degasser (DGU-14A) and a variable Shimadzu SPD-10Avp UV-vis detector. Phenolic acids and flavonoids were separated by a CTO-10AC (STR ODS-II, 150 × 4.6 mm I.D., Shinwa Chemical Industries, Ltd., Kyoto, Japan) column. The binary mobile phase consisted of 6% (v/v) acetic acid in water (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B) was pumped at a flow rate of 1 ml/min for a total run time of 70 min. The system was run with a gradient program: 0–15% B for 45 min, 15–30% B for 15 min, 30–50% B for 5 min and 50–100% B for 5 min. The injection volume was 10 µl while the column temperature was maintained at 35 °C. The detector was set at 254, 280 and 360 nm for simultaneous monitoring of hydroxybenzoic acids, hydroxycinnamic acids and flavonoids. The compound was identified by comparing their retention time and UV-vis spectra with those of standards. The phenolic acids and flavonoids were also qualitatively confirmed using mass spectrometry. The sum of concentrations of all phenolic acids and flavonoids, quantified by HPLC, was denoted as the total phenolic index (TPI). From the HPLC data, TPI was obtained according to the method described by Khanam et al. [174]. All samples were prepared and analyzed in duplicate. The results were expressed as  $\mu g g^{-1}$  fresh weight (FW).

The Mass spectrometry analyses were performed in the negative ion mode using a JEOL AccuTOF (JMS-T100LP, JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) mass spectrometer fitted with an Agilent 1100 Series HPLC system and a UV–vis detector coupled on-line with an ElectroSpray

Ionization (ESI) source. The column elutes were recorded in the range of m/z 0-1000. Needle voltage was kept at -2000 V. The chromatographic conditions were optimized to obtain chromatograms with good resolution of adjacent peaks, for which a slight modification was made in the method reported by Khanam *et al.* [174]. Extract constituents were identified by LC-MS-ESI analysis.

#### Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed according to the procedure described in the previous chapter

# **Results and discussion**

#### Influence of nutritional compositions to drought stress

Effects of nutritional compositions under different drought stress of A. tricolor are presented in Fig. 1. Control and low drought stress (LDS) condition exhibited the highest moisture content, while the moisture content was gradually decreased from moderate drought stress (MDS) to severe drought stress (SDS). Moisture content was drastically reduced with the increase of drought stress in the order: (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). SDS condition had the highest protein, ash, and dietary fiber content, while the lowest protein, ash, and dietary fiber content were observed under the control condition.



**Fig. 1.** Changes of proximate compositions (g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; (n = 3), letters mentioned in the bars are significantly varied by DMRT (P < 0.01)

**Fig. 2.** Effect of proximate composition  $(g \ 100 \ g^{-1})$  (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype

Protein, ash and dietary fiber content were remarkably increased with an increase in the severity of drought stress in the following order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS. In LDS, MDS and SDS, protein, ash and dietary fiber content were augmented by (17%, 17% and 4%); (80%, 29% and 21%) and (118%, 38% and 28%); respectively over control condition (Fig. 2). MDS condition had the highest fat content, and the lowest fat content was recorded at SDS condition,

while the intermediate fat content was noticed under control and LDS conditions. Control condition had the highest carbohydrates content and it was gradually decreased in the order: control > LDS > MDS = SDS, which was statistically similar to MDS and SDS, respectively. Carbohydrate content was sharply declined with the severity of drought stress. The energy ranged from 34.67 to 45.61 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup> with the highest energy was recorded in SDS and the lowest in LDS condition.

As leafy vegetables, A. tricolor leaves exhibited high moisture content. Nevertheless, it demonstrated a noble source of protein, dietary fiber, carbohydrates and ash. Moisture content was significantly reduced with the increment of drought stress in the following order: (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). As lower moisture contents of leaves ensured higher dry matter, the drought-stressed plant could be a promising source of dry matter compared to control condition. In LDS, MDS and SDS, protein, ash and dietary fiber content were augmented by (17%, 17% and 4%); (80%, 29% and 21%) and (118%, 38% and 28%); respectively over control condition. However, Siracusa et al. [76] observed a decrease in protein content at drought stress to fully irrigated in buckwheat. The genotypic variances between two crops might be contributed for the different results. A. tricolor is the sources of protein for vegetarian and poor people of the third world countries. Dietary fiber has a significant role in palatability, digestibility and remedy of constipation [151]. MDS condition had the highest fat content, and the lowest fat content was observed under SDS condition. Fats are sources of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. It helps in the digestion, absorption, and transport of fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K. Sun et al. [175] observed similar results in sweet potato leaves where they mentioned that fat involved in the insulation of body organs and in the maintenance of body temperature and cell function. Control had the highest carbohydrates content and it was gradually decreased in the order: control > LDS > MDS = SDS, which was statistically similar to MDS and SDS, respectively. Carbohydrate content sharply declined with the severity of drought stress. As a leafy vegetable, the low carbohydrate content of amaranth leaves has no a substantial effect in the daily diet of the human body. As regards energy balance, SDS exhibited remarkably higher calories compared to MDS, LDS and control conditions, while these variations have no remarkable impact on the daily diet of the human body, since very little amounts were consumed in the daily diet. Drought stress increased the protein, ash, energy, fat and dietary fiber content and reduced carbohydrate and moisture content of Amaranthus leaves. For this, Amaranthus leafy vegetable might be produced in a semi-arid and dry area in the world could be contributed as a noble source of dietary fiber and vegetarian protein in the human diet.

#### Drought stress effects on mineral content

Results of minerals (macro and microelements) contents are presented in Fig. 3 and 4. The mineral contents of *A. tricolor* were progressively influenced by drought stress.





**Fig. 3.** Response of mineral content (Macro elements mg g<sup>-1</sup>) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; (n = 3), letters mentioned in the bars are significantly varied by DMRT (P < 0.01)

**Fig. 4.** Impact of mineral content (Micro elements  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; (n = 3), letters mentioned in the bars are significantly varied by DMRT (P < 0.01)

Ca, K, Na, Mg, S, Cu and Mo content were statistically similar under control and LDS conditions, whereas Ca, Mg, K, S, Cu, Na and Mo content were sharply and remarkably augmented with the severity of drought stress from MDS and SDS conditions showing the order: control = LDS < MDS < SDS. In MDS and SDS, Ca, K, S, Mg, Na, Cu and Mo content were augmented by (46%, 19%, 14%, 25%, 148%, 13% and 119%) and (103%, 61%, 29%, 86%, 215%, 26% and 200%), respectively compared to control and LDS conditions (Fig. 5). B and Mn content were statistically increased with the increase of drought stress in the order: control <LDS < MDS < SDS. In LDS, MDS and SDS, the rate of increase of Mn and B were (22%, 8%), (71%, 23%) and (121%, 37%), respectively, over the control condition (Fig. 5). Further, it was noted that, increasing drought stress lead to a significant decrease in P content in the following order: control > LDS > MDS > SDS. In LDS, MDS and SDS, reduction of P was 3%, 18% and 32%, respectively, over control condition (Fig. 5). Statistically, there were no significant differences in Fe and Zn content under control and LDS conditions, whereas Fe and Zn content were significantly and drastically declined with the severity of drought stress from MDS and SDS conditions showing the order: control = LDS > MDS > SDS. In MDS and SDS, Fe and Zn content were reduced by (8%, 5%) and (17%, 13%), respectively compared to control and LDS conditions (Fig. 5). The highest Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were observed in SDS, while the lowest Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo and B content were

found in control or LDS condition. Conversely, the highest P, Fe and Zn content were recorded in control or LDS condition and the lowest P, Fe and Zn content were found in SDS.



**Fig. 5.** Assessment of mineral contents (Macro and microelements, mg g<sup>-1</sup> and  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype

Amaranth leaves are noble sources of minerals (macro and microelements). The mineral content of amaranth leaves was remarkably influenced by drought stress. Zinc and Fe content of A. tricolor are greater than that of the cassava leaves [176] and beach pea [177]. Similarly, Jimenez-Aguiar & Grusak [178] reported high Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn (fresh weight basis) in different A. spp. including A. tricolor. They also reported that Amaranths had higher Zn content than black nightshade, spinach and kale; more Fe and Cu content than kale. Ca, Mg, K, S, Cu, Na and Mo content were sharply and remarkably augmented with the severity of drought stress from MDS and SDS conditions showing the order: control = LDS < MDS <SDS. On the other hand, Hanson et al. [74] reported a decline in Ca content both in Choysum and Kailaan varieties from dry season to wet season trial. SDS exhibited the highest Ca, K, S, Mg, Mn, Na, Cu, Mo and B content, while control or LDS condition had the lowest Ca, S, K, Mg, Cu, Mn, Mo, Na and B content. In contrast, control or LDS condition had the highest Zn, P, and Fe content and SDS exerted the lowest P, Zn and Fe content. Likewise, Hanson et al. [74] recorded a decline in Fe content of Choysum variety, whereas they reported a sharp increment in Kailaan variety from dry season to wet season trial. Moreover, Hanson et al. [74] recorded a remarkable increment in Zn content both in Kailaan and Choysum variety from dry season to wet season trial. Except P, Fe and Zn, all the mineral content were progressively raised with the increment of drought stress, whereas, Zn, Fe and P were sharply declined with the increment of drought stress. Therefore, A. tricolor cultivated in a drought-stressed area specifically in semi-arid and drought-prone area could be contributed as a noble source of minerals content in the daily diet of the human body related to usual farming practices.

# Drought stress effects on leaf pigments

Leaf pigments of vegetable amaranth were significantly affected by drought stress (Fig.6). Except total carotenoids, all the leaf pigments (Betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content) were significantly and gradually reduced with the increase of the severity of drought stress (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). In LDS, MDS and SDS, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content were declined by (0.5%, 2%, 1%, 3%, 2% and 3%); (5%, 5%, 5%, 7%, 9% and 8%) and (8%, 9%, 9%, 12%, 12% and 12%); respectively, over control condition (Fig. 7). Betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content were the highest in control condition, whereas betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *ab* content were the highest in control condition, whereas betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content were the lowest in SDS.



**Fig. 6.** Influence of Leaf pigments at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; Betacyanin (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Betaxanthin (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Betalain (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll b ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll ab ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Total carotenoids (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW); (n = 3), letters mentioned in the bars are significantly varied by DMRT (P < 0.01)

**Fig. 7.** Comparison of leaf pigments (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; Betacyanin (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Betaxanthin (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Betalain (ng g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll b ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Chlorophyll ab ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), Total carotenoids (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW)

Total carotenoids were significantly and remarkably increased with the increasing the severity of drought stress (control < LDS < MDS < SDS). In LDS, MDS and SDS, total carotenoids were significantly and remarkably increased by 4%, 24% and 60%, respectively over the control condition (Fig. 7). Leaf pigments of *A. tricolor* were statistically influenced by drought stress. Except total carotenoids, all the leaf pigments (Betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content) were significantly and gradually reduced with the increasing the severity of drought stress (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). Likewise, Hsu and Kao [172] reported a decline in chlorophyll content with the increased and chlorophyll stress influenced growth and

development of plant through osmotic stress, declining the water potential, reducing stomatal conductivity which limits  $CO_2$  influx to leaves and unfavorable  $CO_2/O_2$  ratio in chloroplasts, decreasing photosynthesis.

# Influence of beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC and TAC to drought stress

Beta-carotene, vitamin C content, TPC, TFC and TAC of *A. tricolor* were progressively influenced by drought stress Fig.8.



**Fig. 8.** Response of Beta-carotene, Vitamin C, TPC, TFC and TAC at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; AsA, Vitamin C (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>); Beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>-</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); (n = 3), letters mentioned in the bars are significantly varied by DMRT (P < 0.01)

**Fig. 9.** Response of Vitamins, TFC, TPC and TAC, (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype; AsA, Vitamin C (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>); Beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>); (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw)TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw)

In this investigation, beta-carotene, vitamin C content, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increasing of the severity of drought stress in the order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS. In LDS, MDS and SDS, beta-carotene, vitamin C content, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were augmented by (8%, 42%, 11%, 19%, 9% and 33%); (72%, 100%, 36%, 37%, 45% and 56%) and (93%, 63%, 45%, 60%, 75% and 99%); respectively, compared to control condition (Fig. 9). SDS condition had the highest beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC, (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while the control condition exhibited the lowest beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC, (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Hanson *et al.* [74] reported an increase in beta-carotene content of Choysum variety. In contrast, they reported a declining trend in beta-carotene content of Kailaan variety and reduction in vitamin C content in both varieties from dry to wet season trial. The reason for reduction might be due to the genotypic variations in two different crops. Likewise, Gharibi *et al.* [77] in *Achillea* species and Siracusa *et al.* [76] in buckwheat, reported increment in antioxidant activity, polyphenol and flavonoid content with the severity of drought stress. The ameliorate

response of beta-carotene content with the severity of drought stress was also reported in Choysum varieties in dry season trial [74], and in perennial herbaceous [75]. Siracusa *et al.* [76] reported an increment of TPC, TFC in buckwheat with increasing the drought stress. Garibi *et al.* [77] also reported the enhancing response of TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in *Achillea* species with the increment of drought stress.

#### Influence of drought stress on phenolics and flavonoids

Results of retention time,  $\lambda max$ , molecular ion, main fragment ions in MS<sup>2</sup> and tentative compound identification for phenolic compounds are presented in Table 1.

**Table 1.** Retention time (Rt), wavelengths of maximum absorption in the visible region ( $\lambda_{max}$ ), mass spectral data, tentative identification of phenolic compounds and quantification ( $\mu gg^{-1}FW$ ) in *Amaranthus tricolor* leaves.

Phenolic compound	Rt	$\lambda_{max}$	Molecular	Identity	MS <sup>2</sup>	Control	LDS	MDS (60%	SDS (30%
	(min)	(nm)	ion		(m/z)	(100% FC)	(90%FC)	FC)	FC)
			[M - H] <sup>-</sup>						
			(m/z)						
			( )						
Hydroxybenzoicacid Gollio gold	0.1	254	160	2.4.5Tribudrovubonzoioagid	160.2	$7.22 \pm 0.024$	$8.64 \pm 0.04a$	$10.25 \pm 0.05b$	$12.25 \pm 0.06$
Vanilia agid	20.6	254	167	4 hydroxy 2 methovybenzoicacid	167.2	$9.75 \pm 0.030$	$10.12 \pm 0.040$	$10.23 \pm 0.030$ 12.82 ± 0.04b	$12.23 \pm 0.00a$
Valific acid	24.9	254	107	4 Hydroxy 2.5 dimethoxybenzoicacid	107.2	$9.75 \pm 0.07a$ $1.17 \pm 0.02a$	$10.12 \pm 0.050$ $1.22 \pm 0.01c$	$12.85 \pm 0.040$ 1.65 ± 0.02b	$13.46 \pm 0.06a$ 1.82 $\pm 0.01a$
n-hydroxybenzoic acid	31.5	254	137	4-Hydroxybenzoic acid	137.2	$1.17 \pm 0.020$ 2.64 ± 0.03d	$1.22 \pm 0.010$ 2.84 ± 0.02c	$1.05 \pm 0.020$ 3.26 ± 0.02b	$1.85 \pm 0.01a$ $4.07 \pm 0.03a$
p-ilydroxybelizoic acid	48.2	254	137	2-Hydroxybenzoic acid	137.2	$17.45 \pm 0.030$	$2.84 \pm 0.020$ 18.96 ± 0.12c	$3.20 \pm 0.020$ 25.68 ± 0.14b	$4.07 \pm 0.03a$ 28.96 ± 0.16a
Ellagio agid	52.5	254	201	(2.2.7.8 totrahydrawy abromana	201.1	$17.45 \pm 0.210$	$10.90 \pm 0.120$	$25.03 \pm 0.140$ 2.15 ± 0.02b	$20.90 \pm 0.02a$
Ellagic acid	52.5	234	301	(2,5,7,8-tetranydroxy-enromeno	501.1	$0.98 \pm 0.010$	$1.04 \pm 0.020$	$2.13 \pm 0.020$	$2.08 \pm 0.03a$
Total hanzaia agida				[5.4.3_cdelchromene_5.10_dione		20.22	42.81	55.91	64 66
Hydroxycinnamic acid						57.22	42.01	55.61	04.00
Caffeic acid	32.0	280	170	3 4-Dihydroxy-trans-cinnamate	170 1	$1.56 \pm 0.02d$	$1.68 \pm 0.01c$	$1.96 \pm 0.02b$	$2.68 \pm 0.032$
Chlorogonia said	21.1	280	252	2 (2.4 Dihydroxy-trans-chinamate	252.2	$0.86 \pm 0.184$	$10.26 \pm 0.010$	$12.54 \pm 0.026$	$12.00 \pm 0.000$
n courrerie acid	42.0	280	162	4 hydroxycinnomiosoid	162.1	$1.04 \pm 0.024$	$10.20 \pm 0.24c$ 1.12 $\pm 0.01c$	$12.34 \pm 0.200$ 2 14 $\pm 0.02b$	$13.80 \pm 0.20a$
<i>p</i> -countaine actu	42.0	280	103	4-hydroxy 2 mothoxycinnomicacid	103.1	$1.04 \pm 0.020$ $1.02 \pm 0.01a$	$1.12 \pm 0.010$ $1.08 \pm 0.02a$	$2.14 \pm 0.020$ $1.55 \pm 0.01b$	$2.24 \pm 0.02a$ 2.15 ± 0.02a
Ferunc acid	47.9	280	195	2 hydroxy-5-methoxychinamicacid	193.2	$1.02 \pm 0.010$	$1.08 \pm 0.020$	$1.55 \pm 0.010$	$2.13 \pm 0.03a$
Sinopia agid	49.0	280	222	4 Hydroxy 2.5 dimethoxy/ainnamiaaaid	222.2	$0.15 \pm 0.050$	$3.34 \pm 0.020$	$0.33 \pm 0.040$	$7.90 \pm 0.03a$
	49.0	280	147	2 Phenyleonic acid	147.1	$0.20 \pm 0.010$	$0.34 \pm 0.01c$	$0.38 \pm 0.010$	$0.42 \pm 0.01a$
Trans-clinamic acid	07.5	280	14/	5-Phenylacrync acid	14/.1	$3.03 \pm 0.020$	$3.20 \pm 0.010$	$3.34 \pm 0.010$	$3.03 \pm 0.02a$
Flavor acida						21.69	25.27	51.00	34.90
Flavonoids	54.2	260	462	Oversetin 2 alvesside	162.2	2.55 + 0.02	2.59 + 0.02 -	$6.46 \pm 0.02h$	7.82 + 0.04
Iso-quercetin	54.5	260	405	Quercetin-3-glucoside	405.5	$5.55 \pm 0.020$	$5.38 \pm 0.030$	$0.40 \pm 0.020$	$7.62 \pm 0.04a$
Duction	55.5	200	403	Quercetin-3-galactoside	405.5	$1.18 \pm 0.010$	$1.22 \pm 0.020$	$1.38 \pm 0.010$	$2.03 \pm 0.02a$
Tetel flemen side	55.0	500	009	Querceun-5-ruunoside	009.4	7.69 ± 0.000	7.90 ± 0.050	9.36 ± 0.000	$11.24 \pm 0.04a$
Total navonoids						3/.11 16.50	02.08	82.47	95.62
Total phenolic acids						10.39	10./0	21.02	23.12
l otal phenolic index						/3./0	/8.84	104.09	120.74

Different letters in a row are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.01); (n = 3)

The values of phenolic acids and flavonoids components of *A. tricolor* genotype VA3 were separated though LC by comparing with masses of ion of standard flavonoids and phenolic acids and also by detecting the specific peaks of the corresponding components. A total of sixteen phenolic compounds were identified including six hydroxybenzoic acids, seven hydroxycinnamic acids and three flavonoids. *Trans*-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in *A. tricolor*. However, an attempt was made for the first time to study the effect of drought stress in antioxidant enriched and high yield potential *A. tricolor* genotype VA3, in terms of sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids. Within phenolic acids and flavonoids, hydroxybenzoic acids, salicylic acid was identified as one of the main phenolic acids followed by vanilic acid and gallic acid and *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid. Considering hydroxycinnamic acids, chlorogenic acid and *Trans*-cinnamic acid were the most abundant compound followed by *m*-

coumaric acid. A good amount of caffeic acid, *p*-coumaric acid and ferulic acid were also identified in this genotype. In this investigation, the flavonoids, rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) and isoquercetin (quercetin-3-glucoside) were the most abundant in this genotype.

The hydroxybenzoic acid (Syringic acid and); the hydroxycinnamic acid (Ferulic acid) and three flavonoids, iso-quercetin, hyperoside and rutin had no significant differences in their compositions under control and LDS conditions, nevertheless, the composition of these acids were significantly increased from MDS to SDS. In MDS and SDS, these phenolic acids and flavonoids compositions were increased by (41%, 53%, 82% 34% and 22%) and (56%, 111%, 121% 74% and 43%); respectively compared to control or LDS condition (Fig.10 and 11). Five hydroxybenzoic acids (Gallic acid, vanilic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, salicylic acid and ellagic acid) and six hydroxycinnamic acid (Caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, trans-cinnamic acid, p-coumaric acid, m-coumaric acid and sinapic acid) were remarkably increased with the increment of the severity of drought stress in the order: Control < LDS < MDS < SDS. In LDS, MDS and SDS, these phenolic acids and flavonoids concentrations were increased by (19%, 4%, 7%, 9% 6%, 8%, 4%, 8%, 13%, 31% and 22%); (42%, 32%, 23%, 19%, 42%, 26%, 27%, 105%, 109%, 47% and 50%) and (69%, 59%, 54%, 66% 111%, 65%, 72%, 41%, 115%, 45%, 154%, 65% and 60%); respectively (Fig.10 and 11). A total of sixteen phenolic compounds were identified including six hydroxybenzoic acids, seven hydroxycinnamic acids and three flavonoids. Trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in A. tricolor.



**Fig. 10.** Changes of hydroxybenzoic acid compositions ( $\mu g g^{-1} FW$ ) (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype

**Fig. 11.** Changes of hydroxycinnamic acid and flavonoid compositions ( $\mu g g^{-1} FW$ ) (% to the value of control) at four drought levels: Control (100% FC), LDS (90% FC), MDS (60% FC), and SDS (30% FC) in a selected *A. tricolor* genotype

Khanam & Oba [179] in red and green amaranths and Khanam *et al.* [174] in eight different leafy vegetables including amaranths described rest fifteen phenolic acids and flavonoids with normal cultivation practices. However, an attempt was made for the first time

to study the effect of drought stress in antioxidant enriched and high yield potential A. tricolor genotype VA3, in terms of sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids. Gallic acid, vanilic acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid content of the genotype VA3 under control condition were higher than A. tricolor genotypes that reported by Khanam et al. [174]. Considering hydroxycinnamic acids, chlorogenic acid and trans-cinnamic acid were the most abundant compound followed by mcoumaric acid. A good amount of caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid and ferulic acid were also identified in this genotype. Under control condition, chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid and mcoumaric acid of this genotype was higher than A. tricolor genotypes reported by Khanam et al. [174]. The hydroxycinnamic acids synthesized from phenylalanine are the most extensively disseminated phenolic acids in plant tissues [180]. In plants, flavonoids occasionally occur as a glycone, although the most common forms are glycoside derivatives. These compounds account for 60% of total dietary phenolic compounds [181]. Flavonols are the most prevalent flavonoids in the plant kingdom and glycosides of quercetin are the most predominant naturally occurring flavonols [181]. In this investigation, the flavonoids, rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) and isoquercetin (quercetin-3-glucoside) were the most abundant in this genotype. The genotype VA3 exhibited higher rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) content under control condition in comparison to A. tricolor genotypes that reported by Khanam et al. [174]. All the phenolic acids and flavonoids had the lowest concentrations under control condition, whereas these acids exhibited the highest concentrations under SDS condition. Hence, A. tricolor cultivated in a drought-stressed area specifically in the semi-arid and drought-prone area could be contributed as the noble source of minerals and bioactive compounds, phenolics and flavonoid content and antioxidant activity in the daily diet of the human body related to usual farming practices.

In this study, antioxidant enriched and high yield potential *A. tricolor* genotype VA3 was selected from our germplasm collection and evaluated for nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity under 4 irrigation regimes. *Trans*-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in *A. tricolor*. Drought stress resulted in significant increment in protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, K, S, Ca, Mn, Mg, Na, Cu, Mo and B content, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TAC (DPPH), TFC, TPC and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids. All the nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity of *A. tricolor* leaves was very high under MDS and SDS condition, in comparison to control condition, that could be contributed as valuable food sources for human diets and health benefit. Nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids might be played a vital role in scavenging ROS and would be beneficial for human nutrition by serving as good antioxidants and antiaging sources in human health

benefit. Moreover, *A. tricolor* cultivated under drought stress could be contributed as a quality product of nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidants. Based on the results reported farmers of semi-arid and dry areas of the world could be able to grow amaranth as an alternative crop.

# Abstract

Bioactive compounds, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids of A. tricolor are the sources of natural antioxidant that had a great importance for the food industry as these detoxify ROS in the human body. These natural antioxidants protect human from many diseases such as cancer, arthritis, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative cardiovascular diseases, atherosclerosis and cataracts. Moreover, previous literature has shown that drought stress elevated bioactive compounds, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in many leafy vegetables. Hence, we study nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity of amaranth under drought stress for evaluation of the significant contribution of these compounds in the human diet. The genotype VA3 was assessed at four drought stress levels that significantly affected nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity. Protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, K, Cu, S, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, B content, total carotenoids, TFC, vitamin C, TPC, TAC (DPPH), beta-carotene, TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids were remarkably increased with the severity of drought stress. At moderate and severe drought stress conditions, the increments of all these components were more preponderant. Trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in A. tricolor. Salicylic acid, vanilic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, transcinnamic acid, rutin, isoquercetin, *m*-coumaric acid and *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid were the most abundant phenolic compounds in this genotype. In A. tricolor, drought stress enhanced the quantitative and qualitative improvement of nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. Hence, farmers of semi-arid and dry areas of the world could be able to grow amaranth as a substitute crop.

# **3.2** Biochemistry and Physiological Aspect on Drought Stress of Vegetable Amaranth

Drought stress leads to the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which might initiate destructive oxidative processes such as lipid peroxidation, chlorophyll and betalain bleaching and protein oxidation. Plants have evolved both enzymatic and non-enzymatic defense systems for scavenging and detoxifying ROS, resulting in antioxidant defense capacity [78]. Nonenzymatic antioxidants [metabolites such as ascorbate (AsA), carotenoids, glutathione (GSH), phenolics, flavonoids and proline] and antioxidant enzymes [such as guaiacol peroxidases (GPOX), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes like glutathione reductase (GR) ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR)], work together for detoxification of ROS [88, 89].

# **3.2.1** Drought stress effects on growth, ROS markers, compatible solutes, phenolics, flavonoids, and antioxidant activity in *Amaranthus tricolor*

# Purpose of the study

Amaranthus tricolor L. is one of the most important and popular leafy vegetables in Bangladesh including Southeast Asia, Africa and South America often cultivated in arid and semiarid regions with drought stress. Vegetable amaranth is the inexpensive sources of natural antioxidants like, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and a unique source of betalain (betacyanin and betaxanthin). These secondary metabolites or natural antioxidants are involved in defense against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [35, 48]. Drought stress leads to the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which might initiate destructive oxidative processes such as lipid peroxidation, chlorophyll and betalain bleaching and protein oxidation. Plants have evolved both enzymatic and non-enzymatic defense systems for scavenging and detoxifying ROS, resulting in antioxidant defense capacity [78]. Drought ameliorates active accumulation of solutes (e.g., proline,  $\alpha$ -tocopherol and polyphenol) to protect them against oxidative damage and allows plants to maintain positive turgor pressure, a requirement for maintaining stomata aperture and gas exchange [79]. Besides, non-enzymatic antioxidants like, leaf pigments, ascorbic acid, carotenoids, phenolics and flavonoids have a protective role to avoid ROS generation [80].

Thus, there are three general types of response to drought stress including [81]: a) mechanisms to avoid water loss (*e.g.* osmotic adjustment), b) mechanisms for protection of

cellular components (*e.g.* qualitative and quantitative changes of pigments), and c) mechanisms of repairing against oxidative damage (*e.g.* antioxidant systems).

Excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species (hydrogen peroxide,  $H_2O_2$ ; superoxide,  $O_2^{\bullet}$ ; hydroxyl radical, OH• and singlet oxygen,  ${}^1O_2$ ), and malondialdehyde are enhanced under abiotic and/or biotic stresses, which can cause oxidative damage to plant macromolecules and cell structures, leading to inhibition of plant growth and development, or to death. Among the various ROS, freely diffusible and relatively long-lived  $H_2O_2$  acts as a central player in stress signal transduction pathways. These pathways can then activate multiple acclamatory responses that reinforce resistance to various abiotic and biotic stressors. To utilize  $H_2O_2$  as a signaling molecule, non-toxic levels must be maintained in a delicate balancing act between  $H_2O_2$  production and scavenging.

*Amaranthus tricolor* is often described as drought tolerant plants [68]. There are few reports related to the effect of drought stress on secondary metabolites of different crops including leafy vegetables. There is no information in *Amaranthus tricolor* for chlorophyll, ROS markers like, lipid peroxidation, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, electrolyte leakage, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidants like, proline, total carotenoid, reduced ascorbic acid, soluble protein, phenolics, flavonoids and total antioxidant activity under drought stress, although majority of these phytochemicals have recently attracted attention for their antioxidant activities. In our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173] we selected some antioxidant enrich high yielding cultivars. Therefore, present investigations were aimed elucidate key mechanisms involved in drought tolerance by comparing selected *A. tricolor* cultivars, differing in their extent of drought tolerance, (ii) to identify tolerant cultivars to drought stress, (iii) to explore the relationships among physiological, ROS markers, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant to obtain more tolerant cultivars under drought stress.

# Materials and methods

# Plant materials and experimental conditions

We selected four antioxidant enrich high yielding cultivars of *A. tricolor* from 102 genotypes collected in different echo-geographical regions of Bangladesh on the basis of our earlier studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173]. Accession number of these four cultivars were VA6, VA11, VA14 and VA16. Four *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars were grown in pots under rain shelter open field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh (AEZ-28, 24<sup>0</sup>23<sup>′</sup> north latitude, 90<sup>0</sup>08<sup>′</sup> east longitude, 8.4 m.s.l.). This facility moves over the trial area during rainfall events and otherwise exposes plants to ambient field

conditions. The pot soil was collected from the topsoil layer of experimental station (30 cm depth). The soil was silty clay with slightly acidic (pH 6.4) and low in organic matter (0.87%), total N (0.09%) and exchangeable K (0.13 c mol kg<sup>-1</sup>). The soil S content was at par with critical level, while P and Zn contents were above the critical level (Critical levels of P, S and Zn were 14, 14 and 0.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively and that of K was 0.2 c mol kg<sup>-1</sup>). The seeds were sown on 1<sup>st</sup> March 2016, in plastic pots of 22 cm in height and 40 cm in diameter (upper side) in 5 cm apart rows. Randomized complete block design (RCBD) pattern with three replications was adopted for the experiment. Total 48 pots were sown with 12 pots per genotypes and 12 pots per treatment. Fertilizer was applied at the rate of 92:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N:P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O as split dose. First at upper 15 cm of pot soil at the rate of 46:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O and second at 10 DAS at the rate of 46:0:0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O. The average day/night temperatures, relative humidity and day length during the experimental period was 26/22 °C, 75%, and 12 h, respectively. Each cultivar was grouped into three sets and subjected to four water stress treatments that is, severe drought stress (SDS) or 25% field capacity (FC), moderate drought stress (MDS) or 50% FC, low water drought (LDS) or 80% FC, and control or 100% FC. Pots were well irrigated everyday up to 10 days after sowing of seeds for proper establishment and vigorous growth of seedlings. Imposition of water stress treatment was started at 25 DAS. Each pot was weighed twice a day at 12 h intervals and the amount of water equaling that lost through transpiration and soil evaporation was added to achieve the target field capacity of each water condition. Imposition of water stress was continued up to 55 DAS. At 55 DAS the leaves of Amaranthus tricolor was harvested. Sampling was done around midday between 11:00 and 12:00 h from the top fully emerged young leaves from control and stressed plants for quantifying the plant parameters. All the parameters were measured in three replicates.

# Plant growth measurements

At 55 DAS, 5 plants were sampled for total biomass and specific leaf area measurement. Total leaf area per plant was measured with a LI-3100 leaf area meter (LICOR. Inc., Lincon, NE, USA). Dry mass of total plant and leaves was obtained after oven drying the samples at 70 °C until constant weight achieved. Specific leaf area (SLA) was calculated as total plant leaf area divided by the leaf dry weight.

# Determination of leaf relative water content

Leaf relative water content (RWC) was measured according to the method of Ogbaga [182]. For determination of leaf relative water content (RWC), fully expanded leaves of three plants per replicate were used. Three leaf discs (10 mm in diameter) were punched from the interveinal area of each plant using a cork borer and the fresh mass (FW) of pooled discs per

replicate was determined immediately. Weighed leaf discs were then placed in distilled water for 4 hours at 20 °C under dim illumination to avoid respiratory losses. Four hours of floating in water was found to be sufficient for complete hydration of leaf discs. The leaf discs were then carefully blotted to remove surface water and turgid mass (TW) was taken to calculate water uptake. Dry mass (DW) of the leaf discs was determined by drying the tissues at 70 °C for 2 to 4 d. RWC was calculated as (FW - DW)/ (TW - DW) × 100.

# Determination of chlorophyll and total carotenoid content

Chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b*, chlorophyll *ab* and total carotenoid was determined following the procedure described in the previous chapter

### **Oxidative stress markers**

#### Determination of leaf malondial dehyde and $H_2O_2$

Malondialdehyde (MDA) was measured using 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA) according to Zhao *et al.* [183]. Briefly, 1 g of fresh vegetable amaranth leaf was ground with 5 ml 0.6 % TBA in 10 % trichloroacetic acid (TCA), using a mortar and pestle. Then, the mixture was heated at 100 °C for 15 min. After cooling the mixture in ice, it was centrifuged at 5000 rpm/min for 10 min. The absorbance of the supernatant was read at 450, 532, and 600 nm. The MDA content was calculated on a fresh weight basis as follows:

μmol MDA g<sup>-1</sup> FW = 6.45 (OD532–OD600) – 0.56OD450 and finally, data were expressed as nmoles per gram fresh weight (nmol g<sup>-1</sup> FW). Hydrogen peroxide was measured after reaction with KI. The reaction mixture consisted of 0.5 ml 0.1%, trichloroacetic acid (TCA) leaf extract supernatant, 0.5 ml of 100 mM potassium phosphate buffer, and 2 ml reagent (1 ml KI w/v double-distilled water). The blank probe consisted of 0.1 % TCA in the absence of leaf extract. The reaction was developed for 1 h in the dark, and absorbance was determined at 390 nm. The amount of hydrogen peroxide was measured according to standard curve that was prepared with known concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and data were expressed as μmoles per gram fresh weight (μmol g<sup>-1</sup> FW).

# Determination of electrolyte leakage

Electrolyte leakage (EL) was determined as described by Lutts et al. [184]. Six randomly chosen plants per treatment (four mature leaves per plant) were taken and cut into 1cm segments. Leaf samples were washed three times with distilled water to remove surface contamination, and then placed in individual stoppered vials containing 10 mL of distilled water. The samples were incubated at room temperature (25 °C) on a shaker (100 rpm) for 24 h. Electrical conductivity of the bathing solution (EC1) was read after incubation. The same samples were then placed in an autoclave at 120 °C for 20 min and a second reading of the EC

(EC2) was made after cooling the solution to room temperature. The EL was calculated as EC1/EC2 and expressed as percentage.

# **Compatible solutes**

# Determination of leaf proline content

Proline was assayed from freeze dried leave material, using a 3% sulfosalicylic and ninhydrin extraction buffers according to Bates *et al.* [185]. Samples of 0.04 g dry weight of leaves was homogenized with 3% (w/v) sulfosalicylic acid and centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 min. A 200  $\mu$ l aliquot of the supernatant was mixed with 400  $\mu$ l of the reagent mixture (30 ml glacial acetic acid, 20 ml phosphoric acid and 1.25 g ninhydrin) and heated in sealed test tubes at 100 °C for 1 h. After cooling down, 4 ml toluene was added to each sample. Proline content was measured on a spectrophotometer (Hitachi, U-1800, Tokyo, Japan) at 520 nm and expressed as  $\mu$ moles per gram dry weight ( $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> DW).

# Determination of soluble protein content

Soluble proteins were determined by spectrophotometry at 595 nm, applying the dye-binding method and bovine serum albumin as standard [186].

# Non-enzymatic antioxidants

# Determination of free ascorbic acid

Free (reduced) ascorbic acid in amaranth leaves was quantified according to the procedure described by Ma *et al.* [187] with slight modifications. Dry leaves powder (0.5 g) was homogenized in 8 ml 5% (w/v) TCA on ice, centrifuged at 10,000 g for 10 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was used immediately for analysis. Then 0.8 ml supernatant was added to a reaction mixture containing 1 ml 10% (w/v) TCA, 800  $\mu$ l 42% (w/v) ortho-phosphoric acid, 800  $\mu$ l 65 mM 2, 2-dipyridyl in 70% (v/v) ethanol, and 400  $\mu$ l 3% (w/v) ferric chloride. The reaction was incubated at 42 °C for 1 h, and the absorbance was measured at 525 nm. Free ascorbic acid content was determined based on a standard curve generated with known ASA concentrations.

Extraction of samples for TPC, TFC and TAC analysis

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

Determination of TPC, TFC and TAC

TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter *Statistical Analysis* 

The results were reported as the mean  $\pm$  SD of three separate measurements. The data were also statistically analyzed by the ANOVA program in Statistix 8 software, and the means were

compared by the Duncan's multiple range (DMRT) test at 1% level of probability. Microsoft Excel program was used to present the figures.

#### **Results and discussion**

The results showed significant difference (P<0.01) for all the traits across drought stresses. In the present study, several adaptive responses were observed in *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four water deficit conditions. Tested cultivars exhibited some morphological, physiological and biochemical changes under different levels of drought. The tested cultivars had tremendous variability among studied ROS markers, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant parameters. Among studied cultivars, VA14 and VA16 had higher biomass, SLA, chlorophyll content, RWC, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant like, total carotenoids, free ascorbic acid, proline, TPC, TFC and TAC and lower oxidative stress responses due to less accumulation of stress markers like, MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and EL related to higher water use efficiency could be identified as a drought tolerant cultivar. These two cultivars could be used as drought tolerant cultivars or selected as tolerant parents to obtain more tolerant cultivar in hybridization programs.

# Total biomass and specific leaf area (SLA)

Moderate drought stress (MDS) and severe drought stress (SDS) resulted a significant reduction in total biomass for all cultivars. Nevertheless, cultivars VA14, VA16 had higher total biomass across all drought treatments compared to cultivar VA6 and VA11. Total biomass was sharply declined with severity of water deficit treatments in all cultivars. VA6 exhibited the highest reduction of total biomass (48.88 and 61.38% at MDS and SDS, respectively) whereas, the lowest reduction of total biomass was noted in VA14 (27.84 and 47.74% at MDS and SDS, respectively) (Fig. 1a). Specific leaf area (SLA), an indicator of leaf thickness gradually decreased with increasing drought severity, however, reductions were higher in VA11 (14.11 and 20.20% at MDS and SDS, respectively) and VA6 (11.43 and 18.20% at MDS and SDS, respectively) (Fig. 1b).

Growth (biomass production) are the primary processes to be affected by drought [85]. In our investigation, growth reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars are able to grow. Our results agree with the findings of Achten *et al.* [188] in *J. curcas* who have observed that water withhold would arrest growth but maintaining plants at low soil water availability (40%) would allow them to continue growing, although at a slower rate than fully irrigated condition. Total biomass of all *A. tricolor* cultivars significantly reduced when exposed to

drought stress, in terms of drought severity dependent manner, which indicated that drought stress depressed plant growth. Reduced biomass under severity of drought treatment could be attributed by inhibition of cell elongation and expansion, reduced turgor pressure, alteration of energy from growth to synthesis of compatible solutes to maintain cell turgor reduced water uptake resulting in a decrease in tissue water contents and trimming down the photoassimilation and metabolites required for cell division [189]. VA14 and VA16 had less growth inhibition and the highest sustainability in production compared to other cultivars under drought stress which suggested tolerance to drought. Our study demonstrated that SLA, an indicator of leaf thickness, had a significant decrease to the severity of drought stress in all cultivars. The reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, Amaranthus tricolor cultivars are able to maintain SLA. Similar trend of decline in SLA was observed by Guerfel et al. [190]. VA14 and VA16 exhibited higher SLA compared with other cultivars, suggesting the better performance to accumulate more dry mass per unit of leaf area under drought stress. We observed the positive relationship between SLA and total biomass (r = 0.86\*\* Supplemental Table S1), suggested that salinity may also influence plant growth through reduction in specific leaf area.

# Leaf relative water content (RWC)

Cultivar VA14 had the highest leaf RWC values followed by VA16, while VA6 exhibited the lowest leaf RWC followed by VA11 for all water deficit treatments. Leaf RWC gradually decreased with increasing drought severity, however, reductions were higher in VA6 (12.71 and 21.18% at MDS and SDS, respectively) and VA11 (11.45 and 19.87% at MDS and SDS, respectively) whereas, it was the lowest in VA14 (0.32 and 4.99% at MDS and SDS, respectively) (Fig. 1c). Relative water content is useful variables to evaluate the physiological water status of plants and its metabolic activity and survival that could be used as an attribute for discriminating tolerant and sensitive plants under water deficit [191]. Amaranthus tricolor cultivars established drought-induced reduction of RWC with the severity of drought (P < 0.01). RWC reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, Amaranthus tricolor cultivars are able to maintain RWC. Reduced turgor pressure, reduced water uptake due to shortage of available water in the soil caused by drought, hinder water uptake by roots, resulting in decrease of RWC in the leaves. In this investigation, a highly negative correlation between RWC and both proline and soluble protein contents was observed ( $r = -0.63^{**}$ ,  $r = -0.55^{*}$  Supplemental Table S1). It has also been extensively documented in several species that compatible solutes like free proline and soluble protein accumulation facilitate osmoregulation under drought stress [192]. VA14 and VA16

exhibited the higher leaf RWC under drought stress conditions, could be elucidated by a potential osmoregulation strategy due to the higher accumulation of compatible solutes in comparison to another cultivar studied. Thus, these two cultivars seem to be more efficient in terms of decreasing the cellular osmotic potential allowing the roots to absorb a sufficient amount of water to maintain cell turgidity and for improving potentiality in hydration status. chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* in VA6. VA11, VA14 and VA16 were (38%, 11%, 39% and 20%); (15%, 32%, 48% and 50%) and (31%, 19%, 43% and 30%), respectively (Fig. 1d, 1e & 1f). Decline of chlorophyll *a*, *b* & *ab* was lesser from control to MDS. Reduction of chlorophyll *b* was higher than chlorophyll *a*. The highest chlorophyll *a*, *ab* was observed in VA14 followed by VA16 while, the highest chlorophyll *b* was recorded in VA16 followed by VA14 and the lowest chlorophyll *a*, *b* & *ab* were detected in VA6 under control and LDS condition. Although VA14 showed the highest chlorophyll *a*, *b* & *ab* under control and LDS condition, but due to its

# Photosynthetic pigment content

Soil water deficit gradually reduced chlorophyll a, b and ab in all cultivars of vegetable amaranth in following order: control > LDS > MDS. In SDS, all types of chlorophyll contents were sharply declined in all varieties. From MDS to SDS, reduction of chlorophyll a, dramatic reduction, VA16 had the highest chlorophyll a & ab under SDS. Across the varieties, VA11 exhibited the highest reduction in chlorophyll a, b & ab under MDS and SDS (Fig. 1d, 1e & 1f).

# Inhibition of lipid peroxidation, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation and electrolyte leakage (EL)

In the present study, the effect of drought stress was assessed on MDA and  $H_2O_2$  production. In response to drought stress from control to LDS, there was no significant increase in MDA and  $H_2O_2$  whereas, significant sharp increase in MDA and  $H_2O_2$  was noticed from MDS to SDS. The lowest MDA and  $H_2O_2$  was found in VA16 followed by VA14. While, the highest MDA and  $H_2O_2$  was observed in VA6, followed by VA11 (P < 0.01)). VA6 exhibited 0.47 and 0.89-fold increase of MDA, 0.46 and 1.36-fold increase of  $H_2O_2$  at MDS and SDS, respectively. In contrast, VA16 had 0.89 and 0.88-fold increase of MDA, 1.32 and 1.82-fold increase of  $H_2O_2$  under MDS and SDS, respectively (Fig. 2a & 2b). There was no significant difference of EL among the cultivars under control treatment, however, all the cultivars were significantly increased with the severity of drought stress from LDS to SDS. The lowest EL was observed in VA14 followed by VA16, while VA6 exhibited the highest EL followed by VA11 from LDS to SDS drought treatments. EL sharply increased with severity of drought, nevertheless, increments were the lowest in VA14 (0.22, 0.90 and 2.06 fold, for LDS, MDS and SDS,



respectively) and the highest in VA6 (0.27, 3.96 and 5.28 fold for LDS, MDS and SDS, respectively) (Fig. 2c). There was a significant difference in photosynthetic leaf pigment

**Fig. 1.** Response of growth, leaf water content and photosynthetic pigments [a, Total biomass plant<sup>-1</sup> (dry) (g); b, Specific leaf area (cm<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>); c, Relative water content (%); d, Chlorophyll *a* ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW); e, Chlorophyll *b* ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW); f, Chlorophyll *ab* ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW)] in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four irrigation regimes: Control (100% FC), LDS (80% FC), MDS (50% FC), and SDS (25% FC), (n = 3, P < 0.01)

(chlorophyll *a*, *b* & *ab*) (p < 0.01) among all soil water deficit treatments and among all amaranth varieties. An increase in water deficit stress inhibiting chlorophyll synthesis which is supposed to occur at four consecutive stages: (I) the formation of 5-aminole-vuliniuc acid (ALA); (II) ALA condensation into porphobilinogen and primary tetrapyrrol, which is

transformed into protochlorophyllide; (III) light-dependent conversion of protochlorophyllide into chlorophyllide; and (IV) synthesis of chlorophylls a and b along with their inclusion into under drought stress, also associated to free radical-induced oxidation of chlorophyll pigment developing pigment-protein complexes of the photosynthetic apparatus [193]. The observed decrease in photosynthetic leaf pigment [194], disruption of some chloroplasts or a consequence of increased activity of chlorophyll degrading enzyme, chlorophyllase [195]. Lutts et al. [196] indicated that chlorophyll concentration in stressed tissues can be construed as an index of tissue tolerance to drought. In this study, VA16 and VA14 having more chlorophyll content than the other studied cultivars, it could be suggested that these cultivars are more drought tolerant than the others. The reduction of photosynthetic leaf pigment was found lower in all cultivars, this may be due to present of antioxidant leaf pigment betalain (Betacyanin and betaxanthin) that absorbed significant amount of radiation and protected the drought stressed chloroplasts from harmful excessive light. These results were fully agreement with the results of Jain et al. [197]. They found that high betalain content in Disphyma australe showed physiologically more tolerant to salt stress. Moreover, betalain protects the drought stressed chloroplasts by reducing the ROS in thailakoids [198].



Fig. 2. Changes of ROS markers [a, Malondialdehyde (MDA) content (nmol  $g^{-1}$  FW); b, Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) content (µmol  $g^{-1}$  FW); c, Electrolyte leakage (%)] in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four irrigation regimes: Control (100% FC), LDS (80% FC), MDS (50% FC), and SDS (25% FC), (n = 3, P < 0.01)

Drought stresses aggravate the production of ROS like superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, alkoxy radicals, singlet oxygen etc. resulting in oxidative damage in cell [199]. Mechanisms of ROS generation in biological systems are electron reduction (O<sub>2</sub>) at higher oxygen concentrations, initial activation of O<sub>2</sub> by xanthine oxidase, dis-mutation of the superoxide anion by superoxide dismutase to yield H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. ROS may react with proteins, lipids and DNA, causing oxidative damage and impairing the normal functions of cells. Various organelles including chloroplasts, mitochondria and peroxisomes are the seats as well as first target of ROS produced under drought stress [189]. In MDS and SDS, both MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content was remarkably increased that agreed with the results those observed in strawberry [200]. In the present investigation, extreme accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in MDS and SDS might have accelerated the Haber-Weiss reaction, resulting in hydroxyl radical (OH•) formation and therefore, resulting in serious lipid peroxidation and cell membrane damage [103]. The static ROS content from control to LDS might be due to inhibition of ROS generation in plant tissues and up-regulates ROS scavenging activity by active accumulation of excessive proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity that inhibited the increment of MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content. Although the highest accumulation of proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, antioxidant activity was noted in SDS condition compared to any stresses, but MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation was also the highest. This might be likely that the vegetable amaranth fell in to severe stress and could not cope with damage caused by drought. Maintaining a balance between ROS production and scavenging is crucial under stressed conditions [201]. In our study, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidants like proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity was significantly increased as a protective mechanism under drought-stressed conditions from LDS to SDS to reduce the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA accumulation. The exposure of four cultivars in MDS and SDS exhibited differential increment of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA accumulation, this might be due to the differential responses of ROS (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, MDA) scavenging ability of these cultivars. Under MDS and SDS, less tolerant cultivar VA6 showed the highest H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA content showing that this cultivar experienced more lipid peroxidation and higher levels of cellular damage (Fig. 2a, 2b). This cultivar also had the lowest compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant like proline total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC TFC and antioxidant activity compared to any cultivars. In contrast, tolerant cultivars VA16 and VA14 had low H2O2 and MDA content and alleviated the oxidative stress through transcriptional regulation of multiple defense pathways, such as compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant, antioxidant enzymes and the ASC-GSH cycle and improved the effects caused by drought stress through protecting ROS biosynthesis.

(See compatible solute accumulation and non-enzymatic antioxidant section). Enhanced electrolyte leakage is considered to be a sign of destruction and deterioration under water stress. In this study, electrolyte leakage was remarkably increased with the drought severity. It indicated that cell electrolyte leakage could be used as a criterion to differentiate stress tolerant and susceptible cultivars and that in some cases lower electrolyte leakage could be correlated with abiotic stress tolerance. Furthermore, the observed dramatic increase in MDA and  $H_2O_2$  under drought severity induced cellular membrane damage, which is demonstrated by an increase in EL. VA14 and VA16 showed lower electrolyte leakage can be used as tolerant cultivars. Moreover, MDA  $H_2O_2$  and EL showed the strong negative correlation observed with total biomass (r = -0.91\*\*, r = -0.89\*\* and -0.79\*\* Supplemental Table S1) suggests that the drought induced lipid peroxidation and  $H_2O_2$  generation oxidative stress can be one of the reasons for inhibition of biomass production in *A. tricolor* plants.

# Impact of drought on compatible solute accumulation

One of the most common stress tolerance strategies in plants is the overproduction of different types of compatible organic solutes. Generally, they protect plants from stress through different means such as contribution towards osmotic adjustment, detoxification of ROS, stabilization of membranes, and native structures of enzymes and proteins [189]. In this study, the proline content of the leaves had significant (p < 0.01) and remarkable increase across all cultivars under all drought stresses. Highly significant negative correlations between the proline and soluble protein content in Amaranthus tricolor leaves and the biomass production ( $r = -0.66^{**}$ and -0.61\*\*, respectively), were observed (Supplemental Table S1). The highest proline accumulation in response to drought stress observed in VA14 and VA16 might be related to their competitive ability in a drought against oxidative stress. Proline have antioxidant activity, activates detoxification systems, contributes to cellular homeostasis by protecting the redox balance, and functions as protein precursor, an energy source for the stress recovery process (See ROS markers section). It mainly involved in protection against oxidative stress thus reduced lipid peroxidation resulting in in different plant species and had an essential role in stabilizing proteins and cellular membranes in plant cells in presence of high levels of osmolytes. In addition, proline induces expression of stress-induced responsive genes, activates antioxidant enzymes [202]. Proline protects photosynthetic apparatus. In our study, proline accumulation is high that resulted in less decline of chlorophyll content (see photosynthetic leaf pigment section). Synthesis of stress proteins is a ubiquitous response to cope with prevailing stressful conditions including water deficit. Most of the stress proteins are soluble in water and therefore contribute towards the stress tolerance phenomena by hydration of cellular structures [189]. In our study, soluble protein didn't have any role in *A. tricolor* cultivar except of susceptible cultivar VA6 that had increasing trend of soluble protein.

The proline content of leaves had significant (p < 0.01) and dramatic increase across all varieties under all drought stresses in following order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS (Fig. 3a). In control condition, the proline content was low (22.26, 27.88, 40.26 and 34.85 µmol g<sup>-1</sup>, in VA6, VA11, VA14 and VA16, respectively), however, under MDS and SDS, the proline content of amaranth was increased approximately 3 fold under MDS and more than 4 fold under SDS compared to control condition and reached to 90.46, 116.51, 154.55 and 149.26 µmol g<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>, in VA6, VA11, VA14 and VA16, respectively. In all water stresses from control to SDS, the highest proline content was observed in VA14 (around 2fold compared to VA6) followed by VA16 while, the lowest proline content was noticed in VA6 under all water deficit conditions (Fig. 3a). Four cultivars respond inconsistently with severity of drought. In VA6, the soluble protein content was elevated to 9.00%, 16.07% and 34.20% at LDS, MDS and SDS, respectively, as compared to control condition. While, soluble protein of VA11 and VA16 was static from control to MDS and slightly increased (15.50%) and remarkably decreased (44.08%), respectively under SDS compared to control condition. Drought stress caused remarkable reduction of soluble protein in VA14 under MDS (2.73%) and SDS (38.39%) (Fig. 3b).



**Fig. 3.** Accumulation of compatible solutes [a, Proline content ( $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> DW); b, Soluble protein content (mg g<sup>-1</sup> DW)] in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four irrigation regimes: Control (100% FC), LDS (80% FC), MDS (50% FC), and SDS (25% FC), (n = 3, P < 0.01)

### Non-enzymatic antioxidant

The highest total carotenoid was observed in VA16 and the lowest was noted in VA11 while, the highest ascorbic acid was observed in VA14 and the lowest was noted in VA6 under all water treatment conditions. VA16 exhibited 0.31 and 1.02-fold increase of total carotenoid, nevertheless, VA11 showed 0.31 and 0.52-fold increase of total carotenoid under MDS and

SDS, respectively. In contrast, VA14 had 1.34 and 2.42-fold increase of ascorbic acid and VA6 exhibited 0. 23 and 0.77-fold increase of ascorbic acid under MDS and SDS, respectively (Fig. 4a & 4b).

Increment of total polyphenol (TPC) is depended on degree of water stress (Fig 4c). Remarkable and sharp increase of polyphenol content was exhibited at MDS (30.08%, 80.93%. 32.74%, and 15.94% in VA6, VA16, VA11 and VA14, respectively) and under SDS (169%, 142%, 75% and 39% in VA6, VA16, VA11 and VA14, respectively). TFC was significantly and moderately elevated with severity of drought stress from control to SDS in following order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS (Table 2). VA14 had the highest TFC over all drought levels. In contrast, the lowest TFC was recorded in VA6 from control to LDS and VA16 from MDS to SDS. Flavonoid content moderately increased under MDS (3.48%, 25.27%, 16.12% and 11.78% in VA6, VA16, VA11 and VA14, respectively) and at SDS (30%, 25%, 42% and 22%) in VA6, VA16, VA11 and VA14, respectively) compared to control condition (Fig 4d). Carotenoids have received little attention despite their capacity to scavenge singlet oxygen and lipid peroxy-radicals, as well as to inhibit lipid peroxidation and superoxide generation under dehydrative forces. A major protective role of carotenoids and beta-carotene in photosynthetic tissue may be through direct quenching of triplet chlorophyll, which prevents the generation of singlet oxygen and protects from oxidative damage and help plants to withstand adversaries of drought [189]. Total carotenoid is a lipophilic antioxidant and are able to detoxify various forms ROS [203]. Plants are able to release of excessive energy by thermal dissipation associated with an increase in the total carotenoid concentration in water stressed plants. This can be attributed to the activation of the xanthophyll cycle. Thus, presumed that the role of antioxidants and beta-carotene pigment in regulating photosynthetic electron transport is crucial [204]. Ascorbic acid (AA) is one of the powerful antioxidants [205]. Ascorbic acid along with vitamin E plays a key role in quenching intermediate/excited reactive forms of molecular oxygen either directly or through enzymatic catalysis. It allows enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant defense system and thereby increased efficiency and contribution to ROS neutralization and balance. AA can directly scavenge superoxide, hydroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen and diminish H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water via ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Recently, dehydroascorbic acid has emerged as a signaling molecule regulating stomatal closure [207]. In this study, both total carotenoid and ascorbic acid had significant and remarkable (p < 0.01) increment across drought stresses and cultivars. These results were fully agreed with the results of Choysum in dry season trial by Hanson et al. [74], where, they found the elevated response of total carotenoid and ascorbic acid, respectively from control to drought stress. The highest

total carotenoid and ascorbic acid were observed in VA16 and VA14, respectively under all water treatment conditions while, VA6 and VA11 exhibited the lowest total carotenoid and ascorbic acid, respectively (Fig. 4a, 4b). The increased content of ascorbic acid, indicates the crucial role of the ASC–GSH cycle for scavenging ROS in leaves of *A. tricolor*. Similarly, the drought tolerant, but not the sensitive cultivar, accumulated higher activities and transcripts of the ASC–GSH cycle.



**Fig. 4.** Influence of non-enzymatic antioxidants [a, Total carotenoid content (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW); b, Free ascorbic acid content (mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW); c, total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DW); d, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DW), e, DPPH radical scavenging activity (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DW)] in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four irrigation regimes: Control (100% FC), LDS (80% FC), MDS (50% FC), and SDS (25% FC), (n = 3, P < 0.01)

# Polyphenol and flavonoid

Generally, accumulation of polyphenols which possess antioxidant properties is stimulated in response of ROS increases under biotic and abiotic stresses. They are plentiful present in plant tissues [205]. Polyphenols can chelate transition metal ions, can directly scavenge molecular species of active oxygen, and may quench lipid peroxidation by trapping the lipid alkoxyl radical. Furthermore, flavonoids and phenylpropanoids are oxidized by peroxidase, and act in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-scavenging, phenolic/AsA/POD system. In the present study, the increment of total polyphenol (TPC) and flavonoid content (TFC) were depended on degree of water stress (Fig 4c, 4d)). Reddy *et al.* [199] in higher plant reported ameliorate response of TPC and TFC under drought stress.

#### Total antioxidant activity

Total antioxidant content of leaves had significant (p < 0.01) and remarkable increase across all cultivars under all drought stresses in following order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS (Fig. 4e). VA16 had the highest TAC content from LDS to SDS followed by VA11 while at control the highest TAC was observed in VA11 followed by VA16. In contrast, the lowest TAC was recorded in VA6 under all drought stresses.

Total antioxidant activity is the combined results of all enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants activity in natural and/or biotic/abiotic stress. Tolerant plant genotypes usually have a better antioxidant content to protect them from oxidative stress by maintaining high antioxidant enzyme and antioxidant molecule activity and contents under stress conditions. Antioxidants protect the cells from free radicals and therefore have been considered as a method to improve plant defense responses [208]. Water stress can lead to elevation of reactive oxygen species and, therefore, higher amounts of antioxidants is required to compensate stress condition and increase the tolerance [209]. Antioxidant activity has a crucial role in maintaining the balance between the production and scavenging of free radicals [210]. The observed positive correlations among total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC (see supplementary Table S1) indicated that the increase in any one of these antioxidant activity was accompanied by an enhancement in each of the five antioxidant activity, presumably as a result of high demand for quenching  $H_2O_2$ . It can most likely be inferred that total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC correspondingly organize in relation to each other.

This investigation provided an impact of drought stress on the ROS marker, physiological and biochemical parameters in four *A. tricolor* cultivars. The reported results exhibited substantial drought effects on the measured parameters with a significant and differential cultivar responses. Nevertheless, response of ROS marker, physiological and

biochemical parameters was different in respect to cultivars and the degree of drought stress. Responses of VA14 and VA16 to ROS marker, physiological and biochemical parameters assumed that these cultivars are promising with appropriate tolerance to drought stress. Therefore, these two cultivars could be used as tolerant cultivar. Positively significant correlations among ROS marker (MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant (proline, TPC, TFC and TAC) suggested that compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant played vital role in detoxifying of ROS in *A tricolor* cultivar. Nevertheless, it should be confirmed for a wider range of drought stress as well as over a wider range of environmental conditions. The increased content of ascorbic acid, indicates the crucial role of the ASC–GSH cycle for scavenging ROS in leaves of *A. tricolor*. A thorough investigation should be conducted with the aim of understanding the detail insight into ASC–GSH cycle of *A. tricolor* cultivars under drought stress.

# Abstract

Four selected *A. tricolor* cultivars were grown under four irrigation regimes (25%, 50%, 80% and 100% field capacity) to evaluate the mechanisms of growth, physiological and biochemical responses against drought stress in randomized complete block design with three replications. Drought stress led to decrease in total biomass, specific leaf area, RWC, photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b*, chlorophyll *ab*), soluble protein and increase in MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, EL, proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, polyphenols, flavonoids and antioxidant activity. However, responses of these parameters were differential in respect to cultivars and the degree of drought stresses. No significant difference was observed in control and LDS for most of the traits. The cultivars VA14 and VA16 were identified as more tolerant to drought and could be used for further evaluations in future breeding programs and new cultivar release programs. Positively significant correlations among MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant (proline, TPC, TFC and TAC) suggested that compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant played vital role in detoxifying of ROS in *A tricolor* cultivar. The increased content of ascorbic acid, indicated the crucial role of the ASC–GSH cycle for scavenging ROS in *A. tricolor*.

# **3.2.2** Catalase, superoxide dismutase and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes confer drought tolerance of *Amaranthus tricolor*

# Purpose of the study

Drought stress causes oxidative stress by decreasing stomatal conductivity that confines CO<sub>2</sub> influx in to the leaves. This reduces the leaf internal CO<sub>2</sub>, which leads to the formation of ROS such as hydroxyl radicals (OH•) singlet oxygen ( $^{1}O_{2}$ ), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), alkoxyl radical (RO) and superoxide radical ( $O_{2}^{\bullet}$ ) mainly by enhancing electrons leakage to oxygen molecule [82-85]. In plant cell, mitochondria, chloroplasts and peroxisomes are the main locations of ROS generation [86]. In addition, Environmental stress stimulates xanthine oxidase in peroxisomes, amine oxidase in the apoplast and NADPH oxidases (NOX) in the plasma membrane and produce ROS [87, 88]. Environmental stress induces excess ROS that can injure plant cells by oxidation of cellular components such as proteins, inactivate metabolic enzymes, DNA and lipids [89, 90].

The response of plant defense system to stress varies with the times, duration of contact and stress severity, type of organ or tissue and developmental stage [91, 92]. At a certain level, ROS works as an indicator molecule for activating acclimatory/protection responses through transduction pathways, where H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> acts as a secondary messenger [93, 94]. However, additional ROS induces harmful effects on plant cells. As a result, defenses against ROS are activated [98] by an array of nonenzymatic antioxidants [metabolites such as ascorbate (AsA), carotenoids, glutathione (GSH) and proline] and antioxidant enzymes [such as guaiacol peroxidases (GPOX), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes like glutathione reductase (GR) ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR)], work together for detoxification of ROS [87, 88, 96-101]. In glutathione-ascorbate cycle, reduced glutathione is produced from oxidized glutathione through the donated electrons of all nonenzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants [89]. In addition to their damaging effects on cells, ROS can also take part as signaling molecules in many biological processes such as growth, enclosure of stomata, stress signaling and development [90, 102-104]. Recently more attention has been given to understand the antioxidant defense mechanism in plants exposed to drought stress [105-107]. Abiotic stress enhances the production of AsA-GSH and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes activities for cellular protection. Plant water relations play a significant role in the stimulation and/or modulation of antioxidative defense mechanism at drought stress [108-110].

In Bangladesh, *A. tricolor* is very cheap and common leafy vegetable. It grows widely in Southeast Asia, Africa, arid and semiarid regions around the globe. There is no information

on mechanism of water deficit tolerance of *A. tricolor* genotypes in relations to antioxidative defense system in ROS detoxification. In our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173] we selected some high yielding potential genotypes rich in antioxidant content. We also found tremendous increment of ascorbic acid under drought [211] and salinity [212] stress and APX [213] with the severity of drought stress in selected genotypes. This result grew many interests to study the role of antioxidant enzymes especially AsA-GSH cycle pathway for enhancing the protection of *A. tricolor* from oxidative stress under drought stress. In this study, we want to elucidate key physiological, enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathways involved in ROS detoxification and tolerance of *A. tricolor* under drought stress.

#### Materials and methods

# Plant materials and experimental conditions

We selected one drought tolerant (VA13) and one moderately drought sensitive (VA15) Amaranthus tricolor varieties on the basis of our previous morphological and physiological study (Data not published). These two varieties were grown in pots of a rain shelter open field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh (AEZ-28, 24º23' north latitude, 90º08' east longitudes, 8.4 m.s.l.). The trial area remains covered during rainfall events and otherwise exposes plants to ambient field conditions. Topsoil layer of the experimental station was collected from 30 cm depths for the potting soil. The soil was silty clay with slightly acidic (pH 6.4) and low in organic matter (0.87%), total N (0.09%) and exchangeable K (0.13 c mol kg<sup>-1</sup>). The soil S content was at par with critical level, while P and Zn contents were above the critical level (Critical levels of P, S, and Zn were 14, 14 and 0.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively and that of K was 0.2 c mol kg<sup>-1</sup>). The seeds were sown in plastic pots (22 cm in height and 60 cm length and 40 cm width) maintaining 20 cm apart rows and 5 cm from plant to plant distance. The experiment comprised two factors (drought level and genotype) in a factorial fashion in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replications. Total 36 pots were sown with 18 pots per variety and 12 pots per treatment. Fertilizer was applied to the rate of 92:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N:P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O as a split dose. First, in pot soil, at the rate of 46:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N:P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O and second, at 10 days after sowing (DAS) at the rate of 46:0:0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N:P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O. The average day/night temperatures, relative humidity and day length during the experimental period was 25/21 °C, 74%, and 12 h, respectively. Each variety was grouped into four sets and subjected to three drought stress treatments that are, control (Cont., 100% FC); moderate drought stress (MDS, 60% FC); and severe drought stress (SDS, 30% FC). At first, pot soil field capacity was measured by the gravimetric method. Then the amount of water at field capacity was measured by subtracting the weight of completely dry soil from the weight of soil at field capacity. Pot weight (including pot soil) for each treatment was calculated by weighing of completely dry soil and amount of water required for attaining respective field capacity. Pots were well-irrigated every day up to 10 DAS for dynamic growth and proper establishment of seedlings. Imposition of water stress treatment was started at 25 DAS. Pots were weighed twice a day at 12 h intervals. To achieve the target field capacity of each water condition, the amount of water equaling that lost through transpiration and soil evaporation, percolation and leaching were added. Water stress was imposed up to 55 DAS. The leaves of *A. tricolor* were harvested at 55 DAS. Sampling was completed between 11:00 and 12:00. For quantification of plant parameters, fully emerged top young leaves from control and stressed plants were sampled. All the parameters were measured in four replicates.

#### Plant growth measurements

At 55 DAS, total biomass and SLA were measured from 5 plants. LI-3100 leaf area meter (LICOR. Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) was used to determine total leaf area per plant. the samples were oven dried at 70 °C until constant weight achieved. The dry mass of total plant and leaves was taken. For determination of SLA, total plant leaf area was divided by the leaf dry weight.

# Determination of chlorophylls and total carotenoid content

Chlorophyll, total carotenoids, betacyanin and betaxanthin content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of leaf relative water content and electrolyte leakage

Leaf relative water content and electrolyte leakage were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of leaf malondial dehyde, soluble protein, proline and $H_2O_2$

Malondialdehyde, soluble protein, proline and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentrations were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of antioxidant.

Leaf samples were prepared for AsA, DHA, GSH and GSSG analyses by homogenizing 1 g leaf material (F. wt.) in 10 ml of cold 5% sulphosalicylic acid [214]. The homogenate was centrifuged at  $22000 \times g$  for 15 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was collected for analyses of ascorbate and glutathione. AsA, DHA and total ascorbate (AsA + DAsA) were measured according to Zhang and Kirkham [214]. DHA was reduced to AsA by adding DTT and total ascorbate was measured. The concentration of DHA was estimated from the difference between total ascorbate and AsA. 0.3 ml aliquots of the supernatant, 0.75 ml of 150 mM phosphate

buffer (pH 7.4) containing 5 mM EDTA, and 0.15 ml of 10 mM DTT were added to determine total ascorbate. To remove excess DTT, 0.15 ml of 0.5% *N*-ethylmaleimide was added after incubation for 10 min at room temperature. Instead of DTT and N-ethylmaleimide 0.3 ml H<sub>2</sub>O was added to measure in a similar reaction mixture. After adding 0.6 ml of 10% TCA, 0.6 ml of 44%, orthophosphoric acid, 0.6 ml 4%  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha'$ -dipyridyl 70% ethanol, and 0.3% (w/v) FeCl3 reagents color was developed in both reaction mixtures. After vortex mixing, the mixture was incubated at 40 °C for 40 min and the *A*<sub>525</sub> was read. A standard curve in the range 0-100 µg AsA ml<sup>-1</sup> was prepared. Data were calculated as µmoles per gram dry weight (µmol g<sup>-1</sup> dw).

GSH and GSSG were assayed according to the methods of Zhang and Kirkham [214]. One ml aliquot of the supernatant was neutralized with 1.5 ml of 0.5 M phosphate buffers (pH 7.5), then 50  $\mu$ l H<sub>2</sub>O was added; this sample was used for the assay of total glutathione (GSH + GSSG). Another 1 ml aliquot of the supernatant was neutralized with 1.5 ml of 0.5 M phosphate buffers, 50  $\mu$ l of 2-vinylpyridine was added to mask GSH, and the constants of the tube were mixed until an emulsion formed. The tube was then incubated for 60 min at room temperature. This sample was used for the assay of GSSG. GSH was estimated as the difference between total glutathione and GSSG. Glutathione content was measured in a 3 ml reaction mixture containing 0.2 mM NADPH, 100 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5), 5 mM EDTA. 0.6 mM DTNB and 3 units of GR. The reaction was started by adding 0.1 ml of extract sample obtained as described above. The reaction rate was monitored by measuring the change in absorbance at 412 nm for 1 min. A standard curve was developed based on GSH in the range 0-50  $\mu$ mol ml<sup>-1</sup>. Data were calculated as  $\mu$ moles per gram dry weight ( $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> dw).

# Determination of antioxidant enzymes activities

1 g of leaf samples were freezed in liquid nitrogen followed by grinding in 10 mL extraction buffer (0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.5, containing 0.5 mM EDTA in case of SOD, GPOX, CAT and 1 mM ascorbic acid in case of APX to prepare the extract. The homogenates were filtered through four layers of cheesecloth and then centrifuged at 4 °C for 20 min at 15000 × g. The supernatant was collected and used for the assays of enzymatic activities. All steps in the preparation of the enzyme extract were carried out at 4 °C.

Total SOD (EC 1.15.1.1) activity was estimated by the inhibition of the photochemical reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) by the enzyme [215]. 2 mM riboflavin (0.1 mL) was added in 3 mL of reaction mixture (13.33 mM methionine, 75  $\mu$ M NBT, 0.1 mM EDTA, 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.8), 50 mM sodium carbonate, 0.1 mL enzyme extract) and placing the tubes under two 15 W fluorescent lamps for 15 min to start the reaction. The absorbance
was recorded at 560 nm, and one unit of enzyme activity was taken as that amount of enzyme, which reduced the absorbance reading to 50% in comparison with tubes lacking enzyme.

Guaiacol peroxidase GPOX (EC 1.11.1.7) activity was measured in terms of increase in absorbance due to the formation of tetra-guaiacol at 470 nm and the enzyme activity was calculated as per extinction coefficient of its oxidation product, tetra-guaiacol  $\varepsilon = 26.6 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$  [216]. 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.1), 16 mM guaiacol, 2 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 0.1 mL enzyme extract were mixed in the reaction mixture. The mixture was diluted with distilled water to make up the final volume of 3.0 mL. Enzyme specific activity is expressed as µmol tetra-guaiacol formed per min per mg protein.

Catalase (EC 1.11.1.6) was assayed by measuring the disappearance of  $H_2O_2$  [217]. 0.5 mL of 75 mM  $H_2O_2$  was added in 1.5 mL of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7) and 50 µL of diluted enzyme extract in 3 mL reaction mixture. The decrease in absorbance at 240 nm was observed for 1 min and enzyme activity was computed by calculating the amount of  $H_2O_2$  decomposed.

Ascorbate peroxidase (EC 1.11.1.1) was assayed by recording the decrease in optical density due to ascorbic acid at 290 nm [218]. 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0), 0.5 mM ascorbic acid, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, 0.1 mL enzyme and water to make a final volume of 3.0 mL in which 0.1 mL of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added to initiate the reaction. The decrease in absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically and the activity was expressed by calculating the decrease in ascorbic acid content using a standard curve drawn with identified concentrations of ascorbic acid.

1 ml of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0), containing 10% (w/v) polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), 0.25% (v/v) Triton X-100, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and 1 mM ASA were added in a homogenate of 100 mg (FW) of leaf tissues to measure glutathione reductase (GR, EC 1.6.4.2), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR, EC 1.8.5.1), and monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR, EC 1.6.5.4). Murshed *et al.* [219] methods were used to determine GR, DHAR and MDHAR activities. A microplate reader (Synergy Mx, Biotek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA) were used for determination of all activities and scaled down for semi-high throughput to obtain linear time and protein concentration dependence.

### Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed according to the procedure described in the previous chapter

### **Results and discussion**

Variety, drought stress, and variety × drought stress interactions were significantly different for all the studied traits (P > 0.01).

The results of the present investigation suggested that *A. tricolor* is tolerant to drought stress. We select one tolerant and one sensitive *A. tricolor* genotype previously screened for drought stress based on morphological and physiological traits to elucidate key non-enzymatic, physiological, and antioxidant enzymatic defense mechanisms involved. The above defense mechanisms significantly varied in the tolerant and sensitive varieties as are discussed in detail in the following sections.

# Response to drought stresses on plant growth, photosynthetic pigment, and relative water content

The major growth parameters, such as total biomass and specific leaf area (SLA); photosynthetic pigment biosynthesis, such as leaf relative water content, chlorophyll *a* and chlorophyll *b* of both varieties reduced significantly under moderate drought stress (MDS) and severe drought stress (SDS) conditions compared to control condition (Fig. 1a-1e). The decline in total biomass, specific leaf areas, chlorophyll *b*, chlorophyll *a* content and RWC of VA15 were much greater compared to VA13 in all the treatments (Fig. 1a-1e). Total biomass, specific leaf area, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* content and RWC of VA15 were declined by 28%, 8%, 44%, 71% and 24% under MDS and 59%, 16%, 58%, 56% and 30% under SDS conditions, while total biomass, specific leaf area, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b*, 58%, 56% and 21%, 4%, 8%, 19% and 10% under SDS conditions, respectively compared to control conditions.

Growth is a primary process that affects drought [85]. Total biomass of both varieties of *A. tricolor* significantly declined to MDS and SDS conditions, in comparison with control treatment, indicating that drought stress declined the growth of both varieties. Whereas the tolerant variety showed less decline in total biomass. These results were in full agreement with the results of Sekmen *et al.* [220] who observed that the growth rate of tolerant M-503 cultivar was less affected from drought treatments as compared to the sensitive 84-S cultivar. In our earlier study, we observed decrease in RWC and biomass reduction with the increment of drought stress [213]. Previous studies also have shown that drought stress inhibited growth and RWC in strawberry [97], xerophyte *Capparis* ovata [221] and cotton [220]. It might be accredited to prevent cell elongation and expansion [222, 223], reduction of turgor pressure, changes of energy from growth to biosynthesis of metabolites to preserve turgor pressure of cell, declines in absorption of water that ultimately reduces water content of cell and nitrogen

assimilation [224, 225], reduces the photo-assimilation [226] and metabolites for cell division [189]. In the present investigation, an indicator of leaf thickness SLA had a sharp decline with the increment of drought stress in both varieties under MDS and SDS conditions in comparison with control treatment. Guerfel *et al.* in olive [190] and Sarker and Oba in *Amaranthus* [213] observed a similar trend of decline in SLA.



Fig. 1. Effect of drought stress on growth, photosynthetic pigment biosynthesis and leaf relative water content (RWC%) in *A. tricolor*. Cont., control (100% FC); MDS (60% FC), moderate drought stress; SDS (30% FC), severe drought stress; total dry biomass (1a); specific leaf area (1b); chlorophyll *a* (1c); chlorophyll *b* (1d) and leaf relative water content (1e); Values are means of three replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

Growth and SLA reduction in sensitive genotype VA15 were significantly higher than that of tolerant genotype VA13 under both MDS and SDS conditions i.e., VA13 showed better adaptation compared to VA15. Similarly, Zheng *et al.* [227] also found different adaptation in two genotypes of *C. bungee*. In this study, VA13 had more chlorophylls content and less decline in chlorophylls than VA15, suggesting that VA13 was more drought tolerant compared to VA15. Sarker and Oba [213] in *A. tricolor*, Shahbaz *et al.* [228] in wheat and Zhang and Kirkham [214] in sorghum and sunflower observed a decline in leaf chlorophyll contents under drought stress conditions. Drought stress induces the oxidation of chlorophyll pigment resulting in decrement of chlorophyll pigments [194], chloroplasts disruption or augmented activity of chlorophyllase [195]. A. tricolor has betacyanin and betaxanthin that absorb a substantial amount of radiation which ultimately protects chloroplasts from harmful excessive light under stressful condition [198]. In the present study, this might be the reason for lower chlorophyll reduction in both varieties. RWC is convenient attributes for assessing physiological hydration condition of crops and its metabolism and existence. It might be utilized for distinguishing between sensitivity and tolerance in drought-stressed crops [191]. Both A. tricolor varieties resulted in a drought-induced reduction of RWC under MDS and SDS conditions, compared to the control treatment, respectively, however, the reduction was more drastic in VA15 compared to VA13. In our previous studies, we also found similar results in A. tricolor [213]. Munne-Bosch and Penuelas [97] in strawberry, Ozkur et al. [221] in xerophyte Capparis ovata and Sekmen et al. [220] in cotton observed a similar decline in RWC under drought stress. Drought stress reduces turgor pressure, decreases available water in the soil, hampers roots water absorption, finally results in decrease in RWC of leaves. Under drought stress, VA13 exhibited higher RWC; it might be due to probable osmoregulation approach and greater antioxidants accumulation under drought stress in comparison to VA15 [213]. Turkan et al. [229] and Cia et al. [230] showed that tolerant varieties have maintained better RWC under drought stress. Thus, VA13 seemed to be more capable to decrease the cellular osmotic pressure and to permit the roots for absorbing adequate water to sustain cell turgor pressure and for taming potentiality against hydration status.

### Influence of drought stresses on lipid peroxidation, hydrogen peroxide, and EL%

MDA,  $H_2O_2$  content and EL% augmented progressively with the increment of drought stress in the sensitive variety VA15 under MDS and SDS conditions, whereas the increments of EL% in the tolerant variety VA13 under MDS and SDS conditions were much lower compared to control condition. In contrast, there were no increments of MDA and  $H_2O_2$  content in the tolerant variety VA13 under MDS and SDS conditions compared to control treatment. (Fig. 2a, 2b, 2c). EL% in the tolerant variety VA13 were increased by 103% under MDS and 233% under SDS conditions, while MDA,  $H_2O_2$  content and EL% of sensitive variety VA15 were rapidly increased by 107%, 76%, and 331% under MDS and 173%, 137% and 495% under SDS conditions, compared to control conditions, respectively. Drought stresses intensify the manufacture of ROS like alkoxy radicals,  $O_2^{-}$ , singlet oxygen,  $H_2O_2$ , OH• etc. which ultimately create oxidative stress in cell [213, 231]. Primary stimulation of O<sub>2</sub> by xanthine oxidase,  $O_2^{-}$  dismutation, electron reduction at higher  $O_2$  level are the main mechanisms of ROS generation in plants [232]. ROS causes oxidative stress through damage DNA, lipids and proteins, restricting the normal cell functions. Drought stress aggravates ROS production in chloroplasts, mitochondria and peroxisomes [86,189].



**Fig. 2.** Influence of drought stress on malondialdehyde content (MDA, 2a); hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ , 2b), electrolyte leakage (EL%, 2c) in *A. tricolor.* Cont., control (100% FC); MDS (60% FC), moderate drought stress; SDS (30% FC), severe drought stress; Values are means of three replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

In our study, we found a substantial production of  $H_2O_2$ , lipid peroxidation and increase in EL in the sensitive variety (VA15) of *A. tricolor* under drought stress. EL leakage was much greater in the sensitive variety (VA15) as compared to the tolerant variety (VA13). These results agreed with the results of our previous study in amaranth [213], Christou *et al.* [200] in strawberry and Chakraborty *et al.* [232] in groundnut. Our results clearly demonstrated that at similar drought stress, the sensitive *A. tricolor* accumulated more ROS compared to the tolerant variety. Hence the tolerant variety maintained the ROS to a relatively lower level than sensitive variety. In the present investigation, extreme accumulation of  $H_2O_2$  at MDS and SDS in the sensitive variety might be due to acceleration of the Haber-Weiss reaction that causing formation of hydroxyl radical (•OH), hence, resulting in more MDA production and damage of cell membrane [89]. At stressful conditions, it is crucial to maintaining a balance between ROS assembly and detoxification [201]. In our study, drought-stressed conditions remarkably augmented non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants by defensive techniques from MDS to SDS to lessen EL,  $H_2O_2$  and MDA accumulation. The tolerant cultivars VA13 had very low  $H_2O_2$  and MDA content. The tolerant cultivar improved the stressful condition by several protection ways, such as non-enzymatic antioxidant, antioxidant enzymes and AsA-GSH cycle which inhibited drought stress impact by protection of ROS generation. Under water stress, electrolyte leakage is considered to be a symbol of damage and descent [233]. In the present investigation, drought stress progressively enhanced electrolyte leakage. Hence, electrolyte leakage might be used to distinguish stress-susceptible and tolerant cultivars. Abiotic stress tolerance is associated with lower electrolyte leakage. The Severity of drought-induced progressive increment in MDA and  $H_2O_2$  that enhanced the damage of cell membrane in the sensitive variety and demonstrated by a sharp increase in EL. Tolerant genotype VA13 showed lower electrolyte leakage compared to sensitive genotype.

Effect of drought stresses on proline, total carotenoids, ascorbate, glutathione content Proline content was augmented significantly with the increment of drought stress in VA15 under MDS and SDS conditions, while total carotenoids reduced from control to MDS and which was statistically similar at MDS and SDS conditions. Proline increments in VA13 under MDS and SDS conditions were comparatively much lower than in VA15 compared to control condition, while total carotenoids increment in VA13 under MDS and SDS conditions were comparatively higher than in VA15 compared to control condition (Fig. 3a, 3b). Proline of VA15 was increased by 248% under MDS and 566% under SDS conditions, respectively when compared with control treatment. In contrast, proline and total carotenoids of VA13 were increased by 72% and 20% under MDS and 176% and 55% under SDS conditions, respectively in comparison with control treatment. Ascorbate, ascorbate/total ascorbate redox status, glutathione and glutathione/total glutathione redox status remarkably augmented with the increment of drought stress in VA13 under MDS and SDS conditions, while ascorbate, ascorbate redox, glutathione and glutathione redox increments in VA15 under MDS and SDS conditions were much lower than in VA13 compared to control condition, respectively (Fig. 3c, 3d, 3e, 3f). Ascorbate, ascorbate redox, glutathione and glutathione redox of VA13 were increased by 158% 15%, 45% and 9% under MDS and 286% 37% 98% and 29% under SDS conditions, whereas ascorbate, ascorbate redox, glutathione and glutathione redox of VA15 were increased by 11% 19% 16% and 5% under MDS and 10% 30% 21% and 9% under SDS conditions, respectively compared to control conditions. Proline content of both the varieties was significantly increased under MDS and SDS conditions, whereas the increment was greater in the sensitive variety VA15 compared to tolerant variety VA13.



Fig. 3. Effect of drought stress on proline content (3a); total carotenoid (3b); ascorbate content (3c); ascorbate/total ascorbate% (3d); glutathione content (GSH) (3e); glutathione/total glutathione% (3f) in *A. tricolor*. Cont., control (100% FC); MDS (60% FC), moderate drought stress; SDS (30% FC), severe drought stress; Values are means of three replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

It is evident from the results that proline had no significant role in the mechanisms of drought stress tolerance in *A. tricolor*, as a functional osmolyte and antioxidant for adjustment of osmotic stress and ROS detoxification in *A. tricolor* as it accumulates to higher levels in the drought-sensitive variety. Nayyar and Walia [234] and Tatar and Gevrek [235] in wheat, Zheng *et al.* [227] *Catalpa bungee* observed proline increment under drought stress. Carotenoids are capable to scavenge lipid peroxy-radicals and singlet oxygen and inhibit superoxide generation and lipid peroxidation under drought stress [189]. Total carotenoids are lipophilic antioxidants that are capable to purify different types of ROS [203]. In plants, total carotenoid usually absorbs light at 400 and 550 nm and transfer the apprehended energy to the chlorophyll [236]. Carotenoids can act as an antioxidant that inhibits oxidative damage by scavenging <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, quenching triplet sensitizer (3Chl\*), exciting chlorophyll (Chl\*) and protecting the photosynthetic apparatus. Ascorbate (AsA) is one of the powerful antioxidants [205]. AsA and

atocopherols predominately quench O2 straightly or by enzymes catalysis. It permits nonenzymatic and enzymatic antioxidative ROS detoxification. AsA scavenges OH, SOR and <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> directly and reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water through ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Antioxidant ascorbate and total carotenoid had a vital role in counterbalancing oxidative stress and manipulating homeostasis of ROS in plants [237]. Our results showed that the total carotenoid level was increased in VA13, while the decrement of this compound was observed in VA15. In the tolerant variety VA13, had a remarkable rise in ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbate-glutathione redox status, while the sensitive variety VA15 exhibited negligible increment of ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbate-glutathione redox status. For instance, drought and salt stress increased the activity of ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbateglutathione redox status in pea [238], wheat [239], sorghum and sunflower [214], Catalpa bungee [227], strawberry [97] and groundnut [232], particularly for tolerant lines under water deprivation condition. The AsA-GSH content, AsA-GSH redox status specifies the essential part of the AsA-GSH cycle for detoxification of ROS in the tolerant A. tricolor. Similarly, Hernandez et al. [238] reported that salinity stress accumulated higher transcripts of the AsA-GSH cycle in the tolerant variety compared to the sensitive variety.

## Effect of drought stresses on antioxidant enzymes activities

CAT and SOD activities progressively augmented with the increment of drought stress under MDS and SDS conditions in comparison with control treatment in both varieties, however, the increments of SOD and CAT activities in VA13 were higher compared to VA15 at all drought stress levels (Fig. 4a, 4c). CAT and SOD activities of VA13 were increased by 28% and 53% under MDS and 70% and 105% under SDS conditions, whereas CAT and SOD activities of VA15 were increased by 48% and 64% under MDS and 76% and 94% under SDS conditions, respectively compared to control treatment. The GPOX activity significantly and remarkably augmented with the increment of drought stress under MDS and SDS conditions in comparison with control treatment in both varieties, while VA15 exhibited the highest increments compared to VA13 at all drought stress treatment (Fig. 4b). The GPOX activity of VA13 was increased by 9% and 23% at MDS and SDS conditions, respectively in comparison with control treatment.



**Fig. 4.** Response of 4a, super oxide dismutase (SOD) (unit  $mg^{-1}$  protein  $min^{-1}$ ); 4b, guaiacol peroxidase (GPOX) ( $\mu$ mol g'col  $mg^{-1}$  protein  $min^{-1}$ ); 4c, catalase (CAT) ( $\mu$ mol  $H_2O_2 mg^{-1}$  protein  $min^{-1}$ ) enzymes on drought stress in *A. tricolor*. Cont., control (100% FC); MDS (60% FC), moderate drought stress; SDS (30% FC), severe drought stress; Values are means of three replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

### Effect of drought stresses on AsA-GSH cycle enzymes activities

MDHAR, DHAR, APX and GR activity progressively augmented with the increment of drought stress under MDS and SDS conditions in comparison with control treatment in the tolerant genotype VA13, while the increments of those enzymes' activities were much lower in the sensitive genotype VA15 compared to tolerant genotype VA13 at all drought stress levels (Fig. 5a, 5b, 5c, and 5d). MDHAR, DHAR, APX and GR activity of VA13 were augmented by 125% 125%, 122% and 124% under MDS and 379%, 375%, 371% and 375% under SDS conditions, whereas MDHAR, DHAR, APX and GR activity of VA15 were augmented by 45% 40%, 37% and 2% under MDS and 70%, 63%, 64% & 20% under SDS conditions, respectively compared to control condition.

Drought stress generated superoxide from photosynthetic and respiratory electron leakage in chloroplast. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) enzyme dismutated superoxide into  $H_2O_2$ .  $H_2O_2$  was decomposed by different peroxidases such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and phenol peroxidase [86] into the water by using various reducing agents. In contrast, catalase (CAT) mostly decomposed photorespiration mediated  $H_2O_2$  in the peroxisome [91]. In this study, we found that drought stress induced CAT and SOD activities in both varieties whereas, CAT and SOD activities were much greater in the tolerant variety VA13 compared to sensitive variety VA15, suggesting role of CAT and SOD in drought tolerance in A tricolor by detoxification of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and activating dismutation reaction to alter SOR to hydrogen peroxide, respectively. These results agreed to results of Ben Amor et al. in halophyte Cakile maritima [240] where they interrelated in increased SOD activity with plant salt tolerance. Khanna-Chopra and Selote [239] in wheat, Ozkur et al. [221] in Capparis ovata, Zhang and Kirkham [214] in sorghum and sunflower and Chakraborty et al. [232] in groundnut observed enhanced activities of SOD, POX and CAT under drought and salt stress. Sekmen et al. [220] found that the sensitive genotype 84-S associated with decreased activities of catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) to combined stress while the tolerant genotype M-503 was associated with higher activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and induced CAT and POX at combined drought and heat stress. In contrast, GPOX had significant and remarkable increasing activity under drought stress, in both varieties, while sensitive variety, VA15 exhibited the highest increase compared to VA13 at all drought stress treatments. Drought stress accelerated higher GPOX increase in the sensitive variety compared to the tolerant variety; it is clearly evident that GPOX had a significant role in enhancing APX activity in the sensitive variety at greater H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration.

There was a slight and negligible increase in GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR activity in sensitive variety VA15 under drought stress, while tolerant variety VA13 exhibited the greatest dramatic increase in GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR activity under drought stress. Hernandez *et al.* [238] in pea found increased activities of GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR while Chakraborty *et al.* [232] in groundnut showed APX increment under salt stress. Similarly, Khanna-Chopra and Selote [239] and Ozkur *et al.* [221] found that increased activities of APX and GR were associated with drought stress. It indicated that at lower H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> load, GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR performed as a main ROS scavenging enzyme in *A. tricolor* under drought stress that may have related to satisfactory regulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the tolerant variety VA13. Increase in AsA-GSH content, reduced AsA-GSH redox status accompanied by AsA–GSH cycle enzymes such as GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR, clearly evident that AsA–GSH cycle played a crucial role for scavenging ROS in the tolerant variety of *A. tricolor*. Abogadallah *et al.* [241] reported APX-GR as the main H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detoxifier at low H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> load and performed as a satisfactory controller for ROS balancing in barnyard grass under salt stress.



**Fig. 5.** Response of ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes on drought stress in *A. tricolor*. Cont., control (100% FC); MDS (60% FC), moderate drought stress; SDS (30% FC), severe drought stress; [9a, ascorbate peroxidase (APX) ( $\mu$ mol AsA mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup>); 5b, monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR) ( $\mu$ mol NADH mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup>); 5c, dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR) ( $\mu$ mol DHA mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup>); 5d, glutathione reductase (GR) ( $\mu$ mol NADPH mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup>]; Values are means of three replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

The present study concluded that drought stress exhibited differential responses to tolerant and sensitive *A. tricolor* genotypes in terms of growth, physiological, enzymatic and non-enzymatic ROS detoxification pathways involved in the tolerance of *A. tricolor*. Better growth, photosynthetic pigments, RWC, and lower ROS concentration and EL in the tolerant genotype can be recognized to better antioxidative enzymatic protection and cellular antioxidant pool, such as AsA-GSH content, AsA-GSH redox. The present investigation revealed that *A. tricolor* genotype doesn't certainly require concurrent initiation of all antioxidant enzymes for drought tolerance. Only SOD, CAT and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes play a vital role in major ROS detoxification in the tolerant amaranth genotype. Increase in CAT, AsA-GSH content, SOD, AsA-GSH redox and AsA-GSH cycle enzymes activities, clearly evident that AsA–GSH cycle, SOD and CAT play a crucial role in tolerance of *A. tricolor*.

#### Abstract

The study was performed to explore physiological, non-enzymatic and enzymatic detoxification pathways of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in tolerance of *A. tricolor* under

drought stress. The tolerant genotype VA13 exhibited lower reduction in growth, photosynthetic pigments, relative water content (RWC) and negligible increment in electrolyte leakage (EL), lower increment in proline, guaiacol peroxidase (GPOX) activity compared to sensitive genotype VA15. This genotype also had higher catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD), remarkable and dramatic increment in ascorbate-glutathione content, ascorbateglutathione redox and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activity compared to sensitive genotype VA15. The negligible increment of ascorbate-glutathione content, ascorbateglutathione redox and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activities and dramatic increment in malondialdehyde (MDA), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and EL were observed in the sensitive genotype VA15. SOD contributed superoxide radical dismutation and CAT contributed H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detoxification in both sensitive and tolerant varieties, however, these had a great contribution in the tolerant variety. Conversely, proline and GPOX accumulation were higher in the sensitive variety compared to the tolerant variety. Increase in ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activities, CAT, ascorbate-glutathione content, SOD, and ascorbate-glutathione redox clearly evident that CAT, ascorbate-glutathione cycle and SOD played a significant activity in ROS detoxification of tolerant A. tricolor variety.

## 3.3 Biochemistry and Food Aspect on Salinity Stress of Vegetable

## Amaranth

*A. tricolor* is a well-adapted leafy vegetable to different biotic and abiotic stresses and has multipurpose uses. There are few reports related to the effect of salinity stress on leaf pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity in different crops including leafy vegetables. Salt stress elevates protein, ascorbic acid, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity and reduced fat, carbohydrate, sugar, and chlorophyll pigments in *Cichorium spinosum* [117]. Alam *et al.* [118] observed different levels of salinity treatment resulted in 8–35% increase in TPC; about 35% increase in TFC; and 18–35% increase in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim *et al.* [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, 100, and 200 mM NaCl concentrations result in an increase of phenolic compounds and carotenoids in the sprouts compared to the control (0 mM). The buckwheat sprouts treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM NaCl after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, higher phenolic content than that of the control condition, respectively. In plants, polyphenol synthesis and accumulation are mostly stimulated in response to salinity [242].

## **3.3.1** Salinity stress accelerates nutrients, dietary fiber, minerals, phytochemicals and antioxidant activity in *Amaranthus tricolor* leaves

## Purpose of the study

Salinity is one of the major abiotic stressors which limits crop production and poses a serious threat to global food security. Approximately, 20% percent of the arable land and 50% of total irrigated land have varying levels of salinity [111]. Salinity stress induces a multitude of adverse effects on plants including morphological, physiological, biochemical, and molecular changes. It affects plant growth and development by creating osmotic stress, causing specific ions (Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup>) toxicity, stomatal closure, and reducing the rate of photosynthesis [112]. All these physiological changes in plant under salinity aggravate overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that interferes normal cellular metabolism and results in oxidative damage by oxidizing proteins, lipids and DNA and other cellular macromolecules [88]. To counterbalance the osmotic stress, plants show variable adaptation processes such as enclosure of stomata, metabolic adjustment, toxic ion homeostasis, and osmotic adjustment [112]. Plants have an excellent network of ROS detoxification system including, either non-enzymatic through protein, carbohydrate, ascorbic acid (AsA), beta-carotene and carotenoids, phenolic compounds and flavonoids or through enzymatic antioxidants, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (GPOX), catalase (CAT), and AsA peroxidase (APX) [88]. Salinity

tolerance mechanisms in plants are remarkably varied among the species and even within different accessions of a species.

Amaranth is a salt tolerant plant [116]. Salinity stress enhances the contents of natural antioxidants in plants [117-119]. Therefore, salt-stressed plants could economically be the potential sources of antioxidants in human lifestyle. The natural antioxidants in diet play an important role in human health as they are involved in defense against several diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [8. 48, 50]. A. tricolor is a well acclimatized leafy popular vegetable to different biotic and abiotic stresses [70]. Various factors such as biological, environmental, biochemical, physiological, ecological and evolutionary processes, and salinity are involved in the quantitative and qualitative improvement of natural antioxidants in this vegetable crop [72]. Salt stress elevated protein, ascorbic acid, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity and reduced the fat, carbohydrate, sugar, and chlorophyll pigments in Cichorium spinosum [117]. Alam et al. [118] observed that in purslane, different doses of salt concentrations increased total polyphenol content (TPC); total flavonoid content (TFC); and FRAP activity by 8-35%, 35%, and 18–35%, respectively. Similarly, in buckwheat sprouts, salinity stress remarkably increased phenolic compounds and carotenoids compared to non-saline condition [119]. A. tricolor is a popular leafy vegetable in many tropical and subtropical countries. However, no information is available on response of proximate, minerals, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in the leaves of A. tricolor accessions to varying leaves of salinity. In a series of earlier studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173], we identified some antioxidant enriched and high yield potential accessions of A. tricolor. The central hypothesis of this study was that salinity stress may enhance nutritional contents and antioxidant activities in the leaves of A. tricolor. To test this hypothesis, we investigated the response of proximate, minerals, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in some selected A. tricolor accessions to varying levels of salinity stress.

### Materials and methods

### Experimental site, Plant materials and experimental conditions

We selected three antioxidants enriched high yield potential accessions (Accession VA3, VA12 and VA14) from 102 accessions of Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, based on our earlier studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173]. These accessions were grown in pots of the rain shelter open field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh (AEZ-28, 24<sup>0</sup>23<sup>'</sup>)

north latitude,  $90^{0}08'$  east longitude, 8.4 m.s.l.). The seeds were sown in plastic pots (15 cm in height and 40 cm length and 30 cm width). The experiment comprised a factorial design of salinity treatment and varieties in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. Fertilizer was applied at the rate of 92:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O as a split dose. First, in pot soil, at the rate of 46:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O and second, in 7 days after sowing (DAS) at the rate of 46:0:0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>:K<sub>2</sub>O. Each variety was grouped into three sets and subjected to three salinity stress treatments that are, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaCl, and control or no saline water (NS). Pots were well irrigated by fresh water every day up to 10 DAS of seeds for proper establishment and vigorous growth of seedlings. Imposition of salinity stress treatment was started at 11 DAS and continued up to 40 DAS (edible stage). Saline water (100 mM NaCl and 50 mM NaCl) and fresh water were applied to respective pots once a day. At 40 DAS the leaves of *Amaranthus tricolor* were harvested. All the parameters were measured in six samples.

## Chemicals and reagents used

Solvent: methanol and acetone. Reagents: ascorbic acid, gallic acid, rutin, methanol, DPPH (2, 2-diphenyl1-picrylhydrazyl), ABTS<sup>+</sup>, trolox (6-hydroxy-2, 5, 7, 8-tetramethyl-chroman-2-carboxylic acid), aluminum chloride hexahydrate, sodium carbonate, potassium acetate, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, NaOH, HNO<sub>3</sub>, HClO<sub>4</sub>, lanthanum, Caesium chloride, dithiothreitol (DTT) and potassium persulfate. All solvents and reagents used in this study were high purity laboratory products obtained from Kanto Chemical Co. Inc. (Tokyo, Japan) and Merck (Germany).

## Estimation of proximate composition, mineral content

Proximate composition and mineral content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Determination of beta-carotene and ascorbic acid

beta-carotene and ascorbic acid content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Extraction of samples for TPC, TFC and TAC

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Estimation of beta-carotene, TPC, TFC and TAC

Beta-carotene, TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed following the methods of previous chapter

### **Results and discussion**

Amaranth was considered as the inexpensive leafy vegetables and its cultivation was also limited to Africa, South-East Asia and South America. Recently, amaranth spread over worldwide and its production and consumption have been remarkably increased due to the presence of excellent natural antioxidants such as minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids. These natural antioxidants have proven health benefits as they detoxify ROS in the human body and involve in defense against several diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases [8. 48, 50]. Amaranthus species have higher mineral concentrations than commonly consumed leafy vegetables, such as spinach, lettuce and kale [178]. In A. tricolor, iron and zinc content is higher than that of the leaves of cassava [176] and beach pea [177]. The U.S. Department of Agriculture's National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference [243] lists a serving size of spinach as 30 g fresh weight FW (1 cup). As Amaranthus has higher mineral concentrations than spinach so, a serving size of leaves of 30 g FW is enough for nutritional sufficiency. In general, leafy vegetables are susceptible salt stress but amaranth is salt tolerant plant [116]. This study comprehensively evaluates the effects of varying levels of salinity stress on contents of nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, phytochemicals and antioxidant activities of A. tricolor accessions. Our results for the first time demonstrated that soil salinity stress up to certain level significantly augment almost all these biochemical parameters in leaves of A. tricolor. However, the responses of these parameters to salinity varied among the accessions of A. tricolor. Altered proteomes, enhanced vitamins and glycine betaine contents in salinity stressed Amaranthus have previously been reported [116, 244, 245].

### Effect of salinity on proximate composition in A. tricolor leaves

The proximate compositions of *A. tricolor* leaves were significantly varied by accessions, salinity levels and accession × salinity stress interactions (Table 1). Among the tested accessions, VA14 had the highest protein (7.25 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), ash content (5.78 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) energy (54.52 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and the lowest moisture content (81.56 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). However, accession VA12 gave the highest contents of dietary fiber (8.28 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and carbohydrates (7.06 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). The highest fat content (0.36 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in accession VA3. The accession, VA14 had 187%, 50%, and 44% higher protein, ash, and energy contents, respectively compared to the accession VA3. Accession VA12 had 10% and 25% higher carbohydrates and energy, respectively than accession VA3. (Fig. 1). The contents of protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber in *A. tricolor* leaves increased by salinity stress in a level-dependent manner (Fig.

2). The increment of protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber contents in *A. tricolor* by moderate salinity stress (MSS) and severe salinity stress (SSS) were 17, 5, 4 and 15% and 30, 12, 5 and 29%, respectively over no salinity (NS) or control condition. Among salinity stress, NS or control treatment exhibited the highest moisture and fat content, however, moisture and fat contents were the lowest at the SSS conditions. A significant reduction in moisture and fat contents was observed with the increment of salinity stress (control or NS > MSS > SSS). Contents of protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber in plants at SSS conditions were the highest among the salinity stress treatment. The lowest values of these plant parameters were recorded in the control or NS. The highest carbohydrates content (6.21 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was found in plants grown under SSS, whereas the lowest values (6.15 and 6.17 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) of this parameter were found in NS and MSS treatments, respectively.

Treatment	Moisture (g)	Protein (g)	Fat (g)	Ash (g)	Carbohydrates	Energy (Kcal)	Dietary fiber (g)
					(g)		
Accession × Salinity stress (SS)	)						
$VA3 \times NS$	$88.16\pm2.13a$	$2.15\pm0.04i$	$0.43\pm0.01a$	$3.53\pm0.05f$	$5.73\pm0.02e$	$33.60 \pm 1.12 i \\$	$6.45\pm0.07h$
$VA3 \times MSS$	$87.23\pm2.08b$	$2.27\pm0.04h$	$0.38\pm0.02b$	$3.86 \pm 0.06 e$	$6.27\pm0.05d$	$35.59 \pm 1.20 h$	$7.22\pm0.09f$
VA3 × SSS VA12 × NS	$85.29 \pm 1.56d$ $86.22 \pm 2.07c$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.15 \pm 0.02g \\ 3.74 \pm 0.03f \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.27 \pm 0.03 g \\ 0.35 \pm 0.01 c \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.11 \pm 0.05 d \\ 2.68 \pm 0.06 h \end{array}$	7.17 ± 0.04a 7.01 ± 0.07c	$\begin{array}{c} 41.77 \pm 0.89 g \\ 44.57 \pm 1.24 f \end{array}$	$8.11 \pm 0.08d$ $7.22 \pm 0.06f$
$VA12 \times MSS$	$85.12 \pm 1.67 d$	$4.25\pm0.04e$	$0.31\pm0.02e$	$3.24\pm0.07g$	$7.07\pm 0.06b$	$46.72 \pm 1.32 e$	$8.37\pm0.08c$
$VA12 \times SSS$	$84.23 \pm 1.59 e$	$4.55\pm0.07d$	$0.27\pm0.04g$	$3.86 \pm 0.04 e$	$7.09\pm0.07b$	47.72 ±1.46d	$9.24\pm0.05a$
$VA14 \times NS$	$82.17\pm1.54f$	$6.25\pm0.06\text{c}$	$0.35\pm0.02\text{c}$	$5.46\pm0.05\text{c}$	$5.78\pm0.07e$	$51.51\pm0.89c$	$6.76\pm0.04g$
$VA14 \times MSS$	$81.44\pm2.16g$	$7.36\pm0.05b$	$0.32\pm0.01d$	$5.76\pm0.06b$	$5.11\pm0.06f$	$53.92\pm0.82b$	$7.83 \pm 0.08 e$
$VA14 \times SSS$	$81.07\pm1.57g$	$8.16\pm0.03a$	$0.28\pm0.03f$	$6.12\pm0.08a$	$4.38\pm0.05\mathrm{i}$	$54.52 \pm 1.26a$	$8.75\pm0.08b$
Accession							
VA3	$86.89 \pm 1.65 a$	$2.52\pm0.02c$	$0.36\pm0.02a$	$3.83 \pm 0.05 b$	$6.39 \pm 0.04 b$	$36.99\pm0.99\text{c}$	$7.26\pm0.05c$
VA12	$85.19\pm1.86b$	$4.18\pm0.04b$	$0.31\pm0.01\text{c}$	$3.26\pm0.08\text{c}$	$7.06\pm0.03a$	$46.34\pm1.14b$	$8.28\pm0.07a$
VA14	$81.56 \pm 1.92 \texttt{c}$	$7.25\pm0.06a$	$0.32\pm0.03b$	$5.78\pm0.07a$	$5.09\pm0.06c$	$53.32\pm1.13a$	$7.78\pm0.09b$
Salinity stress (SS)							
NS	$85.52\pm1.58a$	$4.05\pm0.03\text{c}$	$0.38\pm0.04a$	$3.89\pm0.06\text{c}$	$6.17 \pm \mathbf{0.07b}$	$43.23\pm1.08\text{c}$	$6.81\pm0.05\text{c}$
MSS	$84.60 \pm 1.49 b \\$	$4.63\pm0.05b$	$0.34\pm0.02b$	$4.29\pm0.08b$	$6.15 \pm 0.06b$	$45.41\pm1.15b$	$7.81 \pm 0.09 b$
SSS	$83.53 \pm 1.74 \text{c}$	$5.29\pm0.06a$	$0.27\pm0.03\text{c}$	$4.70\pm0.07a$	$6.21\pm0.08a$	$48.00 \pm 1.18a$	$8.70\pm0.07a$
Significance							
Accession	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
SS	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
Accession $\times$ SS	***	***	***	***	***	***	***

Table 1. Salinity effect on proximate composition (per 100 g fresh weight) in three selected A. tricolor accessions

SS, Salinity stress; NS, No saline water; MSS, Moderate salinity stress, SSS, Severe salinity stress, Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).

In the case of accession × salinity stress interaction, accession VA3 had the highest moisture content (86.16 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) at no salinity stress condition. Both MSS and SSS reduced the moisture content at the lowest levels (81.07 and 81.44 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) in accession VA14 that were followed by followed by accessions VA14 and VA14 under NS and SSS conditions, respectively. The highest protein content (8.16 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in accession VA14 under SSS followed by VA14 (7.36 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and VA14 (6.25 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) under MSS and NS conditions, respectively. The lowest protein content (2.15 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was found in accession VA3 under nonsaline treatment, which was almost similar to VA3 under MSS (2.27 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>1</sup>). The fat contents in *A. tricolor* varied from 0.43 to 0.27 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The highest fat content (0.43 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in accession VA3 when no salinity stress was given to the plants whereas fat content in VA3 and VA12 was as low as 0.27 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup> under SSS conditions. Accession VA3 also had the highest carbohydrate content (7.17 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) when plants were treated with SSS. On the other hand, VA14 under MSS (5.11 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) had the lowest carbohydrates content.



**Fig. 1.** Influence of salinity on proximate composition (g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) (% to the value of VA3) in three selected *A. tricolor* accessions.



The ash content in *A. tricolor* accessions varied (2.68 to 6.12 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) under varying levels of salt stress. The highest ash content (6.12 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was recorded in accession VA14 at SSS conditions. The lowest as content (2.68 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) was found in accession VA12 under non-saline control. The energy contents in *A. tricolor* plants ranged from 33.60 to 54.52 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. The accession VA14 exhibited the highest energy (54.52 Kcal 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) under SSS followed by VA14 under MSS and NS or control, respectively. In contrast, the lowest energy was recorded in VA3 under NS or control. The energy was significantly increased to the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS or control < MSS < SSS. The accession VA12 under SSS (8.75 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA12 under MSS (8.37 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), VA3 under SSS (8.11 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>). Alternatively, VA3 under NS or control had the lowest fiber content (6.45 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>).

The interesting finding of this study is that responses of biochemical contents in different *A. tricolor* accessions were different. The accession, VA14 performed better in terms of protein, ash content, and energy content, respectively compared to the accession VA3. Similarly, the accession VA12 performed better in relation to carbohydrates and energy, respectively than the accession VA3 (Table 1). The maturity could have a great impact on the

moisture content of *A. tricolor* leaves. The moisture contents obtained in this investigation were in full agreement with the reports on sweet potato leaves by Sun *et al.* [175]. Fats are sources of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. It helps in the digestion, absorption, and transport of fatsoluble vitamins A, D, E, and K. Sun *et al.* [175] observed similar results from sweet potato leaves where they mentioned that fat involved in the insulation of body organs and in the maintenance of body temperature and cell function.

As lower moisture contents of leaves are associated with higher dry matter, the saltstressed plant yielded higher dry matter compared to control or NS. The highest contents of protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber at SSS conditions and the lowest values of these plant parameters in the control or NS appears that protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber contents in *A. tricolor* increased by salinity stress in a dose-dependent manner. The increment of protein, ash, energy and dietary fiber contents in *A. tricolor* at MSS and SSS could be contributed to human diet in the communities of saline prone area compared to non-saline area. Dietary fiber has a significant role in palatability, digestibility and remedy of constipation [151]. Vegetarian and poor people in many least developed Asian and African countries used *A. tricolor* as a source of protein. Plants cultivated in SSS had progressively higher energy than those of MSS and control or NS. However, these differences may not impact significantly on energy contribution to the human body as low amounts of this vegetable consumed in a day. Like other leafy vegetables, the low carbohydrate content of *A. tricolor* may not have a significant impact on carbohydrate contribution to the human body considering the low amount of vegetable uptake per day and a very high daily requirement for the human body.

A remarkable observation of this investigation is that the content of protein is increased with plants grown in higher doses of salinity. However, the trend of fat contents in plants under salinity treatment was just opposite to the contents of protein. It indicates that both salinity and accession had a complex influence on carbohydrate contents in *A. tricolor* plants. In an earlier study, Petropoulos *et al.* [117] demonstrated ameliorate response in carbohydrates, protein and fat content in *Cichorium spinosum* under salinity stress. Salt stress increased the protein, dietary fiber, energy, ash and carbohydrates content and decreased moisture and fat content of *A. tricolor* accessions. Therefore, amaranth produced saline prone area and coastal belt could contribute as a good source of protein and fiber in the human diet

## Effects of salinity on mineral (macro and micro elements) composition in leaves

The mineral compositions of *A. tricolor* accessions significantly varied with varying levels of salinity stress and accession × salinity stress interactions (Table 2).

Among the tested accessions, the highest Ca, K, Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn contents were found in VA14. However, VA3 had the highest Mg content whereas the highest content of Na was recorded in VA12. In contrast, VA3 exhibited the lowest contents of Ca, K, Fe, Cu and Zn. Similarly, VA14 had the lowest Mg and Na content and VA12 showed the lowest Mn content. Accession VA14 exhibited 28%, 88%, 82%, 43%, 49% and 52% higher Ca, K, Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn content, respectively compared to VA3. Accession VA12 had 24% more Na content compared to VA3. (Fig. 3).

Fable 2.	Salinity stress on mineral	composition (macro mg	g <sup>-1</sup> FW and micro µg	g-1 FW nutrient	t elements) in the	leaves of three selected A.	tricolor accessions.
----------	----------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------

Macroelements (mg g <sup>-1</sup> FW)			Microelements ( $\mu g g^{-1} FW$ )					
Treatment	Ca	Mg	K	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn	Na
Accession × Salinity	stress (SS)							
$VA3 \times NS$	$2.05\pm0.07h$	$2.55\pm0.02e$	$4.58\pm0.02d$	$10.26\pm0.08i$	$10.23\pm0.06i$	$0.98 \pm 0.02 i \\$	$10.58\pm0.08i$	$62.55\pm0.14\mathrm{i}$
$VA3 \times MSS$	$3.16\pm0.05f$	$3.42\pm0.03c$	$3.44\pm0.01g$	$12.25\pm0.09h$	$16.47\pm0.04f$	$1.22\pm0.01g$	$12.45\pm0.07h$	$126.45 \pm 0.21 f \\$
$VA3 \times SSS$	$4.26\pm0.04c$	$4.72\pm0.04a$	$2.25\pm0.03i$	$14.62\pm0.08f$	$21.31\pm0.04b$	$1.76\pm0.03e$	$16.35\pm0.05d$	$246.55\pm0.25b$
$VA12 \times NS$	$2.37\pm0.03g$	$2.50\pm0.01\text{e}$	$4.33\pm0.04e$	$13.35\pm0.07g$	$11.22\pm0.05h$	$1.12\pm0.02h$	$13.13\pm0.06g$	$74.63\pm0.23h$
$\rm VA12 \times MSS$	$3.57 \pm 0.07 d$	$3.42\pm0.05c$	$3.76\pm0.03f$	$17.56\pm0.05\ d$	$13.55\pm0.08g$	$1.58\pm0.01f$	$15.63\pm0.08e$	$148.94\pm0.25d$
$\rm VA12\times SSS$	$4.85\pm0.06b$	$3.91 \pm 0.06 b$	$2.36\pm0.02h$	$22.78\pm0.09b$	$17.62\pm0.06d$	$2.15\pm0.02d$	$19.34\pm0.09b$	$320.66\pm0.26a$
$VA14 \times NS$	$3.34\pm0.05e$	$2.47\pm0.02e$	$7.58\pm0.04a$	$16.67\pm0.08\text{e}$	$16.66\pm0.07\text{e}$	$2.35\pm0.03\text{c}$	$14.76\pm0.08f$	$80.63\pm0.28g$
$VA14 \times MSS$	$3.62\pm0.05d$	$2.86\pm0.04d$	$6.11\pm0.01b$	$18.53\pm0.05c$	$19.43\pm0.03c$	$3.25\pm0.04b$	$17.65\pm0.07\text{c}$	$132.45\pm0.27e$
$\rm VA14 \times SSS$	$5.24\pm0.06a$	$3.35\pm0.03c$	$5.67\pm0.03c$	$32.46\pm0.07a$	$32.58\pm0.05a$	$4.28\pm0.02a$	$27.56\pm0.09a$	$182.95\pm0.29\text{c}$
Accession								
VA3	$3.16\pm0.07\text{c}$	$3.57\pm0.05a$	$3.42\pm0.02c$	$12.38\pm0.06\text{c}$	$16.00\pm0.05b$	$1.32\pm0.02c$	$13.13\pm0.06\text{c}$	$145.18\pm0.24b$
VA12	$3.60\pm0.02b$	$3.28\pm0.06b$	$3.49 \pm 0.03 b$	$17.90\pm0.08b$	$14.13\pm0.06c$	$1.62\pm0.03b$	$16.03 \pm 0.08 b$	$181.41 \pm 0.28a \\$
VA14	$4.07\pm0.03a$	$2.90\pm0.01\text{c}$	$6.45\pm0.02a$	$22.55\pm0.09a$	$22.89\pm0.05a$	$3.30\pm0.01\ a$	$19.99 \pm 0.08a$	$132.01\pm0.27\text{c}$
Salinity stress (SS)								
NS	$2.58\pm0.05c$	$2.51\pm0.02c$	$5.50\pm0.01a$	$13.43\pm0.08\text{c}$	$12.70\pm0.04\text{c}$	$1.49\pm0.02c$	$12.82\pm0.07\text{c}$	$72.60\pm0.24c$
MSS	$3.45\pm0.04b$	$3.24\pm0.04b$	$4.44\pm0.02b$	$16.11\pm0.07b$	$16.48\pm0.03b$	$2.02\pm0.01b$	$15.25\pm0.09b$	$135.94\pm0.26b$
SSS	$4.78\pm0.03a$	$3.99\pm0.06a$	$3.43\pm0.04c$	$23.29\pm0.05a$	$23.84\pm0.05a$	$2.73\pm0.03a$	$21.08\pm0.08a$	$250.06\pm0.28a$
Significance								
Accession	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
SS	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
$Accession \times SS$	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***

SS, Salinity stress; NS, No saline water; MSS, Moderate salinity stress, SSS, Severe salinity stress, Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).

Across the salinity stresses, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na contents in leaves were sharply and significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS or control < MSS < SSS. At MSS and SSS, the rate of the increment of Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na were (8%, %, 11%, 16%, 38%, 19%, 64%) and (57%, 35%, 95%, 96%, 82%, 87%, 27%), respectively, over NS or control (Fig. 4). Further, it was noted that the severity of salinity stress leads to a significant reduction in K content in the following order: NS or control > MSS > SSS. In MSS and SSS, K reduced 19% and 25%, respectively over NS or control. (Fig. 4). SSS had the highest Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na content while, the lowest Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na content were demonstrated in NS or control. On the contrary, the highest K content was documented in NS or control and the lowest K content was observed in SSS.

Considering the accession × salinity stress interaction, the highest Ca content was noted in VA14 under SSS (5.24 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA12 under SSS and VA3 under SSS. In contrast, VA3 under NS or control (2.05 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) displayed the lowest Ca content. Mg

content ranged from 2.47 to 4.72 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Mg content was observed in VA3 under SSS (4.72 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA12 under SSS, VA12 under MSS and VA3 under MSS. In contrast, VA14, VA12 and VA3 under NS or control (2.47, 2.50 and 2.55 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) displayed the lowest Mg content. The range of K content was 2.25 to 7.58 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. VA14 under NS had the highest K content (7.58 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) followed by VA14 under SSS and VA14 under MSS, while the lowest K content was noticed in VA3 under NS (2.55 mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW). The Fe content ranged from 10.26 to 32.46  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The highest Fe content was observed in VA14 under SSS (32.46  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), whereas, VA3 under NS (10.26  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) exhibited the lowest Fe content. Mn content ranged from 10.23 to 32.58 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. Accession VA14 under SSS exhibited the highest Mn content (32.58  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), while, VA3 under NS had the lowest Mn content (10.23 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW). Accession VA14 under SSS had the highest Cu content (4.28  $\mu g g^{-1}$  FW). In contrast, the lowest Cu content (0.98  $\mu g g^{-1}$  FW) was recorded in VA3 under NS. Zn content ranged from 10.58 to 27.56 µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW. Accession VA14 under SSS showed the highest Zn content (27.56  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW), whereas, the lowest Zn content (10.58  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) was reported on VA3 under NS. The highest Na content was detected in VA12 under SSS (320.66  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) which ranged from 62.55 to 320.66  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW. The lowest Na content (62.55  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) was recorded in VA3 under NS.



**Fig. 3.** Minerals (macro mg g<sup>-1</sup> and micro  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> nutrient elements) **contents** (% to the value of VA3) in the leaves of three selected *A. tricolor* accessions.



We observed that salinity stress influences the mineral compositions of *A. tricolor* accessions. Among the tested accessions, VA14 could be consider as Ca, K, Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn enrich accession, VA3 as Mg and VA12 as Na enrich accessions (Table 2). In *A. tricolor*, iron and zinc content is higher than that of the leaves of cassava [247] and beach pea [248].

Similarly, Jimenez-Aguiar and Grusak [246] reported high Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn (fresh weight basis) in different *A. spp.* including *A. tricolor*. They also reported that Amaranths had higher Zn content than black nightshade, spinach and kale; more Fe and Cu content than kale. Across salinity stress, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na content were sharply and significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS or control < MSS < SSS. In contrast, it was noted that the severity of salinity stress leads to a significant reduction in K content in the following order: NS or control > MSS > SSS (Table 2). These results were fully agreed with the findings of Petropoulos *et al.* [117] that observed similar increment in Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Zn and Na and decrement in *C. spinosum* leaves. They mentioned the high content of Na should be attributed to fertilizer application and salinity treatments and suggested that the species uses Na accumulation as a means to alleviate adverse effects of salinity. With the severity of salinity stress, all the macro and micro elements except K showed increasing trend, while K showed the declining trend with the severity salinity stress. For this, amaranth cultivated in salinity prone area and coastal belt could contribute as a good source of minerals in human diet compared to normal cultivation practices.

# Salinity stress enhances beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC in A. tricolor leaves

Total polyphenol content (TPC), beta-carotene, total flavonoid content (TFC), ascorbic acid, and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in *A. tricolor* leaves were significantly affected by accession, salt concentration and accession  $\times$  salt concentration interactions (Table 3).

Within accessions, TPC, beta-carotene, TAC (DPPH), ascorbic acid, and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was the highest in VA14 and VA12 had the highest TFC followed by VA14. Accession VA12 exhibited the lowest TAC (DPPH), beta-carotene, TPC, and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). The VA14 had 74%, 10.07-fold, 46%, 7%, and 15% increase in TPC, beta-carotene, TAC (DPPH), ascorbic acid, and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), respectively compared to VA3. Accession VA12 exhibited 3.9-fold and 190% increase in ascorbic acid and TFC, respectively, compared to VA3. (Fig. 5). In our study, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS < MSS < SSS. In MSS and SWS, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were increased in (56%, 31%, 15%, 16%, 25% and 16%) and (112%, 115%, 39%, 30%, 58% and 47%) compared to NS, respectively (Fig. 6). The highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were observed in NS. Regarding the interaction of accession × salinity stress, VA14 under SSS exhibited the highest

beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while VA12 under SSS had the highest TFC. In contrast, the lowest beta-carotene, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was observed in VA12 under NS, while VA3 under NS showed the lowest ascorbic acid and TFC. Only, ascorbic acid was significantly increased to the increment of salinity stress in all the accessions in the following order: NS < MSS < SSS. Higher beta-carotene was observed in VA14 under MSS, VA12 under SSS, VA3 under SSS, VA14 under NS, while a high ascorbic acid was recorded in VA14 under MSS and VA14 under NS. Higher TPC was found in VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, whereas, VA12 under MSS, VA14 under SSS and VA12 under MSS, VA3 under SSS, VA3 under SSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS and VA12 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, WA12 under MSS, VA3 under SSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS and VA12 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS and VA12 under SSS had a high TAC (DPPH), while VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA12 under SSS had a high TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>).

Treatment	beta-carotene (mg	Ascorbic acid (mg	Total polyphenol	Total flavonoid	Total antioxidant	Total antioxidant
	kg-1)	kg-1)	content (GAE mg	content (RE mg kg-1	capacity (DPPH)	capacity ABTS+)
			kg-1 dw)	dw)	(TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	(TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)
Accession × Salinity str	ress (SS)					
$VA3 \times NS$	$8.28\pm0.09g$	$165.74\pm2.15i$	$28.25\pm0.24e$	$110.45\pm1.47\mathrm{i}$	$32.56\pm0.15d$	$55.56\pm0.37g$
$VA3 \times MSS$	$8.74\pm0.11e$	$212.86\pm2.47h$	$30.63\pm0.31\text{c}$	$129.85 \pm 1.52h$	$33.45\pm0.24c$	$58.75\pm0.45e$
VA3 × SSS VA12 × NS	$10.26 \pm 0.12c$ $7.78 \pm 0.15h$	$\begin{array}{c} 286.63 \pm 3.12 g \\ 984.65 \pm 3.51 f \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.45 \pm 0.42b \\ 20.26 \pm 0.33i \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 154.17 \pm 2.02g \\ 340.65 \pm 2.48d \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 35.42 \pm 0.16b \\ 23.52 \pm 0.27h \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.52 \pm 0.57 c \\ 52.35 \pm 0.62 h \end{array}$
$VA12 \times MSS$	$8.44\pm0.07f$	$1052.74\pm3.24e$	$22.49\pm0.38h$	$385.96\pm 3.07b$	$24.55\pm0.23g$	$56.38\pm0.53f$
$VA12 \times SSS$	$10.32\pm0.14\text{c}$	$1225.53 \pm 2.87 d \\$	$26.36\pm0.54f$	$422.54 \pm 1.95a$	$26.88\pm0.24f$	$61.62\pm0.28d$
$VA14 \times NS$	$10.18\pm0.08d$	$1645.15\pm1.58c$	$25.53\pm0.37g$	$280.64 \pm 1.25 f$	$28.35\pm0.17e$	$56.31\pm0.41f$
$VA14 \times MSS$	$15.89\pm0.16b$	$2156.17 \pm 2.62 b \\$	$29.6\pm0.29d$	$325.88 \pm 1.27 e$	$35.45\pm 0.16b$	$65.76\pm0.62b$
$VA14 \times SSS$	$21.46\pm0.13a$	$3563.52 \pm 2.57a$	$35.52\pm0.26a$	$364.37\pm2.22c$	$44.85\pm0.20a$	$82.55\pm0.82a$
Accession						
VA3	$9.14\pm0.11\text{c}$	$221.62\pm2.08c$	$30.44\pm0.23a$	$131.49\pm2.18c$	$33.81\pm0.17b$	$59.27\pm0.49b$
VA12	$8.58\pm0.06b$	$1087.44\pm2.49b$	$23.04\pm0.28b$	$383.12\pm 1.67a$	$24.98\pm0.26c$	$56.78\pm0.27c$
VA14	$15.82\pm0.05a$	$2454.67 \pm 1.68 a$	$30.22\pm0.19a$	$323.63\pm2.35b$	$36.22\pm0.22a$	$68.21\pm0.37a$
Salinity stress (SS)						
NS	$8\ .75\pm0.15c$	$931.47\pm3.01\text{c}$	$24.68\pm0.17\text{c}$	$243.89 \pm 1.37 \texttt{c}$	$28.15\pm0.23\text{c}$	$54.74\pm0.28c$
MSS	$11.46\pm0.16b$	$1140.84\pm3.48b$	$27.57\pm0.24b$	$280.55\pm1.92b$	$31.15\pm0.19b$	$60.31\pm0.34b$
SSS	$14.27\pm0.17a$	$1691.62 \pm 2.68a$	$31.44 \pm \mathbf{0.18a}$	$313.78\pm1.83a$	$35.72 \pm 0.17a$	$69.23\pm0.28a$
Significance						
Accession	***	***	***	***	***	***
SS	***	***	***	***	***	***
Accession × SS	***	***	***	***	***	***

Table 3. Salinity effects on antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant capacity in three selected A. tricolor accessions

SS, Salinity stress; NS, No saline water; MSS, Moderate salinity stress, SSS, Severe salinity stress, Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).



**Fig. 5.** Response of antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities (% to the value of VA3) in three selected *A. tricolor* accessions; beta-carotene (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), Ascorbic acid (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dw); TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dw)



One of the interesting findings of our study is that salinity stresses 50 mM and 100 mM NaCl concentrations significantly improved protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (Table 1, 2 and 3) in leaves of *A. tricolor* compared to control condition. control. Salt-stressed *A. tricolor* leaves also showed remarkable increment in protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, minerals and functional antioxidant phytochemicals compared to normal cultural condition (Fig. 2, 4 and 6). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of remarkable and progressive improvement of the proximate, nutritional and functional antioxidant phytochemicals compared to non-saline soil conditions.

An important finding of the current study is that beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) of *A. tricolor* leaves were significantly augmented by the salt stress at certain level (Table 3). These important phytochemicals content were remarkably influenced by the accessions and accession  $\times$  salt concentration interactions. The accessions VA14 could be consider as TPC, beta-carotene, TAC, ascorbic acid, antioxidant enrich accession and VA12 as flavonoid enrich accession. In the present study, we found great variations in the tested accessions in terms of TPC, beta-carotene, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in different salinity levels (Table

3). Similarly, Alam *et al.* [122] reported pronounced variations in TFC, TPC, and TAC in different purslane accessions.

In our study, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS < MSS < SSS. VA14 under SSS exhibited the highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while VA12 under SSS had the highest TFC. In contrast, the lowest beta-carotene, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was observed in VA12 under NS, while VA3 under NS showed the lowest ascorbic acid and TFC. When plants fall under salinity stress, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced as a result of oxidative stress. ROS induces harmful effects on plant cells. As a result, defenses against ROS are activated by generation of an array of nonenzymatic antioxidants such as ascorbic acid (AsA) and beta-carotene [97]. Salinity stress induces mevalonic acid pathway which are responsible for biosynthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) from carotenoids to counteract the osmotic stress and regulate normal plant growth and development [246]. Therefore, salinity stress enhances the accumulation of beta-carotene due to induction of ABA. AsA and atocopherols play a crucial role in quenching intermediate/excited reactive forms of oxygen molecule directly or through catalysis of enzymes. AsA scavenges ROS (OH, SOR and <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> directly and reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water through ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Antioxidant ascorbate and total carotenoid had vital role in counterbalancing oxidative stress and manipulating homeostasis of ROS in plants [237]. Wouyou et al. [245] observed ameliorate response of vitamin A and vitamin C at 90 mM NaCl concentration in Amarantus cruentus leaves. Similarly, Petropoulos et al. [117] found an elevated response to phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity with the increase in salt stress in Cichorium spinosum. Alam et al. [118] observed that in purslane, different doses of salt concentrations increased total polyphenol content (TPC); total flavonoid content (TFC) and FRAP activity by 8-35%, 35% and 18-35%, respectively. Lim et al. [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM after 7 d of cultivation had 57%, 121% and 153%, respectively, higher phenolic content than that of the control. Ahmed et al. [247] reported the increment of phenolics and TAC (FRAP) with increasing NaCl concentrations in barley. In contrast, Neffati et al. [248] found decrement in polyphenols and TAC (DPPH) with increasing NaCl concentrations in coriander. The increment of TPC, TFC and TAC of A. tricolor in response to salinity stress may be due to increase in major phenolic compounds like salisylic acid, gallic acid, vanilic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, chlorogenic acid, m-coumaric acid, trans-cinnamic acid, iso-quercetin and rutin [212]. Previous studies have shown that biotic and

abiotic stress stimulated phenylpropanoid pathway which accelerated the generation of most phenolic compounds [249, 250]. Stress-plants induce endogenous plant hormones like jasmonic acid and its methylated derivate (methyl jasmonic acid) [251]. These hormones sequentially induce phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes, including phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) [252]. These enzymes accumulated the phenolic compounds.

### Correlation coefficients among antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activity

Results of correlation studies are presented in Table 4. beta-carotene showed highly significant interrelationships with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) while, this trait had significant associations with TPC and TFC. Similarly, ascorbic acid revealed significant ascorbic acid played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of *A. tricolor*. TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) significantly interrelated among each other. The beta-carotene showed highly significant interrelationships with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) while, this trait had significant associations with TPC and TFC. Similarly, ascorbic acid revealed significant interrelationships with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) while, this trait had significant associations with TPC and TFC. Similarly, ascorbic acid revealed significant interrelationships with TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Both beta-carotene and played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of *A. tricolor*. TPC, TAC (DPPH) significantly interrelated among each other. Polyphenols and flavonoids of *A. tricolor* leaf establishing strong antioxidant activity. Alam *et al.* [118] reported the significant correlation of carotenoids, TPC, TFC with TAC (FRAP) in salt-stressed purslane.

	beta-carotene (mg kg <sup>-</sup>	Ascorbic acid (mg kg <sup>-</sup>	Total polyphenol content (GAE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	Total flavonoid content (RE mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)	Total antioxidant capacity ABTS+) (TEAC mg kg <sup>-1</sup> dw)
beta-carotene		0.94**	0.68*	0.71*	0.82**	0.97**
AsA			0.66*	0.72*	0.76*	0.75*
TPC				0. 77*	0.95**	0.85**
TFC					0.84**	0.83**
TAC (DPPH)						0.96**

Table 4. Correlation coefficient for antioxidant phytochemical and antioxidant capacity in three selected A. tricolor accessions

AsA, Ascorbic acid; TPC, Total polyphenol content; TFC, Total flavonoid content; TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>); \*significant at 5% level, \*\* significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

In conclusion, a significant increment in protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, carbohydrates, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in *A. tricolor* leaves were observed under salinity stress. All the nutritional values of *A. tricolor* leaves under MSS and SSS remarkably high compared to corresponding control or NS values which could be a valuable food source in modern diets and contribute considerably to human health. Furthermore, salt-stress also enhanced the contents of protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid,

TPC, TFC in leafy vegetables *A. tricolor*. The vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids showed a good antioxidant activity due to positive and significant interrelationships with TAC. Our results suggest that *A. tricolor* cultivated under salinity stress could be contributed to a high nutritional quality of the final product in terms of nutrients, minerals, vitamins and antioxidant profiles. Therefore, *A. tricolor* could be considered as a promising alternative crop for farmers, especially in salinity-prone areas and the coastal belts in tropical and sub-tropical countries.

### Abstract

Impact of salinity stress were investigated in three selected A. tricolor accessions in terms of nutrients, dietary fiber, minerals, antioxidant phytochemicals and total antioxidant activity in leaves. Salinity stress enhanced biochemical contents and antioxidant activity in A. tricolor leaves. Protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, minerals (Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, and Na), betacarotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH and ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in leaves were increased by 18%, 6%, 5%, 16%, 9%, 16%, 11%, 17%, 38%, 20%, 64%, 31%, 22%, 16%, 16%, 25% and 17%, respectively at 50 mM NaCl concentration and 31%, 12%, 6%, 30%, 57%, 35%, 95%, 96%, 82%, 87%, 27%, 63%, 82%, 39%, 30%, 58% and 47%, respectively at 100 mM NaCl concentration compared to control condition. Contents of vitamins, polyphenols and flavonoids showed a good antioxidant activity due to positive and significant interrelationships with total antioxidant capacity. It revealed that A. tricolor can tolerate a certain level of salinity stress without compromising the nutritional quality of the final product. This report for the first time demonstrated that salinity stress at certain level remarkably enhances nutritional quality of the leafy vegetable A. tricolor. Taken together, our results suggest that A. tricolor could be a promising alternative crop for farmers in salinity prone areas- in the tropical and sub-tropical regions with enriched nutritional contents and antioxidant activity.

## **3.3.2** Salinity stress enhances color parameters, bioactive leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenols, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in selected *Amaranthus* leafy vegetables

### Purpose of the study

Salinity stress intensifies the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that interfere with normal cellular metabolism and result in oxidative damage by oxidizing proteins, lipids, DNA and other cellular macromolecules [253]. Plants show variable adaptation processes, such as the enclosure of stomata, metabolic adjustment, toxic ion homeostasis, and osmotic adjustment to compensate for osmotic stress [112]. Non-enzymatic compatible solutes and antioxidants, such as proteins, carbohydrates, ascorbic acid (AsA), beta-carotene, carotenoids, phenolic compounds and flavonoids, and enzymatic antioxidants, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (GPOX), catalase (CAT) and AsA peroxidase (APX), have played vital roles in the ROS detoxification system of stressed plants [253].

Salt stress elevated ascorbic acid, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity and reduced the chlorophyll pigments, in *Cichorium spinosum* [117]. Alam *et al.* [118] observed that different levels of salinity treatment resulted in 8–35% increases in TPC; about 35% increase in TFC; and 18–35% increases in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim *et al.* [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, 100, and 200 mM NaCl concentrations resulted in an increase of phenolic compounds and carotenoids in the sprouts compared to the control (0 mM). The phenolic contents of sprouts treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM NaCl after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, respectively, higher than that of the control.

The results of these studies show that salt stress elevated these compounds in many leafy vegetables. We hypothesize that salinity stress can enhance the leaf pigments, ascorbic acid (AsA), carotenoids, polyphenols, flavonoids and antioxidant activity of the *A. tricolor* leafy vegetable. *A. tricolor* is a salt-tolerant genotype, and it can tolerate up to 200 mM NaCl [254]. To our knowledge, there is no information on the response of *Amaranthus tricolor* to salinity stress and its effects on antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity. In our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173] we selected some enriched antioxidants and high yield potential genotypes. Therefore, this study aimed to examine the *A. tricolor* genotypes selected in response to salinity stress in terms of antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity.

### Materials and methods

#### Experimental site, Plant materials and experimental conditions

The methods were used as previous chapter. At 35 DAS the leaves of *Amaranthus tricolor* were harvested.

## Leaf color measurement

The color parameters L\*, a\* and b\* were measured by a color meter (TES-135A, Plus, Taiwan). The value of L\* indicates lightness, a\* indicates the degree of red (+a\*) or green (-a\*) color, and b\* indicates yellow (+b\*) or blue (-b\*) color. The C\* value expressed as chroma indicates leaf color intensity calculated as Chroma C\* =  $(a^2 + b^2)^{1/2}$ .

## Determination of betacyanin and betaxanthin content

Betacyanin and betaxanthin content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Determination of chlorophyll and total carotenoids

Chlorophyll and total carotenoids were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Determination of beta-carotene and ascorbic acid

Beta-carotene and ascorbic acid content were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Extraction of samples for TPC, TFC and TAC

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Estimation of beta-carotene, TPC, TFC and TAC

TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

## Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed following the methods of previous chapter

## **Results and discussion**

## Color parameters and leaf pigments

Salinity stress significantly affected the color parameters and leaf pigments of *A. tricolor* genotypes, different salinity levels and genotype  $\times$  salinity stress interactions as presented in Table 1 and Table 2. Of all the genotypes, VA3 exhibited the highest L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, and total carotenoids, while VA14 had the highest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and total chlorophyll. Similarly, Alam *et al.* [118] reported variations in total carotenoid contents in different purslane accessions under salinity stress. In contrast, genotype VA12 showed the lowest betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll, while genotype VA14 exhibited the lowest L and total carotenoids. The lowest a\*, b\* and chroma were obtained from both genotypes, VA12 and

VA14. Genotype VA3 had the highest red and yellow pigmentations [highest redness ( $a^* = 18$ ); highest yellowness ( $b^* = 5.62$ ) value; highest lightness (L = 38.32)], while VA14 and VA12 showed the lowest red and yellow pigmentations [lowest redness ( $a^* = 13.81$ ); lowest yellowness ( $b^* = 3.82$  and 3.96); lowest lightness (L = 33.47 and 34.78)]. Color is one of the most important parameters for consumers and plays a crucial role in decision making, preference and acceptability of the product and may also be considered as an indicator to estimate the antioxidant properties of the leafy vegetables [259]. The highest redness and yellowness values recorded in VA3 could be expected, since it is characterized by high amounts of pigments (anthocyanins, carotenoids, betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain) involved in leaf pigmentation [259]. It is clear that VA3 and VA12 were antioxidant-enriched genotypes based on evaluations of the genotypes using color parameters and pigments.

Treatment	L*	a*	b*	Chroma
Genotype × Salinity stress (SS	)			
$VA3 \times NS$	36.43±0.29c	15.75±0.18c	4.95±0.06c	16.52±0.13c
$VA3 \times MSS$	37.46±0.28b	17.65±0.19b	5.60±0.05b	18.52±0.18b
$VA3 \times SSS$	41.06±0.17a	20.60±0.16a	6.33±0.08a	21.57±0.16a
$VA12 \times NS$	34.13±0.39f	13.49±0.42f	3.34±0.05f	13.90±0.12e
$VA12 \times MSS$	34.75±0.234e	13.77±0.26f	3.97±0.08e	14.33±0.15e
$VA12 \times SSS$	35.47±0.26d	14.18±0.21e	4.16±0.04d	14.78±0.17e
$VA14 \times NS$	32.45±0.21h	12.59±0.24h	3.88±0.09f	13.17±0.15f
$VA14 \times MSS$	33.33±0.28g	13.92±0.15g	3.89±0.07e	14.45±0.08e
$VA14 \times SSS$	34.65±0.24e	14.94±0.31d	4.11±0.02d	15.49±0.09d
Genotype				
VA3	38.32±0.18a	18.00±0.16a	5.62±0.08a	18.87±0.21a
VA12	34.78±0.25b	13.81±0.15b	3.82±0.05b	14.34±0.10b
VA14	33.47±0.22c	13.81±0.17b	3.96±0.06b	14.37±0.12b
Salinity stress (SS)				
NS	34.34±0.14c	13.94±0.21c	4.06±0.04c	14.53±0.14c
MSS	35.18±0.16b	15.11±0.18b	4.49±0.03b	15.77±0.19b
SSS	37.06±0.13a	16.57±0.16a	4.87±0.05a	17.28±0.18a
Significance				
Genotype	***	***	***	***
SS	***	***	***	***
Genotype × SS	***	***	***	***

Table 1. Salinity effect on leaf color parameters in three selected A. tricolor genotypes

SS, Salinity stress; NS, No saline water; MSS, Moderate salinity stress, SSS, Severe salinity stress, L\*, Lightness; a\*, Redness/greenness; b\*, Yellowness/blueness; Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).

Within salinity stress, L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, and total carotenoids increased remarkably {(no saline water (NS) < moderate salinity stress (MSS) < severe salinity stress (SSS)}, while chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and total chlorophyll declined significantly with severe salinity stress (NS > MSS > SSS). In MSS and SSS, the increases in the L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain and total carotenoids were 2%, 12%, 13%, 12%, 10% 10%, 10%, and 37% and 13%, 31%, 28%, 31%, 18% 29%, 24%, and 85%, respectively, while the decreases in chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll contents were 3%, 13%, and 7% and 12%, 18% and 14%, respectively, compared to the NS (Fig. 1). Petropoulos *et al.* [117] observed reductions in the chlorophyll pigment content with the

severity of salinity stress in *Cichorium spinosum*. Lim *et al.* [119] observed a continuous increase in the level of carotenoids in response to all the NaCl concentrations tested. They reported the greatest difference between the carotenoid content with 50 or 100 mM NaCl, which was twice as high as that of the control sprouts, while treatment with 10 or 200 mM NaCl resulted in a 40% increase in carotenoids. In contrast, Alam *et al.* [118] reported both an increase and decrease in total carotenoid contents in different accessions of purslane with the severity of salinity stress.

Treatment	betacyanin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	betaxanthin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	Betalain (ng g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	Chl a (ug g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	Chl b (ug g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	Total chl	Total carotenoids (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> FW)
	(155 1 ())	(155 1 ())	(1155 1 (1))	(#5510)	(#55 1 ())	(455 1 ())	(ing 100 g 1 iii)
Genotype × Salinity	stress (SS)						
VA3 × NS	501.74±0.62e	505.35±0.38f	1007.09±1.12f	305.29±1.20d	228.59±0.24b	533.87±1.02d	$67.46 \pm 0.08 ef$
$VA3 \times MSS$	552.74±0.84c	556.80±0.42e	1109.53±0.75e	233.41±1.08e	173.20±0.12e	406.61±0.88e	$92.75 \pm 0.09b$
$VA3 \times SSS$	592.70±0.54a	652.33±0.47a	1245.03±1.12a	159.35±0.98f	107.73±0.15f	267.08±0.75f	$124.84 \pm 0.07a$
$VA12 \times NS$	234.33±0.25h	228.66±0.28i	462.99±0.59i	132.45±0.45g	72.55±0.24g	205.00±0.59g	$66.58 \pm 0.13g$
VA12 × MSS	262.62±0.47g	258.32±0.42h	520.95±0.87h	82.72±1.03h	53.75±0.22h	136.47±0.68h	$75.83 \pm 0.08d$
$VA12 \times SSS$	286.92±0.56f	276.38±0.62g	563.30±0.95g	55.64±0.88i	35.51±0.26i	91.15±0.88i	$87.54 \pm 0.11c$
$VA14 \times NS$	538.48±0.54d	582.49±0.24d	1120.97±1.02d	515.04±1.04a	252.44±0.34a	767.48±0.51a	$56.53 \pm 0.11i$
$VA14 \times MSS$	552.52±0.62c	595.79±0.35c	1148.31±1.13c	497.09±0.78b	219.99±0.24c	717.08±0.62b	$64.53 \pm 0.08h$
$VA14 \times SSS$	576.55±0.54b	612.56±0.25b	1189.10±1.26b	452.41±0.63c	207.63±0.11d	660.03±0.55c	$72.92 \pm 0.15e$
Genotype							
VA3	555.85±0.35a	596.94±0.38a	1152.79±1.02a	232.68±1.12b	169.84±0.09b	402.52±0.36b	$95.02 \pm 0.13a$
VA12	261.29±0.62c	254.45±0.52c	515.75±0.96c	90.27±0.89c	53.94±0.15c	144.21±0.52c	$76.65 \pm 0.08b$
VA14	549.06±0.45b	571.49±0.42b	1120.55±0.75b	488.18±0.77a	226.69±0.14a	714.87±0.58a	$64.66 \pm 0.09c$
Salinity stress (SS)							
NS	424.85±0.38c	438.83±0.28c	863.69±0.84c	317.59±1.05a	184.53±0.25a	502.12±0.75a	$63.52 \pm 0.09c$
MSS	455.96±0.75b	470.30±0.37b	926.26±0.88b	271.07±0.59b	148.98±0.32b	420.05±0.59b	$77.70 \pm 0.07b$
SSS	485.39±0.42a	513.75±0.64a	999.15±0.79a	222.47±0.58c	116.95±0.23c	339.42±0.46c	$95.10 \pm 0.08a$
Significance							
Genotype	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
SS	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
Genotype × SS	***	***	***	***	***	***	***

Table 2. Salinity effect on antioxidant leaf pigments in three selected A. tricolor genotypes.

SS, Salinity stress; NS, No saline water; MSS, Moderate salinity stress, SSS, Severe salinity stress, Chl a, chlorophyll a; Chl b, chlorophyll b; Total chl, Total chlorophyll; Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).

An examination of the interaction of genotype × salinity stress indicated that VA3 under SSS exhibited the highest L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, and total carotenoids, and VA14 under NS had the highest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and total chlorophyll. In contrast, the lowest L, a\*, b\*, chroma and total carotenoids were measured in VA14 under NS. The lowest betacyanin was recorded in VA12 under NS, and the lowest betaxanthin and betalain were obtained from VA12 under MSS. The lowest chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll contents were observed in VA12 under SSS. A higher L, a\*, b\*, and chroma were recorded in VA3 under NS and VA3 under MSS. High betacyanin was observed in VA3 under MSS and VA14 under SSS. Genotype VA14 under MSS and VA14 under SSS had high betaxanthin and betalain contents. VA14 under MSS exhibited a higher chlorophyll a and total chlorophyll content, while VA3 under NS and VA14 under MSS showed a high chlorophyll b content. Salinity stress affected plant growth and development through osmotic stress on the plants, reducing the water potential, decreasing the stomatal conductivity, which restricts the CO<sub>2</sub> influx to the leaves, and an unfavorable CO<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> ratio in the chloroplasts, reducing photosynthesis. To overcome salt stress, plants tend to accumulate compatible solutes and antioxidants such as leaf pigments and carotenoids [255-257] that decrease the cytoplasmic osmotic potential, enabling water absorption [258]. As a result, plants can adapt to salinity stress and continue normal growth. Unlike other biotic and abiotic stresses, salinity stress induces the biosynthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) from carotenoids via the mevalonic acid pathway to regulate plant development in response to salinity tolerance. Thus, the accumulation of carotenoids in the sprouts due to NaCl treatment may result from stimulation of the mevalonic acid pathway [119].



**Fig. 1.** Comparison of color parameters and leaf pigments (% to the value of NS or control) under three salinity levels: NS or Control (No saline water), MSS (Moderate salinity stress), SSS (Severe salinity stress) in three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes; a\*, Redness/greenness; b\*, Yellowness/blueness

### Beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC

Beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) of *A. tricolor* were significantly affected by genotype, salinity level and the genotype  $\times$  salinity stress interaction as presented in Fig. 2.

Within genotypes, the highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were observed in VA14, and the highest TFC was found in VA12 followed by VA14. Genotype VA12 exhibited the lowest beta-carotene, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Similarly, Alam *et al.* [118] reported variations in TPC, TFC, and TAC in different purslane accessions under salinity stress. Examination of the interaction of genotype × salinity stress indicated that VA14 under SSS exhibited the highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while VA12 under SSS had the highest TFC.

In contrast, the lowest beta-carotene, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was observed in VA12 under NS, while VA3 under NS showed the lowest ascorbic acid and TFC. In contrast, ascorbic acid was significantly increased with the increase in salinity stress in all the genotypes in the following order: NS < MSS < SSS. Higher beta-carotene was observed in

VA14 under MSS, VA12 under SSS, VA3 under SSS, and VA14 under NS, while a high ascorbic acid level was recorded in VA14 under MSS and VA14 under NS. A higher TPC was also found in VA3 under SSS and VA3 under MSS, while VA12 under MSS, VA14 under SSS and VA12 under NS had a high TFC. VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS, VA3 under MSS and VA3 under MSS and VA3 under SSS had a high TAC (DPPH), while VA14 under MSS, VA3 under SSS and VA12 under SSS had a high TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>).



**Fig. 2.** Effect of genotype, salinity stress and genotype × salinity stress interaction on a) beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup> FW), b) Ascorbic acid (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> FW), c) Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), d) Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw), e) Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) and (f) Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw) in three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes. Values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.001).

Petropoulos *et al.* [117] found an elevated response of phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity with an increase in salt stress in *Cichorium spinosum*. Alam *et al.* [118] reported that different levels of salinity treatment resulted in 8–35% increases in the TPC, an approximately 35% increase in TFC, and 18–35% increases in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim

*et al.* [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153% higher than that of the control, respectively. Ahmed *et al.* [247] reported an increase in phenolics and TAC (FRAP) with increasing NaCl concentrations in barley. In contrast, Neffati *et al.* [248] found a decrease in polyphenols and TAC (DPPH) with increasing NaCl concentrations in coriander. Salinity stress creates osmotic stress in plants by producing ROS that reduces the water potential and decreases stomatal conductivity, which restricts the CO<sub>2</sub> influx to leaves and results in an unfavorable CO<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> ratio in the chloroplasts, reducing photosynthesis. The plant can accumulate compatible solutes and antioxidants, such as  $\beta$ -carotene, ascorbic acid, polyphenols, and flavonoids [255-257], that decrease the cytoplasmic osmotic potential, enabling water absorption to detoxify the ROS [265]. As a result, the plant can adapt to salinity stress and continue normal growth.



**Fig. 3.** Response of vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC, (% to the value of NS or Control) under three salinity levels: NS or Control (No saline water), MSS (Moderate salinity stress), SSS (Severe salinity stress) in three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes; beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), Ascorbic acid (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>), TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TFC. Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw)

### Total biomass

The total biomass (g plant<sup>-1</sup>) of *A. tricolor* was significantly affected by genotype, salinity level and the genotype  $\times$  salinity stress interaction and is presented in Fig. 4.

Within genotypes, the highest biomass was observed in VA14 followed by the genotype VA12. Genotype VA3 exhibited the lowest biomass production. These results were fully consistent with those of Omami *et al.* [260] who reported that growth parameters decreased with increasing stress. They described that their sensitivity to salinity stress varied with the level of stress and genotype. In this study, total biomass was significantly and gradually

decreased with the increase in salinity stress in the following order: NS > MSS > SSS. In MSS and SSS, the total biomass decreased by 6.49% and 16.39% compared to the NS, respectively (Fig. 4). The highest total biomass was noted in NS, while the lowest total biomass was observed in SSS.



**Fig. 4.** Effect of genotype, salinity stress and genotype  $\times$  salinity stress interactions on total biomass (g plant<sup>-1</sup>) in three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes. NS or Control (No saline water), MSS (Moderate salinity stress), SSS (Severe salinity stress); values are means of six replicates and different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.01).

The decrease in biomass production in *A. tricolor* was lower compared to the results of Menezes *et al.* [261] who observed that at 100 mM NaCl, the leaf dry mass, stem dry mass, root dry mass, total dry mass and leaf area of *A. cruentus* decreased by 73%, 74%, 49%, 70% and 74%, respectively, compared to the control. The *A. tricolor* studied is tolerant to salinity stress, which was consistent with the results of Omami [254], who reported that *A. tricolor* is a salt-tolerant genotype and can tolerate up to 200 mM NaCl.

The interaction of genotype × salinity stress indicated that VA14 under NS exhibited the highest total biomass, while VA3 under SSS had the lowest total biomass. All the genotypes showed a significant and gradual decline in total biomass with the increase in salinity stress in the following order: NS > MSS > SSS. However, VA3 had the highest decline in total biomass compared to other genotypes with the increase in the salinity stress in the following order: NS > MSS > SSS. In contrast, VA14 exhibited the lowest decline in total biomass compared to the other genotypes with the increase in salinity stress in the following order: NS > MSS > SSS. In contrast, VA14 exhibited the lowest decline in total biomass compared to the other genotypes with the increase in salinity stress. Salinity stress caused reductions in biomass production in all the amaranth genotypes, although the relative effects varied, and the classification of the genotype for its salt tolerance would vary based on the biomass production. VA14 and VA12 exhibited more tolerance compared to VA3. The reduction in biomass production implies less assimilated production, therefore reducing the growth of the plants. The ability of a genotype that produces a large amount of biomass is important in characterizing genotypes as either salinity stress tolerant or susceptible. Genotypic differences in biomass production and partitioning under stress can be used as indicators of tolerance to salinity stress.

### **Correlation studies**

The correlation coefficients of betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) are presented in Table 3. Betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain had highly significant correlations among each other, chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Significant associations of these traits with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) represented a crucial role of betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain in the total antioxidant activity of A. tricolor leaves. Chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, and total chlorophyll demonstrated significant associations among each other, betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain, which indicated that the increase in any of the chlorophylls or betacyanin, betaxanthin or betalain simultaneously increased the rest of these five traits. Total carotenoids displayed significant relationships with beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), demonstrating the vital role of carotenoid pigments in antioxidant activity. Betacarotene showed highly significant interrelationships with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH), and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while this trait had significant associations with TPC and TFC. Similarly, ascorbic acid revealed significant interrelationships with TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Both beta-carotene and ascorbic acid played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of A. tricolor. TPC, TFC, and TAC (DPPH) were significantly interrelated with each other. The polyphenols and flavonoids of A. tricolor leaves established strong antioxidant activity. Alam et al. [122] reported a significant correlation of carotenoids, TPC, and TFC with TAC (FRAP) in salt-stressed purslane.

In conclusion, significant increases in L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC  $(ABTS^+)$  were observed under salinity stress. All the antioxidant phytochemicals of *A. tricolor* leaves under MSS and SSS were very high compared to the corresponding control or NS values, which could be valuable food sources in modern diets and contribute considerably to human health. In addition, salt-stressed *A. tricolor* leaves had good sources of color parameters, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and unique sources of betacyanin and betaxanthin in leafy vegetables. The pigments, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids showed
strong antioxidant activity due to their positive and significant interrelationships with TAC. Therefore, these pigments, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids played a vital role in scavenging ROS and would benefit human health. In addition, *A. tricolor* cultivated under salinity stress could contribute to a high quality of the final product in terms of bioactive leaf pigments, vitamins and antioxidant profiles. It could be a promising alternative crop for farmers, especially in salinity prone areas and also coastal belts around the globe.

**Table 3.** Correlation co-efficient for antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC in three selected

 A. tricolor genotypes

	betaxant hin (ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	Betalain (ng g-1)	Chl a (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	Chl b (µg g <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	T chl (μg g <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	T car (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	β- carotene (mg g <sup>-1</sup> )	AsA (mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	TPC (GAE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw	TFC (RE μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	TAC (DPPH) (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	TAC (ABTS <sup>+</sup> ) (TEAC μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)
betacyanin	0.99**	0.98**	0.68*	0.79*	0.73*	0.24	0.49	0.17	0.87**	-0.61	0.85**	0.75*
betaxanthin		0.67*	0.65	0.77*	0.70*	0.21	0.49	0.16	0.88**	-0.57	0.87**	0.69*
Betalain			0.67*	0.78*	0.72*	0.21	0.50	0.16	0.88**	-0.56	0.86**	0.72*
Chl a				0.93**	0.99**	0.32	0.60	0.58	0.43	-0.67*	0.57	0.57
Chl b					0.97**	0.63	0.39	0.29	0.47	-0.30	0.56	0.26
T Chl						0.24	0.55	0.49	0.45	-0.05	0.58	0.37
T car							0.93**	0.90**	0.53	0.68*	0.69*	0.93**
beta-carotene								0.92**	0.68*	0.75*	0.82**	0.96**
AsA									0.72*	0.79*	0.76*	0.78*
TPC										0.73*	0.95**	0.81**
TFC											0.84**	0.86**
TAC (DPPH)												0.99**

Chl a, Chlorophyll a; Chl b, Chlorophyll b; T chl, Total chlorophyll; T car, Total carotenoids; AsA, Ascorbic acid; TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); \*significant at 5% level, \*\* significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

#### Abstract

*A. tricolor* is a unique source of betalain (betacyanin and betaxanthin) and a source of natural antioxidants, such as leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenols, and flavonoids in leafy vegetables. It has substantial importance for food industry, since these compounds detoxify ROS in humans and are involved in defense against several diseases. In addition, previous research has shown that salt stress elevates these compounds in many leafy vegetables. Therefore, we evaluated the effect of salinity stress on these compounds. Three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes were studied under three salinity levels to evaluate the response of these compounds. Genotype, salinity stress and their interactions significantly affected all the traits studied. A significant and remarkable increase in L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenolic content, total flavonoid content, and total antioxidant capacity were observed under 50 mM and 100 mM NaCl concentrations. Bioactive leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, phenolics and flavonoids showed good antioxidant capacity. *A.* 

*tricolor* can tolerate salinity stress without compromising the high quality of the final product. Therefore, it could be a promising alternative crop in saline-prone areas around the globe.

# **3.3.3** Augmentation of leaf color parameters, pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in selected A. tricolor under salinity stress

### Purpose of the study

Salinity, one of the major abiotic stress and serious threat to global food security. It prohibits the cultivation of vegetables in many areas in the globe. It affects plants by creating nutritional imbalance, osmotic stress, water deficiency, and oxidative stress [192]<sup>-</sup> Moreover, previous studies demonstrated that high salinity changes the level of secondary metabolites in plants, including pigments, phenolic compounds and flavonoids, enhanced plant defense mechanisms against oxidative stress [262]. Salinity aggravates overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that results in oxidative damage by oxidizing proteins, lipids and DNA and other cellular macromolecules [88]. Plants have an excellent non-enzymatic network of ROS detoxification system through AsA, beta-carotene and carotenoids, phenolic compounds and flavonoids [88].

*Amaranthus tricolor* is an excellent source of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity that had a great importance for the food industry as most of them are natural antioxidants and detoxify ROS in the human body [6, 35]. Hence, salt-stressed plants could economically be potential sources of antioxidants in the human life. These natural antioxidants play an important role in the human diet as involve in defense against several diseases like cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, and retinopathy, neuro-degenerative and cardiovascular diseases [8, 35, 48]. *A. tricolor* is a well-adapted leafy vegetable to different biotic and abiotic stresses and has multipurpose uses. Different factors such as biological, environmental, biochemical, physiological, ecological, and evolutionary processes are involved in the quantitative and qualitative improvement of natural antioxidants [72]. There are few reports related to the effect of salinity stress on leaf pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity in different crops including leafy vegetables.

Salt stress elevates vitamin C, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in *Cichorium spinosum* [117]. Alam *et al.* [118] observed different levels of salinity treatment resulted in 8–35% increase in TPC; about 35% increase in TFC; and 18–35% increase in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim *et al.* [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, 100, and 200 mM NaCl concentrations result in an increase of phenolic compounds and carotenoids in the sprouts compared to the control (0 mM). The buckwheat sprouts treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM NaCl after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, higher phenolic content than

that of the control condition, respectively. In plants, polyphenol synthesis and accumulation are mostly stimulated in response to salinity [251]. Thus, salt-stressed plants might represent potential sources of polyphenols. To our knowledge, there is no information on *A. tricolor* in response to salinity stress in terms of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity. In our previous studies, we selected some antioxidant enriched and high yield potential genotypes [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173]. Therefore, in present investigation, high antioxidant enriched and high yield potential genotype VA13 were evaluated to study the response of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity under four salinity stress.

#### Materials and methods

## Experimental site, Plant materials and experimental conditions

Earlier, we collected 102 genotypes in different eco-geographical regions of Bangladesh. On the basis of our previous studies [143, 149-151, 160-162, 173], an antioxidant enriched high yield potential genotype (Accession VA13) was selected for this investigation. This genotype was grown in pots of a rain shelter open field of Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Bangladesh (AEZ-28, 24<sup>0</sup>23<sup>'</sup> north latitude, 90<sup>0</sup>08<sup>'</sup> east longitude, 8.4 m.s.l.). The seeds were sown in plastic pots (15 cm in height and 40 cm length and 30 cm width) in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replications. N: P2O5:K2O were applied @92:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> as a split dose. First, in pot soil, @46:48:60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P2O5:K2O and second, at 7 days after sowing (DAS) @46:0:0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N: P2O5:K2O. The genotype was grouped into three sets and subjected to four salinity stress treatments that are, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaCl, 25 mM NaCl, and control or no saline water (NS). Pots were well irrigated with fresh water every day up to 10 days after sowing (DAS) of seeds for proper establishment and vigorous growth of seedlings. Imposition of salinity stress treatment was started at 11 DAS and continued up to 40 DAS (edible stage). Saline water (100 mM NaCl, 50 mM NaCl and 25 mM NaCl) and fresh water were applied to respective pots once a day. At 40 DAS the leaves of Amaranthus tricolor were harvested. All the parameters were measured in six samples.

## **Chemicals**

Solvent: methanol and acetone. Reagents: Standard compounds of pure phenolic acids, HPLC grade acetonitrile and acetic acid, vitamin C, gallic acid, rutin, methanol, DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl), ABTS<sup>+</sup> (2,2-azinobis-3-ethylenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid), trolox (6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethyl-chroman-2-carboxylic acid), aluminum chloride hexahydrate,

sodium carbonate, potassium acetate, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, Caesium chloride, dithiothreitol (DTT) and potassium persulfate. All solvents and reagents used in this study were of high purity laboratory products obtained from Kanto Chemical Co. Inc. (Tokyo, Japan) and Merck (Germany).

# Leaf color measurement

Leaf color were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of betacyanin and betaxanthin content

Betacyanin and betaxanthin were extracted from fresh amaranth leaves following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of total carotenoids

Total carotenoids were determined from 80% acetone extracts following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# **Beta-carotene**

The extraction and estimation of beta-carotene were performed following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Vitamin C

Vitamin C was measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Extraction of samples for TPC, TFC and TAC analysis

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Determination of TPC, TFC and TAC

TPC, TFC and TAC were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Extraction of samples for HPLC and LC-MS analysis

Samples were extracted following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# HPLC analysis of phenolic acids and flavonoids

Phenolic acids and flavonoids were measured following the procedure described in the previous chapter

# Statistical Analysis

The data was statistically analyzed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Statistix 8 software and the means were compared by Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) at 1% level of probability. The results were reported as the mean  $\pm$  SD of three separate replications.

# **Results and Discussion**

# Effect of salinity on leaf color parameters and leaf pigments

Leaf color parameters and leaf pigments under different salinity stress are presented in Table 1. Leaf color is one of the most important parameters for consumers, playing a crucial role in choice making, preference and acceptability of the product, and may also be considered as an indicator for estimating the antioxidant properties of the leafy vegetables [259]. High redness and yellowness values recorded in the genotype VA13 could be expected since it is characterized by the presence of the high pigments (anthocyanins, carotenoids, betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain). The results obtained in the present study were fully agreed with the results of Colonna et al. [259]. L\*, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, and total carotenoids were remarkably increased with the severity of salinity stress in the order, Control (No saline water) < Low salinity stress (LSS) < Moderate salinity stress (MSS) < Severe salinity stress (SSS). At LSS, MSS and SSS conditions, L\*, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain and total carotenoids were increased by (4%, 6%, 5%, 3%, 1% 2%, 0.91% & 2%), (10%, 13%, 11%, 9%, 5% 7%, 5% & 24%) and (13%, 25%, 17%, 17%, 9% 12%, 8% & 50%), respectively compared to control condition (Fig. 1). Lim et al. [119] observed continuous increment in the level of carotenoids in response to all NaCl concentrations tested. They reported the greatest difference between the carotenoid content with 50 or 100 mM NaCl which was higher double than that of control sprouts, while treatment with 10 or 200 mM NaCl resulted 40% increase in carotenoids. Unlike other biotic and abiotic stresses, salinity stress induces biosynthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) from carotenoids via mevalonic acid pathway in order to regulate plant development in response to salinity tolerance. Thus, due to NaCl treatment, accumulation of carotenoids in the sprouts might be due to stimulation of the mevalonic acid pathway [119]. Alam et al. [118] reported both increment and decrement in total carotenoid contents in different accessions of purslane with the severity of salinity stress.

	1		10		e	<b>7</b> 1			
Salinity stress		Color pa	arameters		Antioxidant leaf pigments				
	L*	a*	b*	Chroma	betacyanin	betaxanthin	Betalain	Total	
					(ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	(ng g <sup>-1</sup> )	(ng g-1)	carotenoids	
								(mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	
Control (No saline water)	$31.16\pm1.85a$	$10.12\pm0.87a$	$3.56\pm0.28a$	$12.46\pm0.52a$	$624.75\pm2.54a$	$266.44 \pm 2.81a$	$902.62\pm4.52a$	$35.75 \pm 1.24a$	
Low salinity stress (LSS)	$32.34 \pm 1.92 b \\$	$10.76\pm0.99b$	$3.75\pm0.32b$	$12.88\pm0.67b$	$632.83\pm3.08b$	$273.72\pm 3.24b$	$910.87\pm4.22b$	$36.52\pm1.35b$	
Moderate salinity stress (MSS)	$34.12\pm2.05c$	$11.42 \pm 1.12 \texttt{c}$	$3.96\pm0.24\text{c}$	$13.62\pm0.46c$	$654.62\pm3.28c$	$285.68\pm4.02c$	$945.56\pm3.57c$	$44.68 \pm 1.57 \texttt{c}$	
Severe salinity stress (SSS)	$35.16\pm2.14d$	$12.63 \pm 1.02 d \\$	$4.16\pm0.22d$	$14.54\pm0.44d$	$678.92\pm2.98d$	$298.84{\pm}3.87d$	$978.42\pm3.92d$	$53.87 \pm 0.98 d \\$	

Table 1. Effect of salinity on leaf color parameters and leaf pigments in selected A. tricolor genotype

Different letters in a column are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.01)

#### Impact of salinity on beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC and TAC

Beta-carotene, vitamin C, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) of the genotype of *A. tricolor* were significantly affected by

salinity levels (Fig. 2). The significant increase in beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) due to salinity stress were found in the order: Control < LSS <MSS < SSS. At LSS, MSS and SWS conditions, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were increased by (8%, 13%, 4%, 5%, 5% and 8%), (43%, 66%, 20%, 17%, 28% and 30%) and (101%, 192%, 36%, 23%, 52% and 59%), compared to control condition, respectively (Fig. 3). beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) had the highest values under SSS condition, while beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were observed the lowest in control condition. Petropoulos et al. [117] found the elevated response of phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity with the increase in salt stress in Cichorium spinosum. Alam et al. [118] reported that different levels of salinity treatment resulted 8-35% increases in TPC; about 35% increase in TFC; and 18-35% increases in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim et al. [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, higher phenolic content than that of the control, respectively. Ahmed et al. [247] reported increment in phenolics and TAC (FRAP) with increasing NaCl concentrations in barley. In contrast, Neffati et al. [248] found decrement in polyphenols and TAC (DPPH) with increasing NaCl concentrations in coriander.



**Fig. 1.** Comparison of color parameters and leaf pigments (% to the value of control) under four salinity levels: Control (No saline water), LSS (Low salinity stress), MSS (Moderate salinity stress) and SSS (Severe salinity stress) in selected *A. tricolor* genotype; L\*, Lightness; a\*, Redness/greenness; b\*, Yellowness/blueness



Fig. 2. Response to beta-carotene, Vitamin C, TPC, TFC and TAC under four salinity levels: Control (No saline water), LSS (Low salinity stress), MSS (Moderate salinity stress), SSS (Severe salinity stress) in selected *A. tricolor* genotype; beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), AsA, Vitamin C (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>); TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw); (n = 6), different letters are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.01)

Fig. 3. Response to vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC, (% to the value of control) under four salinity levels: Control (No saline water), LSS (Low salinity stress), MSS (Moderate salinity stress) and SSS (Severe salinity stress) in selected *A. tricolor* genotype; beta-carotene (mg g<sup>-1</sup>), AsA, Vitamin C (mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>); TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TFC. Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw)

#### Influence of salinity on phenolic acids and flavonoids

Data on retention time,  $\lambda$ max, molecular ion, main fragment ions in MS<sup>2</sup> and tentative compound identification for phenolic compounds are presented in Table 2. The values of phenolic acids and flavonoids components separated though LC from the genotype VA13 was compared with ion masses of standard phenolic acids and flavonoids by observing the particular peaks of the corresponding components. Totally, sixteen phenolic compounds were identified including six hydroxybenzoic acids, seven hydroxycinnamic acids and three flavonoids. In this study, trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in A. tricolor. Except for transcinnamic acid, Khanam and Oba [179] in red and green amaranths, Khanam et al. [174] in eight different leafy vegetables including amaranths described the rest 15 phenolic acids and flavonoids with normal cultivation practices. However, an attempt was made for the first time to evaluate the effect of sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids of A. tricolor under four salinity stress. Quantification of identified phenolic compounds in selected Amaranthus tricolor leaves under four salinity stress are presented in Table 3. Considering phenolic acids and flavonoids, hydroxybenzoic acids having one functional carboxylic acid were the most plentiful compounds in this genotype. Within hydroxybenzoic acids, salicylic acid was found to be as one of the main phenolic acids followed by vanilic acid and gallic acid. Gallic acid and p- acid was the most abundant compound followed by trans-cinnamic acid and m-coumaric acid. hydroxybenzoic acid content of the genotype VA13 under control condition were higher than A. tricolor genotypes of Khanam et al. [174]. Regarding hydroxycinnamic acids, chlorogenic

A good amount of caffeic acid, *p*-coumaric acid, ferulic acid were also observed in this genotype. The genotype VA13 had higher caffeic acid and *m*-coumaric acid under control condition compared to *A. tricolor* genotypes of Khanam *et al.* [174]. The hydroxycinnamic acids synthesized from phenylalanine are the most extensively disseminated phenolic acids in plant tissues [180]. In plants, flavonoids occasionally occur as a glycone, although the most common forms are glycoside derivatives. These compounds account for 60% of total dietary phenolic compounds [181, 263]. Flavonols are the most prevalent flavonoids in the plant kingdom and glycosides of quercetin are the most predominant naturally occurring flavonols [181]. In this investigation, the flavonoids, rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) and isoquercetin

**Table 2.** Retention time (Rt), wavelengths of maximum absorption in the visible region ( $\lambda_{max}$ ), mass spectral data and tentative identification of phenolic compounds in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* leaves.

Peak	Rt	$\lambda_{max}$	Molecular	$MS^2$	Identity of tentative compounds
no	(min)	(nm)	ion	(m/z)	
			[M - H] <sup>-</sup>		
			(m/z)		
1	9.1	254	169	169.2	3,4-5 Trihydroxybenzoic acid
2	30.6	254	167	167.2	4-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzoic acid
3	34.8	254	197	197.1	4-Hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxybenzoic acid
4	31.5	254	137	137.2	4-hydroxybenzoic acid
5	48.2	254	137	137.2	2-Hydroxybenzoic acid
6	52.5	254	301	301.1	(2,3,7,8-tetrahydroxy-chromeno [5,4,3-cde]chromene-5,10-dione
7	32.0	280	179	179.1	3,4-Dihydroxy-trans-cinnamate
8	31.1	280	353	353.2	3-(3,4-Dihydroxycinnamoyl) quinic acid
9	42.0	280	163	163.1	4-hydroxycinnamic acid
10	47.9	280	193	193.2	4-hydroxy-3-methoxycinnamic acid
11	49.6	280	163	163.3	3-hydroxycinnamic acid
12	49.0	280	223	223.2	4-Hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxycinnamic acid
13	67.3	280	147	147.1	3-Phenylacrylic acid
14	54.3	360	463	463.3	Quercetin-3-glucoside
15	53.3	360	463	463.5	Quercetin-3-galactoside
16	53.0	360	609	609.4	Quercetin-3-rutinoside

Table 3. Quantification of identified phenolic compounds (µg g<sup>-1</sup> FW) in selected Amaranthus tricolor leaves under four salinity stress.

Dhanalia anoun	Commonad	Control (No NoCl)	I SS (25	MSS (50	SSS (100 mM
Phenolic group	Compound	Control (No NaCl)	LSS (25 mivi	MSS (50 mM	555 (100 mM
			NaCl)	NaCl)	NaCl)
Hydroxybenzoic acid					
Gallic acid	3,4-5 Trihydroxybenzoic acid	$6.64 \pm 0.05c$	$6.67 \pm 0.06c$	$8.46\pm0.06b$	$9.39\pm0.08a$
Vanilic acid	4-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzoic acid	$9.40 \pm 0.12c$	$9.37 \pm 0.09c$	$12.65\pm0.08b$	$14.89 \pm 0.22a$
Syringic acid	4-Hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxybenzoic acid	$1.46 \pm 0.01b$	$1.26 \pm 0.02d$	$1.43 \pm 0.01c$	$1.52 \pm 0.02a$
p-hydroxybenzoic acid	4-hydroxybenzoic acid	$2.75 \pm 0.02c$	$2.76 \pm 0.03c$	$3.87 \pm 0.02b$	$4.24 \pm 0.01a$
Salicylic acid	2-Hydroxybenzoic acid	$16.53 \pm 0.42d$	17.85 ±0.24c	$24.87 \pm 0.35b$	$28.61 \pm 0.61a$
Ellagic acid	(2,3,7,8-tetrahydroxy-chromeno [5,4,3-cde]chromene-5,10-dione	$1.16 \pm 0.03c$	$1.23\pm0.05b$	$2.36\pm0.06a$	$2.38\pm0.03a$
Total benzoic acids		37.95	39.14	53.63	61.03
Hydroxycinnamic acid					
Caffeic acid	3,4-Dihydroxy-trans-cinnamate	$1.46 \pm 0.03c$	$1.45 \pm 0.02c$	$1.83\pm0.04b$	$2.58 \pm 0.06a$
Chlorogenic acid	3-(3,4-Dihydroxycinnamoyl) quinic acid	$7.38 \pm 0.32d$	$7.98 \pm 0.52c$	$9.82\pm0.28b$	$12.65 \pm 0.48a$
p-coumaric acid	4-hydroxycinnamic acid	$1.16 \pm 0.01d$	$1.25 \pm 0.01c$	$2.53\pm0.02b$	$2.62 \pm 0.03a$
Ferulic acid	4-hydroxy-3-methoxycinnamic acid	$1.20 \pm 0.02c$	$1.16 \pm 0.02c$	$2.05\pm0.04b$	$3.19 \pm 0.05a$
m-coumaric acid	3-hydroxycinnamic acid	$2.87 \pm 0.05c$	$2.87 \pm 0.06c$	$5.25\pm0.04b$	$7.36 \pm 0.03a$
Sinapic acid	4-Hydroxy-3,5-dimethoxycinnamic acid	$0.35 \pm 0.01b$	$0.36\pm0.01b$	$0.43\pm0.01a$	$0.45 \pm 0.01a$
Trans-cinnamic acid	3-Phenylacrylic acid	$6.85 \pm 0.02b$	$6.86\pm0.01b$	$6.89 \pm 0.02a$	$6.92 \pm 0.03a$
Total cinnamic acids		21.28	21.93	28.80	35.77
Flavonoids					
Iso-quercetin	Quercetin-3-glucoside	$4.66 \pm 0.21c$	$4.80 \pm 0.24c$	$7.23 \pm 0.16b$	$9.24 \pm 0.18a$
Hyperoside	Quercetin-3-galactoside	$1.35 \pm 0.02b$	$1.33\pm0.01b$	$2.43 \pm 0.01a$	$2.44 \pm 0.02a$
Rutin	Quercetin-3-rutinoside	$6.62 \pm 0.11d$	$6.74 \pm 0.09c$	$8.87\pm0.08b$	$9.92 \pm 0.14a$
Total flavonoids		12.63	12.87	18.53	21.60
Total phenolic acids		59.23	61.07	81.43	96.80
Total phenolic index		71.86	73.94	100.96	118.40

Different letters in a row are differed significantly by Duncan Multiple Range Test (P < 0.01); (n = 6)

(quercetin-3-glucoside) were the most abundant in this genotype. The genotype VA13 exhibited higher rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) content under control condition in comparison to A. tricolor genotypes of Khanam et al. [174]. Three hydroxybenzoic acids (Gallic acid, vanilic acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid); three hydroxycinnamic acid (Caffeic acid, ferulic acid and *m*-coumaric acid) and flavonoids iso-quercetin had no significant differences in their composition between control and LSS, however, the compositions of these acids were increased significantly from MSS to SSS. In MSS and SSS, the composition of these phenolic acids and flavonoids were increased by (27%, 35%, 41%, 25%, 71% 83% and 55%) and (41%, 58%, 54%, 77%, 166% 156% and 98%); respectively (Fig. 4 and 5). Salicylic acid, chlorogenic acid, p-coumaric acid and rutin were remarkably increased with the severity of salinity stress (Control  $\leq$  LSS  $\leq$  MSS  $\leq$  SSS). In LSS, MSS and SSS, the concentration of these phenolic acids and flavonoids were increased by (8%, 8%, 8% and 2%); (50%, 33%, 18% and 34%) and (73%, 71%, 26% and 50%); respectively (Fig. 4 and 5). Sinapic acid, trans-cinnamic acid, and hyperoside had no significant differences in their composition at control and LSS condition, however, the compositions of these acids were increased significantly under MSS or SSS condition compared to control and LSS condition. The composition of these acids under MSS or SSS was statistically similar. The ellagic acid content was significantly increased in the order: Control < LSS < MSS = SSS by 6% and 103% at LSS and MSS or SSS, respectively (Fig. 4 and 5); while syringic acid concentration was increased in the order: LSS < MSS <Control < SSS. Except for syringic acid, all the phenolic acids and flavonoids exhibited low concentrations under control condition, whereas these acids had the highest concentrations under SSS condition. Lim et al. [119] reported that buckwheat sprouts treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM NaCl after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, higher phenolic content



**Fig. 4.** Changes of hydroxybenzoic acid compositions ( $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> FW) (% to the value of control) under four salinity levels: Control (No saline water), LSS (Low salinity stress), MSS (Moderate salinity stress) and SSS (Severe salinity stress) in selected *A. tricolor* genotype

**Fig. 5.** Changes of hydroxycinnamic acid and flavonoid compositions  $(\mu g g^{-1}FW)$  (% to the value of control) under four salinity levels: Control (No saline water), LSS (Low salinity stress), MSS (Moderate salinity stress) and SSS (Severe salinity stress) in selected *A. tricolor* genotype

than that of the control condition, respectively. The total phenolic compounds ranged from 65.86 to 112.40  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> extract, with a significant and sharp increment from control to SSS in the following order: Control < LSS < MSS < SSS. Klados and Tzortzakis [264] reported a significant increase in total phenolic acids and flavonoids content with increasing salinity in *Cichorium spinosum*. Similarly, total phenolic acids and total flavonoids ranged from 53.23 to 90.80 and 12.63 to 21.60  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> extract, respectively with significantly and sharply increased from control to SSS (Control < LSS < MSS < SSS). Petropoulos *et al.* [117] found elevated response of phenolic acids and flavonoids with the increase in salt stress in *Cichorium spinosum*. Ahmed *et al.* [247] reported increment of phenolic acids with increasing NaCl concentrations in barley.

### **Correlation studies**

The correlation coefficient among betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, total carotenoids, betacarotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) are presented in Table 4. betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain had highly significant positive correlations among each other and with TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Significant association between TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) represented a crucial role of betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain in the total antioxidant activity of *A. tricolor* leaves. Total carotenoids displayed significant relationships with beta-carotene, vitamin C, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) demonstrating the vital role of carotenoid pigments in the antioxidant activity. Beta-carotene showed highly significant interrelationships with vitamin C, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) and significant association with TPC and TFC. It indicated that increase in beta-carotene was directly related to the increment of TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Similarly,

-	betaxanthi	Betalain	Total	beta-	Vitamin C	TPC (GAE	TFC (RE µg	TAC	TAC
	n	(ng g-1)	carotenoids	carotene	(mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	$\mu g \ g^{\text{-1}} \ dw$	g <sup>-1</sup> dw)	(DPPH)	$(ABTS^{+})$
	(ng g <sup>-1</sup> )		(mg 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	(mg g <sup>-1</sup> )				(TEAC	(TEAC
								$\mu g \ g^{\text{-1}} \ dw)$	μg g <sup>-1</sup> dw)
betacyanin	0.96**	0.95**	0.32	0.37	0.18	0.87**	-0.65	0.87**	0.75*
betaxanthin		0.76*	0.24	0.42	0.14	0.88**	-0.47	0.82**	0.77*
Betalain			0.29	0.48	0.12	0.88**	-0.49	0.88**	0.82*
T carotenoids				0.92**	0.95**	0.53	0.67*	0.74*	0.96**
beta-carotene					0.98**	0.68*	0.72*	0.83**	0.92**
Vitamin C						0.32	0.35	0.82*	0.88*
TPC							0.78*	0.98**	0.84**
TFC								0.87**	0.89**
TAC (DPPH)									0.97**

 Table 4. Correlation coefficient for antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, TPC, TFC and TAC in selected A. tricolor genotype

T carotenoids, Total carotenoids; TPC, Total polyphenol content (GAE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TFC, Total flavonoid content (RE  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TAC (DPPH), Total antioxidant capacity (DPPH) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), Total antioxidant capacity (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) (TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>dw); \*significant at 5% level, \*\* significant at 1% level, (n = 6)

vitamin C revealed significant interrelationship with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Both beta-carotene and vitamin C played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of *A. tricolor*. In

contrast, vitamin C exerted negligible insignificant association with TPC and TFC. Jimenez-Aguilar and Grusak [178] found similar results for vitamin C in different species of *Amaranthus*. TPC, TFC and TAC (DPPH) were found significantly interrelated among each other. Alam *et al.* [118] also reported significant correlation of carotenoids, TPC, TFC with TAC (FRAP) in salt-stressed purslane. Significant positive interrelationship of TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) signify that TPC, TFC had strong antioxidant activity. Similarly, significant positive association between TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) confirmed the validation of antioxidant capacity of *A. tricolor* by two different methods of antioxidant capacity measurement. Leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC and TFC had strong antioxidant activity as these bioactive compounds showed significant association with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>).

In conclusion, at MSS and SSS conditions, leaf color parameters and pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity of *A. tricolor* leaves were very high compared to control condition. Hence, salt-stressed *A. tricolor* leaves had a good source of natural antioxidants compared to plant grown in normal cultivation practices. The correlation coefficient revealed strong antioxidant activity of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC that could be contributed as a valuable food source for human diets and health benefit. *A. tricolor* cultivated under salinity stress could be contributed as a high-quality product in terms of leaf pigments, bioactive compounds, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. It can be a promising alternative crop for farmers, especially in salt affected areas and also coastal belt in the world.

#### Abstract

*A. tricolor* genotype VA13 was evaluated under four salinity stress in terms of color parameters, leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC, phenolic acids and flavonoids. Salinity stress significantly increases all the studied traits. The increments of all these compounds were high under moderate and severe salinity stress compared to control condition. In this study, *trans*-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenoic acid in *A. tricolor*. Salicylic acid, vanilic acid, *trans*-cinnamic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, rutin, isoquercetin and *m*-coumaric acid were the most abundant phenolic compounds of amaranth that increased with the severity of salinity stress. *A. tricolor* leaves are good source of pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. In salt-stressed amaranth, correlation studies revealed strong antioxidant activity of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC. These bioactive compounds played a vital role in scavenging

ROS and could be beneficial to human nutrition by serving as a good antioxidant and antiaging source in human health benefit. *A. tricolor* cultivated under salinity stress conditions can contribute a high quality of the final product in terms of leaf pigments, bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. It can be a promising alternative crop in saline-prone areas.

## **CHAPTER 4**

## **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

Anemia, night blindness, scurvy is the problem for poor child community in the third world countries including Indian subcontinent. Iron, beta carotene and ascorbic acid are also important for recovery of anemia, night blindness and scurvy, respectively. Antioxidant vitamins and minerals are important constituents of the human diet by serving as cofactors for many physiological and metabolic processes.

Variability plays a vital role in the selection of superior genotypes in crop improvement programs. Pronounced variation in the breeding materials is a prerequisite for development of varieties to fulfill the existing demand. Creation of variability is prerequisite for crop breeders. Morphological and agronomic traits are quantitative in nature, and interact with the environment under study, so partitioning the traits into genotypic, phenotypic, and environmental effects is essential to find out the additive or heritable portion of variability. In the present investigation, the range of variation was much pronounced for all the traits except Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content indicating a wide range of variability among the genotypes studied. High genotypic and phenotypic variances were observed for Fe, Zn, Mn, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, leaf area, shoot/root weight, shoot weight, dietary fiber content and biological yield indicating the presence of the wide range of variability among the traits in vegetable amaranth. In contrast, Ca, Mg, K, protein and beta-carotene content showed low genotypic and phenotypic variances that indicated no scope of selection on the basis of these traits for improvement of vegetable amaranth crop. Fe, Zn, Mn, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, leaf area, shoot/root weight, shoot weight, dietary fiber content foliage yield and biological yield had close differences in genotypic and phenotypic variances along with genotypic coefficient of variability (GCV) and phenotypic coefficient of variability (PCV) values, which indicated preponderance of additive gene effects for these traits i. e., less environmental influence in the expression of these traits or the major portion of the phenotypic variance was genetic in nature and greater scope of improvement of vegetable amaranth through selection. Variability alone is not of much help in determining the heritable portion of variation. The amount of gain expected from a selection depends on heritability and genetic advance in a trait. Heritability has been widely used to assess the degree to which a character may be transmitted from parent to offspring. Knowledge of heritability of a character is important as it indicates the possibility and extent to which improvement is possible through

selection [135]. However, high heritability alone is not enough to make sufficient improvement through selection generally in advance generations unless accompanied by a substantial amount of genetic advance [136]. The expected genetic advance is a function of selection intensity, phenotypic variance, and heritability and measures the differences between the mean genotypic values of the original population from which the progeny is selected. It has been emphasized that genetic gain should be considered along with heritability in coherent selection breeding program [19]. It is considered that if a trait is governed by non-additive gene action it may give high heritability but low genetic advance, which limits the scope for improvement through selection, whereas if it is governed by additive gene action, heritability and genetic advance would be high, consequently substantial gain can be achieved through selection. In these studies, the heritability was high for all the traits except beta carotene indicated the preponderance of additive gene action for these traits. High heritability coupled with high GA in percent of mean was observed for all the traits except Mg indicated that were govern to a great extent by additive gene. So, selection based on these traits would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth.

The genotypic correlation showed some interesting results. In the present investigation, the genotypic correlation coefficients were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits indicating additive type of gene action i.e., less environmental influence on the expression of the traits. The higher magnitude of genotypic correlation than respective phenotypic correlations between various characters in amaranth have also been reported by Shukla et al. [23] and Shukla and Singh [18]. It was revealed that foliage yield had a significant positive correlation with iron, manganese, protein, fiber content, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter indicating selection for high iron, manganese, protein, fiber, ascorbic acid content and tall and thick plant with more leaves were closely associated with high foliage yield i.e., increase in with iron, manganese, protein, fiber content, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant and stem base diameter could lead to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Shukla et al. [23] observed positive association of foliage yield with beta-carotene and ascorbic acid, plant height, diameter of stem base and fiber content [23]. Similarly, Sarker and Mian [137] observed significant positive association between yield and its contributing traits in rice. Biological yield had significant positive correlation with leaf area (0.326), shoot weight (0.999), shoot/root weight (0.454) and stem base diameter (0.368), indicating that biological yield of vegetable amaranth could be increased with the increase of leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter. Sarker et al. [143] observed that foliage yield was highly associated with plant height, leaf area,

leaves/plant stem base diameter and dietary fiber content. Plant height had significant exhibited significant positive association with leaves per plant and stem base diameter. A Similar trend was observed by earlier work in *A. tricolor* [23]. Insignificant genotypic correlation was observed among nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing morphological, quality, agronomic traits and biological yield, except K *vs.* Mg (0.753), protein *vs.* dietary fiber (-0.295), and stem base diameter *vs.* Ca (-0.491). This indicates that selection for high mineral, vitamins, protein and dietary fiber content, nutrient and antioxidant might be possible without compromising yield loss. On the other hand, most of the interrelationships among different agronomic traits were significant. Stem base diameter had a significant positive association with leaf area (0.597), and shoot weight (0.365), whereas these traits showed significant negative association with Ca (-0.491). Shoot/root weight exhibited significant positive interrelationship with shoot weight (0.454) indicating that plant with thick stem contained less Ca, more leaves and shoot weight. Significant positive association was observed between shoot weight and leaf area (0.326).

Considering high genotypic and phenotypic variances along with genotypic coefficient of variability and phenotypic coefficient of variability values, high heritability coupled with high genetic advance and genetic advance in percent of mean, Fe, Mn, Zn, protein, betacarotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, stem base diameter, leaf area, shoot/root weight, shoot weight, dietary fiber content, foliage yield and biological yield would be selected for the improvement of vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, correlation study revealed that strong positive association of Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter with foliage yield. Selection based on Fe, Mn, protein, fiber, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, plant height, leaves per plant, leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight and stem base diameter carotene to increase the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth strains.

Path coefficient analysis was carried out using genotypic correlation coefficient among fourteen nutrients, antioxidants, yield and its contributing traits to estimate the direct and indirect effect on foliage yield. The fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height had high positive direct effect on foliage yield. High positive direct effect for fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height, moderate positive direct effect for stem base diameter Fe, Mn K and beta-carotene content in amaranth had been reported. On the other hand, high negative direct effect was observed in Ca content and negligible positive direct effect was found in Zn and protein content. Shukla *et al.* [23] also found similar results for protein content in same crop. The ascorbic acid showed negligible negative direct effect positive direct effect on foliage yield. It

was interesting that path coefficient analysis results confirmed the similarity of the correlation coefficient analysis results. Calcium had high negative direct effect and insignificant negative correlation. Potassium had considerable positive direct effect and insignificant positive correlation. Zn had negligible positive direct effect and insignificant positive correlation. Protein exhibited negligible positive direct effect and significant positive correlation. Direct selection based on these three nutrient traits (Ca, K, Zn and protein) would not be effective for the improvement of foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Concomitant selection based on high nutrient content and high foliage yield would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth. Manganese and Fe showed considerable positive direct effect with considerable positive genotypic correlation, so direct selection based on Fe and Mn would be effective for the improvement of vegetable amaranth. Beta-carotene exhibited moderate positive direct effect but its negative indirect effect via plant height made negligible genotypic correlation on foliage yield. Ascorbic acid had negligible negative direct effect with significant genotypic correlation on foliage yield. Direct selection based on antioxidant traits (beta-carotene and ascorbic acid) would not be effective for improving foliage yield. Rather, concomitant selection with high antioxidant and high foliage yield would be effective selection method for improvement of vegetable amaranth. Fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height had high positive direct effect and stem base diameter had moderate positive direct effect along with highly significant positive genotypic correlation with foliage yield. Shukla et al. [25] observed similar findings for plant height, fiber and beta-carotene content in vegetable amaranth. Direct selection on the basis of fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, plant height and stem base diameter would significantly improve the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. Selection based on plant height and leaves/plant concomitantly required considering Ca and beta-carotene content of the genotypes.

The present investigation revealed that vegetable amaranth is rich in chlorophyll *a* (290.16  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), chlorophyll *b* (142.54  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), Total chlorophyll (433.72  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), betacyanin (302.68 ng g<sup>-1</sup>) and betaxanthin (306.93 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), betalain (609.53 ng g<sup>-1</sup>), total carotene (89.57 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) ascorbic acid (83.15 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>) and total antioxidant (21.71 TEAC  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dw). Five genotypes, VA14, VA16, VA18, VA15, and VA20 showed high foliage yield and also found to be a rich source of antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins. Selection of these genotypes would be economically useful for antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins, and high yield aspects. The genotypes VA13 and VA19 had above average foliage yield along with rich source of the antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins while the genotypes VA2, VA3, VA9, VA11, VA12 and VA17 had a high amount of the colorant antioxidant leaf pigments and

below-average foliage yield. These eight genotypes can be used as a donor parent for integration of potential genes of the high antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins into other genotypes.

The highest genotypic variance was observed for betalain (20318.65), followed by total chlorophyll (10522.15), betaxanthin (5157.75), betacyanin (5116.08), chlorophyll a (4684.08), chlorophyll b (2106.41) indicating greater scope of selection for these traits. Ascorbic acid (1311.99), total carotene (321.32), TAC (42.09) and foliage yield (2,52) exhibited moderate genotypic variances. The phenotypic variances for all the traits were slightly higher but close to the genotypic variances which indicated the predominance of additive gene actions. GCV values ranged from 19.41 (total chlorophyll) to 29.08% (foliage yield). The PCV values ranged from 19.70% (total chlorophyll) to 40.33% (ascorbic acid). In the present investigation, all the traits had high to moderate genotypic and phenotypic variances along with moderate GCV and PCV values, which indicate scope for improvement in these traits through selection due to predominance of additive gene action for these traits. The heritability estimates were high for all the traits and ranged from 93.76% (foliage yield) to 99.30% (chlorophyll a). The highest expected genetic advance was exhibited for betalain (293.64), followed by total chlorophyll (211.31%) betaxanthin (147.94), betacyanin (147.35%), chlorophyll a (140.99%), and chlorophyll b (94.44%). Genetic advance in percent of the mean (GAMP) ranged from 40.72 (chlorophyll a) to 80.35 (ascorbic acid). The highest GAMP was found in ascorbic acid (80.35%), followed by foliage yield (59.91%), total carotene (52.85) Chlorophyll b (52.16%), TAC (51.92), chlorophyll a, total chlorophyll, betacyanin, betaxanthin, and betalain showed moderate GAMP (around 40%). In the present study, the high heritability and high to moderate genetic advance values were observed for all the traits indicated preponderance of additive gene effects and improvement could be achieved through selection of these traits.

In the present investigation, the genotypic correlation coefficients were very much close to the corresponding phenotypic values for all the traits that indicating predominance of additive gene action i. e., less environmental influence of these traits. The chlorophyll *a* had a significant positive correlation with all the traits except total carotene and ascorbic acid. Chlorophyll *b* exhibited significant positive correlation with total chlorophyll and TAC. Similarly, total chlorophyll had a significant positive interrelationship with all the traits except total carotene and ascorbic acid. A similar trend of positive associations was observed by earlier work in *A. tricolor* [7, 143]. betacyanin had a significant positive associations with betalain and TAC. Similarly, betalain exerted positive interrelationships with TAC. Total antioxidant capacity

showed significant positive associations with all the leaf pigments, ascorbic acid and foliage yield. These indicates that high antioxidant content was closely associated with foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. On the other hand, foliage yield had insignificant correlation with all acid. These indicate that improvement of foliage yield, ascorbic acid, antioxidant leaf pigments might be possible by improving any of the antioxidant leaf pigments. Shukla *et al.* [23] observed a positive association of foliage yield with beta carotene and ascorbic acid. Interesting results is that, ascorbic acid and total carotene had an insignificant negative and negligible interrelationship among all antioxidant vitamin and leaf pigments while it exhibited significant positive associations with total antioxidant capacity.

Antioxidant vitamins and minerals, TPC and TFC of vegetable amaranth remove free radicals from the body and help to fight against infections and other conditions including cancer, coronary artery diseases, muscular degeneration and serious eye diseases [8]. The contents of beta-carotene, vitamin C, Fe, Zn, Cu and Mn are the most important antioxidant traits of vegetable amaranth [11, 13, 15, 52, 54]. On the other hand, amaranth can relieve vitamin and nutrient deficiency in the human diet. Anemia, night blindness, scurvy, rickets and protein deficiency are serious problems for children in poor communities in third-world countries, including the Indian subcontinent. Therefore, vegetable amaranth might be an excellent source of antioxidants, nutrients and dietary fiber.

In the present study, we found that four PCs account for 98.61% of the total variation present among the 43 genotypes of amaranth, indicating that the selected antioxidant, nutrient, and agronomic traits significantly contributed to the diversity of vegetable amaranth. Shukla et al. [63] observed that 68% of the total variation for 16 morphological and nutritional traits was found in the first four PCs among 39 vegetable amaranth strains. PC1 exhibited the highest positive coefficient of variation for biological yield. PC1 also had the largest positive coefficients for foliage yield, iron, zinc, leaf area, total flavonoid content (TFC), shoot: root ratio, shoot weight, plant height, total antioxidant capacity (TAC), copper, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and manganese content whereas, this PC showed negative coefficients for beta carotene, total polyphenol content (TPC) and dietary fiber. PC1 had a positive coefficient for all of the traits except beta-carotene, TPC, calcium and dietary fiber. PC2, accounted for 31.72% of the variation, had the highest positive coefficient for iron and high positive coefficients for manganese, beta-carotene, TFC, and TAC. PC2 also had the largest negative coefficient for biological yield, followed by foliage yield, leaf area, and zinc. In contrast, PC<sub>2</sub> had high negative coefficients for vitamin C, plant height, copper, and shoot weight. PC3 contributed 12.82% of the genetic variation and had the highest positive coefficient of variation for zinc.

PC3 had the largest positive coefficient for manganese, iron, shoot: root ratio, copper and betacarotene. In contrast, PC3 had the highest negative coefficients for biological yield, foliage yield, vitamin C, TFC, leaf area, TPC, TAC, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and plant height. Finally, PC<sub>4</sub> contributed only 0.90% of the total genetic variation. PC4 had the largest positive coefficient for leaf area and high positive coefficients for vitamin C, TFC, plant height, iron, foliage yield, zinc, TPC and leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>. PC<sub>4</sub> also had high negative coefficients for manganese, betacarotene, biological yield, shoot: root ratio, and copper content. All of the nutrient traits and dietary fiber for PC4 had non-significant coefficients of variation, indicating less contribution of these traits towards genetic divergence of the 43 vegetable amaranths. The results from four PCs revealed that the foliage and biological yield had a close association with all agronomic traits, indicating that a tall, thick plant having much broader leaves, heavy shoots and a high shoot: root ratio significantly increases the foliage and biological yield of the vegetable amaranth. A previous report on Amaranthus by Shukla et al. [63] found similar results in PC2 and PC<sub>3</sub> but differed from the results we observed in PC<sub>1</sub> and PC4. They found that PC1 grouped the genotypes with high foliage yield but with smaller leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and PC4 grouped the genotypes with low foliage yield but broad and higher leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> which may be due to the high environmental influence of related traits on foliage yield or sampling error during data collection. Although Shukla et al. [63] extensively investigated nutritional and morphological traits in vegetable amaranth but this is the first report of diversity study on antioxidant profile such as TPC, TFC, and TAC in combination with antioxidant vitamins, minerals, dietary fiber and agronomic traits in vegetable amaranth. Thus, the results of the antioxidant profile show that TFC has the highest contribution to TAC compared to mineral and vitamin antioxidants. Moreover, PC<sub>1</sub> and PC<sub>4</sub> distinguished those genotypes with high foliage yield, and the related agronomic traits were closely associated with high antioxidant profiles. PC2 and PC3, however, distinguished genotypes that had low foliage and biological yield and related traits and were also associated with a high antioxidant profile; hence, all genotypes had a high antioxidant profile. Therefore, high-yielding genotypes (especially from cluster VI) could be directly used as high antioxidant profile varieties, and low-yielding genotypes could be used as a source of donor parents in hybridization programs. All of the nutrient traits and dietary fiber results were of interest because none of the traits had a significant coefficient of variation in either the positive or negative direction, indicating less contribution of these traits to genetic divergence, but the highest contribution came from antioxidant profiles and agronomic traits.

The dendrogram of 43 vegetable amaranth genotypes for 22 antioxidant, nutrient and agronomic traits showed that the germplasm could be broadly divided into six clusters each

carrying the amaranth genotype and sharing a common gene pool. following Ward's method [157] (Fig. 1). Shukla et al. [63] observed six clusters in 39 vegetable amaranth genotypes, while Pandey and Singh [62] found 18 clusters in 98 grain amaranth genotypes. However, Pandey [61] divided 26 grain amaranth genotypes into 11 clusters. With few exceptions, collections from the northeastern regions of Bangladesh were clearly grouped into cluster IV. Such strong relationship among diversity and geographical origin has been previously reported in amaranth [63]. Conversely, studies of oat [139] maize [140], bambara groundnut [158], and Ethiopian mustard [59] observed that genetic diversity did not follow the geographical diversity that supported the distribution of the genotypes of the rest of the clusters (clusters I, II, III, V and VI) in our study. The outcome of this analysis was consistent with the results obtained through PCA, with the major differences between the clusters attributed to the same traits that contributed the most to PC1 and PC2. Cluster VI consisted of nine genotypes of different ecogeographical regions, and among them, only three members (Accession number 16, 26 and 27) could be considered sources of genes for foliage and yield and related agronomic traits, as well as Mg and antioxidant profiles. Similarly, cluster I included 13 genotypes from different regions of Bangladesh, which were enriched with manganese, copper, calcium, and magnesium; had a moderate antioxidant profile and agronomic traits; and had a high biological yield. Moreover, cluster II consisted of a single genotype (Accession number 41) having high zinc, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, calcium, protein, and dietary fiber contents; broader leaves; and high biological yield. Genotypes of these clusters might be considered sources of genes for the above-mentioned traits. In contrast, cluster III contained six genotypes from six different regions of Bangladesh and was enriched with magnesium and several antioxidants such as iron, manganese, zinc, beta-carotene, TAC, TPC, and TFC (except copper and vitamin C). Cluster IV was composed of 12 genotypes from different eco-geographical regions of Bangladesh and had high manganese, copper, beta-carotene and protein contents. Cluster V, comprising two genotypes from two different regions of Bangladesh (Accession number 20 and 21), exhibited the highest manganese, TAC, and magnesium contents and high betacarotene, calcium and protein contents. Clusters III, IV and V might be considered donor parents for these traits. The absence of a relationship between genetic diversity and geographical diversity for clusters I, II, III, V and VI indicates that forces other than geographical origin, such as an exchange of genetic stocks, genetic drift, spontaneous variation, and natural and artificial selection, are perhaps responsible for the observed genetic diversity. Pandey [61] and Pandey and Singh [62] found similar trends in genetic and geographical diversity in grain amaranth. Our findings are in accordance with earlier reports that both PCA

and cluster analysis can disclose complex relationships between taxa in a more understandable way and with equal effectiveness [157, 159].

Conclusively, high-yielding genotypes from cluster VI could be directly used as high antioxidant profile varieties. In contrast, low-yielding genotypes having desirable genes (any clusters) for a specific trait could be used as a source of donor parents in hybridization programs. Genotypes with desirable genes of one cluster hybridized with promising genotypes of other diverge clusters could facilitate the accumulation of favorable genes in hybrids.

Amaranth was considered as the inexpensive leafy vegetables and its cultivation was also limited to Africa, South-East Asia and South America. Recently, amaranth spread over worldwide and its production and consumption have been remarkably increased due to the presence of excellent natural antioxidants such as minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, carotenoids, vitamins, phenolics and flavonoids. These natural antioxidants have proven health benefits as they detoxify ROS in the human body and involve in defense against several diseases such as cancer, atherosclerosis, arthritis, cataracts, emphysema, retinopathy, neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases [8, 48, 50]. Amaranthus species have higher mineral concentrations than commonly consumed leafy vegetables, such as spinach, lettuce and kale [178]. In A. tricolor, iron and zinc content is higher than that of the leaves of cassava [176] and beach pea [177]. The U.S. Department of Agriculture's National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference [243] lists a serving size of spinach as 30 g fresh weight FW (1 cup). As Amaranthus has higher mineral concentrations than spinach so, a serving size of leaves of 30 g FW is enough for nutritional sufficiency. In general, leafy vegetables are susceptible salt stress but amaranth is salt tolerant plant [116]. This study comprehensively evaluates the effects of varying levels of salinity stress on contents of nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities of A. tricolor accessions. Our results for the first time demonstrated that drought and salinity stress up to certain level significantly augment almost all these biochemical parameters in leaves of A. tricolor. However, the responses of these parameters to drought and salinity varied among the accessions of A. tricolor. Altered proteomes, enhanced vitamins and glycine betaine contents in salinity stressed Amaranthus have previously been reported [116, 244, 245].

One of the interesting findings of our study is that drought stresses (low, moderate and severe) significantly improved protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo, B,  $\beta$ -carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in leaves of *A. tricolor* compared to control condition. Similarly, salinity stresses 50 mM and 100

mM NaCl concentrations significantly improved protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na,  $\beta$ -carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in leaves of *A. tricolor* compared to control condition. Salt-stressed *A. tricolor* leaves also showed remarkable increment in protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, minerals and functional antioxidant phytochemicals compared to normal cultural condition. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of remarkable and progressive improvement of the proximate, nutritional and functional antioxidant phytochemicals control cultivation and non-saline soil conditions.

The interesting finding of this study is that responses of biochemical contents in different *A. tricolor* accessions were different. The accession, VA14 under salinity stress and VA14 and VA16 under drought stress performed better in terms of most of nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities. The maturity could have a great impact on the moisture content of *A. tricolor* leaves. The moisture contents obtained in this investigation were in full agreement with the reports on sweet potato leaves by Sun *et al.* [175]. Fats are sources of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. It helps in the digestion, absorption, and transport of fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K. Sun *et al.* [175] observed similar results from sweet potato leaves where they mentioned that fat involved in the insulation of body organs and in the maintenance of body temperature and cell function.

As lower moisture contents of leaves are associated with higher dry matter, the salt and drought-stressed plant yielded higher dry matter compared to control or NS. The highest contents of nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities at SSS or SWS conditions and the lowest values of these plant parameters in the control or NS appears that nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities in *A. tricolor* increased by salinity and drought stress in a dose-dependent manner. The increment nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities in *A. tricolor* increased by salinity and drought stress in a dose-dependent manner. The increment nutrients, minerals, dietary fiber, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant leaf pigments, antioxidant phytochemicals and antioxidant activities in *A. tricolor* at MSS or MWS and SSS or SWS could be contributed to human diet in the communities of saline prone area compared to control or non-saline area. Dietary fiber has a significant role in palatability, digestibility and remedy of constipation [151]. Vegetarian and poor people in many least developed Asian and African countries used *A. tricolor* as a source of protein. Plants cultivated in SSS or SWS had progressively higher energy than those

of MSS or MWS and control or NS. However, these differences may not impact significantly on energy contribution to the human body as low amounts of this vegetable consumed in a day. Like other leafy vegetables, the low carbohydrate content of *A. tricolor* may not have a significant impact on carbohydrate contribution to the human body considering the low amount of vegetable uptake per day and a very high daily requirement for the human body.

A remarkable observation of this investigation is that the content of protein is increased with plants grown in higher doses of salinity or higher drought stress. However, the trend of fat contents in plants under salinity and drought treatment was just opposite to the contents of protein. It indicates that both salinity or drought and accession had a complex influence on carbohydrate contents in *A. tricolor* plants. In an earlier study, Petropoulos *et al.* [117] demonstrated ameliorate response in carbohydrates, protein and fat content in *Cichorium spinosum* under salinity stress. Salt stress increased the protein, dietary fiber, energy, ash and carbohydrates content and decreased moisture and fat content of *A. tricolor* accessions. Therefore, amaranth produced saline or drought prone area and coastal belt could contribute as a good source of protein and fiber in the human diet

We observed that salinity stress influences the mineral compositions of A. tricolor accessions. Among the tested accessions, VA14 could be consider as Ca, K, Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn enrich accession, VA3 as Mg and VA12 as Na enrich accessions. In contrast, VA16 showed better performance for all mineral elements under drought stress. In A. tricolor, iron and zinc content is higher than that of the leaves of cassava [247] and beach pea [248]. Similarly, Jimenez-Aguiar and Grusak [246] reported high Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn (fresh weight basis) in different A. spp. including A. tricolor. They also reported that Amaranths had higher Zn content than black nightshade, spinach and kale; more Fe and Cu content than kale. Across salinity stress, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na content were sharply and significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress and Ca, Mg, K, S, Mn, Cu, Na, Mo, B content were sharply and significantly increased with the increment of drought stress in the following order: NS or < MSS < SSS. In contrast, it was noted that the severity of salinity stress leads to a significant reduction in K content in the following order: NS or control > MSS > SSS whereas drought stress leads to a significant reduction in P, Fe, Zn content in the following order: control > LWS > MWS > SWS. Hanson et al. [74] found decreasing trend in Fe content in Choysum variety whereas, they found an increasing trend in Kailaan variety from wet season to dry season trial. However, Hanson et al. [74] found decreasing trend in Zn content both in Choysum and Kailaan variety from wet season to dry season trial. These results were fully agreed with the findings of Petropoulos et al. [117] that observed similar increment in Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Zn and

Na and decrement in K content in *C. spinosum* leaves under salinity stress. They mentioned the high content of Na should be attributed to fertilizer application and salinity treatments and suggested that the species uses Na accumulation as a means to alleviate adverse effects of salinity. With the severity of salinity stress, all the macro and micro elements except K showed increasing trend, while K showed the declining trend with the severity salinity stress. For this, amaranth cultivated in salinity prone area and coastal belt could contribute as a good source of minerals in human diet compared to normal cultivation practices.

An important finding of the current study is that beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) of *A. tricolor* leaves were significantly augmented by the salt or drought stress at certain level. These important phytochemicals content was remarkably influenced by the accessions and accession  $\times$  salt concentration interactions. The accessions VA14 could be consider as TPC, beta-carotene, TAC, ascorbic acid, antioxidant enrich accession and VA12 as flavonoid enrich accession. In case of drought stress, VA14 could be consider as TPC, beta-carotene, TFC, ascorbic acid, antioxidant enrich accession and VA16 could be consider as TAC enriched accession. In the present study, we found great variations in the tested accessions in terms of TPC, beta-carotene, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) in different salinity or drought levels. Similarly, Alam *et al.* [122] reported pronounced variations in TFC, TPC, and TAC in different purslane accessions.

In our study, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increment of salinity stress in the following order: NS < MSS < SSS. Similarly, we found that beta-carotene, ascorbic acid content, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with increasing soil water stress in the following order: control < LWS < MWS < SWS. These findings were partly in agreement with findings of Hanson *et al.* [74], who observed an increasing trend in beta-carotene content in Choysum variety but found a decreasing trend in beta-carotene content in Kailaan variety and decreasing trend in ascorbic acid content in both varieties from wet to dry season trial. The reason might be due to the differences in varieties. Similarly, Siracusa *et al.* [76] in buckwheat, Gharibi *et al.* [77] in *Achillea* species observed increasing trend in polyphenol, flavonoid content and antioxidant activity with the reduction of soil water content. VA14 under SSS exhibited the highest beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while VA12 under SSS had the highest TFC. In contrast, the lowest beta-carotene, TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) was observed in VA12 under NS, while VA3 under NS showed the lowest ascorbic acid and TFC. When plants fall under salinity stress, reactive oxygen

species (ROS) are produced as a result of oxidative stress. ROS induces harmful effects on plant cells. As a result, defenses against ROS are activated by generation of an array of nonenzymatic antioxidants such as ascorbic acid (AsA) and beta-carotene [97]. Salinity stress induces mevalonic acid pathway which are responsible for biosynthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) from carotenoids to counteract the osmotic stress and regulate normal plant growth and development [246]. Therefore, salinity stress enhances the accumulation of beta-carotene due to induction of ABA. AsA and atocopherols play a crucial role in quenching intermediate/excited reactive forms of oxygen molecule directly or through catalysis of enzymes. AsA scavenges ROS (OH, SOR and <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> directly and reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water through ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Antioxidant ascorbate and total carotenoid had vital role in counterbalancing oxidative stress and manipulating homeostasis of ROS in plants [237]. Wouyou et al. [245] observed ameliorate response of vitamin A and vitamin C at 90 mM NaCl concentration in Amarantus cruentus leaves. Similarly, Petropoulos et al. [117] found an elevated response to phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity with the increase in salt stress in Cichorium spinosum. Alam et al. [118] observed that in purslane, different doses of salt concentrations increased total polyphenol content (TPC); total flavonoid content (TFC) and FRAP activity by 8-35%, 35% and 18-35%, respectively. Lim et al. [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM after 7 d of cultivation had 57%, 121% and 153%, respectively, higher phenolic content than that of the control. Ahmed et al. [247] reported the increment of phenolics and TAC (FRAP) with increasing NaCl concentrations in barley. In contrast, Neffati et al. [248] found decrement in polyphenols and TAC (DPPH) with increasing NaCl concentrations in coriander. The increment of TPC, TFC and TAC of A. tricolor in response to salinity stress may be due to increase in major phenolic compounds like salisylic acid, gallic acid, vanilic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, chlorogenic acid, m-coumaric acid, trans-cinnamic acid, iso-quercetin and rutin [212]. Previous studies have shown that biotic and abiotic stress stimulated phenylpropanoid pathway which accelerated the generation of most phenolic compounds [249, 250]. Stress-plants induce endogenous plant hormones like jasmonic acid and its methylated derivate (methyl jasmonic acid) [251]. These hormones sequentially induce phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes, including phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) [252]. These enzymes accumulated the phenolic compounds.

Both at salinity and drought stress, beta-carotene showed highly significant interrelationships with ascorbic acid, TAC (DPPH), TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) while, this trait had significant associations with TPC and TFC. Similarly, ascorbic acid revealed significant

interrelationships with TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). ascorbic acid interrelationships with TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Both beta-carotene and played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of *A. tricolor*. TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) significantly interrelated among each other. At drought stress, all the antioxidant pigments showed significant associations with each other. In Polyphenols and flavonoids of *A. tricolor* leaf establishing strong antioxidant activity. Alam *et al.* [118] reported the significant correlation of carotenoids, TPC, TFC with TAC (FRAP) in salt-stressed purslane. Gharibi *et al.* [77] observed positive association among TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in drought stressed *Achillea* species.

As leafy vegetables, A. tricolor leaves exhibited high moisture content. Nevertheless, it demonstrated a noble source of protein, dietary fiber, carbohydrates and ash. Moisture content was significantly reduced with the increment of drought stress in the following order: (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). As lower moisture contents of leaves ensured higher dry matter, the drought-stressed plant could be a promising source of dry matter compared to control condition. In LDS, MDS and SDS, protein, ash and dietary fiber content were augmented by (17%, 17% and 4%); (80%, 29% and 21%) and (118%, 38% and 28%); respectively over control condition. However, Siracusa et al. [76] observed a decrease in protein content at drought stress to fully irrigated in buckwheat. The genotypic variances between two crops might be contributed for the different results. A. tricolor is the sources of protein for vegetarian and poor people of the third world countries. Dietary fiber has a significant role in palatability, digestibility and remedy of constipation [151]. MDS condition had the highest fat content, and the lowest fat content was observed under SDS condition. Fats are sources of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. It helps in the digestion, absorption, and transport of fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K. Sun et al. [175] observed similar results in sweet potato leaves where they mentioned that fat involved in the insulation of body organs and in the maintenance of body temperature and cell function. Control had the highest carbohydrates content and it was gradually decreased in the order: control > LDS > MDS = SDS, which was statistically similar to MDS and SDS, respectively. Carbohydrate content sharply declined with the severity of drought stress. As a leafy vegetable, the low carbohydrate content of amaranth leaves has no a substantial effect in the daily diet of the human body. As regards energy balance, SDS exhibited remarkably higher calories compared to MDS, LDS and control conditions, while these variations have no remarkable impact on the daily diet of the human body, since very little amounts were consumed in the daily diet. Drought stress increased the protein, ash, energy, fat and dietary fiber content and reduced carbohydrate and moisture content of Amaranthus leaves.

For this, *Amaranthus* leafy vegetable might be produced in a semi-arid and dry area in the world could be contributed as a noble source of dietary fiber and vegetarian protein in the human diet.

Amaranth leaves are noble sources of minerals (macro and microelements). The mineral content of amaranth leaves was remarkably influenced by drought stress. Zinc and Fe content of A. tricolor are greater than that of the cassava leaves [176] and beach pea [177]. Similarly, Jimenez-Aguiar & Grusak [178] reported high Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn (fresh weight basis) in different A. spp. including A. tricolor. They also reported that Amaranths had higher Zn content than black nightshade, spinach and kale; more Fe and Cu content than kale. Ca, Mg, K, S, Cu, Na and Mo content were sharply and remarkably augmented with the severity of drought stress from MDS and SDS conditions showing the order: control = LDS < MDS <SDS. On the other hand, Hanson et al. [74] reported a decline in Ca content both in Choysum and Kailaan varieties from dry season to wet season trial. SDS exhibited the highest Ca, K, S, Mg, Mn, Na, Cu, Mo and B content, while control or LDS condition had the lowest Ca, S, K, Mg, Cu, Mn, Mo, Na and B content. In contrast, control or LDS condition had the highest Zn, P, and Fe content and SDS exerted the lowest P, Zn and Fe content. Likewise, Hanson et al. [74] recorded a decline in Fe content of Choysum variety, whereas they reported a sharp increment in Kailaan variety from dry season to wet season trial. Moreover, Hanson et al. [74] recorded a remarkable increment in Zn content both in Kailaan and Choysum variety from dry season to wet season trial. Except P, Fe and Zn, all the mineral contents were progressively raised with the increment of drought stress, whereas, Zn, Fe and P were sharply declined with the increment of drought stress. Therefore, A. tricolor cultivated in a drought-stressed area specifically in semi-arid and drought-prone area could be contributed as a noble source of minerals content in the daily diet of the human body related to usual farming practices.

Leaf color is one of the most important parameters for consumers, playing a crucial role in choice making, preference and acceptability of the product, and may also be considered as an indicator for estimating the antioxidant properties of the leafy vegetables [259]. High redness and yellowness values recorded in the genotype VA13 could be expected since it is characterized by the presence of the high pigments (anthocyanins, carotenoids, betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain). The results obtained in the present study were fully agreed with the results of Colonna *et al.* [259]. L\*, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, and total carotenoids were remarkably increased with the severity of salinity stress in the order, Control (No saline water) < Low salinity stress (LSS) < Moderate salinity stress (MSS) < Severe salinity stress (SSS). At LSS, MSS and SSS conditions, L\*, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain and total carotenoids were increased by (4%, 6%, 5%, 3%, 1% 2%, 0.91% & 2%), (10%, 13%, 11%, 9%, 5% 7%, 5% & 24%) and (13%, 25%, 17%, 17%, 9% 12%, 8% & 50%), respectively compared to control condition. Lim *et al.* [119] observed continuous increment in the level of carotenoids in response to all NaCl concentrations tested. They reported the greatest difference between the carotenoid content with 50 or 100 mM NaCl which was higher double than that of control sprouts, while treatment with 10 or 200 mM NaCl resulted 40% increase in carotenoids. Unlike other biotic and abiotic stresses, salinity stress induces biosynthesis of abscisic acid (ABA) from carotenoids via mevalonic acid pathway in order to regulate plant development in response to salinity tolerance. Thus, due to NaCl treatment, accumulation of carotenoids in the sprouts might be due to stimulation of the mevalonic acid pathway [119]. Alam *et al.* [118] reported both increment and decrement in total carotenoid contents in different accessions of purslane with the severity of salinity stress.

Leaf pigments of *A. tricolor* were statistically influenced by drought stress. Except total carotenoids, all the leaf pigments (Betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and chlorophyll *ab* content) were significantly and gradually reduced with the increasing the severity of drought stress (control > LDS > MDS > SDS). Likewise, Hsu and Kao [172] reported a decline in chlorophyll content with the increment of drought severity. They also stated that drought stress influenced growth and development of plant through osmotic stress, declining the water potential, reducing stomatal conductivity which limits CO<sub>2</sub> influx to leaves and unfavorable CO<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> ratio in chloroplasts, decreasing photosynthesis.

Beta-carotene, vitamin C content, TPC, TFC and TAC of *A. tricolor* were progressively influenced by drought stress or salinity stress. In this investigation, beta-carotene, vitamin C content, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) were significantly increased with the increasing of the severity of drought stress in the order: control < LDS < MDS < SDS and the severity of salinity stress were found in the order: Control < LSS < MSS < SSS. SDS or SSS condition had the highest beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC, (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>), while the control or NS condition exhibited the lowest beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Hanson *et al.* [74] reported an increase in beta-carotene content of Choysum variety. In contrast, they reported a declining trend in beta-carotene content of Kailaan variety and reduction in vitamin C content in both varieties from dry to wet season trial. The reason for reduction might be due to the genotypic variations in two different crops. Likewise, Gharibi *et al.* [77] in *Achillea* species and Siracusa *et al.* [76] in buckwheat, reported increment in antioxidant activity, polyphenol and flavonoid content with the severity of drought

stress. The ameliorate response of beta-carotene content with the severity of drought stress was also reported in Choysum varieties in dry season trial [74], and in perennial herbaceous [75]. Siracusa *et al.* [76] reported an increment of TPC, TFC in buckwheat with increasing the drought stress. Garibi *et al.* [77] also reported the enhancing response of TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity in *Achillea* species with the increment of drought stress. Similarly, Petropoulos *et al.* [117] found the elevated response of phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity with the increase in salt stress in *Cichorium spinosum*. Alam *et al.* [118] reported that different levels of salinity treatment resulted 8–35% increases in TPC; about 35% increase in TFC; and 18–35% increases in FRAP activity in purslane. Lim *et al.* [119] reported that buckwheat treated with 10, 50, and 100 mM after 7 d of cultivation were 57%, 121%, and 153%, higher phenolic content than that of the control, respectively. Ahmed *et al.* [247] reported increment in phenolics and TAC (FRAP) with increasing NaCl concentrations in coriander.

At both stresses, a total of sixteen phenolic compounds were identified including six hydroxybenzoic acids, seven hydroxycinnamic acids and three flavonoids. Trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in A. tricolor. Khanam & Oba [179] in red and green amaranths and Khanam et al. [174] in eight different leafy vegetables including amaranths described rest fifteen phenolic acids and flavonoids with normal cultivation practices. However, an attempt was made for the first time to study the effect of drought and salinity stress in antioxidant enriched and high yield potential A. tricolor genotype VA3 and VA13, in terms of sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids. Gallic acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid content of the genotype VA13 under control condition and gallic acid, vanilic acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid content of the genotype VA3 under control condition were higher than A. tricolor genotypes that reported by Khanam et al. [174]. Considering hydroxycinnamic acids, chlorogenic acid and trans-cinnamic acid were the most abundant compound followed by mcoumaric acid in VA13, while salicylic acid was found to be as one of the main phenolic acids followed by vanilic acid and gallic acid in VA3. A good amount of caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid and ferulic acid were also identified in both VA13 and VA3. The genotype VA3 had higher chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid and *m*-coumaric acid under control condition while the genotype VA13 had higher caffeic acid and m-coumaric acid compared to A. tricolor genotypes that reported by Khanam et al. [174]. The hydroxycinnamic acids synthesized from phenylalanine are the most extensively disseminated phenolic acids in plant tissues [180]. In plants, flavonoids occasionally occur as a glycone, although the most common forms are glycoside derivatives.

These compounds account for 60% of total dietary phenolic compounds [181]. Flavonols are the most prevalent flavonoids in the plant kingdom and glycosides of quercetin are the most predominant naturally occurring flavonols [181]. In this investigation, the flavonoids, rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) and isoquercetin (quercetin-3-glucoside) were the most abundant in both genotypes. The genotype VA3 and VA13 exhibited higher rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside) content under control condition in comparison to *A. tricolor* genotypes that reported by Khanam *et al.* [174]. In both genotypes, all the phenolic acids and flavonoids had the lowest concentrations under control condition, whereas these acids exhibited the highest concentrations under SDS or SSS conditions. Hence, *A. tricolor* cultivated in a drought and salinity-stressed area specifically in the semi-arid and salt and drought-prone area could be content and antioxidant activity in the daily diet of the human body related to usual farming practices.

Betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain had highly significant positive correlations among each other and with TPC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Significant association between TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) represented a crucial role of betacyanin, betaxanthin and betalain in the total antioxidant activity of A. tricolor leaves. Total carotenoids displayed significant relationships with beta-carotene, vitamin C, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) demonstrating the vital role of carotenoid pigments in the antioxidant activity. beta-carotene showed highly significant interrelationships with vitamin C, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) and significant association with TPC and TFC. It indicated that increase in beta-carotene was directly related to the increment of TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Similarly, vitamin C revealed significant interrelationship with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>). Both beta-carotene and vitamin C played a vital role in the antioxidant activity of A. tricolor. In contrast, vitamin C exerted negligible insignificant association with TPC and TFC. Jimenez-Aguilar and Grusak [178] found similar results for vitamin C in different species of Amaranthus. TPC, TFC and TAC (DPPH) were found significantly interrelated among each other. Alam et al. [118] also reported significant correlation of carotenoids, TPC, TFC with TAC (FRAP) in salt-stressed purslane. Significant positive interrelationship of TPC, TFC, TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) signify that TPC, TFC had strong antioxidant activity. Similarly, significant positive association between TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>) confirmed the validation of antioxidant capacity of A. tricolor by two different methods of antioxidant capacity measurement. Leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC and TFC had strong antioxidant

activity as these bioactive compounds showed significant association with TAC (DPPH) and TAC (ABTS<sup>+</sup>).

In the present study, several adaptive responses were observed in *Amaranthus tricolor* cultivars under four water deficit conditions. Tested cultivars exhibited some morphological, physiological and biochemical changes under different levels of drought. The tested cultivars had tremendous variability among studied ROS markers, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant parameters. Among studied cultivars, VA14 and VA16 had higher biomass, SLA, chlorophyll content, RWC, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant like, total carotenoids, free ascorbic acid, proline, TPC, TFC and TAC and lower oxidative stress responses due to less accumulation of stress markers like, MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and EL related to higher water use efficiency could be identified as a drought tolerant cultivar. These two cultivars could be used as drought tolerant cultivars or selected as tolerant parents to obtain more tolerant cultivar in hybridization programs.

Growth (biomass production) are the primary processes to be affected by drought [85]. In our investigation, growth reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, Amaranthus tricolor cultivars are able to grow. Our results agree with the findings of Achten et al. [188] in J. curcas who have observed that water withhold would arrest growth but maintaining plants at low soil water availability (40%) would allow them to continue growing, although at a slower rate than fully irrigated condition. Total biomass of all A. tricolor cultivars significantly reduced when exposed to drought stress, in terms of drought severity dependent manner, which indicated that drought stress depressed plant growth. Reduced biomass under severity of drought treatment could be attributed by inhibition of cell elongation and expansion, reduced turgor pressure, alteration of energy from growth to synthesis of compatible solutes to maintain cell turgor reduced water uptake resulting in a decrease in tissue water contents and trimming down the photoassimilation and metabolites required for cell division [189]. VA14 and VA16 had less growth inhibition and the highest sustainability in production compared to other cultivars under drought stress which suggested tolerance to drought. Our study demonstrated that SLA, an indicator of leaf thickness, had a significant decrease to the severity of drought stress in all cultivars. The reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, Amaranthus tricolor cultivars are able to maintain SLA. Similar trend of decline in SLA was observed by Guerfel et al. [190]. VA14 and VA16 exhibited higher SLA compared with other cultivars, suggesting the better performance to accumulate more dry mass per unit of leaf area under drought stress. We observed the positive

relationship between SLA and total biomass ( $r = 0.86^{**}$  Supplemental Table S1), suggested that salinity may also influence plant growth through reduction in specific leaf area.

Relative water content is useful variables to evaluate the physiological water status of plants and its metabolic activity and survival that could be used as an attribute for discriminating tolerant and sensitive plants under water deficit [191]. Amaranthus tricolor cultivars established drought-induced reduction of RWC with the severity of drought (P < 0.01). RWC reduction was observed under moderate and severe stress. This suggests that even at reduced soil water availability, Amaranthus tricolor cultivars are able to maintain RWC. Reduced turgor pressure, reduced water uptake due to shortage of available water in the soil caused by drought, hinder water uptake by roots, resulting in decrease of RWC in the leaves. In this investigation, a highly negative correlation between RWC and both proline and soluble protein contents was observed ( $r = -0.63^{**}$ ,  $r = -0.55^{*}$  Supplemental Table S1). It has also been extensively documented in several species that compatible solutes like free proline and soluble protein accumulation facilitate osmoregulation under drought stress [192]. VA14 and VA16 exhibited the higher leaf RWC under drought stress conditions, could be elucidated by a potential osmoregulation strategy due to the higher accumulation of compatible solutes in comparison to another cultivar studied. Thus, these two cultivars seem to be more efficient in terms of decreasing the cellular osmotic potential allowing the roots to absorb a sufficient amount of water to maintain cell turgidity and for improving potentiality in hydration status.

There was a significant difference in photosynthetic leaf pigment (chlorophyll *a*, *b* & *ab*) (p < 0.01) among all soil water deficit treatments and among all amaranth varieties. An increase in water deficit stress inhibiting chlorophyll synthesis which is supposed to occur at four consecutive stages: (I) the formation of 5-aminole-vuliniuc acid (ALA); (II) ALA condensation into porphobilinogen and primary tetrapyrrol, which is transformed into protochlorophyllide; (III) light-dependent conversion of protochlorophyllide into chlorophyllide; and (IV) synthesis of chlorophylls *a* and *b* along with their inclusion into developing pigment–protein complexes of the photosynthetic apparatus [193]. The observed decrease in photosynthetic leaf pigment under drought stress, also associated to free radical-induced oxidation of chlorophyll pigment [194], disruption of some chlorophyllase [195]. Lutts *et al.* [196] indicated that chlorophyll concentration in stressed tissues can be construed as an index of tissue tolerance to drought. In this study, VA16 and VA14 having more chlorophyll content than the other studied cultivars, it could be suggested that these cultivars are more drought tolerant than the others. The reduction of photosynthetic leaf pigment was

found lower in all cultivars, this may be due to present of antioxidant leaf pigment betalain (Betacyanin and betaxanthin) that absorbed significant amount of radiation and protected the drought stressed chloroplasts from harmful excessive light. These results were fully agreement with the results of Jain *et al.* [197]. They found that high betalain content in *Disphyma australe* showed physiologically more tolerant to salt stress. Moreover, betalain protects the drought stressed chloroplasts by reducing the ROS in thailakoids [198].

Drought stresses aggravate the production of ROS like superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, alkoxy radicals, singlet oxygen etc. resulting in oxidative damage in cell [199]. Mechanisms of ROS generation in biological systems are electron reduction (O<sub>2</sub>) at higher oxygen concentrations, initial activation of O<sub>2</sub> by xanthine oxidase, dis-mutation of the superoxide anion by superoxide dismutase to yield H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. ROS may react with proteins, lipids and DNA, causing oxidative damage and impairing the normal functions of cells. Various organelles including chloroplasts, mitochondria and peroxisomes are the seats as well as first target of ROS produced under drought stress [189]. In MDS and SDS, both MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content was remarkably increased that agreed with the results those observed in strawberry [200]. In the present investigation, extreme accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in MDS and SDS might have accelerated the Haber-Weiss reaction, resulting in hydroxyl radical (OH•) formation and therefore, resulting in serious lipid peroxidation and cell membrane damage [103]. The static ROS content from control to LDS might be due to inhibition of ROS generation in plant tissues and up-regulates ROS scavenging activity by active accumulation of excessive proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity that inhibited the increment of MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> content. Although the highest accumulation of proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC, antioxidant activity was noted in SDS condition compared to any stresses, but MDA and  $H_2O_2$  accumulation was also the highest. This might be likely that the vegetable amaranth fell in to severe stress and could not cope with damage caused by drought. Maintaining a balance between ROS production and scavenging is crucial under stressed conditions [201]. In our study, compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidants like proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and antioxidant activity was significantly increased as a protective mechanism under drought-stressed conditions from LDS to SDS to reduce the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA accumulation. The exposure of four cultivars in MDS and SDS exhibited differential increment of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA accumulation, this might be due to the differential responses of ROS (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, MDA) scavenging ability of these cultivars. Under MDS and SDS, less tolerant cultivar VA6 showed the highest H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA content showing that this cultivar experienced more lipid peroxidation and higher levels of cellular damage (Fig. 2a, 2b). This

cultivar also had the lowest compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant like proline total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC TFC and antioxidant activity compared to any cultivars. In contrast, tolerant cultivars VA16 and VA14 had low H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA content and alleviated the oxidative stress through transcriptional regulation of multiple defense pathways, such as compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant, antioxidant enzymes and the ASC-GSH cycle and improved the effects caused by drought stress through protecting ROS biosynthesis. (See compatible solute accumulation and non-enzymatic antioxidant section). Enhanced electrolyte leakage is considered to be a sign of destruction and deterioration under water stress. In this study, electrolyte leakage was remarkably increased with the drought severity. It indicated that cell electrolyte leakage could be used as a criterion to differentiate stress tolerant and susceptible cultivars and that in some cases lower electrolyte leakage could be correlated with abiotic stress tolerance. Furthermore, the observed dramatic increase in MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> under drought severity induced cellular membrane damage, which is demonstrated by an increase in EL. VA14 and VA16 showed lower electrolyte leakage can be used as tolerant cultivars. Moreover, MDA H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and EL showed the strong negative correlation observed with total biomass ( $r = -0.91^{**}$ ,  $r = -0.89^{**}$  and  $-0.79^{**}$  Supplemental Table S1) suggests that the drought induced lipid peroxidation and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> generation oxidative stress can be one of the reasons for inhibition of biomass production in A. tricolor plants.

One of the most common stress tolerance strategies in plants is the overproduction of different types of compatible organic solutes. Generally, they protect plants from stress through different means such as contribution towards osmotic adjustment, detoxification of ROS, stabilization of membranes, and native structures of enzymes and proteins [189]. In this study, the proline content of the leaves had significant (p < 0.01) and remarkable increase across all cultivars under all drought stresses. Highly significant negative correlations between the proline and soluble protein content in Amaranthus tricolor leaves and the biomass production  $(r = -0.66^{**} \text{ and } -0.61^{**}, \text{ respectively})$ , were observed (Supplemental Table S1). The highest proline accumulation in response to drought stress observed in VA14 and VA16 might be related to their competitive ability in a drought against oxidative stress. Proline have antioxidant activity, activates detoxification systems, contributes to cellular homeostasis by protecting the redox balance, and functions as protein precursor, an energy source for the stress recovery process (See ROS markers section). It mainly involved in protection against oxidative stress thus reduced lipid peroxidation resulting in in different plant species and had an essential role in stabilizing proteins and cellular membranes in plant cells in presence of high levels of osmolytes. In addition, proline induces expression of stress-induced responsive genes, activates

antioxidant enzymes [202]. Proline protects photosynthetic apparatus. In our study, proline accumulation is high that resulted in less decline of chlorophyll content (see photosynthetic leaf pigment section). Synthesis of stress proteins is a ubiquitous response to cope with prevailing stressful conditions including water deficit. Most of the stress proteins are soluble in water and therefore contribute towards the stress tolerance phenomena by hydration of cellular structures [189]. In our study, soluble protein didn't have any role in *A. tricolor* cultivar except of susceptible cultivar VA6 that had increasing trend of soluble protein.

Carotenoids have received little attention despite their capacity to scavenge singlet oxygen and lipid peroxy-radicals, as well as to inhibit lipid peroxidation and superoxide generation under dehydrative forces. A major protective role of carotenoids and beta-carotene in photosynthetic tissue may be through direct quenching of triplet chlorophyll, which prevents the generation of singlet oxygen and protects from oxidative damage and help plants to withstand adversaries of drought [189]. Total carotenoid is a lipophilic antioxidant and are able to detoxify various forms ROS [203]. Plants are able to release of excessive energy by thermal dissipation associated with an increase in the total carotenoid concentration in water stressed plants. This can be attributed to the activation of the xanthophyll cycle. Thus, presumed that the role of antioxidants and beta-carotene pigment in regulating photosynthetic electron transport is crucial [204]. Ascorbic acid (AA) is one of the powerful antioxidants [205]. Ascorbic acid along with vitamin E plays a key role in quenching intermediate/excited reactive forms of molecular oxygen either directly or through enzymatic catalysis. It allows enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defense system and thereby increased efficiency and contribution to ROS neutralization and balance. AA can directly scavenge superoxide, hydroxyl radicals and singlet oxygen and diminish H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water via ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Recently, dehydroascorbic acid has emerged as a signaling molecule regulating stomatal closure [207]. In this study, both total carotenoid and ascorbic acid had significant and remarkable (p < 0.01) increment across drought stresses and cultivars. These results were fully agreed with the results of Choysum in dry season trial by Hanson et al. [74], where, they found the elevated response of total carotenoid and ascorbic acid, respectively from control to drought stress. The highest total carotenoid and ascorbic acid was observed in VA16 and VA14, respectively under all water treatment conditions while, VA6 and VA11 exhibited the lowest total carotenoid and ascorbic acid, respectively (Fig. 4a, 4b). The increased content of ascorbic acid, indicates the crucial role of the ASC-GSH cycle for scavenging ROS in leaves of A. tricolor. Similarly, the drought tolerant, but not the sensitive cultivar, accumulated higher activities and transcripts of the ASC-GSH cycle.
Generally, accumulation of polyphenols which possess antioxidant properties is stimulated in response of ROS increases under biotic and abiotic stresses. They are plentiful present in plant tissues [205]. Polyphenols can chelate transition metal ions, can directly scavenge molecular species of active oxygen, and may quench lipid peroxidation by trapping the lipid alkoxyl radical. Furthermore, flavonoids and phenylpropanoids are oxidized by peroxidase, and act in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-scavenging, phenolic/AsA/POD system. In the present study, the increment of total polyphenol (TPC) and flavonoid content (TFC) were depended on degree of water stress (Fig 4c, 4d)). Reddy *et al.* [199] in higher plant reported ameliorate response of TPC and TFC under drought stress.

Total antioxidant activity is the combined results of all enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants activity in natural and/or biotic/abiotic stress. Tolerant plant genotypes usually have a better antioxidant content to protect them from oxidative stress by maintaining high antioxidant enzyme and antioxidant molecule activity and contents under stress conditions. Antioxidants protect the cells from free radicals and therefore have been considered as a method to improve plant defense responses [208]. Water stress can lead to elevation of reactive oxygen species and, therefore, higher amounts of antioxidant activity has a crucial role in maintaining the balance between the production and scavenging of free radicals [210]. The observed positive correlations among total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC (see supplementary Table S1) indicated that the increase in any one of these antioxidant activities was accompanied by an enhancement in each of the five antioxidant activity, presumably as a result of high demand for quenching H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. It can most likely be inferred that total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, TPC, TFC and TAC correspondingly organize in relation to each other.

The results of the present investigation suggested that *A. tricolor* is tolerant to drought stress. We select one tolerant and one sensitive *A. tricolor* genotype previously screened for drought stress based on morphological and physiological traits to elucidate key non-enzymatic, physiological, and antioxidant enzymatic defense mechanisms involved. The above defense mechanisms significantly varied in the tolerant and sensitive varieties as are discussed in detail in the following sections.

Growth is a primary process that affects drought [85]. Total biomass of both varieties of *A. tricolor* significantly declined to MDS and SDS conditions, in comparison with control treatment, indicating that drought stress declined the growth of both varieties. Whereas the tolerant variety showed less decline in total biomass. These results were in full agreement with the results of Sekmen *et al.* [220] who observed that the growth rate of tolerant M-503 cultivar

was less affected from drought treatments as compared to the sensitive 84-S cultivar. In our earlier study, we observed decrease in RWC and biomass reduction with the increment of drought stress [213]. Previous studies also have shown that drought stress inhibited growth and RWC in strawberry [97], xerophyte Capparis ovata [221] and cotton [220]. It might be accredited to prevent cell elongation and expansion [222, 223], reduction of turgor pressure, changes of energy from growth to biosynthesis of metabolites to preserve turgor pressure of cell, declines in absorption of water that ultimately reduces water content of cell and nitrogen assimilation [224, 225], reduces the photo-assimilation [226] and metabolites for cell division [189]. In the present investigation, an indicator of leaf thickness SLA had a sharp decline with the increment of drought stress in both varieties under MDS and SDS conditions in comparison with control treatment. Guerfel et al. in olive [190] and Sarker and Oba in Amaranthus [213] observed a similar trend of decline in SLA. Growth and SLA reduction in sensitive genotype VA15 were significantly higher than that of tolerant genotype VA13 under both MDS and SDS conditions i.e., VA13 showed better adaptation compared to VA15. Similarly, Zheng et al. [227] also found different adaptation in two genotypes of C. bungee. In this study, VA13 had more chlorophylls content and less decline in chlorophylls than VA15, suggesting that VA13 was more drought tolerant compared to VA15. Sarker and Oba [213] in A. tricolor, Shahbaz et al. [228] in wheat and Zhang and Kirkham [214] in sorghum and sunflower observed a decline in leaf chlorophyll contents under drought stress conditions. Drought stress induces the oxidation of chlorophyll pigment resulting in decrement of chlorophyll pigments [194], chloroplasts disruption or augmented activity of chlorophyllase [195]. A. tricolor has betacyanin and betaxanthin that absorb a substantial amount of radiation which ultimately protects chloroplasts from harmful excessive light under stressful condition [198]. In the present study, this might be the reason for lower chlorophyll reduction in both varieties. RWC is convenient attributes for assessing physiological hydration condition of crops and its metabolism and existence. It might be utilized for distinguishing between sensitivity and tolerance in drought-stressed crops [191]. Both A. tricolor varieties resulted in a drought-induced reduction of RWC under MDS and SDS conditions, compared to the control treatment, respectively, however, the reduction was more drastic in VA15 compared to VA13. In our previous studies, we also found similar results in A. tricolor [213]. Munne-Bosch and Penuelas [97] in strawberry, Ozkur et al. [221] in xerophyte Capparis ovata and Sekmen et al. [220] in cotton observed a similar decline in RWC under drought stress. Drought stress reduces turgor pressure, decreases available water in the soil, hampers roots water absorption, finally results in decrease in RWC of leaves. Under drought stress, VA13 exhibited

higher RWC; it might be due to probable osmoregulation approach and greater antioxidants accumulation under drought stress in comparison to VA15 [213]. Turkan *et al.* [229] and Cia *et al.* [230] showed that tolerant varieties have maintained better RWC under drought stress. Thus, VA13 seemed to be more capable to decrease the cellular osmotic pressure and to permit the roots for absorbing adequate water to sustain cell turgor pressure and for taming potentiality against hydration status.

Drought stresses intensify the manufacture of ROS like alkoxy radicals, O2<sup>•</sup>, singlet oxygen, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, OH• etc. which ultimately create oxidative stress in cell [213, 231]. Primary stimulation of O<sub>2</sub> by xanthine oxidase, O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> dismutation, electron reduction at higher O<sub>2</sub> level are the main mechanisms of ROS generation in plants [232]. ROS causes oxidative stress through damage DNA, lipids and proteins, Restricting the normal cell functions. Drought stress aggravates ROS production in chloroplasts, mitochondria and peroxisomes [86,189]. In our study, we found a substantial production of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, lipid peroxidation and increase in EL in the sensitive variety (VA15) of A. tricolor under drought stress. EL leakage was much greater in the sensitive variety (VA15) as compared to the tolerant variety (VA13). These results agreed with the results of our previous study in amaranth [213], Christou et al. [200] in strawberry and Chakraborty et al. [232] in groundnut. Our results clearly demonstrated that at similar drought stress, the sensitive A. tricolor accumulated more ROS compared to the tolerant variety. Hence the tolerant variety maintained the ROS to a relatively lower level than sensitive variety. In the present investigation, extreme accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at MDS and SDS in the sensitive variety might be due to acceleration of the Haber-Weiss reaction that causing formation of hydroxyl radical (•OH), hence, resulting in more MDA production and damage of cell membrane [89]. At stressful conditions, it is crucial to maintaining a balance between ROS assembly and detoxification [201]. In our study, drought-stressed conditions remarkably augmented nonenzymatic and enzymatic antioxidants by defensive techniques from MDS to SDS to lessen EL, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA accumulation. The tolerant cultivars VA13 had very low H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and MDA content. The tolerant cultivar improved the stressful condition by several protection ways, such as non-enzymatic antioxidant, antioxidant enzymes and AsA-GSH cycle which inhibited drought stress impact by protection of ROS generation. Under water stress, electrolyte leakage is considered to be a symbol of damage and descent [233]. In the present investigation, drought stress progressively enhanced electrolyte leakage. Hence, electrolyte leakage might be used to distinguish stress-susceptible and tolerant cultivars. Abiotic stress tolerance is associated with lower electrolyte leakage. The Severity of drought-induced progressive increment in MDA and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> that enhanced the damage of cell membrane in the sensitive variety and demonstrated by a sharp increase in EL. Tolerant genotype VA13 showed lower electrolyte leakage compared to sensitive genotype.

Proline content of both the varieties was significantly increased under MDS and SDS conditions, whereas the increment was greater in the sensitive variety VA15 compared to tolerant variety VA13. It is evident from the results that proline had no significant role in the mechanisms of drought stress tolerance in A. tricolor, as a functional osmolyte and antioxidant for adjustment of osmotic stress and ROS detoxification in A. tricolor as it accumulates to higher levels in the drought-sensitive variety. Nayyar and Walia [234] and Tatar and Gevrek [235] in wheat, Zheng et al. [227] Catalpa bungee observed proline increment under drought stress. Carotenoids are capable to scavenge lipid peroxy-radicals and singlet oxygen and inhibit superoxide generation and lipid peroxidation under drought stress [189]. Total carotenoids are lipophilic antioxidants that are capable to purify different types of ROS [203]. In plants, total carotenoid usually absorbs light at 400 and 550 nm and transfer the apprehended energy to the chlorophyll [236]. Carotenoids can act as an antioxidant that inhibits oxidative damage by scavenging <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, quenching triplet sensitizer (3Chl\*), exciting chlorophyll (Chl\*) and protecting the photosynthetic apparatus. Ascorbate (AsA) is one of the powerful antioxidants [205]. AsA and atocopherols predominately quench O<sub>2</sub> straightly or by enzymes catalysis. It permits non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidative ROS detoxification. AsA scavenges OH, SOR and <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> directly and reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to water through ascorbate peroxidase reaction [206]. Antioxidant ascorbate and total carotenoid had a vital role in counterbalancing oxidative stress and manipulating homeostasis of ROS in plants [237]. Our results showed that the total carotenoid level was increased in VA13, while the decrement of this compound was observed in VA15. In the tolerant variety VA13, had a remarkable rise in ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbate-glutathione redox status, while the sensitive variety VA15 exhibited negligible increment of ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbate-glutathione redox status. For instance, drought and salt stress increased the activity of ascorbate-glutathione content and ascorbateglutathione redox status in pea [238], wheat [239], sorghum and sunflower [214], Catalpa bungee [227], strawberry [97] and groundnut [232], particularly for tolerant lines under water deprivation condition. The AsA-GSH content, AsA-GSH redox status specifies the essential part of the AsA-GSH cycle for detoxification of ROS in the tolerant A. tricolor. Similarly, Hernandez et al. [238] reported that salinity stress accumulated higher transcripts of the AsA-GSH cycle in the tolerant variety compared to the sensitive variety.

Drought stress generated superoxide from photosynthetic and respiratory electron leakage in chloroplast. Superoxide dismutase (SOD) enzyme dismutated superoxide into  $H_2O_2$ .

H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was decomposed by different peroxidases such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione peroxidase (GPX) and phenol peroxidase [86] into the water by using various reducing agents. In contrast, catalase (CAT) mostly decomposed photorespiration mediated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the peroxisome [91]. In this study, we found that drought stress induced CAT and SOD activities in both varieties whereas, CAT and SOD activities were much greater in the tolerant variety VA13 compared to sensitive variety VA15, suggesting role of CAT and SOD in drought tolerance in A tricolor by detoxification of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and activating dismutation reaction to alter SOR to hydrogen peroxide, respectively. These results agreed to results of Ben Amor et al. in halophyte Cakile maritima [240] where they interrelated in increased SOD activity with plant salt tolerance. Khanna-Chopra and Selote [239] in wheat, Ozkur et al. [221] in Capparis ovata, Zhang and Kirkham [214] in sorghum and sunflower and Chakraborty et al. [232] in groundnut observed enhanced activities of SOD, POX and CAT under drought and salt stress. Sekmen et al. [220] found that the sensitive genotype 84-S associated with decreased activities of catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) to combined stress while the tolerant genotype M-503 was associated with higher activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and induced CAT and POX at combined drought and heat stress. In contrast, GPOX had significant and remarkable increasing activity under drought stress, in both varieties, while sensitive variety, VA15 exhibited the highest increase compared to VA13 at all drought stress treatments. Drought stress accelerated higher GPOX increase in the sensitive variety compared to the tolerant variety; it is clearly evident that GPOX had a significant role in enhancing APX activity in the sensitive variety at greater H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration. There was a slight and negligible increase in GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR activity in sensitive variety VA15 under drought stress, while tolerant variety VA13 exhibited the greatest dramatic increase in GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR activity under drought stress. Hernandez et al. [238] in pea found increased activities of GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR while Chakraborty et al. [232] in groundnut showed APX increment under salt stress. Similarly, Khanna-Chopra and Selote [239] and Ozkur et al. [221] found that increased activities of APX and GR were associated with drought stress. It indicated that at lower H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> load, GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR performed as a main ROS scavenging enzyme in A. tricolor under drought stress that may have related to satisfactory regulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the tolerant variety VA13. Increase in AsA-GSH content, reduced AsA-GSH redox status accompanied by AsA-GSH cycle enzymes such as GR, MDHAR, APX and DHAR, clearly evident that AsA-GSH cycle played a crucial role for scavenging ROS in the tolerant variety of A. tricolor. Abogadallah et al. [241] reported APX-

GR as the main  $H_2O_2$  detoxifier at low  $H_2O_2$  load and performed as a satisfactory controller for ROS balancing in barnyard grass under salt stress.

## SUMMARY

47 vegetable amaranth genotypes from different eco-geographic regions of Bangladesh were evaluated under two separate sub-experiments to investigate variability and diversity in nutritional such as antioxidant vitamins and minerals composition, protein, leaf quality such as fiber, yield and yield contributing morphological traits. Genetic variability and diversity were studied in a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with three replications at Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University in Bangladesh. The experiments were conducted to study the degree of genetic parameters, associations among different traits, and the direct and indirect contribution of different traits towards foliage yield. The analysis of variances for all the traits were found highly significant indicating wide range of genetic variability and diversity among traits. High mean value, high range of variability and high genotypic variance were observed for all the traits except content of Ca, protein and betacarotene. Vegetable amaranth was rich in iron, zinc, manganese, magnesium and potassium. Ten strains gave the best (more than 5 kg) foliage yield with rich in antioxidant minerals and vitamins. Selection of these genotypes would be economically useful for antioxidant vitamins, minerals and yield aspects. On the other hand, eight genotypes had high amounts of antioxidant vitamins and minerals with below average foliage yield and could be utilized as donor parents for introgression of genes in vitamins and minerals deficient lines. Close differences between genotypic and phenotypic variances and genotypic and phenotypic coefficients of variation were observed for all the traits.

High to moderate genotypic coefficients of variation and heritability coupled with high to moderate genetic advance in percent of mean was observed for all the traits. Considering genetic parameters K, Fe, Zn, Mn, ascorbic acid, plant height, diameter of stem base, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, fiber content and foliage yield would be selected for the improvement of vegetable amaranth genotypes under study. However, correlation study revealed that selection based on Fe, Mn, ascorbic acid, protein, fiber content, plant height, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> and stem base diameter could lead to increase in foliage yield of vegetable amaranth genotypes. Insignificant genotypic correlations between foliage yield with most of the antioxidant vitamins and minerals traits indicating that selection for high vitamins and minerals content might be possible without compromising yield loss. Therefore, concomitant selection for high nutrient, antioxidant and high foliage yield would be effective for improvement of the vegetable amaranth. Based on mean, genetic parameters and correlation coefficient values, five vegetable amaranth genotypes i. e., AA19, AA10, AA3, AA24 and AA7 might be selected as high vitamin

and minerals containing high yielding vegetable amaranth varieties. Fiber content, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, plant height, and stem base diameter had high positive direct effects and Fe, Mn, and carotenoid exhibited moderate positive direct effects on foliage yield. Based on mean, range, genetic parameters, correlation coefficient and path coefficient values, direct selection through Fe, Mn, fiber content, plant height and diameter of stem base, leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> would significantly improve the foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. On the other hand, concomitant selection based on high nutrient and antioxidant content and high foliage yield would be effective selection method for improvement of vegetable amaranth.

Forty-three vegetable amaranth (Amaranthus tricolor L.) genotypes were selected from 102 genotypes based on our previous studies. The genotypes were evaluated under four separate sub-experiments for genetic variability, diversity, heritability, genetic association among mineral elements, quality and agronomic traits as well as for genetic variability in terms of total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments vitamins and foliage yield in randomized complete block design (RCBD). Vegetable amaranth was a rich source of K, Ca, Mg, proteins and dietary fiber with average values among the 43 genotypes (1.014%, 2.476%, 2.984, 1.258% and 7.81%, respectively). It was also rich in chlorophylls, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, carotene, ascorbic acid and total antioxidant. Six genotypes (VA13, VA14, VA16, VA18, VA26, VA27) showed a biological yield  $> 2000 \text{ g/m}^2$  and high mineral, protein and dietary fiber contents; eleven genotypes had high amount of minerals, protein and dietary fiber with above average biological yield; nine genotypes had below average biological yield but were rich in minerals, protein and dietary fiber. The genotypes VA14, VA16, VA18, VA15, and VA20 could be selected as amaranth vegetable varieties with high yields and abundance antioxidant leaf pigments and vitamins to produce juice. The genotypes VA13 and VA19 had above-average foliage yield and high antioxidant profiles while the genotypes VA2, VA3, VA9, VA11, VA12, and VA17 had a high antioxidant profiles and below-average foliage yield. These genotypes could be used as a donor parent for integration of potential high antioxidant profiles genes into other genotypes. The correlation study revealed a strong positive association among leaf area, shoot weight, shoot/root weight, stem base diameter, all the antioxidant leaf pigments, total antioxidant capacity and foliage yield. Insignificant genotypic correlation was observed among mineral, quality and agronomic traits, except K vs. Mg, protein vs. dietary fiber and stem base diameter vs. Ca. Total carotene and ascorbic acid exhibited insignificant genotypic correlation with all the traits except total antioxidant capacity. This indicates that selection for mineral, protein, dietary fiber content, antioxidant vitamins might be possible without compromising yield loss. On the other hand, most of the interrelationships among antioxidant leaf pigments traits indicated that improving of one antioxidant leaf pigment significantly improved the other antioxidant leaf pigments.

On the other hand, these genotypes were evaluated to determine the status of total antioxidant content, polyphenol, flavonoid, antioxidant vitamins and minerals, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits and the magnitude of genetic diversity based on the contribution of those traits for meaningful grouping and proper utilization in future breeding program. Multivariate (Principal component and cluster) analysis was done using numerical taxonomic techniques of Sneath, & Sokal. Four principal components contributed 98.61% of the variation. Biological yield and total antioxidant content was strongly associated with their related all agronomic traits. Total flavonoid content had a higher contribution to total antioxidant capacity compared to vitamin and mineral antioxidants. Contribution of antioxidant profile and agronomic traits was the highest in diversity of vegetable amaranth. Both high and low yielding genotypes had a high antioxidant profile. Therefore, high yielding genotypes (From cluster VI) could be used directly as high antioxidant profile varieties and low yielding genotypes as a source of donor parents in hybridization program. Cluster analysis grouped the genotypes into six clusters. The diverse genotypes in different clusters were identified. Genotypes with desirable genes of one cluster hybridized with promising genotypes of other diverge clusters could facilitate the accumulation of favorable genes in hybrids.

Four selected vegetable amaranths were grown under four soil water content to evaluate their response in nutrients, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid and total antioxidant activity (TAC). Vegetable amaranth was significantly affected by variety, soil water content and variety × soil water content interactions for all the traits studied. Increase in water stress, resulted in significant changes in proximate compositions, minerals (macro and micro), leaf pigments, vitamin, total polyphenol content (TPC), and total flavonoid content (TFC) of vegetable amaranth. Accessions VA14 and VA16 performed better for all the traits studied. Correlation study revealed a strong antioxidant scavenging activity of leaf pigments, ascorbic acid, TPC and TFC. Vegetable amaranth can tolerate soil water stress without compromising the high quality of the final product in terms of nutrients and antioxidant profiles. Therefore, it could be a promising alternative crop in semi-arid and dry areas and also during dry seasons.

Bioactive compounds, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids of *A. tricolor* are the sources of natural antioxidant that had a great importance for the food industry as these detoxify ROS in the human body. These natural antioxidants protect human from many diseases such as cancer, arthritis, emphysema, retinopathy, neuro-degenerative cardiovascular diseases,

atherosclerosis and cataracts. Moreover, previous literature has shown that drought stress elevated bioactive compounds, vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in many leafy vegetables. Hence, previous literature grew much interest to study nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity of amaranth under drought stress for evaluation of the significant contribution of these compounds in the human diet. The genotype VA3 was assessed at four drought stress levels that significantly affected nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant capacity. Protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, K, Cu, S, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, B content, total carotenoids, TFC, vitamin C, TPC, TAC (DPPH), beta-carotene, TAC (ABTS+), sixteen phenolic acids and flavonoids were remarkably increased with the severity of drought stress. At moderate and severe drought stress conditions, the increments of all these components were more preponderant. Trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenolic acid in A. tricolor. Salicylic acid, vanilic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, trans-cinnamic acid, rutin, isoquercetin, mcoumaric acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid were the most abundant phenolic compounds in this genotype. In A. tricolor, drought stress enhanced the quantitative and qualitative improvement of nutritional and bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. Hence, farmers of semi-arid and dry areas of the world could be able to grow amaranth as a substitute crop.

Four selected *A. tricolor* cultivars were grown under four irrigation regimes (25, 50, 80, and 100% field capacity) to evaluate the mechanisms of growth and physiological and biochemical responses against drought stress in randomized complete block design with three replications. Drought stress led to decrease in total biomass, specific leaf area, relative water content (RWC), photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, chlorophyll ab), and soluble protein and increase in MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, EL, proline, total carotenoid, ascorbic acid, polyphenols, flavonoids, and antioxidant activity. However, responses of these parameters were differential in respect to cultivars and the degree of drought stresses. No significant difference was observed in control and LDS for most of the traits. The cultivars VA14 and VA16 were identified as more tolerant to drought and could be used for further evaluations in future breeding programs and new cultivar release programs. Positively significant correlations among MDA, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, compatible solutes, and non-enzymatic antioxidant (proline, TPC, TFC, and TAC) suggested that compatible solutes and non-enzymatic antioxidant played vital role in detoxifying of ROS in *A. tricolor* cultivar. The increased content of ascorbic acid indicated the crucial role of the ASC–GSH cycle for scavenging ROS in A. tricolor.

The study was evaluated to explore physiological, non-enzymatic and enzymatic detoxification pathway of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in tolerance of A. tricolor under drought stress. The tolerant genotype VA13 exhibited lower reduction in growth, photosynthetic pigments, relative water content (RWC) and negligible increment in electrolyte leakage (EL), lower increment in proline, guaiacol peroxidase (GPOX) activity compared to sensitive genotype VA15. This genotype also had higher catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD), remarkable and dramatic increment in ascorbate-glutathione content, ascorbateglutathione redox and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activity compared to sensitive genotype VA15. The negligible increment of ascorbate-glutathione content, ascorbateglutathione redox and ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activities and dramatic increment in malondialdehyde (MDA), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and EL were observed in the sensitive genotype VA15. SOD contributed superoxide radical dismutation and CAT contributed H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detoxification in both sensitive and tolerant varieties, however, these had a great contribution in the tolerant variety. Conversely, proline and GPOX accumulation was higher in the sensitive variety compared to the tolerant variety. Increase in ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzymes activities, CAT, ascorbate-glutathione content, SOD, and ascorbate-glutathione redox clearly evident that CAT, ascorbate-glutathione cycle and SOD played a vital role in detoxification of ROS in the tolerant variety of A. tricolor.

Response of nutrients, dietary fiber, minerals, antioxidant phytochemicals and total antioxidant activity in three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes to varying salinity stress were investigated. The biochemical contents and antioxidant activity in *A. tricolor* leaves were significantly influenced by salt stress. Protein, ash, energy, dietary fiber, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, Na, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (DPPH) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (ABTS+) in leaves were remarkably increased at 50 mM and 100 mM NaCl concentrations. Contents of vitamins, polyphenols and flavonoids showed a good antioxidant activity due to positive and significant interrelationships with total antioxidant capacity. It revealed that *A. tricolor* can tolerate a certain level of salinity stress without compromising the nutritional quality of the final product. Taken together, our results suggest that *A. tricolor* could be a promising alternative crop for farmers, especially in salinity prone areas- in the tropical and sub-tropical regions.

*A. tricolor* is a unique source of betalain (betacyanin and betaxanthin), source of natural antioxidants like leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid in leafy vegetables. It had a great importance for the food industry as these compounds detoxify ROS in human and

involved in defense against several diseases. Moreover, previous literature has shown that salt stress elevated these compounds in many leafy vegetables. So, we evaluated the effect of salinity stress of these compounds in amaranth. Three selected *A. tricolor* genotypes were studied under three salinity stress to evaluate the response of these compounds. Genotype, salinity stress and genotype  $\times$  salinity stress interactions significantly affected all the studied traits. A significant and remarkable increment in L, a\*, b\*, chroma, betacyanin, betaxanthin, betalain, total carotenoids, beta-carotene, ascorbic acid, total polyphenol content, total flavonoid content, total antioxidant capacity were observed under 50 mM and 100 mM NaCl concentrations. Bioactive leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, phenolics and flavonoids showed good antioxidant activity due to positive and significant interrelationships with total antioxidant capacity. *A. tricolor* can tolerate salinity stress without compromising the high quality of the final product. Therefore, it could be a promising alternative crop in saline-prone areas around the globe.

A. tricolor genotype VA13 was evaluated under four salinity stress in terms of color parameters, leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC, TAC, phenolic acids and flavonoids. Salinity stress significantly increases all the studied traits. The increments of all these compounds were high under moderate and severe salinity stress compared to control condition. In this study, trans-cinnamic acid was newly identified phenoic acid in A. tricolor. Salicylic acid, vanilic acid, trans-cinnamic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, rutin, isoquercetin and *m*-coumaric acid were the most abundant phenolic compounds of amaranth that increased with the severity of salinity stress. A. tricolor leaves are good source of pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. In salt-stressed amaranth, correlation studies revealed strong antioxidant activity of leaf pigments, beta-carotene, vitamin C, TPC, TFC. These bioactive compounds played a vital role in scavenging ROS and could be beneficial to human nutrition by serving as a good antioxidant and antiaging source in human health benefit. A. tricolor cultivated under salinity stress conditions can contribute a high quality of the final product in terms of leaf pigments, bioactive compounds, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidants. It can be a promising alternative crop in saline-prone areas.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author expresses his utmost and deepest and sincere gratitude to the God to whom all praises to enable him to carry out and successful completion of this PhD dissertation research and completion of PhD degree.

The author expresses his deepest sense of gratitude, sincere appreciation and best regards to Professor Dr. Shinya Oba, Advisor and Supervisor of the PhD dissertation research, The United Graduate School of Agricultural Science, Laboratory of Field Science, Faculty of Applied Biological Sciences, Gifu University, Yanagido 1-1, Gifu, Japan for his excellent guidance and supervision, valuable advice, exclusive suggestions, sympathetic encouragement, constructive criticism and constant inspiration during the entire period of research and facilitating the provisions of facilities and supports needed to undertake this research work.

Immense indebtedness, heartfelt gratitude and sincere appreciation are extended to Professor Dr. Golam Rabbani, Department of Horticulture, Bangladesh Agricultural University (BAU) and Professor Dr. Md. Tofazzal Islam, Department of Biotechnology, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural (BSMRAU) for their moral support and valuable suggestion.

The author expressed his gratitude to all laboratory staffs of different departments of BSMRAU including Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding and different laboratory of other institutions for their help and friendliness during laboratory study for dissertation research.

The author would like to express his thanks to his all friends and well-wishers for their cooperation, cheerfulness and inspirations and encouragement throughout the dissertation research.

The author acknowledges with great regards and dedicated this research dissertation to his father Late Umesh Chandra Sarker, beloved mother Late Sarada Debi Sarker, wife Mrs. Anita Bardhan, Son Uddom Sarker Sparsha and Daughter Niladri Sarker Abriti for their blessings, continuous inspiration, all out sacrifice and moral support throughout the entire period of his dissertation research.

The author gratefully acknowledges Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS)-RONPAKU authority for providing their financial support through fellowship for completion of the PhD dissertation.

## REFERENCES

- Grubben, G. J. H. and Van Sloten, D. H. (1981). Genetic Resources of Amaranths. Intl. Board for Plant Genetic Resources, Food Agric Org., Rome, Italy, 57 p.
- 2) Martin, F. W. and Telek, L. (1979). Vegetables for the Hot Humid Tropics. Part 6: Amaranth and Celosia. U.S. Dept of Agric, New Orleans, LA, pp. 1-21.
- Prakash, D. and Pal, M. (1991). Nutritional and anti-nutritional composition of vegetable and grain amaranth leaves. J Sci Food Agric. 57, 573-583.
- Shukla, S., Pandey, V., Pachauri, G., Dixit, B. S., Banerji, R. and Singh, S. P. (2003). Nutritional contents of different foliage cuttings of vegetable amaranth. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 58, 1-8.
- 5) Singh, B. P. and Whitehead, W. F. (1996). Management methods for producing vegetable amaranth. In: Janick J, editor. Progress in New Crops. Arlington, VA, USA: ASHS Press, pp. 511-515.
- 6) Venskutonis, P. R. and Kraujalis, P. (2013). Nutritional Components of Amaranth Seeds and Vegetables: A Review on Composition, Properties, and Uses. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Sci and Food Saf. 12, 381-412.
- 7) Shukla, S., Bhargava, A., Chatterjee, A., Srivastava, J., Singh, N. and Singh, S. P. (2006a). Mineral profile and variability in vegetable amaranth (Amaranthus tricolor). Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 61, 23-28.
- B. (2007). Antioxidant activity of some leafy vegetables of India: A comparative study. Food Chem. 101, 471-474.
- 9) Wu-Leung, F., Busson, C. and Jardin, C. (1968). Food Composition Table for Use in Africa.
   Rome, Italy: FAO. 306 pp
- Makus, D. J. (1990). Composition and nutritive value of vegetable amaranth as affected by stage of growth, environment and method of preparation. In: Proceedings of Fourth Amaranth Symposium. St. Paul, MN, USA: Minnesota Agricultural University, pp. 35-46.
- 11) Sokkanha, S. and Tiratanakul, V. (2006). Effect of plastic vinyl cover and shading on the antioxidants level of selected indigenous vegetables. In: 24 Regional Training Courses in Vegetable Production, Research and Extension. Bangkok, Thailand: Asian Vegetable Research and Development Centre.
- 12) Ali, M. B., Khandaker, L. and Oba, S. (2009). Comparative study on functional components, antioxidant activity and color parameters of selected colored leafy vegetables as affected by photoperiods. J Food Agri Environ. 7(3&4), 392-398.

- 13) Gupta, S. and Prakash, J. (2009). Studies on Indian green leafy vegetables for their antioxidant activity. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 64, 39-45.
- 14) Olayinka, O. A., Kareem, I., Ariyo, S. O. and Oyebanj, A. (2012). Antioxidant contents (vitamin c) of raw and blanched different fresh vegetable samples. Food and Nutri Sci. 3, 8-21.
- 15) Swaran, J. S. F. (2009). Structural, chemical and biological aspects of antioxidants for strategies against metal and metalloid exposure. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2(4), 191-206.
- 16) Routray, R., Kar, M. and Sahu, R. K. (2012). Valuation of antioxidant potential in selected leafy vegetables of Odisha, India. Int J Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sci. 5(1), 232-235.
- 17) Katiyar, R. S., Shukla, S. and Rai, S. (2000). Varietal performance of grain amaranth (A. *hypochondriacus*) on sodic soil. Proc Nat Acad Sci. 70, 185-187.
- 18) Shukla, S. and Singh, S. P. (2000). Studies on genetic parameters in vegetable amaranth. Indian J Genet Pl Breed. 54, 133-135.
- 19) Shukla S, Bhargava A, Chatterjee A, Srivastava A, Singh SP. (2006b). Genotypic variability in vegetable amaranth (*A. tricolor*) for foliage yield and its contributing traits over successive cuttings and years. Euphytica. 151, 103–110.
- Sukhchain, S. D. and Saini, G. S. (1997). Inter-relationships among cane yield and commercial cane sugar and their component traits in autumn plant crop of sugarcane. Euphytica, 95, 109-113.
- Lopez, A. F. S., Firpo, I. T., Garcia, S. M. and Cointry, E. L. (1998). Estimation of genetic parameters for yield traits in globe artichoke (*Cynara scolymus* L.). Euphytica. 103, 61-66.
- 22) Finne, M. A., Rognli, O. A. and Schjelderup, I. (2000). Genetic variation in a Norwegian germplasm collection of white clover (*Trifolium repens* L.). Euphytica. 112, 57-68.
- 23) Shukla, S., Bhargava, A., Chatterjee, A., Pandey, A. C., Rastogi, A. and Kumar, A. (2010a). Genetic interrelationship among nutritional and quantitative traits in the vegetable amaranth. Crop Breed Appl Biotechnol. 10, 16–22.
- 24) Kempthorne, O. (1957). An Introduction to Genetical Statistics. John Wiley and Sons. Inc., New York, 545 p.
- 25) Miller, P. J., Williams, J. C., Robinson, H. F. and Comstock, R. E. (1958). Estimates of genotypic and environmental variances and covariances in upland cotton and their implications in selection. Agron. J. 50, 126-131.

- 26) Panse, V. G. (1957). Genetics of quantitative characters in relation to plant breeding. Indian J Genet. 17, 318-328.
- 27) Wright, S. (1921). Correlation and Causation. J Agric Res. 20, 557-587.
- 28) Dewey, D. R. and Lu, K. H. (1959). A correlation and path coefficient analysis of components of crested wheat grass seed production. Agron J. 51, 515-518.
- 29) Thompson, J. A., Nelson, R. L. and Vodkin, L. O. (1998). Identification of diverse soybean germplasm using RAPD markers. Crop Sci. 38, 1348-1355.
- 30) Cai, Y., Sun, M. and Corke, H. (2003). Antioxidant activity of betalain from plants of the amaranthaceae. J Agric Food Chem. 51, 2288–2294.
- 31) Dantas, R. L., Silva, S. M., Brito-Primo, D. M., Sousa, A. S. B., Brito, E. S. and Macedo, E. M. S. (2015). Changes during maturation in the bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of Opuntia stricta (Haw.) fruits. Acta Hort. 1067, 159-165.
- 32) Herbach, K. M., Stintzing, F. C. and Carle, R. (2006). Betalain stability and degradation structural and chromatic aspects. J Food Sci. 71, R41–R50.
- 33) Stintzing, F.C. and R. Carle (2004). Functional properties of anthocyanins and betalain in plants, food, and in human nutrition. Trends Food Sci. Tech. 15, 19-38.
- 34) Stintzing, F. C. and Carle, R. (2007). Betalain Emerging prospects for food scientists. Trends Food Sci Technol. 18, 514–525.
- 35) Repo-Carrasco-Valencia, R., Hellstrom, J. K., Pihlava, J. M. and Mattila, P. H. (2010). Flavonoids and other phenolic compounds in Andean indigenous grains: Quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa*), kaniwa (*Chenopodium pallidicaule*) and kiwicha (*Amaranthus caudatus*). Food Chem. 120, 128–133.
- 36) Azerado, H. M. C. (2009). Betalain: properties, sources, applications and stability a review. Intl. Food Sci. Tech. 44, 2365–2376.
- 37) Pavokovic, D. and Krsnik-Rasol, M. (2011), Complex biochemistry and biotechnological production of betalain. Food Tech Biotech. 49, 145–155.
- 38) Esatbeyoglu, T., Wagner, A. E., Schini-Kerth, V. B. and Rimbach, G. (2015). Betanin A food colorant with biological activity. Mol Nutri Food Res. 59, 36–47.
- 39) Zou, D., Brewer, M., Garcia, F., Feugang, J. M., Wang, J., Zang, R., Liu, H. and Zou, C. (2005). Cactus pear: a natural product in cancer chemoprevention. Nutri. J. 4, 25 doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-4-25.
- 40) Szaefer, H., Krajka-Kuzniak, V., Ignatowicz, E., Adamska, T. and Baer-Dubowska, W.
   (2014). Evaluation of the effect of beetroot juice on DMBA-induced damage in liver and mammary gland of female Sprague-Dawley rats. Phytotheraphy Res. 28, 55–61.

- 41) Wroblewska, M., Juskiewicz, J. and Wiczkowski, W. (2011). Physiological properties of beetroot crisps applied in standard and dyslipidaemic diets of rats. Lipids in Health and Disease. 10, 178.
- 42) Canadanovic, B. J. M., Savatovic, S. S. and Cetkovic, G. S. (2011). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of beet root pomace extracts. Czech J Food Sci. 29, 575–585.
- 43) Schwartz, S. J. and Von-Elbe, J. H. (1980). Quantitative determination of individual betacyanin pigments by high-performance liquid chromatography. J Agric Food Chem. 28, 540–543.
- 44) Kanner, J., Harel, S. and Granit, R. (2001). Betalain A new class of dietary cationized antioxidants. J Agric Food Chem. 49, 5178–5185.
- 45) Butera, D., Tesoriere, L. and Gaudio, F. (2002). Antioxidant activities of sicilian prickly pear (*Opuntia ficus* indica) fruit extracts and reducing properties of its betalain: Betanin and indicaxanthin. J Agric Food Chem. 50, 6895–6901.
- 46) Tesoriere, L., Butera, D., D'arpadi, D., Gaudio, F., Allegra, M., Gentile, C. and Livrea M.
   A. (2003). Increased resistance to oxidation of betalain-enriched human low-density lipoproteins. Free Redic Res. 37, 689–696.
- 47) Alvarez-jubete, L., Wijngaard, H., Arendt, E. K. and Gallagher, E. (2010). Polyphenol composition and in vitro antioxidant activity of amaranth, quinoa buckwheat and wheat as affected by sprouting and baking. Food Chem. 119, 770–778.
- 48) Steffensen, S. K., Rinnan, A., Mortensen, A. G., Laursen, B., Troiani, R. M., Noellemeyer, E. J., Janovska, D., Dusek, K., Delano-Frier, J., Taberner, A., Christophersen, C., Inge, S. and Fomsgaard, I. S. (2011). Variations in the polyphenol content of seeds of field grown Amaranthus genotypes. Food Chem. 129, 131-138.
- 49) Scalbert, A., Manach, C., Morand, C., Remesy, C. and Jimenez, L. (2005). Dietary polyphenols and the prevention of diseases. Critical Rev Food Sci Nutri. 45, 287–306.
- 50) Thaipong, K., Boonprakob, U., Crosby, K., Cisneros-Zevallos, L. and Byrne, D. H. (2006). Comparison of ABTS, DPPH, FRAP, and ORAC assays for estimating antioxidant activity from guava fruit extracts. J Food Compos Anal. 19, 669–675.
- 51) Surangi, H., Thilakarathna, H. P. and Rupasinghe, V. (2012). Antiatherosclerotic effects of fruit bioactive compounds: A review of current scientific evidence. Cananian J Plant Sci. 92, 407–419.
- 52) Gupta, V. K. and Sharma, S. K. (2006). Plant as natural antioxidants. Nat Prod Rad. 5, 326–334.

- 53) McDowell, L. R., Wilkinson, N., Rachel, M. an, Felix, T. (2007). Vitamins and minerals functioning as antioxidants with supplementation considerations. Florida ruminant nutrition symposium; Jan 30–31; Gainesville, FL: Best Western Gateway Grand.
- 54) Rostan, E. F., Holly, V. D., Doren, L. M. and Pinnell, S. R. (2002). Evidence supporting zinc as an important antioxidant for skin. Intl J Derma. 41, 606–611.
- 55) Jansen PCM. 2004. Amaranthus hypochondriacus L. plant resources of tropical Africa, Wageningen, Netherlands; [accessed 2017 March 3]. URL http://www.prota4u.org/search.asp.
- 56) Rabbani, M. A., Iwabuchi, A., Murakami, Y., Suzuki, T. and Takayanagi, K. (1998). Phenotypic variation and the relationships among mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) germplasm from Pakistan. Euphytica. 101, 357–366.
- 57) Berdah, J. D., Mayland, H. F., Asay, K.H. and Jefferson, P. G. (1999). Variation in agronomic and morphological traits among Russian wild rye accessions. Crop Sci. 39, 1890–1895.
- 58) KandPandya, C. S. M. (2000). Morphological characterization of *Arachis* species of section.Pl Genet Resour Newsletter. 121, 38–41.
- 59) Alemayehu, N. and Becker, H. (2002). Genotypic diversity and patterns of variation in a germplasm material of Ethiopian mustard (*Brassica carinata* A. Braun). Genet Resour Crop Evol. 49, 573–582.
- 60) Wu, H., Sun, M., Yue, S., Sun, H., Cai, Y. and Huang, R. (2000). Field evaluation of an Amaranthus genetic resource collection in China. Genet Resour Crop Evol. 47, 43–53.
- 61) Pandey, R. M. (2009). Genetic divergence of parents and F<sub>2</sub> segregation in grain Amaranths. Ciencia e Investigación Agraria. 36(1), 77-84.
- 62) Pandey, R. M. and Singh, R. (2011). Genetic divergence in grain amaranth (*Amaranthus hypochondriacus* L.). Genetika. 43(1), 41-49.
- 63) Shukla, S., Bhargava, A., Chatterjee, A., Pandey, A. C. and Mishra, B. (2010b). Diversity in phenotypic and nutritional traits in vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor*), a nutritionally underutilized crop. J Sci Food Agric. 90, 139–144.
- 64) Azooz, M. M., Ismail, A. M., and Abou-Elhamd, M. F. (2009). Growth, lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities as a selection criterion for the salt tolerance of three maize cultivars grown under salinity stress. Intl J Agric Biol. 11, 21–26.
- 65) Blokhina, O., Virolainen, E. and Fagerstedt, K. V. (2003). Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress. Ann Bot. 91, 179–194.

- 66) Romani, A., Pinelli, P., Galardi, C., Sani, G., Cimato, A. and Heimler, D. (2002).Polyphenols in greenhouse and open-air-grown lettuce. Food Chem. 79, 337–342.
- 67) Iwai, K. (2008). Antidiabetic and antioxidant effects of polyphenols in brown alga Ecklonia stolonifera in genetically diabetic KK-Ay mice. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 63, 163–169.
- 68) Liu, F. and Stutzel, H. (2002). Leaf water relations of vegetable amaranth (Amaranthus spp.) in response to soil drying. Eur J Agron. 16, 137-150.
- 69) Hura, T., Hura, K., Grzesiak, M. and Rzepka, A. (2007). Effect of long-term drought stress on leaf gas exchange and fluorescence parameters in C3 and C4 plants. Acta Physiol Plant. 29, 103–113.
- 70) Rana, J. C., Pradheep, K., Yadav, S. K., Verma, V. D. and Sharma, P. C. (2007). Durga: A new variety of grain amaranth for cultivation in hill regions. Indian Farming. 57, 27–28.
- 71) Siracusa, L. and Ruberto, G. (2014). Plant polyphenol profiles as a tool for traceability and valuable support to biodiversity. In R. R. Watson (Ed.). Polyphenols in plants: Isolation, purification and extract preparation (pp. 15–33). San Diego, CA: Elsevier.
- 72) Selmar, D. and Kleinwachter, M. (2013). Influencing the product quality by deliberately applying drought stress during the cultivation of medicinal plants. Industrial Crop Prod. 42, 558–566.
- 73) Stagnari, F., Angelica, G. and Mychele, P. (2016). Water stress and crop plant: a sustainable approach. In P. Ahamad (Ed.). Drought stress effect on crop quality (pp. 375–387). West Sussex, UK: John Wiley Sons Ltd.
- 74) Hanson, P., Yang, R. Y., Chang, L. C., Ledesma, L. and Ledesma, D. (2011). Carotenoids, ascorbic acid, minerals, and total glucosinolates in choysum (*Brassica rapa* cv g. parachinensis) and kailaan (*B. oleracea* Alboglabra group) as affected by variety and wet and dry season production. J Food Comps Anal. 24, 950-962.
- 75) Hillova, D., Takacsova, M. and Lichtnerova, H. (2014). Stomatal response to water stress in herbaceous perennials. Plants in Urban Areas and Landscape. http://dx.doi.org/10.15414/2014.9788055212623.52-56.
- 76) Siracusa, L., Gresta, F., Sperlinga, E. and Ruberto, G. (2017). Effect of sowing time and soil water content on grain yield and phenolic profile of four buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench.) varieties in a Mediterranean environment. J food compos Anal. 62, 1–7.

- 77) Gharibi, S., Tabatabaei, B. E. S., Saeidi, G., and Goli, S. A. H. (2016). Effect of drought stress on total phenolic, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant activity of Achillea species. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 178, 796–809.
- 78) Faize, M., Burgos, L., Faize, L., Piqueras, A., Nicolas, E. and Barba-Espin, G. *et al.* (2011). Involvement of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase and Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase for improved tolerance against drought stress. J Exp Bot. 62, 2599-2613.
- 79) White, D. A., Turner, N. C. and Galbraith, J. H. (2000). Leaf water relations and stomatal behavior of four allopatric Eucalyptus species planted in Mediterranean southwestern Australia. Tree Physiol. 20, 1157-1165.
- 80) Sircelj, H., Tausz, M., Grill, D. and Batic, F. (2007). Detecting different levels of drought stress in apple trees (*Malus domestica* Borkh.) with selected biochemical and physiological parameters. Sci Hort. Amsterdam 113, 362-369.
- Sircelj, H., Tausz, M., Grill, D. and Batic, F. (2005). Biochemical responses in leaves of two apple tree cultivars subjected to progressing drought. J. Plant Physiol. 162, 1308-1318.
- Foyer, C. H. and Noctor, G. (2012). Managing the cellular redox hub in photosynthetic organisms. Plant Cell Environ. 35, 199–201.
- 83) Miller, G., Shulaev, V. and Mittler, R. (2008). Reactive oxygen signaling and abiotic stress. Physiol Plant. 133, 481–489.
- 84) Choudhury, S., Panda, P., Sahoo, L. and Panda, S. K. (2013). Reactive oxygen species signaling in plants under abiotic stress. Plant Signal Behav. 8, e23681. doi:10.4161/psb.23681.
- 85) Chaves, M. M. and Oliveira, M. M. (2004). Mechanisms underlying plant resilience to water deficits: prospects for water-saving agriculture. J Exp Bot. 55, 2365–2384.
- 86) Asada, K. (1999). The water-water cycle in chloroplasts: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons. Ann Rev Plant Biol. 50, 601–639.
- 87) Mittler, R. (2011). ROS signaling: the new wave? Trends Pl Sci. 16, 300–309.
- 88) Gill, S. S. and Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiol Biochem. 48, 909–930.
- 89) Mittler, R. (2002). Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci. 7, 405–410.
- 90) Apel, K., and Hirt, H. (2004). Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Ann Rev Plant Biol. 55, 373–399.

- 91) Dat, J., Vandenabeele, S., Vranova, E., Montagu, M. V., Inze, D. and Breusegem, F. V. (2000). Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses. Cell Mol Life Sci. 57, 779-795.
- 92) Dourado, M. N., Martins, P. F., Quecine, M. C., Piotto, F. A., Souza, L. A., Franco, M. R., Tezotto, T. and Azevedo, R. A. (2013). Burkholderia sp. SCMS54 reduces cadmium toxicity and promotes growth in tomato. Ann Appl Biol. 163, 494-507.
- 93) Miller, G., Suzuki, N., Ciftci-Yilmaz, S. and Mittler, R. (2010). Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signaling during drought and salinity stresses. Plant Cell Environ. 3, 453-467.
- 94) Cruz de Carvalho, M. H. (2008). Drought stress and reactive oxygen species. Plant Signal Behav. 3, 156-165.
- 95) Kar, R. K. (2011). Plant responses to water stress. Role of reactive oxygen species. Plant Signal Behav. 6, 1741-1745.
- 96) Smirnoff, N. (1993). The role of active oxygen in response of plants to water deficit and desiccation. New Phytol. 125, 27–58.
- 97) Munne-Bosch S, Penuelas J. (2004). Drought induced oxidative stress in strawberry tree (*Arbutus unedo* L.) growing in Mediterranean field conditions. Plant Sci. 166, 1105–1110.
- 98) Gratao, P. L., Monteiro, C. C., Carvalho, R. F., Tezotto, T., Piotto, F. A., Peres, L. E. P. and Azevedo, R. A. (2012). Biochemical dissection of diageotropica and Never ripe tomato mutants to Cd-stressful condition. Plant Physiol Biochem. 56, 79-96.
- 99) Impa, S. M.S., Nadaradjan, S., Jagadish, S. V. K. (2012). Drought stress induced reactive oxygen species and anti-oxidants in plants. In: Ahmad, P., Prasad, M.N.V. (Eds.), Abiotic Stress Responses in Plants. Springer, New York, pp. 131-147.
- 100) Suzuki, N., Koussevitzky, S., Mittler, R. and Miller, G. (2012). ROS and redox signaling in the response of plants to abiotic stress. Plant Cell Environ. 35, 259–270.
- 101) Gallego, S. M., Pena, L. B., Barcia, R. A., Azpilicueta, C. E., Iannone, M. F., Rosales, E. P., Zawoznik, M. S., Groppa, M. D. and Benavides, M. P. (2012). Unraveling cadmium toxicity and tolerance in plants: insight into regulatory mechanism. Environ Exp Bot. 83, 33-46.
- 102) Demiral, T., Turkan, I. and Sekmen, A. H. (2011). Signalling strategies during drought and salinity, recent news. Adv Boil Res. 57, 293–317.
- 103) Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Gollery, M. and Van Breusegem, F. (2004). Reactive oxygen gene network of plants. Trends Pl Sci. 9, 490–498.

- 104) Chung, J. S., Zhu, J. K., Bressan, R. A., Hasegawa, P. M. and Shi, H. (2008). Reactive oxygen species mediate Na<sup>+</sup> induced SOS1 mRNA stability in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 53, 554–565.
- 105) Ghane, S. G., Lokhande, V. H. and Nikam, T. D. (2012). Differential growth, physiological and biochemical responses of niger (*Guizotia abyssinica* Cass.) cultivars to water-deficit (drought) stress. Acta Physiol Plant. 34, 215-225.
- 106) Doupis, G., Bertaki, M., Psarras, G., Kasapakis, I. and Chartzoulakis, K. (2013). Water relations, physiological behavior and antioxidant defence mechanism of olive plants subjected to different irrigation regimes. Sci Hortic. 153, 150-156.
- 107) Kaur, K., Kaur, N, Gupta, A. K. and Singh, I. (2013). Exploration of the antioxidative defense system to characterize chickpea genotypes showing differential response towards water deficit conditions. Plant Growth Regul. 70, 49-60.
- 108) Menconi, M., Sgherri, C. L. M., Pinzino, C. and Navari-Izzo, F. (1995). Activated oxygen production and detoxification in wheat plants subjected to a water deficit programme. J Exp Bot. 46, 1123–1130.
- 109) Srivalli, B., Sharma, G. and Khanna-Chopra, R. (2003). Antioxidative defense system in an upland rice cultivar subjected to increasing intensity of water stress followed by recovery. Physiol Plant 119, 503–512.
- 110) Selote, D. S., Bharti, S. and Khanna-Chopra, R. (2004). Drought acclimation reduces O<sup>2</sup> and lipid peroxidation in wheat seedlings. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 314, 724–
   729.
- 111) Abogadallah, G. M. (2010). Antioxidative defense under salt stress. Plant Signal Behav.5, 369–374.
- 112) Munns, R. and Tester, M. (2008). Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Ann Rev Plant Biol.59, 651-681.
- 113) Guillet D. (2004). Grain *Amaranthus*, history and nutrition. Koko-pelli Seed Foundation.
   http://www.kokopelli-seed-foundation.com/amaranths.htm (Accessed on 8/9/2018)
- 114) Macrae, R., Robinson, R.K. and Sadle, r M. J. (1993). En Food Sci. Food Technol Nutri.8, 53-65.
- 115) Nielsen, F. H. (1984). Vegetable Crops in India. Annual Review of Nutrition. Calcutta-6: National Academy Press. 21–41.
- 116) José, A. Huerta-Ocampo, Alberto Barrera-Pacheco, Christian, S. Mendoza-Hernández. and Eduardo Espitia-Rangel, et al. (2014). Salt stress-induced alterations in the root proteome of *Amaranthus cruentus* L. J Proteome Res. 13, 3607-3627.

- 117) Petropoulos, S. A., Levizou, E., Ntatsi, G., Fernandes, A., Petrotos, K., Akoumianakis, K., Barros, L. and Isabel, C. F. R. F. (2017). Salinity effect on nutritional value, chemical composition and bioactive compounds content of *Cichorium spinosum* L. Food Chem. 214, 129–136.
- 118) Alam, M. A., Juraimi, A. S., Rafii, M. Y., Hamid, A. A., Aslani, F., and Alam, M. Z. (2015). Effects of salinity and salinity-induced augmented bioactive compounds in purslane (*Portulaca oleracea* L.) for possible economical use. Food Chem. 169, 439–447.
- 119) Lim, J. H., Park, K. J., Kim, B. K., Jeong, J. W. and Kim, H. J. (2012). Effect of salinity stress on phenolic compounds and carotenoids in buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* M.) sprout. Food Chem. 135, 1065–1070.
- 120) Isabelle, M., Lee, B. L., Lim, M. T., Koh, W. P., Huang, D. and Ong, C. N. (2010).
  Antioxidant activity and profiles of common fruits in Singapore. Food Chem. 123, 77– 84.
- 121) Malathy, P., Suraweera, D. D., Daundasekara, W. A. M., Nilanthi, W. D. G. P. and Wahundeniya, K. B. (2012). Yield, keeping quality, antioxidant content and some nutritional aspects of selected accessions of *Amaranthus tricolor*. Int Biosci. Biochem Bioinformatics. 2(5), 324-328.
- 122) Bressani, R. (1990). Grain amaranth: its chemical composition and nutritive value. In: Proceedings of Fourth Amaranth Symposium. St. Paul, MN, USA: Minnesota Agricultural University, p. 22.
- 123) Teutonico, R. A. and Knorr, D. (1985). Nondestructive method for oxalate determination of cultured *A. tricolor* cells. J Agric Food Chem. 33, 60-64
- 124) Carlsen, M. H., Halvorsen, B., Holte, K., Bohn, S. K., Sampson, S. D. and Willey, L. C. et al. (2010). The total antioxidant content of more than 3100 foods, beverages, spices, herbs and supplements used worldwide. Nutrition J. 9, 111.
- 125) Joshi, V. P., Gautam, L., Mal, B., Sharma, G.D. and Kochhar, S. (2002). Conservation and use of underutilized crops: An Indian perspective. In: Engels, J. M. M., Rao, V. R., Brown A. H. D. and Jackson, M. T. (eds.). Managing Plant Genetic Diversity, Italy: IPGRI, Rome. 325p.
- 126) Jensen, A. (1978). Chlorophylls and carotenoids. In: Hellebust JA, Craigie JS, editors. Handbook of Physiological Methods: Physiological and Biochemical Methods. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 5-70.

- 127) Glick, D. (1954). Methods of Biochemical Analysis. New York, NY, USA: International Science Publishers Inc., p.127–132.
- 128) Watson, C. A. (1994). Official and standardized methods of analysis, 3rd ed. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry. Cambridge, 6p.
- 129) Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. and Randall, R. J. (1951). Protein measurement with the folin-phenol reagent. J Biol Chem. 193, 265-275.
- 130) Vogel, A. T. (1962). Quantitative Inorganic Analysis. London, UK: Longmans. London, 712 p.
- 131) AOAC (1990). Official Methods of Analysis, 14<sup>th</sup> edn. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, DC, 419 p.
- 132) Panse, V. G. and Sukhatme, P. V. (1978). Statistical Methods for Agricultural Workers.3rd ed. ICAR (Indian Council of Agricultural Research), New Delhi. 347pp.
- 133) Singh, R. K. and Chaudhary, B. D. (1985). Biometrical Methods in Quantitative Genetic Analysis. 3rd ed. Kalyani Publisher, New Delhi. Chapter 3. pp.314-317.
- 134) Johnson, H., Robinson, W. H. F. and Comstock, R. E. (1955a). Genotypic and phenotypic correlation in soybean and their implication in selection. Agron J. 47, 477-485.
- 135) Robinson, H. F., Comstock, R. E. and Harvey, P. H. (1949). Estimates of heritability and the degree of dominance in corn. Agron. J. 41, 353-359.
- 136) Johnson, H. W., Robinson, H. F. and Comstock, R. E. (1955b). Estimates of genetic and environmental variability in soybean. Agron J. 47, 314–318.
- 137) Sarker, U. and Mian, M. A. K. (2004). Genetic variations and correlations between floral traits in rice. Bangladesh J Agril Res. 29, 553-558.
- 138) Rao, C. R. (1952). Advanced Statistical Methods in Biometrical Research John Wiley and Sons, New York, 390p.
- 139) Rezai, A. and Frey, K. J. (1990). Multivariate analysis of variation among wild oat accessions-seed traits. Euphytica. 49, 111–119.
- 140) Alika, J. E., Akenova, M. E. and Fatokun, C. A. (1993). Variation among maize (Zea mays L.) accessions of Bendel State Nigeria: multivariate analysis of agronomic data. Euphytica. 66, 65-71.
- 141) Alba, E., Polignano, G. B. and Notarnicola, L. (1996). Yield stability in a set of amaranth entries in southern Italy. Ital J Agron. 1, 65-71.
- 142) Rajan, S. and Markose, B. L. (2007). Propagation of horticultural crops. In: Horticulture science series-6 (Peter KV, ed.). New India Publ. Agency, New Delhi, pp: 110-113.

- 143) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2014). Genotypic variability for nutrient, antioxidant, yield and yield contributing traits in vegetable amaranth. J Food Agri Environ. 12, 168–174.
- 144) Patro, T. S. K. and Ravisankar, C. (2004). Genetic variability and multivariate analysis in okra [Abelmoschus esculentus (L.) Moench]. Trop Agric Res. 16, 99-113.
- 145) Ibrahim, M. M. and Hussein, R. M. (2006). Variability, heritability and genetic advance in some genotypes of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). World J Agric Sci. 2(3), 340-345.
- 146) Asish, K., Manivannan, N. and Varman, P. V. (2008). Character association and path analysis in sunflower. Madras Agric J. 95(7), 425-428.
- 147) Shukla, S., Bhargava, A., Chatterjee, A., Srivastava, A. and Singh, S. P. (2005). Estimates of genetic variability in vegetable amaranth (*A. tricolor*) over different cuttings. Hort Sci 32(3), 60-67.
- 148) Freiberger, C. E., Vanderjagt, D. J., Pastuszyn, A., Glew, R. S., Mounkaila, G., Millson, M. and Glew, R. H. (1998). Nutrient content of the edible leaves of seven wild plants from Niger. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 53: 57-69.
- 149) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2015a). Variability, heritability and genetic association in vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus tricolor*). Span J Agric Res. 13, 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2015132-684313.
- 150) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2015b). Genotype variability in composition of antioxidant vitamins and minerals in vegetable amaranth. Genetika. 47, 85–96.
- 151) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2016). Genetic variation and interrelationship among antioxidant, quality and agronomic traits in vegetable amaranth. Turk J Agric For. 40, 526–535.
- 152) Lichtenthaler, H. K. and Wellburn, A. R. (1983). Determinations of total carotenoids and chlorophylls a and b of leaf extracts in different solvents. Biochem Soc Trans. 603, 591-592.
- 153) Wyler, H., Vincenti, G., Mercier, M., Sassu, G. and Dreiding, A. S. (1959). Zur Konstitutiondes Randenfarbstoffes Betanin. 2. (vorlaufige) Mitteilung. Helvetica Chimica Acta. 42, 1696–1698 htt://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hlca.19590420532.
- 154) Slinkard, K. and Singleton, V. L. (1977). Total phenol analysis: automation and comparison with manual methods. Am J Enol Vitic. 28, 49–55.

- 155) Chang, C. C., Yang, M. H., Wen, H. M. and Chern, J. C. (2002). Estimation of total flavonoid content in propolis by two complementary colorimetric methods. J Food Drug Anal. 10, 178–182.
- 156) Sneath, P. H. A. and Sokal, R. R. (1973). Numerical taxonomy: the principles and practice of numerical classification. San Francisco, CA: Freeman.
- 157) Ward Jr J. H. (1963). Hierarchical grouping to optimize an objective function. J Am Stat Assoc. 58, 236–244.
- 158) Ntundu, W. H., Shillah, S. A., Marandu, W. Y. F. and Christiansen, J. L. (2006). Morphological diversity of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranean* (L.) Verdc.) landraces in Tanzania. Genet Resour Crop Evol. 53, 367–378.
- 159) Abede, D. and Bjornstad, A. (1996). Genetic diversity of Ethiopian barleys in relation to geographical regions, altitude range and agro-ecological zones as an aid to germplasm collection and conservation strategy. Hereditas. 124, 17–29.
- 160) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2017). Genotypic diversity in vegetable amaranth for antioxidant, nutrient and agronomic traits. Indian J Genet Pl Breed. 77, 173–176.
- 161) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2018a). Variability in total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant leaf pigments and foliage yield of vegetable amaranth. J Integrative Agric. 17(5), 1145-1153.
- 162) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2018b). Phenotypic divergence in vegetable amaranth for total antioxidant capacity, antioxidant profile, dietary fiber, nutritional and agronomic traits. Acta Agric Scand Section B- Plant and Soil Sci. 68, 67–76.
- 163) ASAE (1983). ASAE standard: ASAE S352.1. Moisture measurement-grains and seeds. Michigan: ASAE, St. Joseph.
- 164) AOAC (Association of Analytical Chemists) (2000). Official methods of analysis (17th Ed.). Gaithersburg, MD, USA: AOAC International.
- 165) ISO (International Standards Organization) (1981). Organization for Standardization. ISO
   5498:1981. Determination of crude fiber content, general method. Geneva,
   Switzerland: ISO.
- 166) ISO (International Standards Organization) (1998). ISO Norms. Determination of gross caloric value: Bomb calorimeter method (9831). Geneva, Switzerland: ISO.
- 167) Bader, N. R. (2011). Sample preparation for flame atomic absorption spectroscopy: An overview. Rasayan J Chem. 4, 49–55.

- 168) Zasoski, R. J. and Burau, R. G. (1977). A rapid nitric-perchloric acid digestion method for multi-element tissue analysis. Communications Soil Sci Plant Anal. 8, 425–436.
- 169) Jhon, M. K. (1970). Colorimetric determination of phosphorus in soil and plant materials with ascorbic acid. Soil Sci. 109, 214–220.
- 170) Temminghoff, E. E. J. M., & Houba, V. J. G. (2006). Plant analysis procedures (2nd Ed.).Wageningen: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- 171) Kampfenkel, K., Montagu, M. V. and Inze, D. (1995). Extraction and determination of ascorbate and dehydroascorbate from plant tissue. Annual Rev Biochem. 225, 165–167.
- 172) Hsu, S. Y., and Kao, C. H. (2003). Differential effect of sorbitol and polyethylene glycol on antioxidant enzymes in rice leaves. J Plant Growth Regul. 39, 83–90.
- 173) Sarker, U., Islam, M. T., Rabbani, M. G. and Oba, S. (2018c). Antioxidant leaf pigments and variability in vegetable amaranth. Genetika. 50, 209-220.
- 174) Khanam, U. K. S. Oba, S., Yanase, E., and Murakami, Y. (2012). Phenolic acids, flavonoids and total antioxidant capacity of selected leafy vegetables. J Functional Foods. 4, 979–987.
- 175) Sun, H., Mu, T., Xi, L., Zhang, M. and Chen, J. (2014). Sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* L.) leaves as nutritional and functional foods. Food Chem. 156, 380–389.
- 176) Madruga, M. S. and Camara, F. S. (2000). The chemical composition of "Multimistura" as a food supplement. Food Chem. 68, 41–44.
- 177) Shahidi, F., Chavan, U.D., Bal, A. K. and McKenzie, D. B. (1999). Chemical composition of beach pea (*Lathyrus maritimus* L.) plant parts. Food Chem. 64, 39–44.
- 178) Jimenez-Aguilar, D. M. and Grusak, M. A. (2017). Minerals, vitamin C, phenolics, flavonoids and antioxidant activity of *Amaranthus* leafy vegetables. J Food Compos Anal. 58, 33–39.
- 179) Khanam, U. K. S. and Oba, S. (2013). Bioactive substances in leaves of two amaranth species, *Amaranthus tricolor* and *A. hypochondriacus*. Canadian J. Plant Sci. 93, 47–58.
- 180) Robbins, R. J. (2003). Phenolic acids in foods: An overview of analytical methodology. J Agric Food Chem. 51, 2866–2887.
- 181) Harborne, J. B. and Williams, C. A. (2000). Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochem. 55, 481–504.
- 182) Ogbaga, C. C., Stepien, P. and Johnson, G. N. (2014). Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) varieties adopt strongly contrasting strategies in response to drought. Physiol Plant. 152, 389-401.

- 183) Zhao, F., Guo, S., Zhang, H. and Zhao, Y. (2006). Expression of yeast SOD2 in transgenic rice results in increased salt tolerance. Plant Sci. 170, 216–224.
- 184) Lutts, S., Kinet, J. M. and Bouharmont, J. (1995). Changes in plant response to NaCl during development of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) varieties differing in salinity resistance. J Exp Bot. 46, 1843-1852.
- 185) Bates, L. S., Waldren, R. P. and Teare, I. K. (1973). Rapid determination of free proline for water stress studies. Pl. Soil. 39, 205-208.
- 186) Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Analytical Biochem. 72, 248-254.
- 187) Ma, Y. H., Ma, F. W., Zhang, J. K., Li, M. J., Wang, Y. H. and Liang, D. (2008). Effects of high temperature on activities and gene expression of enzymes involved in ascorbateglutathione cycle in apple leaves. Plant Sci. 175, 761–766.
- 188) Achten, W. M. J., Maes, W. H., Reubens, B., Mathijs, E., Singh, V. P., Verchot, L. and Muys, B. (2010). Biomass production and allocation in *Jatropha curcas* L. seedlings under different levels of drought stress. Biomass and Bioenergy. 34, 667–676.
- 189) Farooq, M., Wahid, A., Kobayashi, N., Fujita, D. and Basra, S. M. A. (2009). Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. Agron Sustain Dev. 29, 185–212.
- 190) Guerfel, M., Baccouri, O., Boujnah, D., Chaibi, W. and Zarrouk, M. (2009). Impacts of water stress on gas exchange, water relations, chlorophyll content and leaf structure in the two main Tunisian olive (*Olea europaea* L.) cultivars. Sci. Hort. 119, 257–263.
- 191) Kadioglu, A., Saruhan, N., Sağlam, A., Terzi, R. and Acet, T. (2011). Exogenous salicylic acid alleviates effects of 554 long term drought stress and delays leaf rolling by inducing antioxidant system. J. Plant Growth Regul. 64, 27-37.
- 192) Parida, A. K. and Das, A. B. (2005). Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: A review. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 60, 324–349.
- 193) Liu, H., Li, F. and Xu, H. (2004). Deficiency of water can enhance root respiration rate of drought sensitive but not drought-tolerant spring wheat. Agril Water Man. 64, 41-48.
- 194) Kato, M. and Shimizu, S. (1985). Chlorophyll metabolism in higher plants VI.
   Involvement of peroxidase in chlorophyll degradation. Plant Cell Physiol. 26, 1291– 1301
- 195) Parida, A. K., Das, A. B., Sanada, Y. and Mohanty, P. (2004). Effects of salinity on biochemical components of the mangrove, *Aegiceras corniculatum*. Aquat Bot. 80, 77–87.

- 196) Lutts, S., Kinet, J. M. and Bouharmont, J. (1996). NaCl-induced senescence in leaves of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars differing in salinity resistance. Ann Bot. 78, 389–398.
- 197) Jain, G., Schwinn, K. E. and Gould, K. S. (2015). Functional role of betalain in *Disphyma australe* under salinity stress. Environ Exp Bot. 109, 131-140.
- 198) Reddy, A.R., Chaitanya, K. V. and Vivekanandan, M. (2004). Drought-induced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. J Plant Physiol. 161, 1189–1202.
- 199) Sharma, S., Lin, W., Villamor, J.G. and Verslues, P. E. (2013). Divergent low water potential response in Arabidopsis thaliana accessions Landsberg erecta and Shahdara. Plant Cell Environ. 36, 994–1008.
- 200) Christou, A., Manganaris, G. A., Papadopoulos, I. and Fotopoulos, V. (2013). Hydrogen sulfide induces systemic tolerance to salinity and non-ionic osmotic stress in strawberry plants through modification of reactive species biosynthesis and transcriptional regulation of multiple defense pathways. J Exp Bot. 64, 1953–1966.
- 201) Bieker, S. and Zentgraf, U. (2013). Plant senescence and nitrogen mobilization and signaling, In: Wang, Z., Inuzuka, H. (Eds.), Senescence and Senescence-Related Disorders. INTECH, 16 Croatia, pp. 53-83.
- 202) Mansour, M. M. and Ali, E. F. (2017). Evaluation of proline functions in saline conditions. Phytochem. 140, 52-68.
- 203) Bartwal, A., Mall, R., Lohani, P., Guru, S. K. and Arora, S. (2013). Role of secondary metabolites and brassinosteroids in plant defense against environmental stresses. J Plant Growth Regul. 32, 216-232.
- 204) Ma, G., Zhang, L., Matsuta, A., Matsutani, K. and Yamawaki, K. *et al.* (2013). Enzymatic formation of β-Citraurin from β-Cryptoxanthin and Zeaxanthin by Carotenoid Cleavage Dioxygenase in the Flavedo of Citrus Fruit. Plant Physiol. 163, 682-695.
- 205) Hamid, A. A., Aiyelaagbe, O. O., Usman, L. A., Ameen, O. M. and Lawal, A. (2010). Antioxidants: its medicinal and pharmacological applications. African J Pure Appl Chem. 4, 142-151.
- 206) Sen, P., Aich, A., Pal, A., Sen, S. and Pa, D. (2014). Profile of antioxidants and scavenger enzymes during different developmental stages in *Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek (Mungbean) under natural environmental conditions. Intl J Plant Res. 4, 56-61.
- 207) Blokhina, O. and Fagerstedt, K. V. (2010). Oxidative metabolism, ROS and NO under oxygen deprivation. Plant Physiol Biochem. 48, 359-373.

- 208) Espinoza, A., Martína, A.S., Lopez-Climentb, M., Ruiz-Laraa, S., Gomez-Cadenasb, A., Casarettoa, J. (2013). Engineered drought-induced biosynthesis of α-tocopherol alleviates stress-induced leaf damage in tobacco. J Plant Physiol. 170, 1285–1294.
- 209) Bettaieb, I., Sellami, I. H., Bourgou, S., Limam, F. and Marzouk, B. (2011). Drought effects on polyphenol composition and antioxidant activities in aerial parts of *Salvia officinalis* L. Acta Physiol Plant. 33, 1103–1111.
- 210) Lin, K. H., Chao, P. Y., Yang, C. M., Cheng, W. C., Lo, H. F. and Chang, T. R., (2006). The effects of flooding and drought stresses on the antioxidant constituents in sweet potato leaves. Bot Studies. 47, 417–426.
- 211) Sarker, U. and Oba, S., (2018d). Response of nutrients, minerals, antioxidant leaf pigments, vitamins, polyphenol, flavonoid and antioxidant activity in selected vegetable amaranth under four soil water content. Food Chem. 252, 72-83.
- 212) Sarker, U. and Oba, S, (2018e). Augmentation of leaf color parameters, pigments, vitamins, phenolic acids, flavonoids and antioxidant activity in selected *Amaranthus tricolor* under salinity stress. Sci Rep. 8, 12349. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30897-6.
- 213) Sarker, U. and Oba, S. (2018f). Drought stress effects on growth, ROS markers, compatible solutes, phenolics, flavonoids, and antioxidant activity in *Amaranthus tricolor*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-018-2784-5.
- 214) Zhang, J., & Kirkham, M. B. Antioxidant responses to drought in sunflower and sorghum seedlings. *New Phytol.* **132**, 361-373 (1996).
- 215) Dhindsa, R. S., Plumb-Dhindsa, P. and Thorpe, T. A. (1981). Leaf senescence: correlated with increased levels of membrane permeability and lipid peroxidation and decreased levels of superoxide dismutase and catalase. J Exp Bot. 32, 93-10.
- 216) Castillo, F. I., Penel, I. and Greppin, H. (1984). Peroxidase release induced by ozone in Sedum album leaves. Plant Physiol. 74, 846-851.
- 217) Aebi, H. (1984). Catalase in vitro. Methods Enzymol. 105, 121-126.
- 218) Nakano, Y., & Asada, K. (1981). Spinach chloroplasts scavenge hydrogen peroxide on illumination. Pl. Cell Physiol. 21, 1295-1307.
- 219) Murshed, R., Lopez-Lauri, F., & Sallanon, H. (2008). Microplate quantification of enzymes of the plant ascorbate-glutathione cycle. Anal. Biochem. 383, 320–322.
- 220) Sekmen, A. H., Ozgur, R., Uzilday, B. and Turkan, I. (2014). Reactive oxygen species scavenging capacities of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) cultivars under combined drought and heat induced oxidative stress. Environ Exp Bot. 99, 141–149.

- 221) Ozkur, O., Ozdemir, F., Bor, M. and Turkan, I. (2009). Physiochemical and antioxidant responses of the perennial xerophyte *Capparis ovata* Desf. to drought. Environ Exp Bot. 66, 487–492.
- 222) Singh, S., Sharma, H., Goswami, A., Datta, S. and Singh, S. (2000). In vitro growth and leaf composition of grapevine cultivars as affected by sodium chloride. Biol Plant. 43, 283–286.
- 223) Lee, B. R., Jung, W. J., Kim, K. Y., Avice, J. C., Ourry, A. and Kim, T. H. (2005). Transient increase of de novo amino acid synthesis and its physiological significance in water-stressed white clover. Funct Plant Biol. 32, 831–838.
- 224) Kim, T. H., Lee, B. R., Jung, W. J., Kim, K. L., Avice, J. C. and Ourry, A. (2004). De novo synthesis in relation to ammonia and proline accumulation in water stressed white clover. Funct Plant Biol. 31, 847–855.
- 225) Lee, B. R., Jin, Y. L., Avice, J. C., Cliquet, J. B., Ourry, A. and Kim, T. H. (2009). Increased proline loading to phloem and its effect on nitrogen uptake and assimilation in water stressed white clover (*Trifolium repens*). New Phytol. 182, 654–663.
- 226) Costa-Franca, M. G., Pimental, A.T., Pereyra, C., Zuily-Fodil, R. O. and Laffray, D. (2000). Differences in growth and water relations among *Phaseolus vulgaris* cultivars response to induced drought stress. Environ Exp Bot. 43, 227–237.
- 227) Zheng, H., Zhang, X., Ma, W., Song, J., Rahman, S. U., Wang, J. and Zhang, Y. (2017). Morphological and physiological responses to cyclic drought in two contrasting genotypes of *Catalpa bungee*. Environ Exp Bot. 138, 77-87.
- 228) Shahbaz, M., Noreen, & N., Perveen, S. (2013). Triacontanol modulates photosynthesis and osmoprotectants in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) under saline stress. J Pl Interac. 8, 350–359
- 229) Turkan, I., Bor, M., Ozdemir, F. and Koca, H. (2005). Differential responses of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in the leaves of drought-tolerant *P. acutifolius* Gray and drought-sensitive *P. vulgaris* L. subjected to polyethylene glycol mediated water stress. Plant Sci. 168, 223–231.
- 230) Cia, M. C., Guimaraes, A. C. R., Medici, L. O., Chabregas, S. M. and Azevedo, R. A. (2012). Antioxidant responses to water deficit by drought tolerant and sensitive sugarcane varieties. Ann Appl Biol. 161, 313–324.
- 231) Sharma, I., Ching, E., Saini, S., Bhardwaj, R. and Pati, P. K. (2013). Exogenous application of brassinosteroid offers tolerance to salinity by altering stress responses in rice variety Pusa Basmati-1. Plant Physiol Biochem. 69, 17–26.

- 232) Chakraborty, K., Sujit, K., Goswami, B. N., Singh, Amrit, L., Singh, P. and Zala, V. (2016). Differential fine-regulation of enzyme driven ROS detoxification network imparts salt tolerance in contrasting peanut genotypes. Environ. Exp Bot. 128, 79-90.
- 233) Feng, Z., Guo, A. and Feng, Z. (2003). Amelioration of chilling stress by triadimefon in cucumber seedlings. Plant Growth Regul. 39, 277-283.
- 234) Nayyar, H. and Walia, D. P. (2003). Water stress induced proline accumulation in contrasting wheat genotypes as affected by calcium and abscisic acid. Biol Plant. 46, 275–279.
- 235) Tatar, O. and Gevrek, M. N. (2008). Influence of water stress on proline accumulation, lipid peroxidation and water content of wheat. Asian J Plant Sci. 7, 409-412.
- 236) Durchan, M., Tichy, J., Litvin, R., Slouf, V., & Gardian, Z et al. (2012). Role of carotenoids in light-harvesting processes in an antenna protein from the *chromophyte Xanthone* made bile. J Physical Chem. B 116, 8880-8889.
- 237) Ashraf, M. and Foolad, M. R. (2007). Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ Exp Bot. 59, 206–216.
- 238) Hernandez, J. A., Jimenez, A., Mullineaux, P. and Sevilla, F. (2000). Tolerance of Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) to long-term salt stress is associated with induction of antioxidant defenses. Plant Cell Environ. 23, 853-862.
- 239) Khanna-Chopra, R. and Selote D. S. (2007). Acclimation to drought stress generates oxidative stress tolerance in drought-resistant than -susceptible wheat cultivar under field conditions. Environ Exp Bot. 60, 276–283.
- 240) Ben Amor, N., Jimenez, A., Megdiche, W., Lundqvist, M., Sevilla, F. and Abdelly, C. (2006). Response of antioxidant systems to NaCl stress in the halophyte *Cakile maritima*. Physiol Plant. 126, 446-457.
- 241) Abogadallah, G. M., Serag, M. M., and Quick, W. P. (2010). Fine and coarse regulation of reactive oxygen species in the salt tolerant mutants of barnyard grass and their wildtype parents under salt stress. Physiol Plant. 138, 60-73.
- 242) Navarro, J. M., Flores, P., Garrido, C. and Martinez, V. (2006). Changes in the contents of antioxidant compounds in pepper fruits at different ripening stages, as affected by salinity. Food Chem. 96, 66–73.
- 243) USDA. (2015). USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 27. Retrieved April 10, 2018 from the Nutrient Data Laboratory Home Page: http://www.ars.usda.gov/ba/bhnrc/ndl.

- 244)Wang Y, Nii N. (2015). Changes in chlorophyll, ribulose bisphosphate carboxylaseoxygenase, glycine betaine content, photosynthesis and transpiration in Amaranthus tricolor leaves during salt stress. J Hort Sci Biotechnol. 75, 623-627.
- 245) Wouyou AD, Ahissou EA, Gandonou CB, Assogba Komlan F, Houngbèmè A, Gbaguidi FA, et al. Salinity increased vitamins concentration in *Amaranthus cruentus* leaves. African Journal of Biotechnology, 2017, 16, 2106-2111.
- 246) Jia, W., Wang, Y., Zhang, S. and Zhang, J. (2002). Salt-stress-induced ABA accumulation more sensitively triggered in roots than in shoots. J Exp Bot. 53, 2201–2206.
- 247) Ahmed, I. M., Cao, F., Han, Y., Nadira, U. A., Zhang, G., and Wu, F. (2013). Differential changes in grain ultrastructure, amylase, protein and amino acid profiles between Tibetan wild and cultivated barleys under drought and salinity alone and combined stress. Food Chem. 141, 2743–2750.
- 248) Neffati, M., Sriti, J., Hamdaoui, G., Kchouk, M. E. and Marzouk, B. (2011). Salinity impact on fruit yield, essential oil composition and antioxidant activities of *Coriandrum sativum* fruit extracts. Food Chem. 124, 221–225.
- 249) Giorgi, A., Mingozzi, M., Madeo, M., Speranza, G. and Cocucci, M. (2009). Effect of nitrogen starvation on the phenolic metabolism and antioxidant properties of yarrow (*Achillea collina* Becker ex Rchb.). Food Chem. 114, 204–211.
- 250) Kim, H. J., Chen, F., Wang, X., Choi, J. H. (2006). Effect of methyl jasmonate on phenolics, isothiocyanate, and metabolic enzymes in radish. J Agric Food Chem. 54, 7263–7269.
- 251) Pedranzani, H., Sierra-de-Grado, R., Vigliocco, A., Miersch, O. and Abdala, G. (2007). Cold and water stresses produce changes in endogenous jasmonates in two populations of *Pinus pinaster* Ait. Plant Growth Regul. 52, 111–116.
- 252) Liu, L. P., Zang, X. Y., Yuan, Q. Y. and Cai, Q. S. (2006). Mitigating effect of exogenous sucrose on root growth of buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench) seedlings under salt stress. Plant Physiol Com. 42, 847–850.
- 253) Gill, S. S. and Tuteja, N. (2010). Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. J Plant Physiol. 163, 723–730.
- 254) Omami, E. N. (2005). Response of amaranth to salinity stress. Department of Plant Production and Soil Science. Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences. University of Pretoria.
- 255) Munne-Bosch, S. (2005). The role of alpha-tocopherol in plant stress tolerance. Plant Physiol. 162, 743–748.

- 256) Rai, G. K., Rai, N. P., Rathaur, S., Kumar, S. and Singh, M. (2013). Expression of rd29A::At DREB1A/CBF3 in tomato alleviates drought-induced oxidative stress by regulating key enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants. Plant Physiol Biochem. 69, 90–100.
- 257) Talbi, S., Romero-Puertas, M. C., Hernandez, A., Terron, L., Ferchichi, A. and Sandalio, L. M. (2015). Drought tolerance in a saharian plant *Oudneya africana*: role of antioxidant defenses. Environ Exp Bot. 111, 114–126.
- 258) Puniran-Hartley, N., Hartley, J., Shabala, L. and Shabala, S. (2014). Salinity induced accumulation of organic osmolytes in barley and wheat leaves correlates with increased oxidative stress tolerance: in planta evidence for cross tolerance. Plant Physiol Biochem. 83, 32–39.
- 259) Colonna, E., Rouphael, Y., Barbieri, G. and De Pascale, S. (2016). Nutritional quality of ten leafy vegetables harvested at two light intensities. Food Chem. 199, 702-710.
- 260) Omami, E. N., Hammes, P. S. and Robbertse, P. J. (2006). Differences in salinity tolerance for growth and water use efficiency in some amaranth (*Amaranthus spp.*) genotypes. N Z J Crop Hortic Sci. 34, 11-22.
- 261) Menezes, V. M., Neto, A. D. A, Ribeiro, M. O. and Cova, A. M. W. (2017). Growth and contents of organic and inorganic solutes in amaranth under salt stress. Pesqui Agropecu Trop 47, http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1983-40632016v4742580
- 262) Wahid, A. and Ghazanfar, A. (2006). Possible involvement of some secondary metabolites in salt tolerance of sugarcane. J Plant Physiol. 163, 723–730.
- 263) Shahidi, F. and Naczk, M. (2004). Phenolics in food and nutraceuticals. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 264) Klados, E. and Tzortzakis, N. (2014). Effects of substrate and salinity in hydroponically grown *Cichorium spinosum*. J Soil Sci Plant Nutri. 14, 211–222.